

City Research Online

City, University of London Institutional Repository

Citation: Gkanoutas-Leventis, Angelos (2013). The transformation of the oil market: A study of financialisation through crises. (Unpublished Doctoral thesis, City University London)

This is the draft version of the paper.

This version of the publication may differ from the final published version.

Permanent repository link: https://openaccess.city.ac.uk/id/eprint/2994/

Link to published version:

Copyright: City Research Online aims to make research outputs of City, University of London available to a wider audience. Copyright and Moral Rights remain with the author(s) and/or copyright holders. URLs from City Research Online may be freely distributed and linked to.

Reuse: Copies of full items can be used for personal research or study, educational, or not-for-profit purposes without prior permission or charge. Provided that the authors, title and full bibliographic details are credited, a hyperlink and/or URL is given for the original metadata page and the content is not changed in any way.

 City Research Online:
 http://openaccess.city.ac.uk/
 publications@city.ac.uk

The Transformation of the Oil Market. A Study of Financialisation through Crises Angelos Gkanoutas-Leventis

THE TRANSFORMATION OF THE OIL MARKET. A STUDY OF FINANCIALISATION THROUGH CRISES

Angelos Gkanoutas-Leventis

A Thesis Submitted in Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy. City University London, UK Department of International Politics.

July 2013

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
DECLARATION	
ABSTRACT	
INTRODUCTION	
METHODOLOGY	
THE HISTORY OF THE OIL MARKET UNTIL THE 1970S	25
PART 1	
OIL AND FINANCE: A CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK	31
1 APPROACHES TO FINANCIALISATION	
1.1 PEAK OIL	
2 THE ANATOMY OF FINANCIALISATION	
2.1 Systemic Approaches to Financialisation	55
2.2 INSTITUTIONAL APPROACHES TO FINANCIALISATION	61
3 FINANCE AND THE OIL MARKET	67
3.1 ECONOMIC FUNDAMENTALS	
3.2 BEHAVIOUR AND EXPECTATIONS	77
3.3 TECHNOLOGY AND REGULATION	
4 THE FINANCIALISATION OF THE OIL MARKET	90
4.1 INDEXES	
4.2 Actors	
4.3 PERFORMATIVE CYCLE	
4.4 THE FOUR ACTOR STRUCTURE	
PART 2	
THE THREE PHASES OF OIL FINACIALISATION	
5 THE NEW OIL MARKET AND THE MACROECONOMY	
5.1 TRACING FINANCIALISATION	
6 EARLY FINANCIALISATION (1989–1999)	
7 LOW FINANCIALISATION (1999–2003)	
8 ADVANCED FINANCIALISATION (2002–2008)	
PART 3	
FINANCIALISATION THROUGH CRISES	
9 CRISES AND THE OIL MARKET	
10 THE FINANCIALISATION OF THE OIL MARKET	
10.1 ECONOMIC FUNDAMENTALS (1989–2010)	

10.2	BEHAVIOUR AND EXPECTATIONS (1989–2010)	
10.3	OIL SHOCKS, TECHNOLOGY, AND REGULATION (1989–2010)	
CON	CLUSIONS	232
Furti	HER RESEARCH	
<u>BIBL</u>	JOGRAPHY	
LIST O	OF INTERVIEWS	

TABLE OF FIGURES¹

FIGURE 1-1 NON-OECD OIL CONSUMPTION AND GDP	33
FIGURE 2-1 US OIL INTENSITY OF PRODUCTION	33
FIGURE 3-1 1862–1979 OIL MARKET TRIANGULAR STRUCTURE	41
FIGURE 4-4 2011 TARGET WEIGHTS OF THE DOW JONES-UBS COMMODITY INDEX	
FIGURE 5-4 COMMODITY FUTURES AND OTC VOLUMES	98
FIGURE 6-4 COMMODITY PRICES	
FIGURE 7-4 WTI AVERAGE OPEN INTEREST BY NON-COMMERCIAL AND COMMERCIAL PARTICIPA	ANTS
	106
FIGURE 8-4 COMPOSITION OF THE RECORDED OIL FUTURES NYMEX	108
FIGURE 9-4 NON-COMMERCIAL POSITIONS IN WTI NYMEX OIL FUTURES	109
Figure 10-4 Sample of primary-commodity-derivative dedicated funds during the primary-commodity-derivative dedicated funds during the primary $\left(1-\frac{1}{2}\right) = 0$	IMARY
СОММОДІТУ ВООМ, 1997 ТО 2008	114
FIGURE 11-4 REINFORCING BEHAVIOUR BETWEEN SPOT AND FUTURES MARKETS	118
FIGURE 12-4 OIL FUTURES AND SPOT PRICES	120
FIGURE 13-4 OIL-MARKET SPARE CAPACITY AND WTI CRUDE OIL PRICE	121
FIGURE 14-4 REAL OIL AND GOLD PRICES, 1970–2008	123
FIGURE 15-4 COPPER FUTURES PRICES (THREE MONTHS BUY) AND 'REAL' COPPER PRICES IN USS	\$,
1999–2009	124
FIGURE 16-4 CRUDE LIGHT OIL COMP. NYMEX 1987-2011	125
FIGURE 17-4 MONTHLY SPOT PRICE VOLATILITY	126
FIGURE 18-4 GOLD NYMEX 1987-2011	127
FIGURE 19-4 CORN NYMEX 1987-2011	127
FIGURE 20-4 WHEAT - CBOT NYMEX 1987-2011	127
FIGURE 21-4 NATURAL GAS NYMEX 1987-2011	127
FIGURE 22-4 OIL MARKET STRUCTURE, POST-1980	131
FIGURE 23-5 LOG REAL OIL PRICE	135
FIGURE 24-5 WORLD OIL PRICE INDICATORS	136
FIGURE 25-5 WORLD OIL CONSUMPTION AND GDP LEVELS AGAINST WTI CRUDE OIL PRICE	139
FIGURE 26-5 OECD INFLATION RATE AND AVERAGE IEA CRUDE OIL IMPORT PRICE IN 2000 D	OLLARS
	140
FIGURE 27-5 OECD CONSUMPTION AGAINST WTI CRUDE OIL PRICE	142
FIGURE 28-5 CRUDE OIL AND THE MAIN PETROLEUM PRODUCTS	142
FIGURE 29-6 OIL PRICE IN US DOLLARS 1989-1999	149
FIGURE 30-6 OPEC CAPACITY AND PRODUCTION OF OIL	149
FIGURE 31-6 US 6-MONTH TREASURY BILLS 1989–1999	150
FIGURE 32-6 US UNEMPLOYMENT RATE 1989–1999	150
FIGURE 33-6 US INFLATION RATE 1989-1999	150
FIGURE 34-6 US GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT 1989–1999	150

¹ This thesis follows a sequential numbering system for the figures, where the number of the figure is displayed followed by the number of the chapter it belongs to.

FIGURE 35-6 US FEDERAL GOVERNMENT BUDGET 1989–1999	151
FIGURE 36-6 US DOLLAR TRADE WEIGHTED VALUE AGAINST MAJOR CURRENCIES 1989-1999.	152
FIGURE 37-6 US PERSONAL INCOME AND CONSUMPTION 1989-1999	152
FIGURE 38-6 US EMPLOYMENT IN FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES 1989-1999	153
FIGURE 39-6 US TOTAL GNP AND FIRE (FINANCE, INSURANCE AND REAL ESTATE) GNP 1989-	1999
	153
FIGURE 40-6 SPX INDEX US DOLLARS 1989–1994	154
FIGURE 41-6 NON-COMMERCIAL POSITIONS IN WTI NYMEX OIL FUTURES 1985–1999	156
FIGURE 42-6 COMMERCIAL POSITIONS IN WTI NYMEX OIL FUTURES 1985–1999	157
FIGURE 43-6 TOTAL POSITIONS IN WTI NYMEX OIL FUTURES 1985–1999	157
FIGURE 44-6 OIL FUTURES PRICES RELATIVE TO MATURITY 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 YEARS 1994 – 1999	159
FIGURE 45-6 US CONSUMER CONFIDENCE INDEX SADJ 1989–1999	160
FIGURE 46-7 US CONSUMER CONFIDENCE INDEX SADJ 1995–2003	164
FIGURE 47-7 US PERSONAL INCOME AND CONSUMPTION 1995–2003	165
FIGURE 48-7 US 6-MONTH TREASURY BILLS 1995–2003	166
FIGURE 49-7 NOMINAL PRICE OF CRUDE OIL 1995–2004, US DOLLARS	167
FIGURE 50-7 NON-COMMERCIAL POSITIONS IN WTI NYMEX OIL FUTURES 1995–2003	172
FIGURE 51-7 COMMERCIAL POSITIONS IN WTI NYMEX OIL FUTURES 1995–2003	172
FIGURE 52-7 TOTAL POSITIONS IN WTI NYMEX OIL FUTURES 1995–2003	173
FIGURE 53-7 OIL FUTURES PRICES RELATIVE TO MATURITY 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 YEARS 1995–2003	173
FIGURE 54-7 OPEC CAPACITY AND PRODUCTION OF OIL	175
FIGURE 55-7 US FEDERAL BUDGET 1995–04	176
FIGURE 56-7 US GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT 1995–04	176
FIGURE 57-7 US CONSUMER PRICE INDEX 1995–04	176
FIGURE 58-7 US UNEMPLOYMENT 1995-04	176
FIGURE 59-7 SPX INDEX US DOLLARS 1995–2004	177
FIGURE 60-7 US DOLLAR TRADE WEIGHTED VALUE AGAINST MAJOR CURRENCIES 1995-03	178
FIGURE 61-7 US TOTAL GNP AND FIRE (FINANCE, INSURANCE AND REAL ESTATE) GNP 1995-	2003
	179
FIGURE 62-7 US EMPLOYMENT IN FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES 1995–2003	180
FIGURE 63-8 US EMPLOYMENT IN FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES 2001–10	183
FIGURE 64-8 US TOTAL GNP AND FIRE (FINANCE, INSURANCE, AND REAL ESTATE) GNP 2001-	-10
	184
FIGURE 65-8 US TROOPS IN IRAQ AND AFGHANISTAN 2001–2010	187
FIGURE 66-8 US GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT 2003–10	187
FIGURE 67-8 US UNEMPLOYMENT RATE 2003-10	187
FIGURE 68-8 US NET GOVERNMENT SAVING 2003–10	188
FIGURE 69-8 US INFLATION RATE 2003–10	188
FIGURE 70-8 TOTAL CONSUMPTION OF PETROLEUM PRODUCTS	189
FIGURE 71-8 WORLD OIL PRODUCTION 2003–2008	189
FIGURE 72-8 OIL MARKET SPARE CAPACITY AND WTI CRUDE OIL PRICE	190
FIGURE 73-8 AVERAGE DAILY TRADING VOLUMES OF OIL FUTURES TO WORLD OIL DEMAND	
FIGURE 74-8 TOTAL POSITIONS IN WTI NYMEX OIL FUTURES 2001–2010	
FIGURE 75-8 COMMERCIAL POSITIONS IN WTI NYMEX OIL FUTURES 2001–2010	195

FIGURE 76-8 NON-COMMERCIAL POSITIONS IN WTI NYMEX OIL FUTURES 2001-20101	96
FIGURE 77-8 OIL FUTURES PRICES RELATIVE TO MATURITY 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 YEARS 2001–101	97
FIGURE 78-8 US DOLLAR TRADE WEIGHTED VALUE AGAINST MAJOR CURRENCIES 2001–20101	99
FIGURE 79-8 OIL PRICE IN US DOLLARS 2003–082	201
FIGURE 80-8 US CONSUMER CONFIDENCE INDEX SADJ 2001–102	203
FIGURE 81-8 SPX INDEX PERFORMANCE IN US DOLLARS 2001–20082	203
FIGURE 82-8 US PERSONAL INCOME AND CONSUMPTION 2001–102	205
FIGURE 83-10 OECD COUNTRIES GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT % GROWTH2	244
FIGURE 84-10 OECD CPI INFLATION2	244
FIGURE 85-10 OECD UNEMPLOYMENT RATE2	245
FIGURE 86-10 OECD PERSONAL CONSUMPTION % CHANGE OVER PREVIOUS YEAR2	245
FIGURE 87-10 OECD STOCK MARKET PERFORMANCE % CHANGE OVER PREVIOUS YEAR2	245

TABLE OF TABLES²

TABLE 1-4 PARTICIPANTS IN THE 21-DAY BFOE MARKET AND THEIR SHARES IN TRADING VOLUME	.103
TABLE 2-4 PARTICIPANTS IN THE CRUDE OIL FUTURES MARKET	.105
TABLE 3-4 CORRELATIONS BETWEEN DAILY PRICE CHANGES OF CRUDE OIL AND OTHER COMMODITIES,	
AND OIL FUTURES AND FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS	.129
TABLE 4-5 MACROECONOMIC DATA FROM MAJOR OIL SHOCKS	. 140
TABLE 5-8 RATIO OF COMMERCIAL TO NON-COMMERCIAL POSITIONS 2001–2008	.197
TABLE 6-9 OIL SHOCKS AND THE INTERNATIONAL POLITICAL, ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL STATUS QUO	.216

 $^{^{2}}$ This thesis follows a sequential numbering system for the tables, where the number of the table is displayed followed by the number of the chapter it belongs to.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Completing a Ph.D. is a long and challenging process, in many different levels. I consider myself very lucky for having the support of a number of exceptional individuals who directly or indirectly, helped me in successfully producing a piece of work which I am truly proud of. Therefore, I would like to dedicate this space in recognising these individuals and the support and inspiration that they have so abundantly provided me with. First and foremost I want to thank my supervisor Dr. Anastasia Nesvetailova who took me in back in 2008, enabled this whole Ph.D., and has been a constant source of support in both my academic and personal life. It has been an honour to be her Ph.D. student. She has taught me and moulded my way of thinking in approaching the discipline of political economy. I appreciate all her patience, time, long discussions and ideas that made my Ph.D. experience productive but most importantly, exciting.

I would also like to thank my second supervisor Dr. David Williams for all his time and inputs, especially in the initial stages of my Ph.D. studies. This advice helped me immensely in shaping my research in a way that expressed my core motivations in undertaking this endeavor. I would also like to thank my editor, Giovanni Mangraviti, who took a great interest in the topic of my thesis, and through unparalleled patience and attention to detail helped me manage to turn a pile of arguments and ideas into a beautiful text.

My time at City University was made pleasant in large part due to the many friends and groups that became a part of my life. The most enjoyable part of this PhD has been meeting a wonderful group of fellow researchers from all over the world, working on

similar, intersecting or tangentially related subjects. The help and support they have given ranges from brief discussions to deep conversations, to a strengthening feeling of camaraderie, even when half-way across the world. Everyone has played an important role, in one way or another, in getting this PhD done. I would like to thank thus my friends at City University who have taken the greater part of this PhD journey with me. While we were all focusing on our own research, having their support and friendship has meant a great deal. I would also like to thank my fellow academics from other Universities, namely Dr. Sotirios Zartaloudis, Dr. Vasilios Monastiriotis, Professor Kevin Featherstone among many, who were a great positive influence, constant encouragement and inspiration through the duration of my studies, but also in the years that preceded them. Similarly, I would like to thank Dr. Mazen Labban, Professor Jennifer Clapp and Dr. Daniela Tavasci, who even though I have never met in person, have supported me through providing me with insights from their research.

I must also thank my colleagues at the oil company where I was working while in the final stages of my Ph.D., who took a great interest in my research and provided me with a very important platform on which to test my hypothesis in the market which I was studying. Specifically, I would like to thank Luiz Octavio de Azevedo Costa for the long philosophical discussions which helped me focus my research on the real impacts of financialisation in the market. I would also like to thank in no specific order, Daniela Figueiredo, Bruno Francisco Mattielo, Renan Silverio, Luis Fernando Costa, Publio Bonfadini amongst others. I would also like to thank the numerous colleagues from other companies who provided me with their valuable time and insights on the topic, most notable among them being Jeff Hartman and Dimitri Lobanov-Rostovsky.

I am lucky to have had a wonderful group of friends whom I would also like to thank for their constant support and influence in my research, namely Manos Skotidis, Nonika Philipopoulou, Aris Ntinos, Elena Ntrigiou, Nikolas Papadopoulos and especially my good friend George Patsis who one hot summers day, without knowing it, gave me the inspiration for studying this topic and subsequently deciding to start this P.hD.

Finally, most of all, I would like to thank my family for all their love and encouragement. For my parents Ilias and Argyroula Gkanouta-Leventi, and my brother Petros Gkanoutas-Leventis, who raised me with a drive to challenge and understand the hidden realities in our world, and have always provided me with an environment which supported me in all my pursuits.

Thank you,

Angelos Gkanoutas-Leventis

DECLARATION

I grant powers of discretion to the University Librarian to allow the thesis to be copied in whole or in part without further reference to me. This permission covers only single copies made for study purposes, subject to normal conditions of acknowledgement.

ABSTRACT

The aim of this thesis is to explain the dynamics behind the increased level of price volatility and speculation in the oil market over the past three decades. In contrast to mainstream accounts, which typically invoke the notion of global oil shortage and so-called 'peak oil' arguments, this thesis suggests that price volatility and speculation in the oil market originate from a decades-long process of financialisation punctuated by recurring oil price shocks.

This thesis examines the evolution of the international oil market with a view to investigate how, and to what effect, the process of financialisation has transformed the structure and dynamics of the global oil market between 1980 and 2010. In tracing this phenomenon to the contemporary oil market, and specifically to the context of the oil shocks, I identify three periods of financialisation: low (1980–1990), early (1991–2001), and advanced (2002–2008).

My research suggests that the process of financialisation is both cause and proof of a profound change in the structure of the global oil market, insofar as the addition of financial actors has turned the triangle of producers, consumers, and mediators that characterised the oil market until the 1980s into a four-tier structure. Propelled by breakthroughs in technology and finance, this fourth player is found responsible not only for transforming the relationship between the oil industry and the financial sector, but also for reconfiguring the political economy of the international oil market.

The Transformation of the Oil Market. A Study of Financialisation through Crises Angelos Gkanoutas-Leventis

INTRODUCTION

The aim of this thesis is to inquire whether and to what effect, the set of processes commonly understood as financialisation has affected the political economy of the international oil market. The hypothesis I set out to investigate is twofold. I first consider whether the increased price volatility and market speculation of the past three decades can be accounted for by reference to the wider forces of financialisation. Secondly, I put forward that the topography of the international oil market as we know it today was shaped to a large extent, by a critical series of events and processes set in motion in the 1980s.

This approach takes issue with conventional accounts of the oil industry. While the latter often cite the first oil shock and the rise of the OPEC as evidence that the foundations of the modern oil market structure were laid in the 1970s, my hypothesis proceeds from the recognition that, prior to the 1980s, the oil market was not as accustomed to increases in price levels and market uncertainties, and was altogether alien to such factors as market expectations and speculations. This thesis examines the emergence of these comparatively new features of the oil industry and seeks to trace their effects on the oil market. My findings suggest that instances of speculation, price changes, and herd behaviour among market participants result from the process of financialisation that has transformed the structure of the international oil trade since the late 1980s (Mabro, 2005).

The past three decades have witnessed a significant inflation of the general price level of oil as well as increased levels of price volatility (Fong and See, 2002; Duffie, Gray,

and Hoang, 2004; Sadorsky, 2006; Lee and Zyren, 2007; Regnier, 2007; Agnolucci, 2009; Kang et al., 2009; Trolle and Schwartz, 2009; Labban, 2010). As shown in Figures 16 and 17, which plot, respectively, the price of Nymex light crude oil and the monthly spot price volatility, the increase in the average price level of oil has increased from around \$30 per barrel to more than \$100 per barrel over the past three decades and its volatility rate has risen just as dramatically.

Traditional approaches to global oil have tended to interpret these developments as the results of fundamental or political factors, such as the scarce and finite supply of world oil reserves or political conflicts in major oil regions (Campbell, 2003; Simmons, 2005; Verleger, 2008; Lipsky, 2009a; McCormick, 2008). This thesis attempts to step beyond these conventional explanations by drawing attention to the process of financialisation as the *explanans* of the oil price hikes and increased market volatility of the past three decades. This period, traditionally described as the era of finance-driven globalisation or financialisation, has witnessed dramatic changes in the dynamics and operations of the oil market. Specifically, financial investments in both the physical and futures oil market have given rise to new forms of market participation. These new actors – mostly financial institutions – have had a profound impact on the fundamental structure of the oil market.

These developments mark a historical shift in a market that was traditionally considered a paragon of stability and long-term returns (Tang and Xiong, 2009; EIA, 2012; Labban, 2010). Traditionally, the price level of oil was dictated by the interaction of demand, supply, and mediator forces, and was thus influenced only by war, natural disasters, embargoes, or politically driven adjustments. As external shocks of this kind were only few and far between, oil prices kept relatively stable. This was the case, for example, before the 1973 oil shock, as well as in the mid-1970s and in the 1986–1990 and 1991–1999 periods. Today, by contrast, expectations of a disturbance in the oil market are enough to influence the futures market and, in turn, to trigger a spiral effect which feeds back into the physical market and thereby affects the price level without any actual change in the underlying fundamental values (Labban, 2010). It is also worth

noting, at this point, that these developments are not unique to the oil sphere, and have been observed in other commodity markets.

The effects of these developments are far-reaching. Table 3, for example, shows an increasing positive correlation, throughout the last decade, between the price level of crude oil and other major commodities, such as natural gas, gold, silver, soybeans, corn, and wheat (EIA, 2012). Similar patterns can be observed between the crude oil futures returns and the financial investments in US dollars, the S&P 500, and US government bonds ('T' bills) – only the negative correlation with the performance of the stock markets after 2008 breaks this pattern (EIA, 2012). These new characteristics of the oil market have attracted a wide variety of investors who have exploited new regulatory and technological opportunities to gradually penetrate the market and inject vast amounts of liquidity. As the volume of capital exchanged in the oil futures market has now eclipsed that of the physical market on which it is based (see Figure 5), this thesis will focus on these specific financial dynamics.

To date, the concept of financialisation has been mainly employed in the discussions about financial markets and in the debates about the increasing power and presence of new financial motives, actors, products, and institutions in everyday life (Epstein, 2005). Numerous definitions of the phenomenon of financialisation have been proposed over the years. Reflecting its interdisciplinary nature, the contributions to this debate come from a wide variety of academic quarters. Even so, research in the financialisation of commodity markets began only recently and has so far concentrated primarily on the food market, as well as gold and oil. Research on this latter front, however, remains scarce and fragmented.

This thesis aims to contribute to this emergent body of scholarship. It will survey academic approaches to the process of financialisation and then develop a framework to account for its effects on the structure of a 'non-financial' commodity market. Empirically, it presents fresh analysis on the historical evolution of the international oil industry since the 1980s in an attempt to illustrate the influence and effects that the process of financialisation has exerted on the structure of the oil market. An important

implication of this perspective on the financialisation of commodity markets is that the new configuration of the oil market, shaped as it is by new financial players, technologies, and motives, may have played a major role in the genesis of the 2007–9 international economic crisis.

This research perspective will call for careful empirical analysis of the evolution of a market that has supplied the primary energy source of all modern economies since the start of the 20th century – a trend that according to all major international energy forecasting institutions³ is set to continue into the medium-term future. As a global economic and political resource, oil is central for the well-being and prosperity of individual states and has always boasted pole position on the political-economic agenda of the major powers. Political attention, however, has escalated in tandem with functional complexity. Since the late 1980s, in particular, the oil market has grown more elaborate and multi-layered in terms of both real commodity production and financial operations. In production, contrary to common belief, oil is not purely divided between crude and refined products. As a commodity, oil comes in different qualities, and different variations thereof, based on American Petroleum Institute (API) rating, toxicity levels, and sulphur content; equally varied in quality and grade are the distillate products that result from its processing and refining, such as gasoline, diesel, gas oil, fuel oil, heating oil, naphtha, jet fuel, bitumen, and petroleum coke. This variety is a crucial explanatory factor to understand why the economic and political forces within the structure of the oil market lack a universal approach across the board of all oil products. While the equilibrium of demand and supply of crude oil, for example, is highly inelastic, demand alone is sometimes less so, as it depends on the internal composition of the actors, as well as their resources, agreements, and potential.

A number of benchmarks are used for determining the price level of international crude oils. Among the most widely known are the Light Louisiana Crude (LLS), the Brent, and the West Texas Intermediate (WTI), which mainly differ in location of trade, quality, and calculation method. The choice of price benchmarks varied over time. This

³ IEA, EIA, OPEC, BP, ExxonMobil.

thesis focuses on the dominant benchmark in the market between 1980 and 2010, the WTI, which refers to a light, sweet crude oil traded in Crushing, Oklahoma, and marketed in the Chicago Mercantile Exchange. Although the Brent has recently surpassed the WTI as the benchmark of choice in the oil market, its dominance may be short-lived as production levels in the North Sea, where Brent crude oil is extracted, are now dropping. In fact, this usually portends the rise of an alternative benchmark in the oil market.

The use of benchmarks as universal references is essential for pricing crude oils produced internationally. The differential between the price of the benchmark and the price of other crude oils is normally calculated based on a combination of different factors, such as chemical properties, refinery yield, quality, acidity, supply-and-demand conditions, producer's commercial strategy, transportation links and costs, as well as geopolitical aspects (Horsnell and Mabro, 1993; Bacon and Tordo, 2005).

Focusing on a single benchmark allows this study to investigate the rise of a new variable in the structure of the oil market of the past three decades, known as paper markets. This refers to markets of WTI and Brent crude oil futures and options traded in the US and the UK, respectively. Even though new markets in refined oil products have appeared in the past few years, mainly in the form of gasoline and diesel futures contracts, they are not yet as popular as their crude oil counterparts.

Against this background, the two major research questions of this thesis can be put as follows:

• In what ways has financialisation transformed the structure and dynamics of the oil market between 1980 and 2010?

• What do the structural changes in the oil market suggest about the process of financialisation in the context of the contemporary commodity market?

To address these questions, this thesis overviews the recent financial history of the oil industry in order to investigate the growing contextual and structural impact of financial institutions on the political economy of this particular commodity market. In doing so, my research identifies three phases of financialisation, low (1980–1990), early (1991–2001), and advanced (2002–2008), punctuated by three distinct episodes of oil shocks. Methodologically, the agenda of this study sits at the intersection of political economy, economics, financial and economic geography, sociology, and behavioural economics. The argument unfolds in the following steps:

• Since the late 1970s/early 1980s, a new group of actors has emerged within the structure of the oil market, which has gradually established a performative cycle between the physical and financial realms of the oil market.

• This group of actors is financial in nature, and can be broken down into two distinct categories:

• Traditional financial investors, including hedging and long-term value investments; and

• Speculators, including price manipulators and other groups driven by speculative interests.

• Financialisation, in this thesis, is understood as the process whereby financial motives, actors, markets, products, and institutions develop in non-financial markets. In analysing the effects of this process I employ a two-pillar approach, where the behavioural and fundamental performance planes of the market interact in a cyclical pattern. My analysis suggests that this interaction is subject to variations in the technological and regulatory status of the market as well as in its political-economic environment.

This argument is developed in two parts. Part 1 frames the historical foundations and evolution of the oil market throughout the three decades under study. After a critical

review of the main conceptual approaches to financialisation, it goes on to formulate an alternative framework for understanding the nature of this complex phenomenon and its effects on markets of non-financial commodities, such as oil. Part 2 presents an empirical study of the three oil shocks that took place during the period under consideration. Through the magnifying glass of the oil shocks, these chapters examine the role of critical events in the evolution of the structure and dynamics of the oil market and conclude that these have been profoundly altered by the process of financialisation. More specifically, the emergence of new financial actors, markets, motives, structures, and institutions has altered the behaviour of all the other major players in the oil market, as the latter becomes increasingly vulnerable to inflated price levels, intensified price volatility, speculative opportunities, and the vagaries of the international financial markets.

Hence, Part 1 critically engages with traditional 'peak oil' accounts of increased price volatility. My analysis suggests that oil production, though likely to reach a peak at some point in the future, has as yet never done so. This refutes the idea that the increase in price volatility and speculative dynamics in the oil market can be attributed to some peak in the oil production levels. As shown in this thesis, however, they can successfully be associated with the broad process of financialisation that picked up steam in the late 1980s. Conceptually, this thesis identifies two different currents in the academic debate on financialisation. The first strand can be characterized as 'macroeconomic-focused literature', insofar as it conceptualises financialisation as a historical and structural transformation process, whereas the second current of scholarship is more institutional in focus and contemporary in scope. While each of the two theoretical approaches offers insightful analysis of the broader structural dynamics that underpin the complex process of financialisation as well as its effects on the sociopolitical and economic realms, they fail to provide a platform through which the forces of financialisation can be traced within the very structure of a given market, especially one dependent on physical production, as in the case of commodities.

Drawing on a synthesis of the two sets of academic scholarship on financialisation, as well as on insights from behavioural economics and other social sciences, I build a two-

pillar analytical framework to identify the effects of the financialisation process by reference to both behavioural practices and macroeconomic data. This is not an attempt to advance a novel theoretical approach to the study of political economy; it is, rather, an analytical road map to the constitutive processes, functions, and developments that sustained the expansion of the financialisation of the oil market.

Within this particular framework, the study of financialisation puts special emphasis on the role played by human psychology (Shiller, 2005), modes of regulation (Aglietta, 1979), and fundamental macroeconomic indicators in shaping and magnifying the effects of volatile price levels, speculations, and, ultimately, financial crises. Importantly, financial crises, within the scope of this approach, are always understood to constitute economic crises as well. In this sense, my two-pillar approach frames crises in financialised commodity markets as outcomes of behavioural trends and actors' expectations on the one hand and macroeconomic fundamentals on the other. For the purposes of this thesis, both sets of factors are examined against the background of the types of regulations and technologies that have shaped the market since the 1980s. This twofold approach allows, for example, to study such factors as the effects of the evolution of the oil market on the macroeconomic performance of importing countries. At the same time, it traces these factors to the direct and indirect links between the oil market and the financial sector. Although the development of the oilbased financial sector is analysed as a physically different market to that of oil itself, the increasingly volatile determination of the price of oil is identified as the result of a performative cycle between these two different markets.

In Part 2, this approach is tested against a selection of three of the most significant financial crises in recent history. Here, crises are employed as methodological tools to better isolate the effects of the financialisation of the oil market. This is because, at these times, the reactions and performance of single market actors are likely to stand out against the norms of the period and abnormalities become easier to spot. The resulting body of empirical evidence, which also includes the period of the 2008 oil shock and the credit crisis, comprises not only the main data and events, but also the motives and

dynamics that informed the behaviour of key oil-market actors during financial and macroeconomic crises.

Among these actors, the US economy, in particular, is chosen as the primary object of study. This is because the US rates as the developed economy most directly affected by the oil market by virtue of its status as leading centre of international finance, foremost importer of oil, and exclusive issuer of the international oil currency. Despite the fact that, on the one hand, the introduction of horizontal shale-oil drilling technologies have set the US on a path to become a net exporter by the next decade and that, on the other hand, China is projected to become the world's largest oil importer and consumer by 2020, the position of the US in the international oil market between 1980 and 2010, as contemplated throughout this study, is undisputed.

Of all the downward and upward price shocks that have occurred during the thirty-year period here considered (Blanchard and Gali, 2008), this thesis only focuses on those that parallel economic or financial crises in oil-importing economies. These are the oil shock of 1991, coinciding with the invasion of Kuwait, the shock at the turn of the millennium, fuelled by speculation, peak-oil fears, and tensions in the Middle East, and, thirdly, the recent economic and financial crisis of 2008. The study of these three oil shocks, and their subsequent repercussion on the US financial and economic crises, makes it possible to chart the emergence and expansion of the process of financialisation in the context of the oil market. The significance of this process is then discussed by reference to its impact on the international structure of the political economy of oil. Based on data from the OECD countries, this study reveals a dramatic and steady increase in the geographical reach and macroeconomic effects of the oil shocks throughout the three decades under study.

Part 3 offers a synthesis and a discussion of the historical and theoretical conclusions presented in Part 1 and Part 2. In doing so, it traces the key historical aspects of the financialisation of the oil market to the behavioural and macroeconomic models identified in my two-pillar approach with a view to explain the effects of the financialisation of the oil market on international financial and macroeconomic crises.

From this study, this thesis draws three conclusions. First, the financialisation of the oil market can be adequately explained with a two-pillar framework that looks, on the one hand, at the economic fundamentals behind the effects of the real oil market on oil-based paper markets and, on the other, at the elements of behaviour and expectations that determine the effects of the paper markets on the real oil market. Second, the oil market has undergone an evolutionary process since the 1980s, which involved the increasingly active participation of a class of financial actors that transformed the structure of the market and, along with it, the mechanism of oil prices. Third, the oil market has experienced an increase in the geographical reach of its pricing effects, especially in the post-2000 period. These conclusions point to how the international financialisation of commodity markets can account for the increasingly important role that oil has played over the past thirty years in the political economy of financial and macroeconomic crises – such as the one we are currently undergoing.

Methodology

The thesis is based on a number of types and sources of data. Identifying and selecting data sources for a research investigation of the oil market, its major players, their activities and crucially, interests, is a challenge considering some sensitive areas opened by my research (i.e., the notion and role of financial speculation), and the interests of the parties who release this information. This thesis examines data focusing on the performance of the oil market, which in turn, can be categorized under two major subcategories. The first one is that of data relating to the physical market of oil, while the second is that of data relating to the oil based financial market.

When studying the physical aspect of the oil market and specifically, the relevant figures, more closely, one limitation regarding the accuracy of the available sources becomes clear. I have undertaken a close comparative study of data provided by the four major international oil market forecasting institutions [Energy Information Agency

(EIA), a public US body; the International Energy Association (IEA), which is very closely linked to the OECD (Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development); OPEC (Organisation for the Petroleum Exporting countries, a body for the oil producing countries; and BP (British Petroleum, one of the largest oil companies]. My examination revealed that there are significant discrepancies between the data provided by these bodies. Trying to dig deeper, I established that these discrepancies are due to two principal factors. First, the bodies which are used as the sources of these institutions are not always accurate, as the information gathering and publishing agencies of many developing countries do not provide us with accurate data on their demand, consumption, supply and price levels. As a result, in these cases, the four major reporting institutions simply have to make educated guesses. Second, the nature of the discrepancies in the data also indicated that they publish.

The second challenge associated with the physical aspect of the oil market, is that as oil is very important for the economies of many of the producing countries, they are reluctant to publish complete and accurate information with regards to their production capabilities. The uncertainty allows them room to maneuver in influencing the price level by adjusting their production levels accordingly, therefore this type of data and information are often deemed to be of critical national interest. This issue is discussed more extensively in the section of the thesis focusing in detail on the problem of spare capacity. Finally, a similar uncertainty also exists from the demand side, as many of the consuming countries are building oil reserves, and their reported level of demand does not always correspond to the level of consumption. Therefore, one has to examine the data in depth in order to find their exact consumption levels.

In other words, the available information on the physical aspect of the oil market is not always accurate. At the same time, the discrepancies between the major forecasting institutions are not that big, especially when studying the past, present or near future, to have an impact on the general framework and trajectory of this study. In this thesis, data from both the EIA and the IEA is widely referenced as these the institutions represent, and can be considered as the most accurate sources available for the western oil importing economies.

Moving on to the oil based financial market, again data availability and accuracy is of central importance. As is mentioned repeatedly throughout this thesis, data, including reliable quantitative data, is only available for the registered part of this market, as trades that occur bilaterally between traders or institutions are not registered in any way. The data available and used for the purposes of this thesis, derive from the Commodities Futures Trading Commission (CFTC) of the US (its accuracy has been criticized as they rely on the punctuality of each trader to register correct information on each trade that he/she performs). The CFTC is in the process of introducing new methods for data collection, as well as new types of data, however these are still not available and when they do come in line, they will only be available from that date onwards. Therefore, the data available for studying the period of 1980 to 2008 are restricted.

This thesis also uses data from pricing and reporting institutions such as Platts, Bloomberg and Reuters. These companies are comparatively autonomous from political interests. Private corporations, they are in the business of providing data for the market, by relying heavily the market actors in the process of retrieving these same data, they manage to provide us with the most accurate and widely accepted information on the performance of the oil based financial product markets, as well as its physical spot pricing. While using the data supplied by these companies this thesis is not able to utilize the full scale of the resources these corporations provide, as access to their data is subscription restricted.

The History of the Oil Market until the 1970s

Compared to other markets, the characteristics of the oil market are especially complex. As a non-renewable resource, oil is not only naturally scarce, but also immediately obsolete after use. Therefore, the general expectation is that, at some point in the future, it will deplete. Herein lies the special complexity of this market: it is as yet impossible to know exactly how much oil is still available. Even though much of the land has been explored (Maugeri, 2009: 9), the same cannot be said for undersea fields. Moreover, oil-producing countries have not –and cannot – provide reliable statistics on the amount of oil that is potentially available in their territory, not just on political grounds but also because *'reserves are not a "limited stock created once and for all"; they are "inventories, constantly used up and replaced" estimates of "total production" from a reservoir over time'* (Labban, 2010). This leaves any estimate of the international availability of oil open to question (Maugeri, 2009: 9).

Be that as it may, global dependency on oil as primary energy source is sufficient proof of the central role that the oil market plays in the contemporary modern world. From the production of plastic to that of the fuel that powers cars, airplanes and ships, oil has become an integral part of everyday life. Thanks to its relative abundance, ease of access, and low costs, the ubiquity of oil, especially in the West, is now taken for granted. As a result, demand for energy has become infinitely inelastic with the advance of technology: as long as it remains the most widely used and preferred energy source, oil will retain monopoly control of this sector.

This monopoly is easily explained by the fact that there has never been, to date, a source of energy as stable or efficient as oil, nor has technological research and development managed to find alternatives that can effectively outperform its advantages. It is worth noting, however, that the reasons behind this status quo run deeper, and are partly political-economic in nature. Indeed, the study of technology and oil reveals an interesting pattern, whereby research and technological breakthroughs in alternative energy sources mostly occur during periods of high oil prices (Adelman, 2004: 6). In other words, people and governments seek ways to replace oil only when its price becomes too high for them to sustain. Monopoly control of the energy sector is therefore highly contingent upon prices of oil remaining at a level that deters technological advances in alternative energy sources (Adelman, 2004: 6).

The history of this successful commodity market, in its current form, dates back to 1862, when Rockefeller made the first investment in oil (Tanzer, 1974: 24). This resulted in the creation of Standard Oil, which had complete monopoly in transporting and marketing oil. This monopoly persisted up until 1901 when the Spindletop field in Texas, the largest oil reserve in the American continent, was discovered. Andrew Mellon, a banker and industrialist, raised the capital to form the Gulf Oil Corporation, the first company to exploit this new reserve. A number of other corporations followed suit. Among them, the Texas Corporation (Texaco) and the Shell Transport and Trading Company of London were the largest.

A number of oil discoveries around the world, especially in Russia and India, created new competition in the world markets for Standard Oil; at the same time, the merger between the Royal Dutch and the Shell Transport and Trade Company gave birth to the Shell group. However, the biggest hit came with the US antitrust legislation in 1911. The Standard Oil monopoly was broken and the company was divided, paving the way for the first oil cartel, later named 'Seven Sisters' (Szulc, 1974: 60). The Seven Sisters consisted of BP, also known as Anglo-Persian Oil Company, Gulf Oil, Standard Oil of California⁴, Texaco⁵, Royal Dutch Shell, Standard Oil of New Jersey⁶, and Standard Oil Company of New York⁷. The Seven Sisters, along with the other large international oil companies that later entered the market, became known as the '*majors*'⁸.

Over the following decades, the major oil companies, with national government backing, engaged in an international competition for control over reserves in the Middle East. The *majors* tried – sometimes with questionable approaches – to reach concession agreements with the governments of oil-producing countries. In 1949, the *majors* controlled 55 percent of the crude oil production in non-communist countries; the figures of refining, transport, and marketing were not far off. Most of these concession

⁴ Now known as Socal.

⁵ Now known as Chevron.

⁶ Also known as Esso.

⁷ Now Known as ExxonMobil, after a merger (Exxon) with Mobil in 1999.

⁸ In the following decades, a number of large oil companies entered the market, such as Mobil, Total, Conoco, Philips Petroleum Company, and ENI.

agreements required companies to pay oil-producing governments a tax on profits from oil exports. This tax was calculated using a public price, known as the posted price, which accounted for 50 percent of the profits (Tanzer, 1974: 27).

Throughout the 1950s new oil discoveries, and the rapid expansion of supply, led to continuous reductions in the market price of oil, which led producing countries to request frequent readjustments of the posted price. The reduction on tax payments to oil-producing countries eventually triggered the creation of one of the most well-known international organisations, the Organisation of Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC). Formed in 1960, the OPEC initially comprised Iran, Iraq, Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, and Venezuela, although its membership reached as many as thirteen by 1975. The main goal of the OPEC at the time was to keep posted prices as high as possible. In the 1960s, the organisation secured small concessions and the redefinition of the posted price from a market-driven figure into a tax reference price. However, the OPEC was ill equipped to act as a cartel owing to the diversity of its members so, until the 1970s, the *majors* were able to defend their best interests vis-à-vis the governments of oil-producing countries, thereby maintaining their favourable market position.

In 1970–71, Libya's successful pressures for progressive production cuts from Occidental, an independent oil company, marked the OPEC's first victory. As Occidental was dependent only on Libya's oil, and Exxon withheld assistance, the company had no choice but to abide by Libya's demands (Bromley, 1991: 142). This sent a wave of gradual increases in crude-oil posted prices from Libya to Nigeria and all the Mediterranean ports that controlled the traffic of Iraqi oil. The initial 30-percent increase in posted price and 4-to-8–percent (Bromley, 1991: 142) increase in tax rate was swiftly reproduced by the rest of the OPEC. The closing of the Suez Canal, the damage in the Trans-Arabian oil pipeline, and the 1967 Arab-Israeli War also played a significant role in the above price increases (Odell, 1986: 225).

In 1971, six of the OPEC countries allegedly entered a bargaining process with two major oil companies. Nevertheless, not much bargaining is believed to have taken place at these meetings as both the US government and the *majors* had strong economic and

security interests in an oil price increase. That year, the Middle-Eastern members of the OPEC increased the price of crude oil in fulfilment of what are now known as the Tehran and Tripoli agreements (Tanzer, 1974: 125). Though the general conditions of the market barely changed as a result, the signing of these agreements marked the first time that the OPEC countries negotiated as a unit with the *majors* and, even more strikingly, that they did so with the approval of the US State Department. Unbeknownst to both the *majors* and the US government, this was the beginning of the end for their control of the oil industry.

As described thus far, the history of the oil market up to the 1970s features as many as three distinct actors, namely oil-producing countries, oil-importing countries, and oil corporations, whose responsibilities ranged from extraction to marketing. During the first years of the oil market, the balance of power between these three actors was widely in favour of the oil-consuming countries. By pulling the strings of the *majors*, oil-consuming countries commanded a cheap and secure supply of oil, while also overseeing the mechanisms and profitability of extraction and marketisation. It is not surprising, therefore, that the main economic powers of the time, such as the US, the UK, France, and the Netherlands, went to great lengths to secure exclusive access to the supplies of several oil-producing countries for their respective oil corporations as a way to pursue their geopolitical agendas (Tanzer, 1974; Bromley, 1991). By contrast, oil-producing countries were the least influential actors in that period, owing to the lack of cooperation and leadership. As a result, they gained minimal returns on the volumes of oil extracted until then.

This balance of power turned on its head over the 1970s. The foundation of the OPEC, the Occidental incident, and the 1973 oil shock, in particular, were instrumental in bringing the balance of power to the point where oil-producing countries gained full control of the market, while oil-importing countries were left as price-takers. Deprived of market power, the once powerful *majors* gradually turned into transnational corporations in order to promote their own interests and fight for their own survival. At the same time, oil-producing countries launched a new type of oil company, i.e. national oil corporations, in order to better defend their newly acquired market power.

This understanding of the structure and actors of the oil market until the 1970s is central to the argument developed in this thesis. This is because the triangular structure of oil-producing countries, oil-importing countries, and oil corporations underwent a fundamental transformation since the 1980s. With the emergence of the process of financialisation in the dynamics of the oil market, a fourth group of actors wended its way in the already delicate structure of the oil market. As argued in the following chapters, this reconfiguration had a transformative impact on the very processes, functions, and dynamics described thus far.

PART 1

OIL AND FINANCE: A CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

1 Approaches to Financialisation

The political-economic triangle that dominated the structure of the oil market up until the late 1970s can be made more visible through the study of the dynamics between the actors involved. Chief among them were the oil-importing countries. Their main interest was for oil prices to remain as low as possible in view of the fact that access to cheap sources of energy would secure economic stability, security, and prosperity. Indeed, the link between cheap energy sources and economic growth was recently confirmed by Eurobarometer reports citing access to cheap energy sources as one of the five most important factors in the creation of new businesses and foreign direct investment (Standard Eurobarometer, 1990-2008).

Oil-importing countries vary in one important respect: oil import dependency. The degree of oil import dependency depends on technological levels as well as economic and productive structures (International Energy Agency, 2005). More specifically, the two main factors behind variation in import dependency are funding availability for innovative research and geographical proximity to countries with access to alternative energy sources, such as gas, but also solar, wind, thermal, or hydroelectric energy.

Oil-importing countries can be separated further into two different categories: developed and developing countries. In the context of the oil market, there is a significant difference between the two. First of all, developed countries are better organised through such organisations as the OECD and are therefore better equipped to promote their interests in international bargaining. Secondly, the members of the OECD are the biggest oil importers and accordingly wield more negotiating power than developing countries. Thirdly, the largest economies have had time and resources to build up enough oil reserves to be able to influence its price in the case of a reserve release as well as to subsidise its consumption. Indeed, most developed countries have the ability to maintain oil consumption levels relatively constant, by underwriting rising costs as necessary. Finally, increased research funding, technological advances, and a progressively less industrial economic structure have made developed countries increasingly energy efficient. Initiatives such as the Kyoto agreement have also assisted in this development. As a result, developed oil importers enjoy considerable influence in the oil market, thanks to high purchasing powers, inelastic demand levels, and comparatively low import dependency.

In contrast, the situation is all but reversed in the case of developing countries. On account of lower developmental and technological levels, developing countries are unable to command as much energy efficiency, institutional organisation, and negotiating power as developed countries (International Energy Agency, 2005). In developing economies, therefore, oil consumption levels are highly dependent on the price of oil. The high elasticity of oil demand is illustrated in Figure 1, which reproduces an EIA map plotting Thompson Reuters data on average levels of GDP and oil consumption in non-OECD countries. Such high degrees of elasticity in oil consumption imply that the productivity levels of developing countries are inextricably tied to the fluctuation of oil market prices.



Figure 1-1 Non-OECD Oil Consumption and GDP (EIA, 2012)

This fundamental discrepancy between developed and developing countries is related to the different determinants, and therefore different intensity, of oil demand. It has been suggested that, especially for developed countries, one such determinant was the combination of the energy crises of the 1970s and the introduction of several energy efficiency regulations, such as EU environment policies and the Kyoto agreement. This effectively led a large number of industries to reduce their oil requirements and improve their methods of energy conservation by investing in either energy-efficient equipment or renewable sources of energy (World Energy Council, 2008). An additional determinant was the Green movement, which, over the past decades, has actively campaigned to spread awareness of energy efficiency and ecological sustainability. Figure 2, drawn from Baumaster and Peersman (2009), paints a telling picture of the reduction of oil intensity in US total production since the 1970s.



Figure 2-1 US Oil Intensity of Production (Baumeister and Peersman, 2009a)

On the other hand, oil intensity of production remains much higher in non-OECD economies. Held back by low technological levels, the industrial and agricultural apparatus of developing countries requires higher amounts of oil per unit of output – almost twice as much as developed countries (International Energy Agency, 2005). As a result, developing countries are far more vulnerable to increases in the price of oil, and equally short on real negotiating power over it.

Baumeister and Peersman suggest that the key determinants of oil intensity are independent from the above-mentioned global economic cleavage. Changes in oil intensity are argued to be linked to changes in the composition of oil demand: as new energy-efficient technologies are developed, demand for oil converges in those oilintensive sectors where new technologies are still either very costly or very difficult to make. In fact, these sectors, which include heavy industry, transportation, and the production and consumption of electricity, have even increased their energy requirements due to the introduction of advanced, energy-intensive machinery. These counter-current technological pressures further intensify oil consumption, thereby making the oil demand curve steeper and more inelastic (Baumeister et Peersman, 2009a).

Be that as it may, countries with high oil intensity of production, not only lack easy access to new technologies or alternative energy sources, such as solar, geothermal, wind, or gas; they also have no other option than to purchase oil at any quoted price, regardless of their macroeconomic conditions. To be sure, on many occasions, oil-producing countries have entered into agreements to improve the terms of payment of developing oil importers. The fact remains, however, that such practices, for all their short-term benefits, discourage developing countries from seeking more energy-efficient productive methods and, in addition, lock them in a cycle of debt to the benefit of the oil producers.

The question of oil prices warrants a further distinction among oil-importing countries, one between the US and the rest of the world. This discrimination centres on the fact that oil, as a tradable commodity, is only marketed in US dollars. Oil prices, as a result,
vary considerably across the US and the other oil-importing countries, because they are dependent on the value of the dollar in the international markets and therefore directly linked to exchange rates. This is of considerable importance to understand the political economy of oil because it highlights the extent to which the US lead over other oil-importing countries is directly dependent on the performance of the dollar relative to other currencies (Roubini and Setser, 2009a).

The relationship that links oil with parity between the US dollar and other currencies has become an area of heated debate in academic and financial circles over the past decade (Amano and van Norden, 1995; Benassy-Quere and Mignon, 2007; Breitenfellner and Cuaresma, 2008; IMF, 2008). Studies by Akram (2009), Krichene (2006; 2008), Diwan (2008), and the Deutsche Bank (2008; 2009) suggest the existence of a positive correlation between the value of the US dollar and price levels in the crude oil market. The International Monetary Fund goes even further, by attempting to explain the movements of oil price levels by reference not only to the value of the US dollar, but also to the international total industrial production, US interest rates, and OECD crude oil inventories (IMF, 2008). Methodological differences aside, the general consensus of all these studies points to an unequivocal link between the US dollar and the price of crude oil.

The oil market has been officially traded in US dollars since 1974. The roots of this historical development lie in the 1973 oil shock. Following the abolition of the Gold Standard, the US government struck a secret deal with Saudi Arabia in 1974 for oil to be marketed exclusively in US dollars. This compelled all oil-importing countries to expand their stock of dollars. This move allowed the US government to control the oil market and to strengthen the position of the US dollar as the dominant international currency (Baumeister and Peersman, 2009a). The increase in Eurodollar holdings as a consequence of this deal was exponential: overnight and term Eurodollar holdings increased fifty-fold over the late 1970s and early 1980s (World Trade Organisation, 2008).

Even though there is no universally accepted theory on the type of link between oil and US dollar parity (Austvik, 1987; Habib and Kalamova, 2007; Coudert et al., 2007), empirical studies by Chaudhuri and Daniel (1998) and Park and Ratti (2008) lend credit to the hypothesis of a causal relationship. The fact that the oil market operates in dollars is key to this argument. As all oil-producing countries, with the exception of those belonging to the eurozone, trade in dollars, a drop in the value of the US dollar against their national currencies will necessarily result, *ceteris paribus*, in loss of income. Loss of income, in turn, leads to decreased levels of production as well as lower investment in productive capacities, particularly in excavation methods, pipeline networks, new reserves, and technological innovation. This creates an incentive for oil-producing countries to attempt a revaluation against the currency in which they are paid in order to preserve their original profit levels.

At the same time, oil-importing countries, apart from the US, are influenced by the dollar price of oil through their exchange rate parity. If their local currency appreciates against the dollar, then the price of oil for them will drop, and vice versa. This, however, leads to an increase in the price of oil, as lower prices will boost overall demand. In the US, on the other hand, the price of oil is expressed and marketed in terms of US dollars, which makes its purchasing power of oil strictly dependent on the value of its currency. While oil-producing countries translate the price of oil in US dollars in such a way as to preserve their profit levels, the devaluation of the US dollar is not ultimately reflected onto the price of oil, insofar as the latter readjusts itself relative to its international value. Therefore, the devaluation of the US dollar only generate higher prices per barrel of oil in terms of dollars themselves; in other words, the real price of oil remains essentially unchanged in all international currencies but the US dollar.

In describing the configuration of the oil market, the nature and composition of oilproducing countries deserve equal analytical attention. Oil-producing countries can be separated into several categories, although the primary distinction runs along the Arab vs non-Arab divide. This separation is reinforced by the existence of two different oilproducing organisations, the OPEC, or Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries, which now includes most oil-producing countries, and the OAPEC, or Organization of Arab Petroleum Exporting Countries, which only includes Arab oilproducing countries. Though subject to considerable political influence (Rustow, 1982: 154), both organisations, are constrained by the limits of cooperation and coordination of their membership.

One of the main differences between the two organisations is that the economies of OAPEC, unlike those of the OPEC, are all but entirely dependent on oil production. Here, growth levels are much lower than oil returns would otherwise allow for; barring a few exceptions, educational and technological levels remain similarly low. In addition, oil-producing countries that belong to neither organisation, notably Russia, Norway, Mexico, and Canada, mostly cooperate with the OPEC on an *ad hoc* basis in an attempt to preserve their independence of action within the market.

A second cleavage among oil-producing countries is determined by the quantity and quality of the natural resources at their disposal. Countries with high volumes of oil reserves, such as Saudi Arabia, Iraq, Iran, and Russia, exert greater influence in production negotiations and, therefore, greater responsibility in the determination of price levels. Influence is also connected to the quality, rather than quantity, of oil reserves. High-quality oil is cheaper to refine, which allows for higher profit margins and, often, more expensive final products.

More precisely, the quality of crude oil is assessed in terms of acidity (API) and sulphur content: the higher the acidity and sulphur content (heavy-sour crude), the higher the cost of refining. When the resulting product slate includes a higher percentage of lower-quality products, they will accordingly trade in lower prices. A light-sweet crude oil, for example, requires less elaborate refining technologies and its product slate includes a higher percentage of middle distillates, such as diesel, which are marketed at a premium, and thus assist in the profitability of the refinery. These quality considerations, however, do not inhibit the production of many other types of refinery products. Low-quality products such as asphalt, naphtha, fertilizers, and lubricants are in continual demand and lower-quality crude is relatively inexpensive. Other

considerations that come into play in the choice of refineries are the quality of crude oil produced domestically and in neighbouring countries as well as the kind of trading partners and trading routes available, especially if fitted with pipelines or other transportation advantages.

As a result, the quality of a country's crude oil reserves determines its negotiating power according to the number of refineries that require its particular quality of crude as well as the absence of crudes with equal or similar quality in close geographical proximity. One such example is the light-sweet crude oil produced in Libya, which is in high demand among European refineries and of higher quality compared to the crude oils available in near and close proximity to the region, namely Russia and the Middle East. Nevertheless, in the ranking and differentiation of producing countries, quality takes a back seat to quantity as oil is still a rare natural resources that unfailingly provides strong negotiating leverage in bilateral relationships with importing countries.

The third group of actors in the oil market is oil corporations. Whether private or public, oil corporations are an integral part of the oil market. Their role has changed significantly with time, as has their nature. In the pre-1960 era, they were enterprises formed and controlled by their (Western) countries of origin, and their main purpose was to serve their governments' pursuit of oil-supply self-sufficiency (Baker, 2009: 35). Up to the early 1970s the *majors* had gained total control over the pricing of oil, and they had managed to acquire exclusive rights on the oil supply of many oil-producing countries. The 1970s oil shocks, however, was to make a fundamental impact on this group of actors.

This is because, prior to the 1970s, the volume of production and refinement of oil were controlled by the *majors*, who paid small rents to the countries that hosted them. Following the events that took place during the 1970s oil shocks, all the power and influence of oil corporations was transferred almost overnight to oil-producing countries. Oil-producing countries were now in control of the volume of oil produced, and therefore its price; in addition, the higher fees they managed to impose on the volume of oil produced secured them an exponential increase in profits. This spelled the

end of the golden age of the oil *majors* and the transition to an era where they no longer had any influence over the pricing of oil or the volume produced. Their functions were now limited to the extraction, refining and distribution of oil. With the curtains falling on the colonial rule of the West, nationalist movements led most oil-producing countries to nationalise their reserves under new National Oil Corporations (NOC) with the mandate to raise higher production revenues. While these NOCs where very successful at the height of OPEC, they progressively lost their profitability as oil entered the financial markets and volatility made its foray with the falling price levels of the 1980s (Baker, 2009: 35). As a result, control of the price of oil progressively shifted from the IOCs to the NOCs and then from the NOCs to the markets.

Nevertheless, the international top ten reserve holders are still NOCs and 77 percent of total oil reserves in 2005 were calculated to be under NOC control (Baker, 2009: 35). The PIW Petroleum Intelligence Weekly (PIW) publishes the most widely recognised ranking of the international⁹ oil and gas producing companies includes Saudi Aramco (Saudi Arabia), Gazprom (Russia), NIOC (Iran), Pemex (Mexico), Sonatrach (Algeria), INOC (Iraq), PetroChina (China), KPC (Kuwait), Petrobras (Brasil), Petronas (Malaysia), Rosneft (Russia), ADNOC (Abu Dhabi), Lukoil (Russia), PDVSA (Venezuela), and NNPC (Nigeria) (Energy Intelligence, 20011). At the same time, by contrast, the *majors* – which, in their attempt to remain profitable, had undergone extensive mergers, such as ExxonMobil, BP, Chevron, and the Royal Dutch Shell Group – controlled fewer than 10 percent of the international oil reserve base (Baker, 2009: 35).

This turn from enterprises driven by oil-importing countries, to private corporations, and finally to supply-driven corporations has not completely overshadowed the role of the previous other forms of corporations. On the one hand, the *majors*, if in a less favourable position compared to the pre-1970s era, retain considerable influence and a

⁹ The term 'Seven Sisters' is now frequently used to describe the seven NOCs that control the largest oil and gas reserves – to parallel its original reference to the largest IOCs in the 20th century. The 'new' Seven Sisters are CNPC (China), Gazprom (Russia), National Iranian Company (Iran), Petrobras (Brazil), PDVSA (Venezuela), Petronas (Malaysia), and Saudi Aramco (Saudi Arabia).

sizable proportion of the market, depending on the percentage of total oil reserves to which they can lay claim. The power of the IOCs also derives from their capacity for innovation, as well as their drive for profits due to their publicly listed status. On the other hand, most NOCs have very intense links with their national governments, and they are frequently used as a means to pursue geopolitical and strategic interests or national wealth redistribution policies, at the expense of the corporations' profitability and best interests (Baker, 2009: 35). By the same token, absent a strict mandate of profitability as well as a culture of financial and political transparency, the NOCs have lagged behind the *majors* in investment efficiency and resource allocation (Baker, 2009: 35). Most of the time however, whether in private or national garbs, IOCs and NOCs operate jointly in the exploration, production, and processing of crude oil internationally. As such, they are considered as one actor in the context of this thesis.

The function of oil corporations has evolved over time and their influence in the oil market has strengthened in tandem with their investments. Oil corporations have made large-scale investments not only on the development of more efficient refining technologies, such as shale/tight, oil sands, ultra deep water, and pre-salt production, but also on the discovery of new reserves as well as on research for renewable and alternative energy sources. For oil corporations, the main aims of such investments are to secure their future in the case of oil depletion or substitution, to apply lobbying pressure on the governments of oil-producing countries, and to further differentiate their energy products so as to allow for larger profit margins. A notable example of the effects of such strategic investments is offshore drilling, which, by proving the viability of undersea oil fields, has changed the landscape of the oil market with the addition of new oil producers (Adelman, 2004).



Figure 3-1 1862–1979 Oil Market Triangular Structure

The above analysis of the groups of actors that dominated the oil market up to 1979 reveals a triangular structure. It was the interaction among oil producers, oil consumers, and oil corporations that determined production levels, price, as well as investment and research. Even though the interests of each of the three actors are different with regard to the price level of the underlying commodity of the market, they all have an inherent interest in price stability. Both consuming and producing countries need to be able to project their balance sheets, while their economic performance is heavily dependent on the price of crude oil, as shown in the following chapters. Oil corporations, too, require price stability to alleviate the risks of capital investments and to costs of debt.

This triangular structure is illustrated in Figure 3. Oil consuming countries feature, here, as the primary actor in the triangle by virtue of the privileges associated with their enjoyment of very low-cost oil thanks to the geopolitical yoke of their national oil corporations over oil-producing countries. This relationship reversed after the rise of the OPEC and the 1973 oil shock, when oil-producing countries, together with their newly introduced nationally controlled corporations, wrenched control of oil production and pricing from importing countries. Finally, this change led Western oil corporations to decouple from their national roots and embrace transnational and market-driven interests.

This overview of the structure and actors of the oil market until the end of the 1970s opens the way for a closer analysis of their evolution in time. This analytical step is

crucial to the argument of this thesis, as it reveals the existence of an underlying dynamic that has fundamentally altered the way the actors of the oil market structure interact and operate. In order to study the nature of this dynamic, and the changes that have taken place in the oil market in the post 1980s era, including the oil shocks, the following analysis will move on two fronts. The first front will present the traditional, and more theoretical, explanation of the transformation of the oil market, i.e. the 'peak oil' argument. This argument attempts to explain the asymmetries of the oil market by reference to the scarce and naturally exhaustible nature of oil as a commodity. The second front is more current, especially in the field of commodities markets and deals with the process of financialisation. This argument will be explored at length in the second chapter.

1.1 Peak Oil

The peak-oil argument has always been cited in connection with any rise in the price level of oil. This is because oil is a scarce and naturally exhaustible commodity that makes itself obsolete in the process of being used; therefore, fear that the main global energy source might run out can be both the cause and the consequence of an increase in the level of oil prices. The future of oil, and its ability to supply the world with a stable, cheap, and efficient energy source, has been subject of intense debates. The notion of peak oil, in particular, does not refer to the depletion of oil reserves, but to the point in time when global oil production ceases to increase and hence stabilises, or decreases, altogether (Graefe, 2009: 3).

The peak-oil argument was first introduced by a geologist by the name M. King Hubbert who, in 1950, put forward the idea that the geological structure of an oil field could give important clues as to its future production capacity (Hubbert, 1950). He proposed that the production capacity of every oil field follows a bell-curve shape whereby, once full capacity is reached, a sharp decrease in production gradually gives way to complete depletion. As this model fit the lifecycle of the US oil fields of the period, Hubbert's thesis attracted a large number of followers (Maugeri, 2009: 8).

Hubbert's thesis was not the first approach to the economics of naturally exhaustible resources. The Hotelling model, put forward by Harold Hotelling in 1931, had long been the basic model of reference for several later theories (Hotelling, 1931). This model employs the notions of 'scarcity rent' or 'user cost' (Kronenberg, 2006) to represent the excess market price of the resource against its marginal extraction cost. This allowed discussion of the scarcity and exhaustibility of the resource along with the marginal benefit of not extracting, or conserving, it. In its basic format, Hotelling's model sees producers as having the possibility to decide either to extract immediately and invest their profits at the constant interest rate, or to postpone extraction until there is an expectation that future prices will rise against the interest rate (Cinti, 2008). Framed as such, Hotelling's model introduced the element of exhaustibility, along with those of price and time. He suggested that, given the constant price increases, which would be at least equal to the interest rate, and the progressive reduction of commodity availability, the resource will eventually reach exhaustion long before its price stops spiralling high enough to send demand into a nosedive. Similarly to Hubbert, therefore, Hotelling describes price fluctuation as a bell-shaped trend tightly linked to the availability of the resource (Cinti, 2008).

The ideas introduced in the two models above have gained several followers throughout the years, including academics, journalists, politicians, and oil market actors, who have claimed that oil production has already reached its peak levels, or that it will do so very soon. These arguments have been made at different points over the past two centuries, with different peak dates in mind. What was common to all of them, however, was the level of uncertainty that they unfailingly injected into the market. Fears of an imminent peak oil have often been associated with short-term increases in oil price levels, as widespread expectations of higher prices increase current demand, be it for daily consumption or investment reasons, which, in turn, raises the actual price level. Once peak-oil fears spread, the levels of investment in the oil market increase due to the expectation that prices will rise as supply is increasingly unable to meet demand (Adelman, 2004: 6). Peak-oil fears have repeatedly shaped and reshaped the expectations of all the actors involved directly or indirectly with oil and its products (Adelman, 2004: 6). As a result, on the understanding that the actual peak oil has not been reached, any shock in the price of oil associated with peak-oil fears is to be considered demand-driven.

This raises the question of whether abnormal price increases can ever be considered only the result of an alleged peak oil, to the exclusion of other factors. A peak-oil– driven increase in the price of oil is expected to cause an abrupt inflow of capital as a result of the panic that surrounds the expectation of higher prices. Interestingly, this is similar to what happens when other kinds of market factors are at play, such as speculation. Drawing a distinction between these two main explanatory approaches may be a tall order in times of crisis, but it can easily be attempted in their aftermath. To solve the puzzle, it is first necessary to determine whether peak oil has, in fact, ever been reached.

While it is reasonable to assume that the world's reserves are ultimately finite, it is important to bear in mind that it is not currently possible to assess just how finite they actually are (Adelman and Watkins, 2008). The frequent confusion, and partial overlap, between the semantic categories of oil resources, oil reserves, recoverable resources, unprofitable resources, and oil qualities adds to the complexity. While the term 'resources' describes the totality of oil, both known and unknown, 'recoverable resources' denote the share of total oil resources that can be exploited at current levels of technology. Of these, 'unprofitable resources' are recoverable resources that are too costly to extract and market at the current levels of prices, while 'oil reserves', refer to those that, at the same level of prices, are both attainable and marketable (Maugeri, 2009: 9). Most of these categories can be further divided according to oil quality. For example, lower-quality oils, being expensive to refine, are *ceteris paribus* more likely than others to be classified as unprofitable resources. The question is further complicated by the fact that inventory data are often inadequate or unavailable, with countries on both the producing and purchasing side withholding information or not

supplying any at all. These countries, which include China and most other non-OECD economies, are thought to account for about half of the total global oil demand.

Taking these difficulties into account, it may be helpful to compare estimates to recorded data. During the 1970s, the non-OPEC country reserves were calculated at 200 billion barrels of oil; and yet, within the following thirty-three years the same cohort managed to produce 460 billion barrels, with allegedly 209 billion more remaining (Adelman, 2004: 3). Similarly, the OPEC countries claimed 412 billion barrels in proven reserves in the 1970s but, over the same thirty-three-year period, produced 307 billion barrels and recorded another 819 billion in reserves (Adelman, 2004: 3). Producers seem to always find more of what they are using up. Another telling trend among oil-producing countries is that of unexploited fields. Saudi Arabia, for example, has over eighty known oil fields in its territory, but exploits only nine. Finally, there are even known oil reserves in countries that do not currently produce any oil.

There are a number of factors that account for unexploited oil fields. The most common ones are the level of technology, often insufficient to reach some of the oil; the quality of the oil itself, which may make it unprofitable at current prices; the amount of investment and technological know-how required, which may be difficult to maintain; and, finally, domestic interests connected to internal self-preservation or the international political status quo. Such is the case in the east Mediterranean, for example, where oil reserves, though proven, go unexploited, because they stretch across the borders of volatile, and in some cases turbulent, regions.

Moreover, should Saudi Arabia exploit all eighty of its known fields, not only would oil, or higher-quality oil, deplete much faster, but supply would also go up and consequently drive oil prices down (Adelman, 2004: 3). In fact, investing on exploration and development is not as beneficial to oil-producing countries as might be expected. Advances in technology, know-how and reserves exploration can very easily change the map of oil production as we know it. Offshore drilling is a telling example of this. While underwater fields were not a feasible option before the 1960s, wells started being drilled at a depth of 1,000 feet in 1975 and reached up to 10,000 feet in 2000 (Adelman, 2004: 3). Sure enough, this significantly narrowed the gap in oil production between OPEC and non-OPEC countries.

Recent calculations estimate that global oil reserves currently stand at 1.2 trillion barrels (Oil and Gas Journal, 2007), which is enough to maintain a steady supply of oil for the next thirty-nine years if demand remains constant. The additional 1.4 trillion barrels of calculated recoverable resources would ensure supply for eighty-six years (United States Geological Survey, 2000). According to the IEA oil market reports (International Energy Agency, 2005-2009) and the USGS (United States Geological Survey, 2000) from the estimated seven to eight trillion barrels of total reserves available worldwide, only one trillion has been consumed since oil began selling as an energy source. This estimate does not include unconventional oils. These 'heavy' oils, as they are also known, impose such high costs of refinement that they are generally used for secondary purposes only, such as tar (Maugeri, 2009: 9). Their inclusion would raise the total estimate of global oil reserves to about nine trillion barrels – far more than anything claimed by most authorities, experts, and oil market actors. The fact that just a fraction above one tenth of the total known oil reserves has been consumed thus far is proof that there is no imminent danger of oil depletion (Maugeri, 2009: 9).

In addition to these estimates, it is also worth noting that only a modest part of the actual oil reserves is known to us today, less that thirty-five percent of which is recoverable at current technological levels (Maugeri, 2009: 9). In reference to this, Downey, Threet and Morgan, in their *Petroleum Provinces of the Twenty-First Century* (2002), have introduced the notion of 'reserve growth' to describe the phenomenon whereby advances in technology and know-how encourage a more intensive and prolific exploitation of oil wells, thus allowing oil reserves to 'grow' as a result. This phenomenon explains the increase in recoverable resources and reserves regularly observed in the wake of scientific and technological advances in oil extraction (Maugeri, 2009: 9).

Equally difficult to include in the total estimates are data on oil held in tankers, also known as 'oil at sea', and oil intentionally left underground. Intentional supply

restrictions are easy to mistake for peak oils. A study by the UK Cabinet Office (2008) concluded that the increased correlation between oil futures and spot prices between 1994 and 2007 exemplifies how oil price expectations can motivate producers to intentionally restrict production volumes to induce inflationary pressures on the oil market. This is a view shared by George Soros (2008), who claimed that producers have a strong incentive to keep their oil reserves underground when they can expect to sell them for a higher price at some point in the future. King Abdullah of Saudi Arabia admitted as much in a recent interview. '*I keep no secret from you that when there were some new finds*', King Abdullah was quoted as saying, '*I told them, "no, leave it in the ground, with grace from God, our children need it*" ' (Waterman, 2008). Statements of this sort are revealing of the influence of supply restrictions and of the power that they confer to producing countries at times of oil shocks and in the modern oil market more generally.

A strong indicator of the important role that producing countries play in the modern structure of the oil market is the impact of the OPEC announcements on the level of spare capacity over the price of crude oil (Lewis and Reddall, 2011). The level of spare capacity is a measure of the ability of producing countries to adjust production levels in response to a hypothetical supply or demand shock. As such, this notion is closely linked to the peak-oil argument, in that the absence of a positive level of spare capacity is believed to be a harbinger of peak oil.

This connection, however, is tenuous. Not only are the levels of spare capacity announced exclusively by oil-producing countries, with little to no third-party verification, but they reflect the alleged capacity of production, and reserves under use, only at the current time and level of technology. It comes as no surprise, therefore, that, as Robeco fund manager Peter Csoregh put it during the 2011 Energy Summit in London, 'there's an inherent bias, especially in the Middle East and Saudi Arabia, to overstate their spare capacity' (Lewis and Reddall, 2011). Additionally, these levels do not represent a reliable calculation of either the total availability of oil or its potential increase upon further exploration and extraction. These levels only represent the

claimed capacity of production that the current extraction facilities are alleged to provide.

Echoing this point, Goldman Sachs' global head of commodities research, Jeff Currie, also present at the 2011 Summit, noted that,

If you get up to 10 million barrels per day, you start to really create a very tight market relative to spare capacity, but the question that's more appropriate is when do you get to 9.5, when do you get to 10? Because when you start to look out over the horizon, their ability to create more flexibility in spare capacity increases tremendously. (Lewis and Reddall, 2011)

This is not to say that spare capacity announcements are not true. Rather, it is a reminder that they cannot be assumed to be always valid and reliable, let alone free of political influence. This is all the more significant in light of the fact that, thanks to their immediacy and public availability, spare capacity announcements have attracted a near-universal following among the actors involved in the oil market and, as such, have played a part in shaping their expectations and investment patterns around the fear of a possible peak oil, as discussed below.

The uncertainty surrounding the data behind the peak-oil argument suggests that there is no concrete proof that peak oil – which remains an indubitable future probability – has ever been reached. The fact remains, however, that *virtual* peak-oil events, namely widespread peak-oil fears, have demonstrably influenced oil market behaviour on several, if brief, occasions. Insofar as *actual* peak oil has not yet been reached, it follows that the recent changes in the structure, behaviour, and even functions of the oil market call for an alternative explanatory hypothesis.

If not connected to an actual change in supply, the driving forces behind the transformation of the oil market over the past decades are to be found elsewhere. Recently, a number of actors in the oil market, including the secretary of OPEC, have openly blamed the rise of the paper market – the market, that is, of financial products, such as options, futures, and indexes, which use crude oil as the underlying commodity

(Interview 2, 2012). The speed at which these products have gained currency over the past decades makes a compelling case for hypothesising the concept of financialisation as an important driving force behind the evolution of the oil market. The next chapters introduce the process of financialisation and investigate whether it can be adopted as a valid explanatory approach to the transformation of the oil market over the course of the past three decades.

2 The Anatomy of Financialisation

To fix the 'sick' economy, Dr Nixon, as he was called in a subsequent headline in the New York Times, tried shock therapy. In a televised speech Nixon, upper lip wet with sweat, voice resonant, announced that he had signed a presidential order freezing wages and prices for ninety days. He said he would try to persuade the Congress to make it illegal for unions to strike during that time, that he imposed 10 percent surtax on imported automobiles and other products, and that he would propose a cut in income taxes to the Congress. He also said, to quote the day's vernacular, that he had closed the 'gold window'. (Cooper, 1992)

This chapter introduces the concept of financialisation: its origins, its main theoretical and methodological understandings, and its effects. The main focus is to emphasise the distinction between the institutional and macroeconomic approaches to the study of financialisation, by shifting between the concepts of embeddedness and disengagement, on the one hand, and the concepts of real production and finance, on the other. This will expose the limitations of traditional approaches to the study of the effects of financialisation on the markets and the international financial system. In doing so, it will be possible to identify and isolate the underlying mechanism of the financialisation process, and then use this basic standard to test the existence of any underlying financialisation features even in non-financial markets.

The present discussion of the financialisation process is warranted by the fact that the past 30 to 40 years have witnessed an unusual development in the macroeconomic landscape of a number of advanced economies: at times of dwindling physical investments, these economies reported sustained increases in profit rates (see Boltanski and Chiapello, 1999; Hopner, 2005; Dumenil and Levy, 2005; Krippner, 2005; Stockhammer, 2005). In response to the seemingly counter-intuitive nature of this phenomenon, academics have been left scrambling for a coherent explanation, with

authors advancing a whole range of different approaches to capture its causes and effects.

It is in the context of this debate that the concept of financialisation, however recent or controversial, promises to offer a helpful explanatory platform. As an academic term, the notion of financialisation has been part of the social-scientific vocabulary for over twenty years (Nesvetailova, 2012). During this time, up to fifty different definitions have been provided by scholars from a wide variety of academic disciplines, including human geography, sociology, political science, economics, and political economy (Nesvetailova, 2012). Broadly speaking, though, the study of financialisation can be simply understood as the analysis of the kind of evolutions and transformations that occur within the structure of the financial sector as well as between finance and other areas of human activity (Stockhammer, 2004b: 720-721). The process of financialisation is studied at multiple levels, from the national and international level to the more institution-centred levels of markets and firms. This degree of analytical depth makes the concept of financialisation an essential diagnostic tool to understand the mechanism and effects of the macroeconomic transformations discussed in this paper.

While disagreements abound on the nature, originality, significance, and consequences of the process of financialisation (Palley, 2007; Bellamy and Magdoff, 2009), it is generally agreed that the last 40 years have witnessed the growing importance of *'financial motives, financial markets, financial actors, and financial institutions in the operation of the domestic and international economies*' (Epstein, 2005). The roots of this form of financial ascendancy are widely accepted to coincide with the announcement of the end of the gold standard and the subsequent demise of the Bretton Woods system¹⁰, which marked the beginning of what is known as the post-Fordist

¹⁰ The Bretton Woods system was named after the place (Bretton Woods, New Hampshire) where forty-four country representatives met in July 1944 to discuss and agree, among other things, on a new international monetary system. The system agreed at this meeting called for fixed exchange rates against the US dollar and a stable conversion rate of the dollar to the ounce of gold equal to \$35 (Copeland, 2005). The members of this system were to hold their reserves in gold or dollar assets while reserving the right to sell dollars to the US Federal Reserve for gold at any time. This became known as the gold window. The Bretton Woods agreement also laid the foundations of the

period (Jorda et al., 2011). This was the biggest watershed in the international economic system since the Great Depression: the official link hitherto existing between gold and the US dollar, with the former acting as the underlying commodity of the latter, ceased to apply and the US Federal Reserve, now able to print money at will, was freed from the obligation to sell gold to foreign central banks in exchange for dollars.

This historical juncture in the international monetary system was central to shaping the financial status quo of the 21st century. Harry Magdoff and Paul Sweezy (1969) maintained that the abolition of the gold standard and the introduction of the 'paper dollar standard' was a fatal blow to the international monetary system. This is because the US traded the privileges of controlling the gold exchange standard with the even greater privileges that came with control of the paper dollar exchange standard.

With the abolition of the gold standard and the elections of Ronald Reagan and Margaret Thatcher, the financial markets in both the US and the UK underwent extensive deregulation policies. The *Big Bang* deregulation of the City of London in 1986 in the UK and the abolishment of the Glass-Steagall Act by President Bill Clinton in 1999 in the US are classic examples of this historical development (Casey, 2011). Finance had now '*penetrated across all commercial relations to an unprecedented direct extent*' (Fine, 2009c) and transformed the functions of everyday life as never before (Blackburn, 2006).

The study of financialisation can be approached from either a historical angle, in the form of a systemic analysis of 'finance-led capitalism', or from an institutional, and more contemporary, perspective. While the former approach focuses on the effects of the growing influence of the financial industry on the broader economy, the latter draws special attention to how the 'various realms of human activity are absorbed by the financial dynamics and become new elements of the financial system' (Nesvetailova, 2012).

International Monetary Fund (IMF) as a system that would support the economic stability of countries in need, while promoting neoliberal economic principles (Pilbeam, 2006).

Hard data on the wide-ranging effects of the financialisation process has been furnished in a number of different studies, most notably the ones by Krippner (2005), Duménil and Lévy (2003), Höpner (2005), Stockhammer (2004b), and Boltanski and Chiapello (1999), where the question of the simultaneous fall in investment rates and rise in profit rates is investigated in great detail. Of particular note are also the works of Stockhammer (2004b) and Crotty (2003), who turn the spotlight on the negative impacts of financialisation on increased investment, and the work of Orhangazi (2008a), who applied their approach on the US economy. A common conclusion of all these studies is that financial profits have increased significantly relative to non-financial profits owing to the decoupling between the financial markets and the broader macroeconomy and, consequently, to the fact that profits are increasingly generated through financial channels rather than trade and commodity production (Krippner, 2005: 174).

According to the 2008 US Economic Report of the President, financial profits as a percentage of total domestic profits in the US has risen from below 20 percent during the 1980s to above 25 percent in the 1990s and up to 40 percent in the 2000s (Economic Report of the President, 2008). Similarly, data from the US Bureau of Economic Analysis show a steady decoupling of the real corporate profits of financial and non-financial sectors, which started in the 1980s and markedly accelerated in the 2000s. These data suggest that, in the space of two decades, the real corporate profits of the financial sector – they have grown to twice their size (US Department of Commerce, 2009).

It is particularly instructive to note, for example, that, as indicated in the data used in the studies cited above, partly drawn from the Bank for International Settlements, the daily volume of foreign exchange transactions stood at \$570 billion in 1989, but was already clocking in at \$1.9 trillion by 2004 (Trichet, 2009b; Papademos, 2009c). Similarly, Baker, Epstein and Pollin (1998), in their study on financialisation, show that the percentage of funds raised on international financial markets rose by 15 percent of the total world exports from 1950 to 1996. Further evidence comes from Duménil and Lévy (2003), who use data relative to the US and France to illustrate the steady increase of returns on financial assets, as a share of total disposable income, over the past twenty

years. Just as importantly, they also find substantial evidence of the reduction of the profit rate of non-financial corporation's relative to their financial counterparts from the 1970s to the 1990s in both the US and France, yielding results that correspond to those obtained by James Crotty (2008) in his study on US financialisation after 1984.

One last study worth noting here is the attempt by Epstein and Jayadev (2005) to widen the sample of data to all the OECD countries. Their study show evidence of financialisation in the majority of the OECD countries, especially in the period between the late 1970s and the early 1980s, which recorded a significant and sudden increase in financial activity and profitability compared to changes in real production levels. The findings of Epstein and Jayadev (2005) attest not only to the decoupling between the profitability of the production and the financial sector, but also to a change in market preferences. The period between the late 1970s and early 1980s, which is the focus of their study, is especially important because it coincides with the form of financial ascendancy discussed above and thus betrays the influence of market liberalisation in the financialisation process.

The study of financialisation offers compelling evidence that the financial industry has penetrated most sectors in advanced economies. The rapid spread of the process of financialisation was arguably precipitated by the promise of short-term profits in financial investments, and then further facilitated by the deregulatory policies and technological advances of the last 40 years. Although the study of financialisation is relatively recent and its real value and focus are still open to debate (Palley, 2007; Bellamy and Magdoff, 2009), the explanatory framework offered by this multidisciplinary analytical approach is uniquely placed to give invaluable insights into the nature and evolving relationship of real production and financial profit.

2.1 Systemic Approaches to Financialisation

One of the two main approaches to the study of financialisation regards this phenomenon as a systemic process. As such, the effects of this process are considered to be mainly historical and structural in nature. Systemic approaches to the study of financialisation generally focus on the rising influence of finance in the national and international economic systems over the course of the second half of the 20th century and advance the argument that the process of financialisation has led to the progressing decoupling between real production and financial profits at the national and international economic level.

Among the earliest such systemic analyses is the work of Baran and Sweezy (1966), where the process of financialisation is described as resulting from the transformation of the regimes of capitalist accumulation. This is ascribed to the fact that, in mature capitalist societies, production is unable to fully absorb new investment from established monopolies and, as a result, investment capital is induced to flood into speculative financial markets. On a similar note, Foster (2007), in his study of the correlation between financialisation and the deceleration of production investment, concludes that it is the very monopoly stage of capitalism, as described by Baran and Sweezy (1966), which is responsible for creating demand for novel financial products. In fact, he later goes on to claim that, at such an advanced stage of capitalism, economic activity might altogether be shifting from real production to finance (Foster, 2008). Other notable systemic accounts are found in Lapavitas (2010), who describes the general increase in financial profits as the outcome of the expropriation of workers' income on the circulation sphere, and in Fine (2009c), who, in disagreement with the latter, points to the wider structural transformations triggered by the growth of interestbearing capital throughout the institutional structures of the capitalist system. In Fine's view, in particular, the rise of financial profits is understood as resulting from both the expropriation of earnings and the exploitation of production sites.

Other authors, such as Paulani (1991; 2009) and Teixeira (2007), have cautioned that any attempt to define the process of financialisation in systemic terms is dependent on the prior definition of 'capital'. This is because the concept of self-expanding capital fails to incorporate the crucial character of capital as an abstract, centrifugal form from which its own content tends to escape. In other words, capital is more than selfexpanding in character, as it tends to become *autonomised* in its social form. Therefore, in the Marxian understanding of financialisation, the *autonomisation* of capital should be approached as the natural inclination of the social forms of the capitalist system to detach themselves from their own base.

On the idea of falling profit rates, Ernest Mandel (1977; 1978) makes a strong argument that fiscal policies, insofar as they shift workforce from the unemployed to the employed pool, may help more in the short term than in the long one, in that they actually diminish the ability of the system to allocate the unemployed in *'profitable productive investments, and governments are led to choose policies which postpone or mask the consequent decline in the rate of profit'* (Strange, 1997).

Bob Rowthorn (1980) makes a similar argument to Ernest Mandel; however, his approach differs in two important respects. In opposition to Mandel, he argues that the crisis of the 1980s was an inevitable consequence of the flawed structure of the capitalist system, whereby overproduction leads to redistribution and social deconstruction. Secondly, Rowthorn also incorporates the idea of banking, and especially the operation and regulation thereof (Rowthorn, 1980). In approaching the crisis from a more political perspective, he puts forward the idea that 'the imposition of credit restrictions and the adoption of monetary targets caused the rate of profit to fall and this in turn led to a generalized world recession. The system [...] destroyed faith in the market by rewarding the strong at the expense of the weak' (Rowthron in Strange, 1997).

This approach is very similar to the one adopted by Samir Amin (1980), who focuses on the relationship between international capital, national governments and developing countries. He illustrates how the costs of borrowed capital, technology, and falling profit rates shift from multinationals and national governments to developing nations as a consequence of cheap labour and primary goods trade. By contrast, Ricardo Parboni (1980) concentrates on the role of the international monetary system and argues that currency policies played a major role in isolating the United States from the worst effects of the world depression until 1979.

An important addition to the systemic debate on financialisation is Giovanni Arrighi, who maintains, in his discussion of Marx's general formula of capital, that commodity growth, when achieved by investing money into production, eventually leads to money growth as money breaks away from commodity production (1994). This way, Arrighi effectively introduces the world systems approach to the study of financialisation, by arguing that the financial and money flows flourish when real production stagnates. More specifically, the systemic cycle of accumulation implies an over-accumulation of capital that results in financial expansion, as investments in production growth are not as efficient as investments in the financial sphere (Arrighi, 1994: 8). Arright places financialisation within a cyclical framework of the international economy, where hegemonic capitalist formations evolve and succeed each other in a cyclical pattern. According to Arrighi, financialisation corresponds to the autumn of the hegemonic power's lifetime, as the financial sector takes over the productive one (Lapavitsas, 2009). Arrighi (1994) and Kevin Phillips (1993; 1994) proposed that financialisation, as a political-economic term, can be used to refer to the "prolonged split between the divergent real and financial economies" and the defining moment of international hegemonic transition' (Arrighi, in Nesvetailova, 2012).

According to this approach, financialisation is the outcome of the over-accumulation of the current capital regime (Arrighi, 2004: 536); as such, it facilitates the movement and extensive relocation of capital across geographical spaces, in such a way as to allow for the creation of bubbles in some places and production-focused investment in others. The globalisation of the financial markets and the resulting commodification of money have precipitated a global de-industrialisation trend; it has also intensified the social cleavages created by money, being as it is unencumbered by physical, fiscal, or economic barriers. The rules imposed by the globalisation of the financial and money markets have engendered new processes of diversification in contemporary societies under the pressure of international competitive interests and the 'ubiquitous money fetish' (Altvater, 1997). Commenting on this point, Palley (2007) adds that income and

wealth inequalities are, in fact, a predictable result of the process of financialisation, insofar as the latter entails a disconnection between productivity growth and wages.

On a similar note, David Harvey (1982) argues that financial geography is key to understanding the way capital tends to elude crises by moving into new spatial and institutional locations and causing, in its wake, new strands of capital to collide, collude, or compete. A notable financial-geographical approach to financialisation is offered by Pike and Pollard (2010) who argue that the process of financialisation is *'broadening and deepening the array of agents, relations, and sites that require consideration in economic geography and is generating tensions between territorial and relational spatialities of geographic differentiation'*. This conceptualisation is based on the idea that the relational space between these actors has evolved in tandem with the development of the new social networks and patterns of actor interaction. It is this form of geographical evolution that, in turn, changes the allocation of economic resources and the shape of the economic landscape to accommodate the new financial practices.

This geographical approach engages with the growing social, spatial, and political reach of financialisation (Leyshon and Thrift 2007) in relation to three main concepts: increased risk, uncertainty, and volatility (Pike and Pollard, 2010). Its main contribution, however, is the idea that the rise of financial profits and activities is not just the outcome of structural changes at the domestic economic level, but also a result of the uneven evolution of capitalism at the international level (Christophers, 2011).

Other authors have employed ideas that only later came to fall under the rubric of financialisation. Most of them attempted to highlight the growing influence of capital-market over bank-based financial systems. Years before the concept of financialisation was introduced, Hilferding used similar concepts to describe the reallocation of political and economic powers in the social class structures. More specifically, Hilferding (1910) argued that the rise of financial capital is responsible for the transformation of the modern capitalist system on the grounds that the industrial and banking capital increased its dependence on financial investment and that the financial sector, in turn, restructured the economy to its own advantage. The interconnection of finance and

industry is explained in terms of interlocking appointments, exchange of information, and joint decision-making, made possible by the fact that financial and industrial capital share common interests in the profitability of their financial endeavours.

Hilferding also studied the idea of imperialism as an economic rather than a political process, and related this to the idea that large monopolies have a propensity to depend on bank and financial capital. In his view, this form of economic imperialism was directly responsible for the introduction of trade barriers, export of capital, and militarism. In fact, Lenin was adopting Hilferding's main ideas when he proposed the definitive Marxist theory of imperialism based on the concept of 'parasitical rentiers' (Lapavitsas, 2009). Even though Hilferdings' approach is considered out-dated and overly centred on the Austrian and German economies, his ideas have formed the theoretical basis of a large part of the literature on financialisation (Lapavitsas, 2009).

More recently, Smart and Lee (2003) have conceptualised financialisation as a political process that acts by shaping and reshaping the relationship among the actors and collectives that operate within the structure of the international economic system. They suggest that financialisation contributes to the shift of resources by reshaping social relations on a variety of different levels, from production and consumption to state and society (Harvey, 2003; Bellamy and Magdoff, 2009). In other words, this analytical approach to the study of financialisation, unlike those based on the idea of over-accumulation, requires in-depth analysis of the everyday, strategic terrain in which financial activities take place (Lapavitsas, 2009).

Other authors note the increasing importance of 'shareholder value' in the mode of modern Western capitalism, whereby firms tend to develop an increased preference for financially driven short-term profitability at the expense of investment and real production growth. These studies focus on firms as 'the key agents of adjustment [...] whose activities aggregate into overall levels of economic performance' (Hall and Soskice, 2001: 6). This view, for example, is corroborated by the findings of a study by Lazonick and O'Sullivan (2000) who report a strong connection linking the rise of neoliberal regimes with the rise of shareholder value and the downscaling of firms.

Similarly, political economists approach the yawning gap between financial profits and real-production profits as the decoupling of the financial economy from the real economy. This decoupling is argued to be due to the fact that, as with financialisation proper, '*profits accrue primarily through financial channels rather than through trade and commodity production*' (Krippner, 2005: 174) and that, consequently, many firms are compelled to intensify their financial operations in order to maximise their profits (Boltanski and Chiapello, 1999: 367; Crotty, 2005; Epstein, 2005: 7; Krippner, 2005). It is well known, for example, that a large proportion of Ford's and GM's profits derive from their financial activities, notably through captive finance (Froud et al., 1998; 2002). Building on Arrighi, Krippner (2005) has argued that firm revenues can in fact be used as a reliable indicator of financial expansion, a practise that has come to be known as 'short-term performance obsession' (Rappaport, 2005).

For all their different takes on the causes and nature of financialisation, all systemic approaches can be argued to centre on the dimension of society and on the structural consequences of the rise of financial profits. Here, they all identify a gap between the traditional value-production processes of real production and financial profit creation. The structural changes caused by the process of financialisation are considered to be spatial, institutional, and societal. Finally, all systemic approaches tend to consider the shift from real production value to financial profit creation responsible for the creation of new dynamics at the national and international level.

These approaches to financialisation, however, are limited by their level of generality. Most such accounts are typically long on the dynamics and effects of the gap between real production value and financial profits at the national and international levels, but short on the actual mechanism of said relationship. The decoupling between the rise of financial volume creation and real production is generally assumed to generate two autonomous entities, driven by different elites and dynamics. In turn – the argument goes – these new elites and dynamics change the national and international status quo in terms of value creation, balance of power, and societal geographies. Robust as these arguments might be, the nature and corollaries of the relationship between the financial and the real production level is left unexplored. Here is where the second type of

approach to the study of financialisation enters the jousts. Institutional approaches turn the analytical spotlight on the continuities and discontinuities that underpin the relationship between these two dimensions of the financialisation process.

2.2 Institutional Approaches to Financialisation

In the institutional approaches to the study of financialisation, the nature of decoupling of real production from financial profit takes a back seat to the study of the embedded relationship between these two entities as well as the actors, agents, and signs of financialisation. The main point of departure of this type of approach is that the term financialisation is conceived as expressing the engagement of non-financial market in the financial sector. In the context of the evolution of the capitalist system, this is viewed as the connecting thread that runs through the real economy, finance, and society (Nesvetailova, 2012).

The French Regulation School takes pride of place in this particular analytical tradition. Its contribution on the question of financialisation owes much to the works of Robert Cox (1987) and Susan Strange (1994), who grappled directed with the issue of the decoupling of finance from real production. Their arguments are based on the ideas of the institutionalization of finance and social organisation. Suzan Stange (1997) suggested that the rise of financial instruments observed over the past decades had institutionalized the financial sphere to such an extent that it was able to disengage from the real economy and to create profits without production. Cox (1987), on the other hand, maintained that finance is central to understanding the status of the world order and that access to finance is an expression of collective social action as well as a statement of actors' material capabilities.

For the Regulation School, the accumulation regime is as important as the mode of regulation in the system. According to Elam (1994), one of the most notable writers of

this school, the main advantage of the Regulation School is that it attempts to overcome the limitations of traditional mechanical approaches to the capitalist system. Instead of focusing on the idea of value, Regulationists shifted their analysis to the various social forms of capital and the influence of institutions. Aglietta (1979) and Lipietz (1986a), the creators of this theoretical tradition, claimed that the Regulation school has the merit of explaining *'the paradox in capitalist development between the inherent tendency towards instability and crisis, and its ability to stabilise for periods around a set of institutions, norms and rules that secure periods of economic stability'* (Webb, 1998).

In this sense, the Regulation School proceeds from an analytical perspective that is more endogenous to the capitalist system, in that it focuses on the institutions that have the power to influence it, and therefore on why, rather than how, capitalism operates the way it does at any point in time. Their argument is based on the idea that regulation is a requirement for the stabilisation of an ever volatile and fragile capitalist system; consequently, the social and political struggles of capitalist societies are responsible for the development of the necessary regulatory institutions. In addition, it claims that capitalism, just as society and politics, evolves over time and thus require new institutions to develop in tandem in order to manage and sustain each phase of what they refer to as 'capital accumulation'.

It follows that each capitalist phase is uniquely identifiable by the type of regulatory institution and capital accumulation active at that particular point in time. Attempting a more sophisticated understanding of the term, Lipietz defines capital accumulation as *'the parallel development over a long period of the conditions of production, such as the degree of mechanisation, and the productivity of labour'*, plus the social use of production through government expenditure and consumer spending (Lipietz, 1992: 2).

According to the Regulation School, financialisation is a dual process that involves both a shift in financial investment by non-financial institutions and a change in the overall macroeconomy. In this approach, the growth of finance is comparable to Fordism, in that both represent historical phases of expansion of the capitalist system, supported by their respective institutional forms (Amable, 2001; Basel, 2001) as well as by accumulation and regulation regimes (Boyer, 2000a; Aglietta and Breton, 2001). Unlike previous phases, however, the latest evolution is argued to result from the so-called 'dynamic' process of financialisation (MacLeod, 1997a). In this regard, Aglietta (1979) points to the evolution of corporate governance and the finance regime to demonstrate, for example, the increasingly important role of banks in the era of financial liberalisation. Just as importantly, this approach shows that, while financial markets operate under the logic of homogenisation, the value of firms is not only dependent on share prices, but also highly leveraged, which creates a mismatch between productivity increases and aggregate demand.

From a more traditional institutional perspective, Froud et al. (2000) conceptualise the shift in corporate strategy and governance as a consequence of the rise of the shareholder value in the 1980s. In their words, '*financialisation does connote important real changes, but is not immanent, economy wide principle and is not a coherent, realizable project for management*' (Froud et al., 2000: 104). This claim is in plain contradiction with the Regulation School, insofar as it precedes from the argument that financialisation, much as it may aid macroeconomic performance, cannot induce a convergence of corporate and economic growth. In this view, the emergence of a whole range of individual investors is no guarantee of institutional concurrency between the reforms shaped by corporate management and the reforms required by the capital markets (Froud et al., 2000: 106).

At the macroeconomic level, most of the studies converge on the point that the process of financialisation can be defined as a finance-driven growth regime. Few of them, however, pay much attention to the institutional channels that capture the sometime contradictory effects of this process (Stockhammer, 2007). On the one hand, financialisation is generally assumed to decelerate the levels of accumulation (Van Treeck and Hein, 2007), but, at the same time, increased financial profitability is also often viewed as a driver of higher investment levels (Bhaduri and Marglin, 1990). On the other hand, financialisation is understood to increase consumption levels due to real consumption, real or financial wealth (Bhaduri et al., 1996; Boyer, 2000a; Maki and Palumbo, 2001), increased financial credit availability, and increased dividend revenues (Cordonnier 2006). At the same time, however, the deceleration of real production is argued to lead to a reduction of total wages and, consequently, of consumption levels.

Another prominent institutional approach, made even more prominent in the wake of the rise of neoliberalism, is Post-Keynesianism. This approach centres the study of financialisation on the concept of rentiers, and especially the role of moneylenders in this capacity. Most authors associated with this school, including Crotty (1990), Pollin (2007), and Epstein (2005), seem to betray a broad Marxist slant in their claims about the negative impact of rentiers on the health of the real economy.

In particular, Crotty (2009b), along with Stockhammer (2004a) and Orhangazi (2008a), argues that the existence of the rentier inevitably reduces the level of profits available for investment and, therefore, the profits of industrial capitalist actors. From a Post-Keynesian perspective, the emergence of financialisation has created imbalances in the levels of real economic performance and investment that can only be redressed with some form of government intervention. This may come in the form of regulations on credit, financial investments, risky market involvements, and liquidity levels in the system as well as in bank reserves (Crotty and Epstein, 2009; Crotty, 2009b). In the Post-Keynesian view, this interactive kind of corrective government policy is seen as a necessary response to the central, and mostly pernicious, role that rentiers – be they speculators, price manipulators, or risk-inclined actors – play in the process of financialisation.

The process of financialisation proper, on the other hand, is described in terms of the *'increasing importance of financial markets, financial motives, financial institutions, and financial elites in the operation of the economy and its governing institutions, both at the national and international level'* (Epstein, 2005: 1). In this definition, Epstein incorporates not only the institutional and systemic dimensions at both the domestic and the international level, but also evolving relationships within society itself. Here, financialisation is identified as a process that introduces new financial motives and actors and intensifies the role of existing financial markets, while transforming the institutions of the current regime to suit them (Epstein, 2005; Lapavitsas, 2009; Lee et

al., 2009,). Epstein (2005) also adds that, as financial investments take over real production investments, the overall weight of financial activities in the system increases accordingly, in line with what Stockhammer (2004b) identified as the growing primacy of shareholders' interest in firms.

Ben Fine (2009c) takes a step further from Epstein with a more inclusive Post-Keynesian description of financialisation. In his reconstruction, the process of financialisation is the end result of six distinct, but interrelated, developments that unfolded over the course of the past four decades. These are (1) the growth and spread of financial markets; (2) the rapid development of speculative assets and products; (3) the simultaneous stagnation of real economic investment levels; (4) the development and increasing popularity of financial instruments and services; (5) the progressive loss of power of the industrial sector; and (6) the rising influence of finance. Additionally, Fine (2009) highlights the important role of financialisation as a process of debt-fuel consumption as well as of wealth redistribution and elite restructuring to the advantage of the international rentier class.

From the above overview of the literature of the institutional approach to the study of financialisation, it is apparent that, compared to the historical and structural approach, this perspective places considerable more emphasis on the internal mechanism and direct effects of the relationship between real production and financial profit. In doing so, they produce valuable insights on the nature of this relationship and, in particular, draw long overdue attention to the underlying factors embedded therein, such as the ideas of regulation and shareholder value.

For the purposes of this thesis, however, the institutional approach is just as inadequate as the systemic one. This is because this approach focuses far more on the practical than on the notional aspect of financialisation and, as such, neglects the more strictly social and structural dynamics of the process. Here lies the great mismatch between the systemic and institutional approaches: whereas the former finds that real economic production and financial profit are effectively separate entities, the latter, in contrast, arrives at their fundamental embeddedness. The following discussion gets to grips with these theoretical incongruities by testing the explanatory power of both approaches on the specific case of the financialisation of the oil market.

3 Finance and the Oil Market

Not unlike the related notion of globalisation, the concept of financialisation escapes narrow definitions. As discussed above, any attempt to capture its processes and effects is bound to capsize on either the descriptive or the analytical side. Therefore, financialisation, as a process, can only be accurately approached as a set of transformations, rather than a single evolution (Casey, 2011). Conceiving financialisation as a set of transformations within the global economic and financial systems will make it possible to capture the underlying dynamics of its evolution on both the systemic and the institutional level.

In order to examine both the systemic and the institutional dimension of the process of financialisation in the context of the oil market, this thesis adopts a two-pillar approach. This approach comprises analytical tools from both the institutional and the systemic approaches to financialisation. This double approach is made necessary by the complex reality of the process of financialisation on the ground, determined in large part by the performative cycle between financial facades and underlying real economic markets and by the continual transformative impact of changes in technologies and regulations.

The institutional approach, in particular, has the merit of showing the extent to which oil-based financial markets are embedded in the underlying oil commodity market. This link is contingent on the performance of the underlying market insofar as financial actors form their expectations, and therefore investment choices, on the basis of real economic performance indicators (Platts Energy Risk Conference, 2012). Nevertheless, this link is dual in nature, because the performance of oil-based financial products determines, in its turn, the performance of the underlying market. This circular cause-and-effect pattern is due to the fact that physical markets view the performance of commodity derivatives as the most reliable price forecast for their evaluations and investment decisions (Platts Energy Risk Conference, 2012; Platts LNG Forum, 2012).

The emergence of this performative cycle, as part of the process of financialisation, is a pivotal point of departure for the argument developed in this thesis. Indeed, this development is responsible for the transformation of the structure of the underlying commodity markets, in view of the fact that it has introduced a new group of actors in the market mechanism of price determination.

In order to trace the process of financialisation within the structure of a particular market, such as that of oil, it is necessary to first reconstruct its main determiners and distinctive features. Financial markets initially blossom in the wake of deregulatory policies and other investment opportunities that encourage the participation of financial actors and the subsequent creation of financial products. This, in turn, marks the emergence of a new group of actors in the market. The interests that drive this group of actors are purely financial, and are based on the performance of the market rather than the underlying commodity that is traded. This aspect is central to the process of financialisation. In addition, the flexibility of the new group of financial actors, in terms of their ability to enter or leave the market at will, translates into increased volatility in the market price level. Specifically, the price level inflates at times of positive expectations, as financial funds enter the market, and deflates at times of negative expectations, as financial capital flees the market. Not surprisingly, owing to the shortterm - and, hence, often shortsighted - nature of most investment strategies, high volatility soon becomes a common, if not standard, feature of the market price level (Platts LNG Forum, 2012; Thompson Reuters Energy Analyst Conference, 2012).

The argument of this thesis proceeds from the idea that the process of financialisation has paved the way for the participation, and growing influence, of financial actors and structures in markets where they were previously either absent or merely peripheral. The ensuing structural transformations can take the form of new institutions, new regulations, or even new parallel markets based on the real commodity. The actors responsible for this transformation are either pre-existing market participants, who choose to engage into, or increase, their financial operations to maximise profits or hedge risks, or actors previously unrelated to the market, who are attracted by its novel financial dimension. A further round of transformation occurs as these markets become increasingly vulnerable the norms and institutions that the new actors impose, on the basis of their behaviour and motives, on the original structure of the market.

The transformative impact of the process of financialisation can be readily captured by the two-pillar approach developed in this thesis. This approach analyses, first, the behaviour and expectations of the financial actors and, secondly, the performance of both the real and the financial dimensions of the oil market. Owing to the particular institutional and socio-economic makeup of this particular market, both analyses are conducted against the background of the changes in regulations and technologies that conditioned the extent and effects of its process of financialisation.

The following chapters will dissect the processes and dynamics of the international oil market in order to find whether, and to what extent, this particular market has undergone a process of financialisation. This analysis will investigate the behaviour of financial actors in the international oil market and explore how the evolution of financial practises has shaped its performance and functions.

3.1 Economic Fundamentals

The performance and behaviour of financial markets and actors must first be analysed in the context of their underlying economic environment. As the process of financialisation entails the decoupling of the financial economy from the real economy, the study of financialisation must proceed from the study of the relationship between these two entities. Generally speaking, the link between stock markets and macroeconomic indicators has long been the object of extensive theoretical debates. This question is of particular interest to both the field of finance, in its quest to predict future stock market trends, and the field of macroeconomics, in its attempt to understand how the economy affects and is affected by the stock market.

Many studies have attempted to identify the link between stock prices and economic activity. A paper published by Fama and French (1989) suggests that forecast price

returns are strongly linked to the business cycles, as higher returns are expected in bad economic times and lower returns in good ones. Additionally, they find that bad economic times make households more risk averse, while good economic times more risk tolerant, which – they conclude – leads to higher inflation in good times as higher risk premiums lead to higher profits.

Other studies, including Estrella and Hardouvelis (1991) and Ang, Piazzesi and Wei (2004), have discovered that a number of macroeconomic variables usually used to predict future stock returns can just as effectively be used to forecast the levels of economic activity. These variables include the ratio of investment to capital (Cochrane, 1991a); the ratio of dividend to earnings (Lamont, in Cochrane, 1991b); investment plans rates (ibid.); the ratio of labour income to total income (Menzly et al., 2004); the ratio of housing to total consumption (Piazzesi et al., 2004); the 'output gap' formed from the Federal Reserve capacity index (Cooper and Priestley, 2005); and the ratio of consumption to wealth (Lettau and Ludvigson, 2001). The most reliable indicators are considered to be the ratio of investment to capital and the ratio of consumption to wealth, as they are based on the idea that both firms and individuals will invest more when expected returns are low (Cochrane, 2006).

With regards to the link between levels of investment and stock returns, Lamont (2000) found that investments react with a lag to changes in stock prices, as investment decisions take some time to get planned, approved, and acted upon. Consequently, he opts for the investment plans indicator, and observes that their levels react almost instantly to changes in stock prices. Using investment theory to explain asset price anomalies, Zhang (2004), in contrast, finds that firms with low expected returns to capital tend to invest more and to increase their exposure by selling more stocks, while firms with high expected returns tend to repurchase their own stock. Merz and Yashiv (2005), on the other hand, study the possibility of a better fit on the investment to capital model when labour costs are included. Their results confirm that labour flow, and specifically the interaction between labour and investment, correlates well with stock market performance.
Taking a different approach, Barrell and Davies (2004) employ a vector-error correlation mechanism to study the links between real equity prices, real interest rates, and government surplus levels as a percentage of Gross Domestic Product (GDP). Their findings show that in both the European countries they tested, as well as in the US, there is a strong correlation between these variables. However, they conclude that the output levels of market-based economies are significantly more dependent on real equity prices, while real interest rates are universally negatively related to both output and equity prices (Barrell and Davies, 2004). In a similar study, Pesaran et al. (2004) focus on the links between domestic equity prices and levels of GDP in a sample of 25 countries and find a strong, if variable, correlation.

In attempting to answer the question of whether and how the financial market is linked to the macroeconomic performance, these studies prove that certain macroeconomic indicators are indeed strongly affected by the behaviour of equity prices, especially inflation rates, interest rates, investment levels, and output. The question remains open, however, on exactly what kind of links and mechanisms exist between macroeconomic and financial performance, and just how they can be applied to the study of financialisation.

Part of the answer to this question can be found in the theory of performativity. Coming from a more sociological perspective, this theory offers an analytical framework for the study of actor behaviour and can therefore be adopted into a political-economy perspective on the role of expectations and the performance of fundamental indicators.

The concept of performativity can be approached from two different theoretical fronts. From a strictly semantic perspective, performativity is related to the meaning of the word 'performance' and, as such, refers to the special quality of 'doing' – that is, the very act of making things happen, as opposed to contemplating, observing, declaring, or representing them. In this view, language, discourse, and any other type of expression are performative if and when they represent a real-life action that exists in its very performance. In the words of Judith Butler, the cultural theorist, performativity is the ability of something to be performative, i.e. to create itself in the process of being expressed. In her *Gender Trouble* (1990), for example, she uses the notion of gender to present a paradigmatic definition of the meaning of performativity, *'There is no gender identity behind the expressions of gender [...] identity is performatively constituted by the very "expressions" that are said to be its results'* (Butler, 1990: 25).

The second theoretical front defines the concept of performativity from an economic and sociological perspective. Performativity is used to conceptualise economics as the science that expresses the functions, behaviour, and workings of the economic system and, therefore, as a discipline that performatively constitutes its own performance (Callon, 1998a). More specifically, Callon argued that economics is one of those practices that *perform* markets, thereby implying that the models and theories of economics find actual use in economic practice. Callon does not entertain the notion that economic theories can ever be completely disconnected from the workings of the economy itself; on the contrary, he contends that economists are actively engaged in the everyday practice of the economy, as they shift from the act of studying it to the act of performing it (Holm, 2007).

In disagreement with Callon, Daniel Miller (2002) argues that economists have not lost their theoretical vantage point but, rather, that the real economy has, itself, interjected the economists' theoretical models. In Miller's view, the concept of *homo economicus*, originally a pure figment of theoretical fiction, has gradually become reality on account of the fact that economic actors, once instilled with this particular belief, reconstituted the world around them in its image and, hence, *performed* it into reality (Holm, 2007).

While the economic models [...] do not exist in reality, they are – increasingly – projected onto real-life economic behaviour with such force that people take them as objective, natural, thing like, and outside society, in much the same way as they think of gender, illness, death, and the laws of physics (Holm, 2007).

MacKenzie develops the economic approach to performativity even further. By drawing a distinction between the 'generic' and the 'effective' type of performativity, he contends that any theory, idea, or model, in order to be effectively, rather than generically, performative, needs to go well beyond the observation of the economic process it was created to describe – it needs to be employed in a way to actually affect and change it (2007). He concludes that for economic theories to be performative, they must be introduced within the processes they were made to describe in such a way as to result in a variation of the functions and performance of these processes as compared to what they would have been in the absence of said theories. In his words, '*To claim the economics is performative is to argue that it does things, rather than simply describing (with greater or lesser degrees of accuracy) an external reality that is not affected by economics*' (MacKenzie, 2007).

The concept of performativity can therefore be easily related to the concepts of actors' behaviour, expectations, perceptions, and self-fulfilling prophecies. If economic performativity determines the way theories shape actors' understandings of the economy as well as the way actors, in turn, form their expectations on the basis of these understandings, then it is possible to argue that, by acting on these expectations, the actors end up shaping the economy in the image of these theories. As a result, these theories effectively become self-fulfilling – or, in the case of counter-productivity, self-destructing – prophecies.

The example of a bank run is frequently used to that effect. MacKenzie (2007), for instance, illustrates how, if rumours of liquidity problems at a bank spread through the economy, those who have their funds deposited in the bank will attempt to withdraw them because liquidity problems are expected lead to bankruptcy and, eventually, to the possible loss of funds. However, this process deepens the liquidity problems of the bank and renders it unable to action all of the required withdrawals, thereby ensuring that it will, in fact, go into bankruptcy. This is a textbook example of an economic self-fulfilling prophecy, whereby economic theory forms the basis of expectations that are, in turn, acted out in a self-fulfilling loop.

By the same token, the link between the performance of stock markets and the macroeconomy depends on the expectations of both individual investors and firms with respect, this time, to the overall economy. This is because stocks, and the market for

stocks, operate similarly to any other economic market. The price of stocks depends on the level of demand for stocks in the market, and it fluctuates along with it. The reason why demand for stocks is more volatile than in most other economic markets is that demand for products, and the willingness of people to pay the price to purchase them, depends on the level of expected utility.

In the case of stocks, however, expected utility coincides with expected profits, which in turn, as discussed above, depend on a very delicate combination of heuristics, cognitive evaluations, and subjective feelings. As a result, if the expectation of a downturn in the stock market is dismissed or overlooked by the public, then the effect of a negative change in macroeconomic performance will be smaller than if panic and loss of confidence had prevailed. By contrast, if euphoria prevails, then the expected positive effects of an upturn in the macroeconomic performance will be inflated. Although only one side of this direct relationship between stock market and macroeconomic performance is commonly acknowledged, the direction of dependency goes both ways.

Indeed, it is not as often acknowledged that individuals and firms, who both exist and operate within what is considered to be the macroeconomy, are also directly affected by the performance of the stock market. Individuals, when involved in financial markets, usually allocate a part of their savings to an investment portfolio that they expect to yield certain returns over time. Individual investors build and treat their portfolios in different ways and with a different tolerance to risk and diversifications. What is common to most of them, though, is their reaction to the stock market performing well: individuals are confident spending more, saving less, and investing either in the stock market itself or, on the general expectation of high returns, in other, unrelated markets (Fama and French, 1989). This behaviour is very closely linked to the concepts of wealth effect and money illusion (Akerlof and Shiller, 2009), as first described by Minsky and Keynes, which suggest that the performance of individuals' portfolios has a direct influence on their approach to the market because, when their investments increase in value, their confidence in their own wealth and expenses increases accordingly – and vice versa. The money illusion also refers to a psychological effect

that is closely linked to the economic education of investors, i.e. the failure to factor in the effects of inflation in their investment decisions.

As a result, positive performance leads to increasing portfolio values and, consequently, to increasing confidence, increasing spending, and increasing investment activity. This behaviour has inflationary consequences on the macroeconomic indicators (Fama and French, 1989), and usually requires corrective, viz. reflationary, monetary policy. Similarly, if the stock market is performing poorly, and stock prices are in free fall, individuals tend to feel worse off; they lose confidence and, as a result, tend to spend less and save more. Increased savings and reduced consumption create a negative environment for investment, which, again, has a noticeable impact on the macroeconomic equilibrium.

In contrast to the case of individual investors, the way firms are affected by the stock market is complicated by the fact that, in any advanced economy, most large firms, not only are themselves part of the stock market, but also trade in their own stocks. This creates two routes through which the stock market can affect the macroeconomic equilibrium. First, most firms, just like individuals, invest parts of their capital in stock markets and other financial market portfolios. This means that if the stock market is booming, their assets rise in value and firms feel confident to expand either against hostile takeovers or towards ambitious business ventures. In doing so, the growth of firms will translate into increased productivity not just for the firms themselves, but also for the whole economy. Conversely, a poor stock-market performance will diminish the value of firms' assets and make them less likely to expand and, hence, to generate macroeconomic growth. This mechanism is even more conspicuous in the case of institutions, such as banks, pension funds, and investment organisations, whose operations depend to a great extent on the performance of the stock markets as a large part of their capital goes into investments.

Another way firms reflect the link between stock markets and macroeconomic performance is through the market performance of their own stocks. When the stock price of a firm falls, so does the confidence of its shareholders. Lower prices on the

stock of a firm; mean that the value of the firm is shrinking – usually because of unforeseeable events, the introduction of a competitor, mismanagement, or just plain speculation. When the value of a stock falls, its holders will usually sell it immediately in the expectation that the prospects of the company are going to worsen. If the firm, then, wishes to increase its liquidity in order to maintain the same level of funds, it will be forced to release larger stakes of its shares. This loss of value and confidence can make firms vulnerable to hostile takeovers and, in some cases, even liquidation. Although individual cases have a negligible impact on the overall macroeconomic performance, this condition, especially when the stock market is in a particularly vulnerable state and many stock prices are falling in value, can spread to whole sectors. In that event, the effects of the contagion are felt throughout the whole economy as there is no good performer to cancel out the loss in value and the reduction in investment activity.

Similar dynamics have been observed in the performativity literature. The performative cycle shapes actors' perception and understanding of the economy and the markets, and allows them to form their expectations and behaviour within its structure, while influencing their performance through their investment decisions. Therefore, while the case for the decoupling of the financial economy from the real economy still stands, these two entities must be recognised as being heavily interdependent because financial actors form their expectations and investment decisions on the basis on the real economic indicators, but, at the same time, real economic indicators are heavily influenced by the financial markets.

Insofar as the performative cycle answers the question on the links and mechanisms underpinning the relationship between the macroeconomic and financial performance in the context of financialisation, both the financial markets and the real economy can be scaled down to the narrower analytical space of the 'financialised' market and the market performance of the underlying commodity product. More specifically, the analysis conducted so far indicates that the kind of financial actors and structures that emerge from the process of financialisation give rise to an entirely new market dynamic. Here, the market is determined more by the norms and behaviour of the new financial actors and structures than by the laws of demand and supply that typically regulate nonfinancial markets, and hence become 'financialised'.

In financialised markets, the dominance of the new financial actors is due to their ability to shape the performance of the underlying market and, upon being in turn influenced by the process itself, to become themselves part of a performative cycle between their own behaviour and the price determination dynamics of the underlying market. It is suggested that the emergence of a fourth, 'financial' actor in the oil market is linked to just this type of performative cycle, particularly in view of its increasing influence in the price-setting mechanism of the oil market. As the distinctive feature of a 'financialised' market, this explanation could account for the historical process of financialisation that has left the oil market increasingly exposed and connected to international financial markets.

3.2 Behaviour and Expectations

If the new market dynamic is determined by the expectations and behaviour of the new financial actors, it remains to be seen what this behaviour entails in practice. This question is central to understanding how markets change as the process of financialisation takes root within their internal structure. The differences between the behaviour of new financial actors and that of the traditional economic actors' active in the underlying commodity market may help bring to light the distinctive evolutionary features of a market under the process of financialisation. The study of financial actors can be approached from two main theoretical perspectives: the neo-liberal Efficiency Market Theory and the Post-Keynesian theory.

Efficiency Market Theory (EMT) boasts a rich academic tradition. Among the most notable contributors to the EMT literature are Eugene Fama (1970), Milton Friedman (1980), and Paul Krugman (1993), who have approached the study of financial crises with the vocabulary of classical economics, which notoriously treats financial markets

as self-regulating and inherently efficient. There are two generations of EMT models, which reflect the various revisions and developments that have been made over time to adapt its main argument to the evolution of the financial markets.

Based on the neo-classical economic tradition, this theory assumes that financial markets are no different than any other market; they are, that is, inherently efficient. Paul Samuelson's (1963) classic take on the efficiency of the goods market is that individuals tend to spend money in order to purchase what they wish. If demand for some goods increases, their price will rise accordingly and so will production, until material resources run short and cause prices to rise even higher. On the other hand, if the availability of some goods exceeds the quantity demanded, prices will drop as suppliers hasten to sell as much of the goods as possible. As prices drop, the appeal of the goods will increase, and so will demand, until demand meets supply. In this theory, market prices need to be very volatile for the price-setting mechanism to set in and keep demand and supply in equilibrium. Not surprisingly, according to the Efficient Market Theory, asset prices are always at their optimal level, as they always reflect the true value of their investment. Last but not least, EMT, on the assumption that the financial markets bear no difference to the goods markets, also seamlessly incorporates the ideology of *laissez-faire* economics.

Uncritical belief in *laissez-faire* is one of the major flaws most frequently attributed to EMT, which is especially criticised for not entertaining the existence of irrational behaviour and for assuming that markets always operate in condition of equilibrium (Cooper, 2008). These criticisms form the basis of the second theoretical approach to the issue of financial actor behaviour, known as the Post-Keynesian tradition. Kept for decades in the shadow of the Chicago school of economics by both the academic and the financial world, this theoretical front has made a remarkable comeback in the past fifteen years. One of the merits of this theory is that it factors psychological and sociological insights into the study of economics and finance. In doing so, Post-Keynesians expose many of the long-established formulas and theories associated with classical economics as false or out-dated; most controversially, they conclude that people behave irrationally – and that markets do so, too (Sheleifer, 2002: 2).

Keynes argued that in financial markets the savings–investment nexus does not operate the same way as it does in other markets: whereas in typical markets savings affect investment levels, in financial markets it is investments that determine saving activity (Nesvetailova, 2007: 44). This is based on the assumption that when stock markets perform well, people will have an incentive to invest more than they would otherwise do. In apparent logical contradiction, however, this seems to imply that savings still do have an underlying influence over investment levels. Such apparent incongruities are not foreign to the explanatory framework of this theoretical tradition. The interrelatedness among investment, savings, and borrowing, in particular, is at the heart of Keynes' notorious paradox of thrift (Cooper, 2008: 119).

Even the ideas put forward by Minsky in the late 1970s and early 1980s became, in time, part of a certain Post-Keynesian canon (Fazzari, 1989: 103) – even though Minsky never considered himself as belonging to this theoretical school. One of his main arguments centred on the idea that, just as increased savings set in motion the whole paradox of thrift, increased borrowing produces something similar, but opposite; in other words, higher borrowing is argued to increase investment levels, and thus profits, and to lead to a vicious circle where individuals save less, but borrow and spend more. As captured in perhaps one of his most eloquent quips, *'stability creates instability'*, he believed that at good times people tend to build up unsustainable amounts of debt, and that this tends to jeopardise the stability, or the otherwise desirable status quo, of the economy.

This argument has some echoes of Veblen's concept of 'conspicuous consumption'. Introduced almost a century earlier, this referred to the idea that people always seek to better their position in their effort to '*keep up with the Joneses*' (Veblen, 1899). This activity is indeed as conspicuous and it is consumptive because progress is both ostentatious and quickly forgotten, as people, in seeking to improve their apparent status, overstretch their purchasing power and inflate the economy.

Another important Post-Keynesian contribution is Mandelbrot's demonstration that markets have memory and that their performance is influenced by their own recent behaviour (Cooper, 2008: 150). Memory, he suggested, allows markets to re-adjust to their expected levels. This means that even though market conditions may change, actors contribute to their re-adjustment as they base their positions on their expectations as well as on the current condition of the market. This argument is clearly incompatible with EMT as it implies that market equilibrium is not determined as much by its true value, as by expectations. However, within the Post-Keynesian school, Mandelbrot's claims are pivotal. This is especially so because the market-memory argument seems to confirm the positive-feedback process first elaborated by Minsky, which similarly posits that markets tend to repeat past events in cycles as if they had a memory of their own.

The attributes of actor behaviour identified in the Post-Keynesian theoretical framework throw much light on why, at times of increased risky investments with high returns, the booming financial market becomes so appealing to economic actors in spite of its high volatility. The main reason for the limited memory span observed in investor activity, according to Gorge Cooper (2008), is to do with the main variables that investors employ to calculate the value of assets, to wit economic fundamentals, as discussed earlier in the chapter, balance sheets, and income statements. All three of these variables are heavily linked to the performance of the financial market and, hence, their bias misleads investors into a false sense of control (Cooper, 2008: 114).

This phenomenon is well known in the field of behavioural finance, and was most recently explored in Robert Shiller's *Irrational Exuberance* (2005) and Akerlof and Shiller's *Animal Spirits* (2009). Behavioural finance offers a number of arguments relative to the formation of financial actors' expectations and behaviour. Their most cited arguments are that investors often trade on 'noise', rather than fully understood and pondered information (Sheleifer, 2000); that they tend to rely on advice from both reliable and unreliable sources; that they fail to diversify their portfolios; and that they often sell well-performing stocks while holding on to underperforming ones (Sheleifer, 2000: 10). These arguments are further explored in the works of Kantona (1951), Loewenstein (2008), Shiller (Akerlof and Shiller, 2009) and Shefrin (2007), among others, and all appear to show that financial actors are seldom driven by rational calculations and incentives.

In his *Psychological Analysis of Economic Behaviour* (1951), Kantona puts in no uncertain terms that, in order for the rationality argument to hold any water, human beings must be assumed to be 'automatons' devoid of any human perception or feeling (Kantona, 1951: 6). In his view, this form of 'mechanistic psychology' has induced economic analysts to look at money and price behaviour strictly in terms of money and price, and to overlook the crucial human element therein (Kantona, 1951: 6). By contrast, he argues that economic behaviour is driven by impulses all too human, insofar as 'how we spend our money depends on fashion, salesmanship and advertising, social background and standards, considerations of prestige, insecurities and emotional conflicts' (Kantona, 1951: 63).

In a similar vein, Loewenstein, in his *Exotic Preferences* (2008), investigates the process of investment decision-making and concludes that, because risks are conceived by investors as feelings, their outcome has a considerable influence on the future behaviour of financial actors. From a similar psychological angle, Paul Samuelson, in his *Risk and Uncertainty: A Fallacy of Large Numbers* (1963) introduces the concept of 'loss aversion' to refer to the phenomenon whereby actors behave myopically and irrationally in an attempt to minimise the risk of suffering losses (Camerer, Loewenstein and Rabin Matthew, 2004: 590). This behaviour has been linked to actors' attempts to build elaborate formulas and methods of beating the market. These forms of 'heuristics', or 'mental calculations', which usually involve the interpretation of signs, patterns, and trends, are widely used among investors in the belief that they can help to predict the future behaviour of the market (Sheleifer, 2000: 12). Heuristic techniques of this sort instil investors with irrational overconfidence and usually lead to 'noise' trading (Shefrin, 2007: 237).

Noise trading can also be explained in terms of what Robert Shiller and Gorge Akerlof call *'animal spirits'* (2009). In their study of actor behaviour, they posit that people's expectations are formed by the stories they hear. In other words, as people get involved in the markets in one way or another, they take into consideration what other people experienced in similar circumstances. Shiller and Akerlof go on to contend that investment decision-making is not only determined by purely economic or rational

factors, but also by such animalistic spirits as herding, overexcitement, fear, and panic¹¹. Two eminent hedge fund managers, George Soros (2008) and Peter Lynch (1990), have described the irrational determinants of investment decision-making in similar terms. Soros, in particular, maintains that financial markets are influenced by the 'reflexivity' factor, that is, the idea the actors who influence the financial markets through their activities are themselves influenced by the very markets of which they are part, in a self-perpetuating loop that not only proves, but also intensifies the link between human behaviour and financial market performance.

In *Manias, Panics and Crushes*, Charles Kindleberger proposes a six-level scale to measure the degree of rationality in the behaviour of the financial actors (Kindleberger and Aliber, 2005: 36). On level one, actors are assumed to behave completely irrationally and to engage in 'mob psychology'¹², 'groupthink'¹³, and other herding behaviour. On level two, actors are expected to behave completely rationally, but only until they inevitably and progressively slide back to the first level. On level three, different groups of actors conceive rationality in different ways; some of them behave rationally while others do not. On level four, all the market participants renounce the 'fallacy of composition' (Kindleberger and Aliber, 2005: 36) and individual actors will conceive of rationality independently from the total of the group or the rest of the market actors. On level five, the market operates under rational principles, but expectations differ on the quality and the quantity of information. Finally, level six is reserved to those financial actors who behave irrationally by either overlooking or suppressing key information as a result of misleading predicting models.

¹¹ Panic is defined as the abrupt and contagious spread of fear of an imminent collapse of the market and is often associated with bank runs.

¹² Mob psychology refers to the idea that people act differently as part of a crowd because they lose part of their individual identities in an instinctive effort to keep harmony within the group. As a result, they tend not to protest against actions or sentiments that they would not otherwise agree to under different circumstances.

¹³ Groupthink is a psychological phenomenon that occurs within a group of people, in which the desire of members to try to minimise conflicts leads the group to consensus decision-making, without the critical evaluation of alternative ideas or viewpoints, and to isolation from outside influences.

The use of this scale helps Kindleberger to show the prevalence of mob psychology and hysteria as an occasional, but well-established, deviation from rational behaviour and, to borrow Minsky's conception of 'optimism' and 'euphoria', that optimism can very easily turn into mania (Kindleberger and Aliber, 2005: 24). The merit of Kindleberger's analysis is that it shows not just the prevalence, but also the dangers of the herding effect in financial markets.

The influence of human psychology on financial behaviour was perhaps most poetically captured by Lord Overstone, a leading British banker of the nineteenth century, who claimed that consumer sentiments follow a cycle of *'quiescence, improvement, confidence, prosperity, excitement, overtrading, convulsion, pressure, stagnation, ending again in quiescence* (Bagehot, 1987: 273).

The Post-Keynesian literature on the link between financial market performance and actor behaviour is virtually unanimous. The behaviour of financial actors is described as irrational, because influenced by 'animal' instincts, fear of losses, overconfidence, misleading heuristics, as well as peer pressure, herding and other marks of mob psychology. Financial actors are found to be myopic in their investment strategies and to base their decision-making on expectations shaped as much by their own feelings as by the performance of the underlying economy.

Understanding the role of actors' expectations and irrationality is essential to the study of the financialisation of non-financial markets and the structural transformations that this process entails. The fact that financial actors' decision-making is so heavily swayed by such factors as herd behaviour, euphoria, panic, or other market instincts, is indicative that these actors may be less involved in understanding the underlying commodity of the market than in gratifying their own heuristic performance. It is the unpredictability and volatility of this behaviour that sets financial actors apart from traditional market actors.

In particular, even though financial actors do take into account the fundamental performance of the underlying commodity when forming their market expectations,

they are usually more shortsighted than traditional investors. Not being tied to any aspect of the market itself, save for its performance indicators, financial actors tend to be biased in favour of short-term gains because they are free to enter and leave the market to the best of their interests. This is in stark contrast to the behaviour of traditional actors who, often motivated by a genuine interest in the underlying commodity or in its profit returns, make long-term commitments and investments in the market, and do not abandon it as easily. The more elastic – and volatile –behaviour of financial actors, in contrast, allows them to enter the market when they expect it to perform well and to leave it when it shows signs of sluggishness.

This form of short-term performance heuristics makes the financial performance of the market more volatile when coupled with instances of 'mob psychology' and 'herding' (Clapp, 2009; Silvennoinen, 2009; Clapp, 2010). Volatility is also further intensified by the ease with which funds are able to enter and leave the market, which, depending on the popularity of the market in question, end up inflating its price level. In turn, these pricing pressures are transferred from the commodity-based financial market to the underlying commodity market by the performative cycle that links them together. On top of this, the underlying commodity market is also more responsive to those expectations that performatively shape events into reality. These events, which include financial and economic crises, as well as instances of general euphoria, can increase the volatility of the behaviour of financial actors even when the underlying market is unaffected.

3.3 Technology and Regulation

The analysis conducted so far on the economic fundamentals and on the behaviour and expectations of financial actors has studied the relationship between real economic production and financial profit creation and how it can be linked to the process of financialisation. This part of the chapter will look at the factors of technology and regulation and the extent to which they underpin the process of financialisation within and without the structure of a traditional commodity market. These two factors are dual in scope; they can be either universal or market-specific, according to the number of markets targeted by the technological or regulatory developments.

Even though the level of technological advancement is equal at the international level, this is not always the case at the market-specific one. The rate at which new technologies are adopted into the structure of a given market is not always in line with the rate at which it becomes available to the public or to other markets, much as technological advancement has always a transformative impact on market structure and performance. Similarly, regulation exists at multiple levels, including the international, the national, and the market-specific one, and it, too, has the potential to influence extensively market performance, structure, and functions. The process of financialisation exposes markets to advancements in financial technologies and regulations, in addition to those specific to their traditional sector.

At the universal level, technological advances have profoundly affected the international financial sector.

During the May 2010 flash crash, some stocks traded as low as a penny before recovering in a manic 20-minute period [...] It may not take a full trading day for the markets to lose 25 percent today – it could happen in moments. And while traders knew trouble was brewing when they arrived for work on October 19, 1987, today companies can lose hundreds of millions of dollars out of nowhere (Mackenzie, Massoudi and Foley, 2012).

The introduction of radio, television, and finally the Internet have produced sweeping changes in the world of finance as instant access to information has progressively broken down the physical barriers between financial operations (Kurtzman, 1994; Guttmann, 2002). Advances in communication and information technology have also changed the structure of financial markets by giving new actors the information tools to gain market access (Kurtzman, 1994). With greater access to information, actors also gained a new level of awareness and involvement in the market. Virtual data, in

particular, has made it possible for actors to operate outside the physical and theoretical bounds of each market.

The advancement of new technologies, and their progressive adoption by the financial sector, has also led to the creation of new financial products and markets (Kurtzman, 1994; Guttman, 2002). Among the latest technological breakthroughs that have made an impact in the financial markets is the Internet; its introduction led to the electronic marketisation of financial products, with real time access to information at an international scale (Kurtzman, 1994; Guttman, 2002). This development altered the dynamics of the financial markets in substantial ways, as international funds now had the ability to collect the necessary information to gain access to these markets, which suddenly received vast new volumes of investments. However, these new investments turned out to be more flexible than regular ones; their volumes could change very rapidly and this could intensify the reaction levels of the markets in both speed and magnitude.

However, these developments are not just the result of technological advances in financial markets, and of the ease with which actors can now access and exit them. Indeed, the literature on the behaviour of financial actors, discussed earlier in the chapter, shows the pervasive role of the human element in financial decision-making; technological advances have only intensified such patterns of behaviour as herding or mob psychology. Indeed, having access to the same information has made the possibility of experiencing the same reactions all the more possible and frequent (Kantona, 1951: 296).

This information revolution is all the more relevant when considering how technological advances can affect the structure of a non-financial market in the process of financialisation. While both financial and non-financial markets are equally affected by the advancement of technology, their outcomes differ. Non-financial markets will stand to benefit from more efficient ways of production, better or faster supply and transportation routes, increased information, and faster communications; their profitability is likely to increase as a result. In contrast, in the case of the financial

markets, increased profitability is not the only outcome of technological developments; flexibility is, too.

Financial actors value the role of information and communication in their business as much as they value the freedom to abandon a deflating market for a booming one. This form of flexibility is facilitated by the development of technologies such as the Internet, because this makes it possible to create, and access, new products without physical or geographic barriers. Therefore, technological advances, in the context of financialisation, not only lead to increasing profitability, but also to increasing volumes of capital investments and to the introduction of volatility risks directly determined by actor behaviour and indirectly allowed by technological accessibility.

Americans battle with these complex (financial) trades is being closely monitored by regulators in Canada, Australia and the EU as they too seek ways to contain volatility caused by machines. What frightens investors most of all is a sudden evaporation of liquidity, when everyone pulls back at once and there is no one to give a firm price to an investor wanting to sell (Mackenzie, Massoudi and Foley, 2012).

In this sense, the level of technology adopted into the structure of a financialised market determines the effects that the process of financialisation will have on the structure and functions of the market; it will do so by determining the level of engagement and influence of the new financial actors as well as by facilitating the creation and accessibility of financial products and markets.

Regulation, too, has the ability to determine the creation and accessibility of financial products and markets. However, in contrast to technology, regulation is reactive in scope and, as such, usually acts as a restriction to the otherwise available functions and accessibility levels. In general terms, the role of regulation is to target known problems and risks in financial or economic activities. Regulation can act at the international, national, or market-specific level, and it can target either specific actors or entire markets. The process of financialisation can be affected by regulatory developments at

any of these levels as long as the financialised market in question imports or deregulates activities within its structure.

Actor-targeting regulation refers to regulations imposed on the behaviour or activities of a specific group of actors in an attempt to minimise the risks to which they are believed to be exposed. Such regulation can take the form of minimum required liquidity reserves or even restrictions on high-risk investments. On the other hand, markettargeting regulation is designed to either prevent the creation of specific financial products or to regulate their size. Regulatory developments on either front have, therefore, the potential to affect both the creation and the accessibility of financial markets.

The deregulation of actors and markets facilitates the creation of new financial products and increases the accessibility of existing financial markets. In the case of financialised markets, regulation has a similar effect. Here, regulatory developments can pave the way for new financial products to be introduced into the financial structure and – unprecedented in these newly financialised markets – for capital to engage in them. In the absence of regulation, the financialisation process of a non-financial market would grow without any restrictions. Nevertheless, in the presence of regulation, any expansion causes instant and extensive movements of financial capital in the market that cannot be matched, at least in the short term, by the performance of the underlying market.

The role of regulation and technology in changing the structure and volume of the financial markets has an impact on the geographical reach of the financialisation effects. The creation of new markets and the deeper involvement of new financial actors within the structure of financialised markets (Rigobon, 2007; Schornick, 2009), tends to internationalise the effects of financialisation to other markets as these actors do not usually operate solely within the structure of one market, but across a multitude of markets to better hedge their risks. This creates links among the markets where these actors are most active.

Traditional non-financial markets consist of producers, consumers, and intermediary firms. The economic performance of these actors is determined by the performance of the market, as they are confined to operate within this market on account of their capacities, investments, or agreements. While the performance of their market affects them directly, any effects that their performance might have on other markets will only be indirect. By contrast, in markets undergoing financialisation, these dynamics change. The financial actors that enter the structure of the market are not as restricted by financial, physical, or geographic barriers as traditional actors are. This allows them to partake in financial activities in different markets worldwide. As a result, the performance of a single specific market will affect their financial performance directly; however, it will also indirectly affect the performance of the other international markets and economies in which these actors are based or involved (Kyle and Xiong, 2001).

With the introduction of technological advances and regulatory developments, the number of international actors with potential access to the structure of a market undergoing financialisation rises. This rise results in increasing global interconnectivity between this specific market and international financial markets. The link cuts both ways, as both the market undergoing financialisation and international financial markets are subject to the performance and preferences of the financial actors involved. The introduction of new technologies and regulations will bring about either a convergence or a disconnection of the two, depending on the nature of the underlying commodity of the financialised market. This is because some markets, such as the oil market, can be viewed as risk-hedging markets, insofar as the volumes of investments in their structure increases during financial downturns.

Understanding the role of technology and regulation in the determination of the extent and effects of the process of financialisation in a market adds important insights into the direct and indirect reach of the influence of financial actors, and of the relationship between real production and financial profits, on the performance, structure, and dynamics of a traditional non-financial market undergoing financialisation.

4 The Financialisation of the Oil Market

Derivatives instrumentalise risk in such a way as to promote financialised accumulation, which abstracts from any linear relationship to underlying processes of real wealth creation. As such, finance proceeds on a novel footing. Under the guise of risk management, financial innovation has generated a plethora of derivative instruments which seem to simply mirror extant volatility, but in reality render volatility or variance a distinct traded asset. In turn, while justified by their ameliorative impact on uncertainty and role in optimising the capital allocation process, derivatives have profoundly altered a host of financial practices so that the financial sphere sits on top of the world economy attempting to profit despite, and indeed on the basis of, the vagaries of competition within it (Wigan, 2008).

The basic dynamics of the oil market, and its three-actor price-setting mechanism, have been very transparent up to the 1980s. On the one hand, importing countries, unlike exporting countries and the oil corporations, benefited from oil prices being as low as possible. This is because when the price of oil is high, exporting countries receive increased returns, while oil corporations receive higher profit margins. The basic interactions among the actors of the oil market are dictated by this distinction. Importing countries, mainly comprising of Western and OECD economies, possess high levels of research and technological capacities, which they use to apply pressure to the oil producers to keep price levels below the threshold that would make the development, adaptation, and use of an alternative source of energy worth their while.

That possibility is very threatening to oil-producing countries, as the development and adaptation of an effective alternative source would make demand for oil more elastic. This would prove especially harmful for the oil-producing countries, such as those in the Middle East, whose GDP levels depend heavily on oil revenues (OPEC, 2006). Foreign direct investment trends also indicate an increasing flow of investment from

oil-producing countries to Western oil-importing countries (Peeters, 2010). The economic health of oil-producing countries, therefore, has also come to depend on the good economic and financial performance of the West.

Other things being equal, oil-producing countries refrain from long-term and extensive raises in the price of oil. Throughout the years, price increases have been due to a number of different reasons, ranging from political interests to conflict-driven supply shocks and even peak-oil fears. In the case of OPEC politically driven increases, these take the form of agreed increases in the price of oil among all the members of the organisation (Fattouh, 2007). These increases are usually induced through supply restrictions, which affect the price level through the interaction of market forces and the price mechanism. When conflicts break out on oil-producing territories, on the other hand, production levels may also be affected as both oil wells and distribution networks usually suffer extensive damages, thereby reducing global supply and raising price levels (Fattouh, 2007). What is more, conflicts in many cases involve embargoes that act as an additional destabiliser of market equilibrium.

As described in previous chapters, up to the end of the 1970s, oil-price shocks could only occur if they were in some way directly related to the interaction of the triangular structure of the market and therefore affected by changes in either the demand or the supply of oil as a commodity product. However, these three market forces, and the dynamics between them, have changed dramatically since the 1980s.

The literature on the process of financialisation of commodities markets, and of the oil market in particular, is limited. Prior to the 1980s, the oil market did not have much of a financial dimension since oil-based financial products had not been introduced yet as a tradable commodity in international exchanges. This pattern remained in place even during the first decade of existence of oil-based financial products, the 1980s, as the oil commodity market was mostly used as an alternative investment market, mainly for insurance risk-hedging on the part of the market actors themselves (Medlock and Jaffe, 2009; Kerckhoffs, Os and Myriam, 2010).

At that time, the unpopularity of these products among actors outside the market, such as financial and speculative institutions, was mainly due to the physical mode of delivery that was associated with many of these products, as well with the strict regulations that prohibited a number of such institutions from engaging in commodity trading (Kerckhoffs, Os and Myriam, 2010). For the first decade after the emergence of oil-based financial products, the performance of the oil market was independent of both traditional financial markets and other commodity-based markets (Tang and Xiong, 2009); this effectively discouraged strategic speculative or hedging activities from purely financial actors. This argument is confirmed in the studies of both Erb and Harvey (2006) and Gorton and Rouwenhorst (2006) who found only limited correlations between the performance of the oil commodity markets and stock index returns.

Nevertheless, recent developments in the international financial markets, as well as in commodity markets, have stirred up greater interest in this field and have highlighted the need to bring the phenomenon of financialisation into sharper focus. The definition of financialisation employed in this thesis is that of a process of change in the nature and motives of market investment, market actors, and market operations. This thesis, therefore, will concentrate on the emergence and evolution of the different types and functions of oil-based financial investment products as well as of the different types, motives, and practices of the new financial actors responsible for such capital investments, with special regard to the technological and regulatory developments that have made the new market environment possible.

This chapter describes the emergence of the process of financialisation of the oil market in terms of its progressive integration with the financial sector in the post-1980s period. The purpose of this study is to verify whether the actual events of the period under study align with the conclusions of the theoretical understanding of financialisation. To that end, this study will approach the financialisation of the oil market by identifying three distinct periods of, respectively, low (1980–1990), early (1991–2001), and advanced (2002–08) financialisation. The point of departure of this historical approach is 1980, the year when a group of energy and futures companies founded the International Petroleum Exchange (IPE) which went on to release the first contract for oil futures in 1981. As Mabro observes (2005), it would then take another five years for the first oil contract to employ a formula containing a spot price as a benchmark for the calculation of its price level. Even though oil had long been traded as a primary energy source, it was only after the events of the 1970s and the first oil crisis in particular, that financial institutions realised its potential as an investment opportunity. In the aftermath of the 1973 oil crisis, the oil industry explored new methods for the diversification of risk and new capital. The methods associated with foreign exchange and agricultural products not only proved to be a viable solution, but also had the advantage of promoting transparency and attracting greater liquidity.

The development of the futures market provided openly available information on the current and expected conditions of the market to all its actors, making its functions more transparent. It also equipped market participants with the knowledge and ability to hedge, or shed risk, against unexpected price fluctuations (Kerckhoffs, Os and Myriam, 2010). This proved especially beneficial to companies involved in the exploration, extraction, refining, and even marketing of oil products. In case of a drop in oil prices, producers now had the ability to counterbalance their losses in the actual oil market with the profits gained by betting on said drop. To be sure, in the opposite case, their winnings from the actual market are offset by the losses in the financial investment. However, the introduction of the futures market made it possible for producers to reduce their vulnerability to the fluctuations of the oil price level through the use of oil future positioning.

Since the launch of the first crude futures contracts in the late 1980s (IEA, 2011; EIA, 2012), the market has experienced all but continuous year-on-year growth. New products and trading tools have arisen in the meantime, notably swaps and options, and since 1999 trade of oil-commodity products became available electronically on the Internet. As far as the commodities themselves are concerned, the energy sector trades in four distinct kinds of oil product: West Texas Intermediate grade crude oil (WTI),

heating oil, gasoline, and natural gas (Tang and Xiong, 2009). Oil derivatives, on the other hand, come in all sorts of variations and combinations, yet can be generally classified in two broad groups in their exchange based form: futures and options. At the same time, when traded over the counter (CFTC, 2012), these instruments very frequently take the form of swaps (Labban, 2010; CFTC, 2012).

'Futures' are contracts whereby investors commit to buying or selling a specific volume of a commodity at a specific date in the future at a price that is determined at the initiation of the contract; the physical delivery of the product, which is required under the terms of the contract, can be avoided if the contract is sold before its expiration (CFTC, 2012, EIA, 2012). 'Options' denote contracts whereby investors purchase the right, but not obligation, to buy a specific volume of a commodity for an agreed price level, within a specified period of time. Crucially, options do not bind investors to exercise this option; they just invest in the right to exercise their right at any point within their period of validity (CFTC, 2012, EIA, 2012). This way, the exchange based market of oil based products provides the necessary tools for both long term value investment, as well as risk hedging.

Utilising these products at their base, the unregistered, over-the-counter (OTC) market in which actors who trade bilaterally instead of through official exchanges are part of, is a very active platform for trading what is commonly known as 'swaps' contracts. These instruments are commonly seen to belong with the realms of the financial market, as they do not require the physical delivery of the product. Swaps can take different forms, either imposing a trade of the difference between the floating rate of oil and the average spot price over the period of the contract (Labban, 2010), or the exchange of an asset, based on the price of an index, for a similar asset with the intention of shifting risks or even adjusting maturity lengths (CFTC, 2012). Thus, swaps offer a way to hedge risks while trading in futures and options as they are based on these products (CFTC Commitment of Traders Reports in Baker, 2009), yet avoiding the issue of product delivery, as well as going through the official exchanges where the trade will have to be registered. From an historical perspective, the commodity markets behaved, and performed, very differently from their financial counterpart before the early 2000s. This was because the factors that came into play in the commodity market were very different from the ones associated with the financial asset markets, which were predominantly affected by risk and other such factors (Campbell and Shiller, 1988a; Campbell and Cochrane, 1999; Kyle and Xiong, 2001; Barberis and Shleifer, 2000). Although the 1990s witnessed increasing links between many financial institutions and underlying commodity markets, they were limited to strategies of portfolio diversification and risk-hedging (Tang and Xiong 2009). Investment in the commodity markets was further limited by the requirement of physical storage (Tang and Xiong, 2009) and by the so-called 'prudent investor' rule, which, in defining investments in un-hedged futures contracts of commodities as speculative activity, discouraged the participation of many large financial institutions, such as pension funds (Masters and White, 2008b). As a result, these markets remained long confined to their own circle of producers, consumers, and corporations as well as to the small class of financial actors and traditional speculators that specialised in their specific commodities (Tang and Xiong, 2009).

4.1 Indexes

In response to the need for a simplified investment option for these markets, with lower risks and no obligation of physical delivery, Goldman Sachs seized the opportunity to build an asset class based on commodities. This asset class, the S&P Goldman Sachs Commodity Index (GSCI), employed a combination of various commodity futures and options, with a significant large proportion of it reserved to oil. This meant that investors were now able to invest in oil without the problem of commodity storage thanks to the fact that these indexes operated on the value of the futures contracts with a minimum expiration period of one month, and more specifically, on the principle of 'rolling' from one contract to the next. This way, investors were exempted from taking physical possession of the commodity and their investments operated as if holding a long position on a futures contract (Silvennoinen, 2009). An additional advantage was

that the index was based on a number of different commodities, so investments also enjoyed risk diversification across all these commodity markets.

The first trades on the S&P GSCI took place in 1992, but it was not long before other indexers followed suit (Wray, 2009). The two most popular indexes, the S&P Goldman Sachs Commodity Index and the Dow Jones–AIG Commodity Index (DJ-AIG), have recently been joined by a number of smaller indexes, such as the Rogers International and the Deutsche Bank Liquid Commodity Index, which vary considerably in their specific characteristics (Tang and Xiong, 2009). All these commodity indexes function the same way as equity indexes (e.g. S&P 500) as their value is calculated from a specific basket of commodities, where each commodity differs in weight. An example of one such index is given in Figure 4, which presents a breakdown of the composition and weights of the commodities on which the Dow Jones–UBS Commodity Index is based.



Figure 4-4 2011 Target Weights of the Dow Jones–UBS Commodity Index (S&P Dow Jones, 2012)

The commodity markets, being positively correlated to the rate of inflation, provide a very useful portfolio diversification tool compared to other financial assets. As well as being marketed as future contracts, commodities are part of the basket of goods that is used to calculate inflation rate levels; their value is, therefore, determined by the same expectations that regulate expected inflation levels (UN Trade and Development Report, 2009). Furthermore, as most commodities are traded only in US dollar values,

investments in the commodities market provide a very effective hedging strategy against the exchange rate of the US dollar (UN Trade and Development Report, 2009), while, at the same time, the value of the US dollar affects the international demand for said commodities (Clapp, 2009). The fundamental characteristics of all those oil-based financial products made accessible by the indexes marked them as effective hedging investment options. Nevertheless, the regulatory and logistical barriers of the market still made such investments either unappealing or inaccessible to many large financial institutions.

This situation changed with the equity market collapse of the early 2000s, when the negative correlation between the performances of these two markets became apparent. This led their participants to conclude that commodity markets could be used to offset the risks of asset markets. Confirmation of this came from studies conducted by Greer (2000), Gorton and Rouwenhorst (2006), and Erb and Harvey (2006) who reported a gradual increase of the negative correlation between the returns of commodity markets and asset markets since the 1990s.

More importantly, however, the Commodity Futures Modernization Act of 2000 (CFMA) changed the entrance restrictions to the market even further and made this kind of investments more attractive with partially deregulations; the market was now open to mutual funds, insurance institutions, and banks (Brown-Hruska, 2004). The CFMA, which was approved by Congress on December 2000, effectively deregulated new oilbased financial products and overruled the restrictions set by the 'prudent investor' rule. It did this by legislating that a number of over-the-counter derivatives fell outside the Commodity Futures Trade Commission ¹⁴ (CFTC) jurisdiction, thereby creating a loophole for financial actors to use their OTC expertise and sidestep the CFMA regulations (Clapp, 2010). Some of the largest investment banks, later known as 'Wall Street Refiners', established specialised departments for trading in the oil market

¹⁴ The CFTC is an independent agency, established in 1974 by the US Congress. Its mandate is to regulate the commodity options and futures markets in the United States. This mandate is focused mainly on the promotion of open, financially sound, and competitive markets and on the protection of market actors and the public from fraud, manipulation, abusive practices, and systemic risks related to derivatives subject to the Commodity Exchange Act.

(Labban, 2010). A report by the CFTC claimed that by 2003 most of the biggest US hedge funds were engaged in commodity markets (Brown-Hruska, 2004) and that their involvement in these markets tripled between 2004 and 2007 (Domanski and Heath, 2007).

Statistical data on the involvement of the financial actors in the oil market leave no doubt as to the direction of this trend. Between 2002 and 2008, open contracts in commodity exchanges increased by 170 percent, which made the volume of exchange-traded derivatives about 25 percent bigger than the actual physical production of most traded commodities (Domanski and Heath, 2007; Redrado et al., 2009). During this time, the estimated value of commodity-related OTC contracts exchanged increased to \$13 trillion, more than 14 times its starting figure (UN Trade and Development Report, 2009). According to data from the Bank of England, almost 90 percent of the oil commodity swaps and options trades take place over the counter (Campbell, 2003), which makes the official growth of this market since its inception all the more impressive. At the same time, a large volume of the oil commodity products traded is not traded individually, but as part of commodity indexes.



Source: BIS, Quarterly Review, June 2009

Figure 5-4 Commodity Futures and OTC Volumes (UN Trade and Development Report, 2009)



Figure 6-4 Commodity Prices, normalized prices Jan/1991= 100 (Tank and Xiong, 2009)

Figures 5 and 6 display the growth of the main commodity markets, along with the very rapid growth of the oil commodity markets since 2000. This boom was mainly determined by the addition of a wide number of large short-term focused investors, such as hedge funds, pension funds, and speculators (Clapp, 2010). The number of such institutions active in the energy market has reportedly tripled since the end of 2004, and the estimated asset value under their management is over \$60 billion – a figure that does not include OTC trades, most of which go undocumented (Fusaro and Vasey, 2006). The loss of \$6 billion that was announced by hedge fund Amarath in September 2006 from its gas derivatives investments is revealing of the proportions of these institutions' involvement in the energy sector (Domanski and Heath, 2007). At the same time, the US Permanent Senate Committee estimated that at least one third of the price off a barrel of oil, which by then had risen to \$60, was caused by speculative futures trading.

The view that commodity index investment acted as a central driver of the 2007/8 spike in commodity futures prices is shared by a number of economists, such as Fadel Gheit¹⁵, who in 2008 addressed US House of Representatives with the following:

I firmly believe that the current record oil price in excess of \$135 per barrel is inflated. I believe, based on supply and demand fundamentals, crude oil prices should not be above \$60 per barrel [...] There were no unexpected changes in industry fundamentals in the last 12 months, when crude oil prices were below

¹⁵ Managing Director and Senior Analyst at Oppenheimer and Company, Inc.

\$65 per barrel. I cannot think of any reason that explains the run-up in crude oil price, besides excessive speculation (Gheit, 2008: 2).

Towards the end of the decade, commodity-linked exchange-traded funds (ETFs) became available to actors who wished to engage in this market while trading on stock exchanges (Clapp, 2010). The sellers of these products employed the commodity futures market in order to hedge their risks, which led to pressures for a further relaxation of commodity market regulations (Clapp, 2010). This is because the limits to the volume of positions that an institution could hold on the futures market were restricting the increasing demand for hedging against the risk of these products. In 2006, the CFTC issued *no action* letters to Deutsche Bank and Gresham Investment Manager, allowing them to increase their positions in the market and, thereby, effectively lifting the limits imposed by the regulation. A year later, the CFTC, citing the growth of commodity index trading (US Senate, 2009: 109), called for the introduction of a 'risk management' exemption to lift the limits of position for approved index funds engaged in risk-hedging strategies (Clapp, 2010).

The development of these indexes and products has attracted instruments worth billions of dollars from financial institutions interested in taking advantage of the indexification of commodity markets (Clapp, 2010). The characteristic that sets these markets apart from traditional asset markets is that their value is fundamentally connected to the supply and demand of the underlying commodity. However, these two types of market are set on a path of partial integration, as financial actors, especially investment banks and hedge funds, increasingly invest in commodity markets and, at the same time, commodity-market actors choose to partake in asset markets to diversify their portfolios. This process of integration is due to the increasing exposure of these markets to the shocks that occur within the boundaries of each other via the spill-over effects caused by the behaviour and influence of their respective actors (Tang and Xiong, 2009).

4.2 Actors

At this point, it will be useful to get a closer look at the financial actors themselves. In the period under analysis, the petroleum futures market expanded both in size and in number of participants. With privileged access to data from the Commodities Futures Trading Commission (CFTC), Büyükşahi et al. (2008) were able to demonstrate that this trend is indeed real. This evolution of the financial actors operating across both the underlying commodity and the oil-based financial markets entails an increase not only in their ranks, but also in their variety.

On the side of the oil market, a number of large International Oil Companies (IOCs), large Utility Companies, commodity trading companies, and small oil producing and storage firms are active in the asset markets mainly as a means of diversifying their portfolios or hedging their risks. National Oil Companies (NOCs) are seldom involved in these markets as they operate under government control (Interview 2, 2012). On the side of the financial institutions, on the other hand, financial actors come in the form of hedge funds, investment banks, asset management institutions, and specialist trading houses (Interview 3, 2012). Generally speaking, there are two major categories of purely financial investors: active managers and passive index managers. The first category consists mainly of hedge funds and pension funds actively engaged in the oilbased product market, while the second is more recent as it first appeared at the turn of the millennium (Tavasci and Ventimiglia, 2011) when market products and indexes had already become widely available and easily accessible.

In recent years, the investment extent of such institutions has intensified not only in volume, but also in character. This is because some of the largest financial institutions have started investing directly into the physical production of the oil commodity and its products. JP Morgan Chase and Goldman Sachs, for example, are two of the largest crude oil suppliers, and buyers of products, of the refineries owned by Alon USA California, Louisiana and Texas, as well as of the Carlyle Group PBF Energy and other New Jersey and Delaware refineries (Meyer, 2001). Large oil-product consuming companies, such as energy suppliers and distributors, as well as airlines, are also getting

increasingly involved in these markets by investing directly in refineries or storage facilities. This development, however, goes against the findings of Campbell (2003), who noted that the financial investors in the oil market, such as hedge funds, characteristically concentrate their investments on the most liquid parts of the oil futures market in order to retain the freedom to retrench as needed.

Nevertheless, this recent development can be explained by reference to two major factors. On the one hand, recent high oil prices have reduced the profit margins of the oil downstream sector; this has made investing in refineries cheaper (Interview 2, 2012). On the other hand, recently introduced regulations on commodity trading, such as the Dodd-Frank Act, have induced these institutions to find alternative ways to increase their exposure to this market (Interview 4, 2012). Along with these two main drivers, other factors also played a part, such as the security of supply and the commercial requalification of previously non-commercial institutions on the back of their successful involvement in the market. It must be noted, however, that this development began as recently as late 2011 and, as such, however deserving of further observation and analysis, it falls outside of the remit of this research.

As can be seen in Tables 1 and 2, drawn from Bassam Fattouh (2010b), financial and oil market actors have partaken in both types of markets. Table 1 presents the list of the participants in the 21-day Brent FOE market, which is a market for trading forward contracts of 600,000 barrels of Brent oil. This market is used by oil companies either for trading their crude-oil productions or for purchasing crude oils for processing (Interview 2, 2011). As illustrated in Table 1, the composition of the actors involved on the buying side of this market is dominated by a few large IOCs, such as BP, ConocoPhillips, Shell, and Total, as well as by a few large oil-trading companies, such as Trafigura and Vitol; of particular note, here, is Morgan Stanley's steady involvement since 2009. As trading of oil commodities is mostly ducted through bilateral agreements between producers and consumers, the volumes traded in this market are those of small oil producers represent only a small fraction of the kind of underlying crude-oil trading

market that takes place on the Platts platform or on other commodity trading platforms, such as Bloomberg, Ice, or Thompson Reuters Eikon.

		Sales	(b/d)		Purchases (b/d)			
	2007	2008	2009	2010	2007	2008	2009	2010
Arcadia	0	0	0	0	485	0	0	0
BP	23,786	3,005	13,699	29,545	25,243	273	10,959	12,662
Chevron	0	273	274	0	0	273	0	0
ConocoPhillips	18,447	11,749	12,329	32,143	6,311	5,464	12,329	29,545
Glencore	0	0	274	0	0	546	548	0
Hess	0	0	9,315	37,338	0	0	10,137	20,779
Hetco	0	0	822	7,143	0	0	1,096	974
Mercuria	12,136	12,842	64,658	79,545	13,107	24,863	54,247	89,286
Morgan								
Stanley	0	0	274	28,896	0	0	3,014	19,805
Noble	0	0	548	6,494	0	0	822	5,844
Phibro	46,602	19,126	25,479	23,377	36,408	23,770	36,164	14,935
Sempra	15,534	18,306	13,151	8,766	18,447	19,672	13,699	7,792
Shell	34,951	62,022	125,205	91,883	46,117	32,787	73,151	75,000
StatoilHydro	0	273	0	0	0	0	0	0
Total	0	0	0	649	0	0	0	2,273
Totsa	31,068	16,667	53,425	62,987	61,650	28,962	108,767	83,442
Trafigura	0	0	0	16,234	0	0	0	10,714
unknown	0	273	0	0	0	273	0	0
Vitol	68,447	12,842	48,219	56,818	43,204	20,492	42,740	108,766
	252.978	159.386	369.681	483.828	252.979	159.383	369.682	483.827

Table 1-4 Participants in the 21-day BFOE Market and their Shares in Trading Volume (Fattouh, 2010b)

Table 2 contains a list of the major participants in crude oil futures market between 2007 and 2010. This table show a wider range of participants. On the one hand, JP Morgan, Morgan Stanley, Standard Bank, BNP Paribas, and Merrill Lynch are some of the dominant international financial institutions in crude oil futures trading. On the other hand, companies such as Chevron, Petroplus, Mitsui, Statoil, Shell, Lucoil, Hess, and BP are leading participants in the oil market, either in the upstream or downstream side, together with some of the largest oil-commodity trading companies, such as Vitol and Trafigura, which also trade large volumes of contracts. That said, two important caveats must be noted with regards to the data in this table. First, the volumes of trades reported are of Central Counter Party (CCP) trades and do not include any OTC trades in which these companies might be involved. Second, the absence of NOCs from these trade figures confirms the extent to which their trade focus – mandated by central governments rather than market incentives – remains on the underlying commodity market.

Figure 7 adds to the findings of Tables 1 and 2 with a breakdown of the major participant groupings in the futures oil market. These figures come from the UK Cabinet Office and are based on Commodity Futures Trading Commission (CFTC) data, where market participants are divided between commercial and non-commercial. The CFTC collects data from CCP trades, where traders are obligated to declare the purpose of each trade order as either commercial and hedging or non-commercial and speculative. The CFTC then makes these data publicly available. According to these data, non-commercial positions are dominated by hedge funds who account for the largest percentage since 2006, but the participation of floor brokers and traders representing smaller institutions or individual investors is also remarkable. On the commercial side, manufacturers and producers of oil, account for only a fraction of the total trades in the market. On the other hand, commodity swaps and commercial dealers take up the widest percentage of this market. However, these dealers often act as intermediaries for financial institutions who do not want to get direct exposure to oil market trading (Cabinet Office, 2008); thus, their classification as commercial trades is sometimes questionable.

The Transformation of the Oil Market. A Study of Financialisation through Crises Angelos Gkanoutas-Leventis

	Sales (b/d)				Purchases (b/d)			
	2007	2008	2009	2010	2007	2008	2009	2010
Addax	0	0	411	0	0	0	740	812
Arcadia	23,301	4,918	4,658	14,448	6,553	10,109	6,575	17,208
Astra	0	0	0	0	2,427	1,298	0	0
BNP Paribas	0	0	548	5,519	0	0	2,192	4,221
BP	26,214	55,601	74,085	76,948	43,083	37,432	24,397	75,010
Cargill	485	1,913	411	0	485	4,918	274	1,136
Chevron	17,233	26,093	70,699	84,659	43,811	47,541	53,863	73,195
Chinaoil	0	0	0	0	0	0	1,233	0
ConocoPhillips	485	10,410	23,041	33,766	728	24,863	28,630	60,065
Glencore	1,456	1,940	14,219	24,968	485	4,372	9,863	26,299
Gunvor	0	7,240	13,151	3,571	1,942	5,464	3,836	1,299
Hess	971	273	2,192	22,240	0	0	2,192	17,532
Hetco	0	0	0	3,571	0	0	1,096	974
IPC	0	273	2,055	325	0	1,481	3,068	1,786
Iplom	0	0	548	0	0	1,093	548	1,136
Itochu	0	546	7,671	7,253	0	6,126	11,041	10,844
JP Morgan	9,223	11,380	9,153	7,792	1,456	29,358	54,973	14,935
Koch	33,010	36,284	23,556	3,247	11,165	37,205	34,849	32,305
Lukoil	971	13,798	28,559	24,513	485	7,049	20,411	21,753
Maesfield	0	0	1,644	1,136	0	0	0	1,623
Marathon Oil	0	0	0	0	11,408	9,699	548	6,494
Masefield	0	273	1,233	3,247	0	3,825	685	0
Mercuria	34,345	46,809	59,726	79,471	31,311	68,415	99,841	117,156
Merrill Lynch	1,942	4,781	1,918	1,299	7,646	4,645	0	0
Mitsubishi	0	0	0	0	0	0	3,014	0
Mitsui	0	2/3	67,000	0	1,450	540	61 020	0
Morgan Stanley	20,388	24,317	57,882	100,487	20,140	17,700	51,238	88,377
Nurphy	, in the second se	0	42.022	10.068		410	26.840	27.110
Nauxis	071	4 372	42,035	19,908	0	3.005	20,849	1.623
Neste	1 042	4 577	4 003	6.051	2 427	2 601	5 190	11.685
Noble	0	4,577	822	14 286	2,127	2,071	548	8 442
OMV	1 485	ő	14 562	28 545	ŏ	5 787	36 995	48 880
ORL	0	1.093	0	0	0	2,186	0	0
Petraco	0	820	1.644	974	0	1.735	2.192	0
Petrodiamond	0	0	0	1,948	0	0	822	0
Petroplus	5,583	3,825	1,918	0	1,942	0	1.644	0
Phibro	20,146	48,656	68,923	82,867	36,772	52,117	34,400	50,487
Pioneer	0	0	0	0	0	0	137	0
Plains	0	2,732	0	0	0	0	2,466	1,299
Preem	0	0	685	0	0	0	3,562	0
Sempra	971	7,978	9,644	2,273	4,854	15,929	15,616	2,922
Shell	47,694	131,929	132,079	149,221	52,699	39,727	83,995	129,545
Sinochem	0	0	0	1,136	0	273	603	974
Sinopec	0	0	1,932	2,597	0	0	2,800	1,867
Socar	0	0	0	25,000	0	0	0	9,091
Sonatrach	0	0	274	974	0	0	7,260	8,279
Standard Bank	0	0	932	5,575	0	0	548	5,195
Statoil	6,796	2,186	8,630	108,224	4,369	273	8,630	118,130
StatoilHydro	14,563	77,945	59,233	0	6,796	54,781	61,863	325
Totsa	19,782	23,087	45,260	25,974	14,078	46,325	47,397	60,575
Trafigura	9/1	16,940	29,315	27,955	3,641	13,798	28,877	32,649
Umpec	8,738	1,317	4,521	8,955	0	12,432	29,170	11,578
Valero	1,450	540	1,096	0	9,951	14,208	19,726	54,545
veba Vitol	26.044	0 50 570	122.060	0	15.040	1,093	110.447	00.014
VIIOI	30,044	58,579	152,000	245,092	15,049	49,795	112,447	98,214
	559175	041772	901075	1259585	539172	041772	961674	1259585

Table 2-4 Participants in the Crude Oil Futures Market (Argus data in Fattouh, 2010b)

The Transformation of the Oil Market. A Study of Financialisation through Crises Angelos Gkanoutas-Leventis



Figure 7-4 WTI Average Open Interest by non-Commercial and Commercial Participants (Büyükşahin et al., in Cabinet Office, 2008)

Masters (2008a) produces evidence that proves that by March 2008 the oil futures index had risen by a quarter of a trillion dollars. He also puts forward an argument to the effect that the distinction between commercial and non-commercial positions as published by the CFTC is wrong (Masters, 2008a; 2009b). According to the CFTC, when trade takes place within a clearing house, such as the NYMEX or the ICE of London, the trader has to mark his order, on a trade-by-trade basis, as either commercial or non-commercial, depending on the type of institution that requested it. The rationale of a clearing house is to:

- Match, guarantee, and settle all trades and register positions resulting from such trades.
- Perform mark-to-market calculations of all open positions at least once a day and oversee the resulting cash flows between clearing member firms.
- Manage the risk exposure that clearing firms present to the clearing house.
- Perform the exercise and assignment of options contracts.
- Facilitate, but not guarantee, the delivery of physical commodities.
- Permit multilateral netting of positions and settlement payments.
- Assuming contracts are fungible (interchangeable), clearing houses offset positions.
- Enable clearing members to substitute the credit and risk exposure of the clearing house for the credit and risk exposure of each other.
- Maintain a package of financial safeguards that are designed to mitigate losses in the event a clearing member defaults on its obligations to the clearing house.
- In the event of such a default, meet the obligations of the defaulter by first utilising the collateral pledged to it by the defaulter.
- If such collateral is insufficient to cover the entire amount of the defaulted amount, then utilize the components of its financial safeguards package to take care of the remaining defaulted amount.' (IEA, 2011)

This raises questions over the motives of each institution, as well as the idea that some institutions occasionally act as intermediaries, thereby diluting the ratio of commercial and non-commercial trades (Cabinet Office, 2008). While the US CFTC estimates that about 20 percent of the NYMEX oil futures trades are non-commercial, Masters (2008a; 2009b) calculates that the actual ratio of commercial to non-commercial futures is significantly higher. Nevertheless, the UK Cabinet Office report claims that the difference in investment behaviour between financial and traditional investors is traceable, and indeed comports with the known evolutionary track of market behaviour. It is claimed that traditional financial investors use oil as a hedging mechanism for their market investments (commercial positions) and that, therefore, they generally hold long

positions and are not easily affected by short-term developments in the market (Cabinet Office, 2008).

Figure 8, in addition, shows a steady, and very conspicuous, increase in the number of both commercial and non-commercial actors in the market, especially since 2000. However, the percentage increase of non-commercial positions in this period far exceeds that of commercial ones. The same trend was also announced by CDA/Wiesenberger¹⁶, which reported that mutual funds had grown in number and assets, respectively, from 155 and \$16 billion in 1959 to 10,725 and \$6.9 trillion by the year 2000.



Figure 8-4 Composition of the Recorded Oil Futures NYMEX; 1 contract = 1,000 barrels (Bloomberg, 2011)

Looking more closely into the composition of non-commercial trades, Figure 9 plots them with respect to their long, short, or spread positions in the oil market. A number of conclusions can be reached from this. First, the number of non-commercial contracts has risen dramatically since the end of 2000. Second, all three of the available types of contract have increased in volume since then. Third, the spread contracts, which represent mostly speculative investments, recorded the highest increase, while long positions, which represent mostly hedging or traditional investments (CFTC, 2009b), come a close second. Even short positions, the least popular, have in fact more than

¹⁶ Now part of Thompson Reuters, CDA/Wiesenberger is a company that provides information on transactions through computing databases.

tripled in volume since 2000. These figures suggest that the developments of 2000 led to a massive inflow of capital in the market, which then spread across all the different products available. What is more, they suggest that, even though all three types of product increased over this period, the more speculative ones enjoyed the greatest increase, which heralded the emergence of speculation-driven investment interests.



Figure 9-4 Non-Commercial Positions in WTI NYMEX Oil Futures, 1 contract = 1,000 barrels (Bloomberg, 2011)

In keeping with these findings, the CFTC (2009b) considers speculation in the oil futures market such an important aspect to the oil price-setting mechanism that has begun holding hearings on the possible limits on futures speculation in the energy market. At the same time, the UK Prime Minister Gordon Brown and the French President Nicolas Sarkozy penned a joint article in the Wall Street Journal (July 8, 2009) about the damaging effects of speculation on the global economy, calling on the International Organization of Securities Regulators to regulate the oil futures market and to examine its influence on the system of oil pricing. Interestingly, a similar call for an investigation of the effects of oil-futures speculation on oil prices was also issued by the US Senate Permanent Subcommittee in 2006 – years before the crash.

According to the UN Trade and Development Report (2009), the inflow of new investors into the oil market has multiplied instances of herd behaviour and consequently intensified the decoupling of the financial aspect of commodity markets from the dimension of real production, especially in the short term, when the demand

and supply forces of the commodity markets are particularly inelastic. This is because short-term investment shocks in the financial aspect of commodity markets have the ability to alter the price level of these oil-based financial products. On the other hand, the inelasticity of the supply and demand of the actual oil commodity can produce a mismatch between these two markets and the creation of speculative bubbles (UN Trade and Development Report, 2009).

Tang and Xiong (2009), in their study of the functions and effects of the financial aspect of the oil market, have traced an increase in the influence of world equity shocks as well as US dollar exchange-rates shocks on commodity index rates, especially in the post-2000 era. They conclude that the financialisation process has tangible effects on the commodity markets. By way of example, they compare the stronger responses received by the two biggest commodity indexes, the GSCI and the DJ-AIG, to the performance of similar, but un-indexed, commodities and, in doing so, they bring to light the spillover effects of volatility from the financial markets to the commodities markets (Silvennoinen, 2009).

This process of integration between commodity markets and asset markets can be understood by reference to different factors. First among them is the fact that a growing number of investors have begun to hold a combination of both commodities and financial assets in their portfolios. The herding effect, however, drives them to follow very similar hedging policies and to invest in very similar products; this makes them mediators of financial shocks between the two increasingly mutually vulnerable markets. Due to portfolio trading, for example, poorer performance in one market causes liquidations in the other markets in the portfolio as their traders attempt to readjust their positions (Kyle and Xiong, 2001).

Harry Markowitz's portfolio theory (Markowitz, 1952) suggests that since stock price movements are random, it is not possible for an investor to predict how to beat the market. Thus, in order to optimize their returns against risk, financial investors have to hold investments that equate to the entire market. The high risks of this sort of investment can be bypassed through a portfolio diversification strategy where the capacity to quantify the risk-return trade-off of financial assets, along with their correlated returns shifts the risks to the centre of investment decision-making. Thus, investors evaluate assets according to their variance and co-variance of returns over time. As a result, volatility becomes a crucial determinant of the investment process insofar as returns are counterbalanced by risk tolerance (Wigan, 2008).

Furthermore, increased co-movement is observed among commodities that are only related by virtue of being part of the same commodity index and being traded in that capacity. This co-movement implies the financialisation of these commodities in correlation with the asset markets (Pindyck and Rotemberg, 1990).

Various factors may have contributed to the large volatility increase in oil and non-energy commodities. First, the world economic recessions that accompanied the recent financial crisis made macroeconomic fundamentals more uncertain and thus commodity demand and prices more volatile. Second, the financial crisis, which initially disrupted the markets for mortgage backed securities, eroded the balance sheets of many financial institutions and eventually reduced the risk appetite of financial investors (including index investors) for seemingly unrelated assets in their portfolios, including commodities (Tang and Xiong, 2009).

Moreover, according to Pavlova and Rigobon (2008) and Schornick (2009) any deregulation or liberalisation of the markets, which normally accelerates their process of financialisation, leads to higher capital flows into commodities, which interferes with their level of correlation.

The increasing number of new participants in commodity markets can therefore be typically characterised as holding large positions and being as prone to irrational investment behaviour. Their activities have intensified the decoupling of commodity futures price levels from their fundamental value. In other words, the increasing involvement of financial institutions in commodity markets, as well as the novel ways of marketing its products, has coincided with the financialisation of these markets, insofar as they behave increasingly like asset markets.

Labban (2010) offers a performative economic theory take on this particular development. In his view, the emergence of oil as an asset market has created a financial market parallel that is uniquely integrated with its underlying commodity market. He argues that big banks and financial institutions, which had taken up high risks when first entering the underlying oil commodity market, have become themselves market makers as they started taking positions of their own in the market. Most prominently, they employed oil derivatives, originally designed to protect market actors against volatility, as part of the development and construction of a new asset class, the commodity index, that generated profits independently from the actual production of oil and thereby allowed for the rise of speculation and further volatility (Labban, 2010).

According to the definition of financialisation furnished at the outset, financialisation occurs when the emergence of new financial markets creates new processes and alters existing financial investment interests, within and outside the market structure, thereby attracting further new financial actors and institutions. The oil market seems to fit the pattern. The emergence of a new type of market via the oil futures and options market has allowed oil to be traded – and increasingly so – as a financial asset, independently from the underlying commodity traded as contracts with physical delivery (Interview 3, 2012). The very nature of this new market has attracted a vast amount of capital deriving from purely financial actors and institutions, whose motives are financial and unrelated to the underlying product linked to their trade assets.

In line with the definition of financialisation given above, the number of these new institutions and actors involved in the oil-based financial market, along with the capital injected into it, has grown rapidly, especially since 2005. What is more, the development and widespread adoption of new technologies, as described above, contributed in no small part to this market growth. When oil futures and options became available to anyone with an Internet connection, in 1999, it can safely be argued that the processes and functions of this market changed irreversibly.

The process of financialisation in the oil market has brought about a unprecedented growth in the number of actors and volume of capital active in its structure. While prior

to the 1980s and early nineties the number of financial institutions and actors involved in the oil based financial markets was restricted by regulation, accessibility, and lack of product and trade information, the developments of the late 1990s and early 2000s made access to the market possible and attracting. Institutions that had no prior involvement or knowledge of this market were rushing to find a way in (Interview 3, 2012). Masters and White (2008) measured that the value of assets allocated in commodity passive index funds had risen from US\$13 billion to 260 billion within a period of five years starting from 2003. As disparate sources as a Staff Report of the US Senate Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations (2006), Masters (2008), and later and Parsons (2010) agreed that trading by speculative financial institutions in the oil market had pushed the futures prices to levels that could not be justified by rational expectations of future supply-and-demand patterns. Joachim von Braun¹⁷ was quoted as saying that *'we have good analysis that speculation played a role in 2007 and 2008 [...] Speculation did matter and it did amplify, that debate can be put to rest' (Irwin and Sanders, 2009).*

Data from Daniela Tavasci and Ventimiglia's study on the financialisation of primary commodities, summed up in Figure 10, clearly indicate that, even in a small sample of financial institutions involved in index trading, there has been an abrupt increase in the volume of capital invested in commodity futures. Her research also report that according to the Bank for International Settlements (BIS) 'the number of futures and options contracts outstanding on commodity exchanges has increased about fivefold and the notional amount of outstanding OTC commodity related contracts reached the astronomical figure of \$13 trillion in 2008' (UNCTAD, 2009a). She concludes that commodity derivatives have transformed into a proper asset class and are regarded by financial investors and traders as just another financial asset in the composition of their portfolios (Tavasci and Ventimiglia, 2011).

¹⁷ Director of Germany's *Centre of Development Research*.

The Transformation of the Oil Market. A Study of Financialisation through Crises Angelos Gkanoutas-Leventis



Figure 10-4 Sample of primary-commodity-derivative dedicated funds during the primary commodity boom, 1997 to 2008 (Tavasci and Ventimiglia, 2011)

Following from this, the triangular structure that had dominated the market dynamics up to the late 1970s underwent a radical transformation in the period between 1980 and 2010. The process of financialisation has opened the structure of the oil market to a new group of actors who are motivated by purely financial interests and bear no connection to the underlying commodity of the market. The spot price of oil, as a result, is no longer determined only by the interaction of producers, consumers, and mediators. This is because a fourth actor is now responsible for the lion's share of the financial capital invested into the oil market and is therefore actively involved, and increasingly influential, in the price-setting mechanism.

4.3 **Performative Cycle**

The relationship between oil spot prices and oil futures prices has been a subject of contention in recent years. A point of agreement in the literature, however, is the central role played by financial markets. As compellingly articulated in Kaufmann (2011), as well as in previous similar reports from the Interagency Task Force on Commodity Markets (2008) and Medlock and Jaffe (2009), the particular evolution of the financial markets over the past decades has been responsible for introducing 'speculative' factors into the price mechanism. Simply put, after the addition of financial actors to the

traditional triangular structure of the oil market, oil prices have progressively lost their correspondence to the fundamental value of the underlying market commodity.

Part of the reason for this is that the new financial actors follow different investment patters compared to traditional oil investors (Fattouh, 2010b). Financial investors generally use oil investments as a hedging mechanism in their investment portfolios and, on account of their similar access to information, knowledge, and expertise; their investment patterns are generally synchronised and easily identifiable. As they mostly hold long positions, which, in the context of the commodity futures and options markets, are indicative of an expectation that the value of the commodity will rise, they are not generally influenced by short-term fluctuations and market volatility. At the same time, they maintain a higher risk tolerance relative to traditional investors. Against this background, a UK Cabinet Office Report (2008) calculated that financial investments account for more than 30 percent of the total open contracts of the NYMEX market and have extensively shaped the pricing of this market.

Labban (2010) proposes that the financial performance of the oil products influences the performance of its spot price despite the fact that they are traded in physically separate areas. This is because the performance of financial products may be acting as a guide for oil spot market traders. However, the financial oil-product pricing is based on future expectations of the conditions in the underlying commodity market – hence the circular pattern of influence between the two entities. Labban also calls attention to the fact that financial markets frequently overreact to these expectations, especially compared to the underlying commodity markets, which, as a result of their mobility and liquidity, allow the speculative effects of financial overreactions to penetrate the core of their relationship. In a rather carefully formulated passage, Labban notes that

The spot price is driven by speculation on conditions in spot markets mediated by the reaction of financial markets to such speculation [...] fundamentals [...] determine oil prices only by way of the effects on financial markets of speculation on future conditions in spot markets (Labban, 2010).

Primary research conducted for the purposes of this thesis shows that Platts, currently the dominant international data provider of physical commodity price reporting, proceeds from this very understanding of the impact of financial markets on the oil price-setting mechanism. Platts supplies real-time data and reporting to the majority of the international oil-market actors, from the *majors* to independent oil producers, refiners, traders, and even news agencies specialised in oil-market reporting. Their data are considered the most accurate and reliable source in the market, and are thus employed for the drawing of reports or as a way to monitor market performance and to influence expectations and decision-making. Understanding how the data published by Platts are collected and published will be remarkably revealing of the relationship between the physical and financial aspects of the oil market.

To this end, the author of this thesis attended workshops especially organised and run by Platts to present what they call the *Platts Methodology*. These workshops simulate the publication of data for a specific grade of crude oil, but the same methodology applies across all of the products they cover. The process starts in the morning and ends with the determination of the value that the actors involved deem representative of the price level of the commodity on that day. The value then is added to the series of daily data that are used to draw the time series of crude oil prices.

The procedure begins with the publication of a value on the online platform that is available to all the actors subscribed to Platts. This is the value that Platts analysts believe to represent how much the given product is worth on that day. This value is obtained using a model that considers a range of inputs, such as the final value for the previous day, the expected value for the current day according the futures market of the previous day, as well as any recent unexpected developments affecting the performance of that particular market. Once this value is determined, it is published on the online platform, and quotes for 'buy' and 'sell' interests or for actual trades are then fed back to the system around this value.

Buy quotes are only accepted below the value of the initial price, while sell quotes only above it, up until the final stages of the price determination process when the barriers are lifted and quotes can be placed freely. This triggers a bargaining process that leads the quotes to converge towards the initial value up until the release of the restrictions to buy and sell quotes. However, high deviation from this value is rare in the closing bargaining stages in the absence of a market-shaping event, as the positions have already been set and the price level has been accepted among the actors.

The window for submitting quotes closes at 18:00 GMT every day, so market actors have a time up until the official close to submit their interests or trade agreement values. The value that is reached at the end, as the buy and sell values converge to the market value, is published as the *market on close* value and is considered as the fair value of the commodity in the market according to the market actors. If a single value between the buy and sell quotes has not been reached then the average is published after approval by Platts analysts. This methodology is highly valued by market actors as they are directly involved in the price-setting process of the market in which they operate.

This process, however, places a strong emphasis on the links between the physical and financial aspects of the oil market. This is because the *market on close* value is considered the price of the given crude oil, or oil product, in the physical market, and it is the value that is then published by newspapers, reported in the media, and assumed in strategic decision-making the world over. However, this value is shaped directly by two different dynamics. The first is the market itself, which comes into play when price-level precedents are factored into the methodology and when market actors interact to produce the *market on close* value. The second dynamic is the futures market, as expectations of today's price level are formed on the basis of yesterday's futures prices.

This process shapes a performative cycle between the two aspects of the market, as the futures-based expectations of oil value, which is determined by the financial aspect of the oil market through the use of financial models, is used as a benchmark against which current physical trading takes place and market value is negotiated. This is not to say that the value set by the *Platts Methodology* model, which employs futures expectations, will always be equal to the *market on close* value – although, according to Platts, this it is usually very close. In return, the value of the futures prices is determined

as a function of the current price level of the physical market as well as the expectations of its future performance. As a result, what can be observed is that the determination of the physical and financial price levels in the oil market are interdependent, directly affecting each other in a mutual feedback loop.

An attempt to illustrate this graphically is provided in Figure 11, which is drawn from Behr Behr (2009). Here, Behr illustrates the cyclical process whereby the spot and futures prices are interconnected through expectations and financial capital flows in a process that allows financial investments to have a direct impact on the level of oil spot prices.



Figure 11-4 Reinforcing Behaviour between Spot and Futures Markets (Behr, 2009)

Timo Behr (2009) claims that in case of market tightening in the structure of the underlying oil commodity market, the spot price of oil will increase. The financial markets will then adjust their expectations of the future price of oil under the new spot price, which translates to higher future prices as new capital enters the futures market in an attempt to capitalize on these positive expectations.

As oil futures prices increase, any producers in the underlying commodity market, or any actors with the resources to store oil reserves, will refrain from selling their stocks at current spot prices because they have the option of selling at a later date for a higher price and, hence, higher returns. This behaviour is known as the storage arbitrage condition¹⁸, and it ultimately leads to a further tightening of the oil spot price market, as less supply of commodity is made available in the market. Absent an external event, the cycle only reinforces this pattern. In such cases, the body with the power to intervene on the market price is usually the OPEC, although, in some cases, economies with substantial oil reserves have the ability to release them in order to re-balance the market.

An episode of just this sort of performative cycle between the physical commodity market and its oil-based financial products occurred in September 2012, when the financial actors in the oil market reacted to the possibility of an increase in the supply levels from the Middle East by seeking to liquidate their positions under the expectation that the supply levels would not be absorbed by the markets and would eventually drive prices down. Sure enough, Christopher Bellew of Jefferies Bache, a commodities and derivatives brokering house, stated that 'people are thinking that maybe the Saudis are going to produce more, and some funds are taking the opportunity to liquidate positions' (Choy et al., 2012).

Kaufmann and Ullman (2009) studied the links between the spot prices of crude oil and its futures prices. They propose that prices set by the crude oil futures eventually get passed on to the spot market. As financial actors, such as speculators and investors, purchase futures with the expectation of a price hike based on their assessment of the fundamentals of the market, the spot prices increase through their link with the futures. Therefore, they contend that any explanation of the oil price spike of 2008 must consider speculative activity as much as market fundamentals.

Nevertheless, other authors, such as Silvapulle and Moosa (1999), and more recently Bekiros and Diks (2008), have proposed that the links between the spot prices and the performance of the futures market are bidirectional and not linear. These studies show that both markets react to changing conditions in a synchronized manner, and that the pattern of *leads and lags* varies over time (Silvapulle and Moosa, 1999). Silverio and Szklo (2012), while cautioning against overlooking the role of macroeconomic market fundamentals, seek to find an empirical measure of the degree to which financial

¹⁸ Expected future price = spot price + cost of storage + opportunity cost of holding commodity stock

markets influence the price-setting mechanism that regulates the spot markets of crudeoil benchmarks. Sure enough, evidence to this effect is found in relation to the futures market and the behaviour of speculators, institutional investors, and commercial hedger (Silvério, 2010). Their conclusions confirm the findings of previous studies conducted by Kaufmann (2011), Tokic (2011), Cifarelli and Paladino (2010), Parsons (2010), and Büyükşahin et al. (2008).

Figure 12, from the 2008 UK Cabinet Office Report, gives an illustration of Behr's (2009) suggested relationship between spot and futures prices in relation to the 5-year oil futures price and the Brent spot prices of 2008.



Figure 12-4 Oil futures and Spot Prices (Cabinet Office, 2008)

This discussion raises another question: what shapes the expectations of the financial actors? Owing to the sheer variety of individual actors, a single universal factor, or combination of factors, is surely hard to come by. An attempt can be made, however, at identifying a limited number of broad causal factors. Any oil-market investor, for example, will be influenced, among other factors, by the current oil price level, past performance patterns, global geopolitical events, fundamental macroeconomic indicators, and the international stock market performance.

One factor in particular, though, takes pride of place among the lot: the spare-capacity indicator produced by oil-producing countries (Interview 1, 2011). It has been noted that this indicator is of questionable accuracy and often fallaciously linked to peak-oil fears. Nevertheless, as low spare-capacity levels imply the possibility of a supply

shortage, its role in financial investment behaviour is unquestionable. Figure 13, below, shows that, for example, the spare-capacity levels registered during the period of high oil prices and rampant financial speculation of 2003–2009 was conspicuously low. This is an indication of the role that the fundamental performance indicators of the oil market play in the formation of financial investors' market expectations, which in turn is further evidence of the fundamental link between the underlying commodity and financial markets of oil (Interview 1, 2011).



Figure 13-4 Oil-Market Spare Capacity and WTI Crude Oil Price (EIA, 2012)

Analysis of the nature and behaviour of financial actors would be incomplete without reference to what drives their involvement in the oil market. Here, financial investors can be separated between those interested in diversifying their portfolios and those interested in pure speculation. With regards to the latter, despite the lack of reliable data on its exact level of pervasiveness, evidence exists that speculation, especially since 2001, has had an impact on the volatility of price levels in commodity markets (UN Trade and Development Report, 2009). Even though empirical studies by Chong and Miffre (2010) and by Büyüksahn et al. (2008) conclude that the correlation between commodities and stock returns is not significant, other studies have had opposite results by focusing on the study of increasing prices as the main drivers of speculation.

In order to find a strong indicator of speculative activity in the oil-futures market, analysts in oil firms have attempted to study the movements of spot prices by tracking the volume of net open positions, rather than total volume (Masters, 2008; Khan,2008; Alquist and Gervais, 2011; Interview 6, 11; Platts Crude Oil Prices Conference, 2012).

In so doing, they separate the commercial from the non-commercial positions and calculate the influence of speculation on the basis of the former, as non-commercial positions are believed to be used almost exclusively for the purposes of risk-hedging. Their results demonstrate that the volume of net open positions increased by more than 200 percent between 2003 and 2008, while non-commercial positions reached their peak during the same period (CFTC, 2009b), thus proving that speculative activity was marginal.

In an attempt to identify the levels of speculative activity in the oil market, Khan Mohsin (2009) proposes a comparative analysis of the behaviour of the oil and gold prices as the gold market is already known as a commodity market dominated by speculation-driven investment interests. He hypothesises that the correlation between the performances of the two markets would provide compelling evidence of the kind of investment interests that permeate the oil market. Sure enough, his results confirm a very close relationship between the performances of the two commodities (Figure 14), which leads him to conclude that speculative activity has indeed been taking place in the oil market, especially in the post-2000 period, when the increase in the price of oil accelerates past that of gold. Khan Mohsin proposes that this decoupling can only be explained by an uptick in speculative activity as it became more profitable to invest in oil than in gold (2009). This argument becomes even more compelling when considering that the speculative wave came to a dramatic end after 2008 as the drop in the price of gold, by only 19 percent, paled in comparison to the collapse of the price of oil, which had gone down by about 70 percent (Mohsin, 2009).

The Transformation of the Oil Market. A Study of Financialisation through Crises Angelos Gkanoutas-Leventis



Figure 14-4 Real Oil and Gold Prices, 1970–2008 (Mohsin, 2009)

In a similar vein, Tavasci and Ventimiglia (2011), in her study of the financialisation of the copper market during the 1994–2008 period, finds a dramatic change in price level and an alignment of the copper futures and spot prices from 2003 to 2008, as illustrated in Figure 15. In her account, the three most cited explanations for this price pattern are: market fundamentals, in terms of increased demand from China and India (Gros, 2008); speculation in the commodity markets (Veneroso, 2008a; Wray, 2008), where actors, usually in the form of oil majors, restrict their outputs in order to trigger price hikes; and finally, the 'parallel' commodity markets, which started in the 1930s and lasted until the 1990s (when the CFTC started granting Wall Street exemptions on the limits of positions and OTC swaps), contributed to a transformation of the copper market whereby index managers were allowed to take on positions. Especially after 2003, she observes a boom in price levels, which she explains as a result of the increased levels of international liquidity.

The Transformation of the Oil Market. A Study of Financialisation through Crises Angelos Gkanoutas-Leventis



Figure 15-4 Copper futures prices (three months buy) and 'real' copper prices in US\$, 1999–2009 (Tavasci and Ventimiglia, 2011)

According to the two studies above, the oil market has become increasingly financialised, especially with the intensification of deregulation, technological advancement, and financial marketization since the early 2000s. This process has transformed the commodity market into an asset class, where financial actors increasingly dominate the dynamics of the oil market by injecting vast amounts of capital and, at the same time, creating direct links between the commodities and asset markets. Within the group of financial actors, studies have revealed the existence of a subcategory of speculative investors and price manipulators. These actors are especially active in the markets of short and spread products and usually follow – or, indeed, drive – noise-trade strategies in order to inflate these markets and take advantage of their fluctuations.

Therefore, the effects of the financialisation of the oil market are twofold. On the upside, the oil market has attracted vast amounts of capital and a larger cohort of market participants. On the downside, this financialisation process has also caused an increase in the spot price level of oil due to the introduction of speculation and price manipulation, which has upended the traditional price-setting dynamics of the market. Not surprisingly, higher prices are usually welcome by oil-producing countries, oil corporations (be they NOCs or *majors*), and even financial investors interested in increasing the price of their investments. This means that as long as the price of oil does not rise to levels that would encourage recourse to alternative energy sources, its negative impact in the market is sustainable (Interview 2, 2012).

In addition to this, the inverse alignment of the oil market behaviour to that of the asset markets after the turn of the millennium has produced increasing volatility in price levels (Pindyck and Rotemberg, 1990; Tang and Xiong, 2009; Platts LNG Forum, 2012; Platts Crude Oil Forum, 2012; Thompson Reuters Energy Analyst Conference, 2012; Interview 5, 2012). The varying lengths of the candlesticks in Figure 16 illustrate this change in price volatility. The chart specifically traces the increase in the price volatility of WTI light crude oil from 1987 to 2011, with the length of the candlesticks marking the high and low prices and the horizontal crossing line identifying the closing point.



Figure 16-4 Crude Light Oil Comp. NYMEX 1987-2011 (Wall Street Journal Online, 2012)

Figure 17, produced by the UK Cabinet Office (2008), illustrates the monthly volatility indicator of the crude oil spot prices since the 1970s. It can be observed that, even though the oil price spikes in the early decades of the oil market financialisation were more intense, volatility has increased noticeably since the late 1980s. Based on a monthly index of oil and other commodity prices covering the period between 1945 and 2005, Regnier (2007) proves that oil price volatility has increased significantly. Duffie, Gray, and Hoang (2004) reach the same conclusion using daily oil price data. Fong and See (2002), Sadorsky (2006), and Agnolucci (2009), using statistical models of time-varying volatility, similarly concluded that changes in oil price exhibit conditional heteroskedasticity. Studies of historical volatility behaviour based on weekly crude oil data, along with weekly oil products data and futures prices since the early 1990s to 2005, confirm the case for volatility, especially in the post-2000 period (Lee and Zyren, 2007; Kang et al., 2009). Other studies, such as those published by Trolle and Schwartz

(2009) and Labban (2010), also suggest an increase in the volatility of the oil spot prices.



Figure 17-4 Monthly Spot Price Volatility (Cabinet Office, 2008)

The issue of increasing volatility levels dominates all discussions of the financialisation of the oil market. The debate is not settled, however, as different data and different calculation methods – perhaps not surprisingly – yield different results. In opposition to the studies surveyed above, for example, is research based on day-to-day volatility data, which fail to indicate any volatility increase at all. On different grounds, Daniel Yergin, author of *The Prize: The Epic Quest of Oil, Money and Power* (1991), argues that volatility levels in the oil market have only decreased in the wake of the growth of the paper market. Additionally, it has also been proposed that the hedge funds operating in commodity markets are not perpetrators of destabilising volatility, as much as purveyors of liquidity (Haigh et al., 2005).

In the context of this thesis, the volatility levels of the oil market are considered to be increasing. This is because the measurement of day-to-day volatility rates is not a reliable methodological tool in the context of commodity markets where actor behaviour is shaped around protracted international political and economic developments (Interview 3, 2012; Interview 4, 2012). These developments may be anything from social or military turbulence to revised international growth rates, production cuts, or new scientific discoveries. Moreover, the argument of this thesis shows that volatility rates individually are not as relevant to the financialisation of the oil market as the combination of volatility rates and inflated price levels. This is because the same rate of volatility has very different economic and financial effects in the internal and external aspect of a market with a \$30 price level at one end and \$120 at the

other, especially in the case of the oil market, where production and refinery costs remain inelastic to changes in the price level of the commodity.

Similar price and volatility patterns can be observed in Figures 18–21, which depict the NYMEX price changes of four of the alternative commodities with the highest weights in the composition of the S&P GSCI (Gold 1.58%, Corn 3.12%, Wheat-CBOT 2.75%, Natural Gas 5.78) (Goldman Sachs, 2011). The increase in the rate of volatility in commodity markets after 2000, and more specifically of in the markets of agricultural products, features prominently in Jennifer Clapp's research on the financialisation of the food market (Clapp, 2009; Clapp, 2010).



Figure 18-4 Gold NYMEX 1987–2011 (Wall Street Journal Online, 2012)



Figure 19-4 Corn NYMEX 1987–2011 (Wall Street Journal Online, 2012)



Figure 21-4 Natural Gas NYMEX 1987–2011 (Wall

Street Journal Online , 2012)

The performance of each one of these commodities offers revealing comparative insights into that of the oil market. In the case of the gold market, the price level increases both in real terms as well as in volatility after 2005. This increase is not synchronised with that of the oil market, as the gold market reaches its peak in 2011, while the oil market peaks in 2008. Even so, in 2008 the gold market does experience a noticeable hike in price level and volatility, which is an indication of the influence that

the introduction of commodity indexes had on the gold market and, at the same time, evidence of the post-2000 growth period highlighted in the analysis of the financialisation of oil market. However, according to this chart, the gold market has shown significant resilience to the effects of the global financial crisis of 2008 insofar as it has not suffered as large a drop in price levels in 2009 as the other commodities.

The price levels of the corn and wheat (CBOT) commodities depicted in Figures 19 and 20 follow a very similar trend, being as they are both agricultural commodities. Both price levels show significant volatility before 1999 and after 2007. The post-2007 period, however, is dramatically more volatile than the pre-1999 one, with price levels peaking in 2008. The performance of both these commodities closely matches that of the oil market after 2007; they go through the same peaks, drops, and kinks. This synchronisation is a result of their belonging to the same commodity indexes, which means that demand for their products, though varying in weight and levels, is also synchronised (Pindyck and Rotemberg, 1990; Tang and Xiong, 2009). This shows that the effects of the rise of commodity indexes after 2000 are most visible after 2007; not only do the price level and volatility rate of these commodities increase, but their performance also become more synchronised.

Figure 21, though, paints a very different picture for the price level of natural gas. The level of the natural gas spot prices in the NYMEX (Henry Hub Prices¹⁹) experienced an inflationary, and increasingly more volatile, trend as a result of the rise of index trading in the post-2001 period. Furthermore, the price level of natural gas peaks twice, one directly before and one directly after the 2008 peak of the oil market. These two peaks primarily show that the price level of gas, unlike that of corn and wheat, is not synchronised to the price level of oil. One reason for this is that natural gas is the only energy commodity in the composition of the S&P GSCI index; as such it can act as a risk deterrent to the performance of oil and its weight in the composition of the index might vary accordingly. This explains why the natural gas price level peaks during the periods when the price level of oil drops.

¹⁹ The Henry Hub is a distribution hub of a natural gas pipeline located in Erath, Louisiana, that is used as the official delivery point for futures contracts on the NYMEX.

The Transformation of the Oil Market. A Study of Financialisation through Crises Angelos Gkanoutas-Leventis



 Table 3-4 Correlations between Daily Price Changes of Crude Oil and Other Commodities, and Oil Futures and Financial Investments (EIA, 2012)

Table 3, produced by the EIA (2012), traces the correlations between the price of WTI crude oil and the major commodities throughout the last decade, in the form of natural gas, gold, silver, soybeans, corn, and wheat. It also traces the correlations between crude-oil futures returns and financial investments in US dollars, the S&P 500, and US government bonds ('T' bills). This table illustrates, on the one hand, a growing correlation among the price levels of these commodities as a result of their indexification and, on the other hand, their negative correlation to the performance of the stock markets after 2008, which spelled the end for their use as hedging investments and, with it, the high liquidity levels they attracted during the early 2000s. This can also be a result of the financialisation of the market; as the links between the markets grow, the spill-over effects from one market to the other intensify.

4.4 The Four Actor Structure

The above discussion makes the case that the commodities markets experienced a process of transformation over the past decade. Price and volatility levels experienced hikes across all of the 24 commodities that comprise the most popular commodity indexes (Pindyck and Rotemberg, 1990; Tang and Xiong, 2009, Platts Crude Oil Forum, 2012; Platts LNG Forum, 2012; Thompson Reuters Energy Analyst Conference,

2012; Interview 5, 2012). This transformation aligns with the analysis of the process of financialisation that transformed the oil market with the introduction of index trading and the deregulation and opening of the commodity markets to the many financial and speculative institutions that were hitherto unable to enter.

The element of speculation and price manipulation that evolved within the structure of the market through the effect of financialisation, as well as the gradual involvement of these actors in the market, has increased the effect of volatility, as depicted in the above figures. As financial strategies go, speculation and price manipulation are very risky, as they imply taking positions while more capital attempts to influence market behaviour and to take advantage of the ensuing changes – usually by short selling or betting against the market in order to get high returns to investment (Interview 1, 2011; Interview 4, 2012). The financialisation of the commodity markets, and more specifically of the oil market, has made speculation and price manipulation possible even in said markets (Interview 3, 2012). This is because, in the past, speculative and risky investments were costly, complicated, and unattractive, because oil was simply not available as a financialisation process has thus resulted in inflated prices and increased volatility.

Now that oil is available for purchase as a financial asset, without ever taking position of the underlying product, speculation has been made not just possible, but also attractive and, as argued by Khan Mohsin (2009), very real. According to the IMF (2006), Redrado et al. (2009) and Frankel and Rose (2009), increased prices have amplified financial trading and, in turn, speculative activity in the oil market. The risk raised by the emergence of this form of speculation in the oil market is based on speculators' attempts at profitmaking through the manipulation of basic market fundamental. This means that speculators can either sell a substantial amount of investments in the market, thus bringing its price down in order to repurchase it in a lower price, or inject a vast amount of capital, thus causing a rise in the price level and creating a bubble with a sudden inflow of investors (Interview 6, 2012).

As a result, at least up to the early 1970s, the structure of the oil market was shaped by three very important and influential groups of actors, whose power varied through time. The changes in the balance of power that have taken place among these three actors throughout the years have allowed for substantial changes in the functions of the oil market. First, the price of oil changed dramatically during the early 1970s, when OPEC took control of the market and precipitated the 1973 oil crisis. The period after the early 1970s has been characterised by a shift of control of the oil market to the supply side, with producing countries dictating the supply levels of an increasingly inelastic market.

However, a new phenomenon emerged in the 1980s that introduced a fourth, and some claim even a fifth, actor into the market (Figure 22); this was the start of the early-financialisation phase of the oil market. The introduction of oil as a commodity that could be traded in the international financial markets marked the beginning of the oil market financialisation process, which introduced financial investment and, later on, speculation as integral parts of the market dynamics. The oil price level was no longer dictated by the three traditional market forces, since the financial aspect of the market had increasingly gained a dominant foothold in the workings of the market. This influence was reinforced by the rise of the new group of actors – or the new *two* groups of actors, if financial actors are to be divided into hedging and speculative actors on account of their distinct interests and *modus operandi*. The new four-actor structure of the oil market is depicted in Figure 22.



Figure 22-4 Oil Market Structure, post-1980

This conclusion raises the question of how the process of financialisation came to change these dynamics and what role the new group of actors play in the market. The first observation that must be made at this point is that the actors operating in the oil market have increased exponentially in number (CFTC data, 2011). In the past, the number of producers, importers, and oil corporations had been more or less fixed. The new technologies and the process of financialisation, however, have now opened the market to almost anyone with a computer and an Internet connection (Kurtzman, 1994, Guttmann, 2002, Mackenzie et al., 2012). Even though the largest financial funds that have entered the oil market belong to financial institutions, the amount of individual investments should not be dismissed, as it is the combination of the two that is most indicative of the far-reaching effects that the process of financialisation has had on the oil market. As a result of this, a crash or a shock in the oil market today looks nothing like what it was forty years ago (Interview 3, 2012).

In the 1970s, when oil corporations only enjoyed meagre profit margins and oilproducing economies suffered a fall in profits, the effects were contained within the triangular structure of the market. On the other hand, the same crash today, would not only affect these actors, but also cause massive capital losses to the international financial institutions or individual actors involved in the market. As these institutions and markets are international and unregulated, the effects of this crash spread much wider. Unrestricted by physical or financial barriers, the crash would go beyond the limits of the market structure and thus reach a larger percentage of world economies.

A second way in which the dynamics of the oil market have changed since the inception of the financialisation process is that the price level of oil is no longer determined solely by the interaction of the traditional market forces. The oil futures market performance is directly linked to that of spot prices, which entails that the new actors in the market structure have a direct influence over the price of oil (Interview 3, 2012; Interview 6, 2012). In the absence of speculation, the main interest of financial investors is to increase the value of their investments. Hence, as long as the price level of oil rises, more financial investments will enter the market and push prices further up. In this view, the new dynamic of the price-setting mechanism is one where one group of actors are bent on rising oil prices. Nevertheless, not all financial actors are interested in raising the price level of oil, as speculative positions on index trading or in spreads can be taken in the possibility of a change, upwards or downwards, of the price level. As a result, this new group of actors has a primary interest, i.e. increased price levels and a secondary motive, increased market volatility. This group of actors, however, does not have the power to influence the market in a direct way, as producers do when restricting output levels. The only exception is during extensive and targeted speculation when the price level can be manipulated to a significant extent, as discussed above. As a result of these two developments in market dynamics, the effects of volatility are now being felt by an increasingly wider spectrum of actors in an increasingly wider geographical and demographic area.

There is evidence to the effect that the oil market has gone through a process of evolution since its deregulation and financial marketization and that, in particular, the volatility of its price levels has seen abrupt and extensive upward changes. There is evidence, also, to show that the oil market has undergone a process of financialisation with the emergence of a new group of actors who has built links to the asset markets and, with the help of an emerging class of speculators in their ranks, has altered the dynamics of the traditional price-setting mechanism of the market. This evidence is furnished and discussed in Part 2, which offers a close review of the events that marked the three periods of financialisation identified in this thesis.

PART 2

THE THREE PHASES OF OIL FINACIALISATION

5 The New Oil Market and the Macroeconomy

This chapter studies the effects of the financialisation process during an oil shock, and its links to the macroeconomic performance. This approach serves a dual purpose. Firstly, it illustrates the political-economic issues that arise from the spread of the financialisation process in the oil market structure; secondly, it helps to better understand the extent to which the scale and pace of this spread can be attributed to the effects of the oil shocks and, in turn, if it can account for the emergence of certain international macroeconomic pressures. This particular analysis will reveal the existence, and historical evolution, of a direct link between the performance of the oil market and macroeconomic indicators.

The use of oil shocks as analytical benchmarks is instrumental to the argument of this thesis. The study of the rise of the financialisation process in the oil market requires empirical analysis of the likely effects that such a destabilising process may have had on the performance of the market. Focusing this historical analysis on periods of extreme price shocks makes the mechanisms of financialisation more visible than they would

otherwise be under normal circumstances. This will help to lay bare the underlying dynamics of financialisation of the oil market.

The disconnect between the fundamentals of the market and its actual performance at times of price shocks coincide with the peaks in the decoupling of asset markets and commodity markets associated with the financialisation process. This is because the paper market performance does not reflect the fundamental performance of the underlying market commodity, owing to the rise of speculative and manipulative interests caused by financialisation. In this sense, if a shock crisis acts as a window into the effects of financialisation, a number of such crises will point to the evolutionary trend thereof. The success of this approach depends on how the effects of financialisation during oil shocks are observed and recorded.

Several methods have been suggested for defining the nature and effects of oil shocks. The basic concept of an oil shock, though, refers to an increase in the market price of oil. According to Blanchard and Gali (2007), in order for an increase in the price level of oil to qualify as a 'large oil shock' it has to be an '*episode involving a cumulative change in the (log) price of oil above fifty percent, sustained for more than four quarters*' (Blanchard and Gali, 2007). These criteria match the shocks of 1973, 1979, 1999, and 2002, as indicated by the shaded areas in Figure 23. Paul Segal (2007), in another similar study on the subject, selects the same years of reference.



Figure 23-5 Log Real Oil Price, 1970 = 100 (Blanchard and Gali, 2007)

Other academics consider not just 'large oil shocks', but also smaller upward shocks and, thus, they often include the spike of 1990/1, however short-lived in comparison. In

a paper on the effects of military activities on the oil market, William Nordhaus (2007d), for example, includes the 1990/1 spike among the four different shocks considered, which surprisingly, however, miss the 1999–2001 shock. This distinction between large oil shocks, shocks, and spikes in the oil-market price level is critical, because it determines the data pool available.

This thesis considers five distinct shocks, including both the 1990/1 and the 1999–2001 shocks, in an attempt to guarantee a more complete and inclusive picture of financialisation and to access a greater pool of data specifically from the post-1980 period, when financialisation first emerged in the oil market. This thesis makes no distinction, however, between oil price indicators. Despite the range of internationally available oil price indicators, such as the WTI crude, the Brent Crude and the MARS crude, their price level is continually and closely linked by arbitrages, as immediately visible in Figure 24. The thesis will quote primarily the WTI crude oil level, and take it as a representative value.



Figure 24-5 World Oil Price Indicators (Bloomberg, 2011)

What follows is an empirical analysis of the economic environment that may be most unequivocally revealing of the financialisation of the oil market. This analysis proceeds for the theoretical and historical conclusions posited in Part 1, namely that (1) a new oilbased financial market has appeared over the past decades that has allowed for oil to be traded as a financial asset; that (2) the nature of this market has attracted vast amounts of capital from financial actors and institutions who are not primarily interested in the underlying commodity and have thereby altered the traditional pattern of investment strategic positioning and decision-making; that (3) a link between the performance of the oil market and the financial asset markets has existed since its emergence as a financially traded commodity; that (4) after 1999 access to this market was dramatically facilitated by the introduction of new technologies; and, finally, that (5) speculation has been an increasingly influential determiner of oil prices since 2000.

Building on these premises, Part 2 of this thesis will assess whether the international macroeconomic environment has indeed been amenable to the emergence of a process of financialisation in the context of the oil market. This analysis will be conducted against the particularly transparent background of the oil shocks, and especially of the years 1989–1999, 1999–2003, and 2003–2010, and will look for specific patterns of financial activity and speculation in the volume of oil-based financial trade and in the performance of other financial markets and macroeconomic indicators.

This is because the evolution of the process of financialisation is connected to, and contingent upon, macroeconomic performance. The only compelling critique of this comes from Hooker (1996) and Rotemberg and Woodford (1996) who claim that the effects of oil shocks vary with time, thus making the correlation between oil prices and macroeconomic performance especially tenuous. Even so, a larger number of studies present strong evidence to the contrary. Bruno and Sachs (1985) argue that the levels of output and inflation after the 1970s crisis could in no small part be attributed to the influence of the oil shocks. Hamilton (1996) reports an interesting correlation whereby every US recession has been preceded by an oil shock. Edelstein and Kilian (2009), Herrera and Pesavento (2009), and Blanchard and Galí (2007) find that oil prices have a direct impact on the US macroeconomic performance, which they conclude has progressively decreased. On this note, Mork (1989) and Hooker (2002) contend that even though the relationship between the oil market and macroeconomic performance has changed and evolved through time, this is in part because – and in spite – of the fact that both have evolved individually, too.

On this point, Baumeister and Peersma (2009a) argue that the oil market has changed along with global capacity utilisation rates, which have been operating in overcapacity from the mid to late 1980s, just as they had in 1973/4 and 1979/0 (Kilian, 2007). They

also point out that this change was strengthened after the mid-1980s, when the decreasing power of the OPEC cartel and the increasing marketisation of oil replaced the pricing regime with direct trading in the spot market and with the introduction of the oil futures market, which resulted in greater oil price volatility (Hubbard, 1986; Mabro, 2005). Commenting on Blanchard and Galí (2007), Rotemberg (2007) argues that increasing levels of volatility can be explained by the change in the dynamics of the oil market price-setting mechanisms.

Bernake et al. (1997), in their *Systematic Monetary Policy and the Effect of Oil Price Shocks*, contend that the efficiency of national monetary policies has developed over time to make the macroeconomic structures more immune to changes in oil market volatility. This resulted from the gradual liberalisation of monetary policy institutions, especially central banks, as well as from a fuller understanding of the workings of the economy. This increased efficiency has also been attributed to an increase in the flexibility of labour (Bernanke et al., 1997) and capital as well as to a change in the composition and role of the heavy industries (Edelstein and Kilian, 2009).

In light of the above, it is important to stress that a linear analytical approach cannot fully capture the link between the oil market and macroeconomic performance. Rather, this link is better analysed as the evolution of relationship between two independently evolving, rather than constant, factors. The concepts of evolution, globalisation, financialisation, modernisation, and even marketisation are a reality as much for the macroeconomy as for the oil and financial markets. The centrality of oil in debates about energy requirements, particularly in the West, has changed substantially since the 1970s. Therefore, this thesis will approach this study as a relationship of two evolving entities.

A number of macroeconomic effects can be observed in oil-importing economies as a result of an oil shock. Primarily, according to Blanchard and Galí (2007) and Roubini and Setser (2004a), increased oil prices cause an increase in inflation rates and input costs and a reduction of real wages, of demand for non-oil products, for which less real income is now available, and of aggregate net investment levels. In addition to this, tax revenues decrease while the budget deficit likely increases as a result, along with

interest rates. Lower real wages and higher inflation lead to pressures for an increase in the level of nominal wages, which, combined with lower demand for non-oil products, create or exacerbate unemployment.

Lilien (1982), on the other hand, has formulated a 'dispersion hypothesis', based on the idea that oil price changes affect different economic sectors to different extents. More specifically, he explains that different sectors are dependent on different resources, so price changes in one or some of these resources will not affect all sectors equally. He also adds that, in the short run, the costs of readjusting essential resources have increased, which can result in a total loss of output. This, however, is rarely proportional to the contractions and expansions caused by the rise and fall of resource prices. This pattern becomes evident when observing the global levels of oil consumption and GDP against oil prices, and especially against the effects of the 2001 and 2008 oil shocks (Figure 25). The extent of these effects is determined by the expectations of an oil price increase; the more large and unexpected the more it will take the markets by surprise to even more devastating effects (International Energy Agency, 2004: 5). These effects are all the more pronounced as financial investment and speculation percolate through the oil market.



Figure 25-5 World oil Consumption and GDP levels against WTI Crude Oil Price (EIA, 2012)

The negative effects of an increase in oil prices do not end there. On the external side of oil-importing economies, trade balance, in particular, will be distorted; this is due not only to the rising costs of oil imports, but also to the deteriorating health of the internal macroeconomic performance, which reduces productivity, competitiveness, and

ultimately exports. This will negatively affect the balance of payments and apply depreciation pressures on the exchange rate. As a result, oil imports will become even more expensive and lead to an international redistribution of wealth as increased transfers of value are made from importing countries to producing ones. This translates into increased budget deficits in importing countries and increased budget surpluses in producing ones, which in turn intensifies all the negative effects described above (International Energy Agency, 2004: 5): wider deficits and balance of payments, unless redressed by severe corrective policies, will exacerbate the levels of investment, productivity, prices, and employment. The only way to prevent this economic race to the bottom is the introduction of heavy-handed, but prudent, monetary and fiscal policies (International Energy Agency, 2004: 23).

		Change in	Change in unemploy-	Change in	Change in PCE	Change in CPI	Change in labor product
Oil-price-	Oil-price-	real oil	ment rate (%	output gap	inflation	inflation	ivity growth
shock date	peak date	price (%)	points)	(% points)	(% points)	(% points)	(% points)
1973Q3	1975Q2	155	4.1	-7.5	2.5	2.5	-1.8
1978Q4	1980Q3	97	1.8	-6.3	2.7	3.6	-2.1
1990Q3	1990Q4	27	0.4	-1.5	0.5	0.7	-0.5
2002Q4	2006Q2	125	-1.2	2.1	1.4	1.7	-1.5

Table 4-5 Macroeconomic Data From Major Oil Shocks (Nordhaus: 2007)



Figure 26-5 OECD Inflation Rate and Average IEA Crude Oil Import Price in 2000 Dollars (IEA, 2004)

The link between the oil market and macroeconomic indicators is depicted in Table 4 and Figure 26. Table 4 illustrates the main macroeconomic indicators of the OECD countries during periods of high oil prices. The table describes a decrease in growth and inflation levels, but a decrease in current-account levels. In Figure 26, the relation

between the inflation rates of the OECD countries is sketched against the average cost of oil imports: the correlation between the two is plain to see.

As a result, a rise in the price level of oil will, at least in the short term, influence negatively most of the fundamental macroeconomic performance indicators of oilimporting economies. On a different note, the oil market has also the ability to influence the external aspect of importing countries' macroeconomies to a great extent (International Energy Agency, 2004: 12). This is mostly due to its influence on international exchange rates and trade deficits, inflated by the rising prices of an inelastic primary commodity.

The macroeconomic effects of oil shocks can provide valuable insights on the effects of the process of financialisation on the oil market. Considering that the oil market has been financialised in terms of being marketed as a financial product, the actors operating within this financial market operate the same way as in any other financial market. In other words, they constantly try to outguess the market by relying on past experiences, heuristics, as well as equations and expectations based on economic fundamentals. Therefore, as investors position themselves in such a way as to increase their profits by the expected change in interest rates (Roubini and Setser, 2004a) or by the returns on their investments, any change in the oil price level will cause financial adjustments as the values of the fundamentals change (Labban, 2010).

This has an impact on consumer confidence and expectations, which in turn influence financial markets through both the stock market and demand for credit and loans. The link between the oil market and the performance of the fundamental economic indicators of oil-importing countries spreads uncertainty in the markets, while directly affecting any financial or economic decisions based on them. What is more, since many Western countries such as the US and the UK have highly leveraged households with increased debt burdens which only rise in tandem with interest rates, savings and investment rates drop (Roubini and Setser, 2004a).

Additionally, as the price of oil affects real household income, oil shocks will further reduce the percentage of it available for financial investments. Figure 27 graphically

displays the negative effects that rising oil prices have on the total consumption levels of the OECD economies. These effect are intensified by the fact that an increase in oil prices usually causes an equal increase in all oil-based products, such as gasoline and heating oil (Figure 28), especially for upward changes (Interview 2, 2012). This further exacerbates the negative impact of an oil shock on disposable income and consumption levels.



Figure 27-5 OECD Consumption against WTI Crude Oil Price (EIA, 2012)



Figure 28-5 Crude Oil and the main Petroleum Products (EIA, 2012)

The above reduction in disposable income, consumption, and available capital directly affect the stock-market performance. In other words, oil price shocks are expected to affect the financial market performance directly, by shaping negative expectations, reducing consumer confidence, reducing the levels of internationally available capital for financial investments, and reducing the international levels of savings and investment. This raises the following question: how can the macroeconomic effects of an oil shock illustrate the growing influence of financialisation in the oil market?
5.1 Tracing Financialisation

The question on the transitive relation between oil shocks and macroeconomic performance, and macroeconomic performance and the financialisation of the oil market can be answered on several levels. First, the financialisation of the oil market has introduced numerous new actors to its international dynamics, including financial institutions and individual actors. Hence, the negative effects of an oil shock should be expected to spread wider as the financialisation of the oil market accelerates. Since more actors are involved in the oil market through their investments, and oil shocks directly affect them, then an increasing spread of these negative effects should be traceable beyond specific geographical areas. The negative impact of oil shocks on these actors' investment portfolios should also be expected to put pressures on the financial and macroeconomic performance of their economies. Therefore, an increasing number of economies being macroeconomically affected by an oil shock should be considered as an indicator of the spread of the market, which in turn is a direct result of the opening-up caused by financialisation.

Secondly, the crises caused by the oil shocks should be expected to deepen and widen as a result of the financialisation process in the oil market. This is because, as more and more actors get involved in the oil market and invest increasing amounts of capital, then when an oil shock occurs, an increased amount of portfolios will be affected. Since the volume of capital invested in the oil futures market has dramatically increased during the past ten years, any oil crisis that occurred since should carry deeper financial and economic consequences than those before them. The financialisation of the oil market implies that a new link between international economies and the oil market has developed, and it is that of invested capital. Since the volume of invested capital has increased, the loss of capital will be comparatively greater during a recent shock than an earlier one; hence, more losses imply less capital available for alternative investments, and as investment levels are crucial to both the macroeconomic and financial performance, the financialisation effect should be expected to determine an increase in the depth of the crises caused by its shocks. Thirdly, even exchange rate parities can provide a tool for tracing the financialisation of the oil market in the international macroeconomic performance during periods of oil. In the absence of financialisation, an oil shock would have direct effects on the value of the US dollar and its parity with the other international currencies, mainly owing to trade deficits and the national debt. There is a negative relationship between the price level of oil and the value of the US dollar (Krugman, 1983a; Golub, 1983; McGuirk, 1983; Rogoff, 1991; Throop, 1993; Amano and van Norden, 1995; Dibooglu, 1995; Zhou, 1995; Medlock and Jaffe, 2009). As suggested by Faruqee (1995), an increase in the value of oil, however, also has a positive effect on the US dollar by increasing its global demand, since oil is marketed in this currency; however, empirical evidence put forward by the above-mentioned studies illustrate that any positive effect in the value of the US dollar is offset by negative relationship forces. This relationship does not change even in the presence of the effect of financialisation in the oil market, where the positive effects that an oil shock would have on the US dollar parity should be increased, as there would also be an increase in the global demand of US dollars for the purchase of oil-based financial products, which are, too, mostly marketed in US dollars.

Fourthly, the effects of the process of financialisation of the oil market can also be traced in the balance of payments. The balance of payments denotes the difference between the current and the capital account and supports the relationship between goods and financial markets at an international level. The effects of an oil shock on the underlying commodity of oil will appear in the current account. On the other hand, the effects on the financial market of oil will appear in the capital account, which should also feature some record of its financialisation as this market grows. As a result, whereas in the absence of financialisation, the effects of an oil shock would only affect the current account, that both the current and capital accounts, and hence the balance of payments, should be affected should be expected to vindicate the existence of a process of financialisation in the oil market.

Fifthly, while changes in the motives of an investment in the oil asset market are traditionally traceable over time, this should be expected to be more difficult with the rise of financialisation in the oil market which, as previously discussed, multiplies the number of financial investors completely detached from the physical market and, with it, the amount of capital invested for purely financial or speculative motives, rather than for insurance or otherwise risk-hedging ones. This rise of the financial investor in the oil market can be traced by considering both the amount of capital invested in each oilbased asset, as these assets represent different approaches and investment strategies, and how such capital behaves during turbulent periods.

The historical study that follows will trace the spread of financialisation in the oil market during oil shocks on the basis of the five criteria given above. In doing so, this analysis will look at the financial and macroeconomic performance of the US economy and at the composition of the oil market, during three post-1970s oil shocks. The choice of the US as the primary country of reference is motivated by the fact that the US is the international financial centre, it has been highly dependent on imported oil for the past decades, and is the issuer of the official currency of the oil market. The choice of the three oil shocks is based on the fact that no effect of financialisation could possibly be traced prior to the 1980s, as the market lacked any financial dimension before then. As a result, the inclusion of all three post-1970s oil shocks will make more data available for the purpose of tracing the spread and effects of the financialisation process in the oil market, which will lead to more concrete results.

The following three chapters focus on the oil-related macroeconomic, financial, and political developments of three central periods in contemporary economic history, the periods of low (1980–1990), early (1991–2001), and advanced (2002–2008) financialisation. These historical overviews will trace the evolution of the financialisation process, the role of speculation in its development, as well as the existence and strength of the evolving link between the oil market and the US macroeconomic and financial performance. As explained above, any effects of the financialisation process on the macroeconomic performance will be more conspicuously and immediately visible against the particular background of the US.

This study is central to the argument of this thesis as the effects of the financialisation of the oil market are all the more evident during oil shocks. Their economic, financial, and geopolitical outlook, hold important clues to the synchronicity and causality links between oil shocks and oil financialisation. Indeed, these periods will be found to share, among other characteristics, an underling, and intensifying, dynamic. This dynamic is argued to derive from the financialisation of the oil market insofar as it has influenced the intensity as well as the geographic and demographic reach of the effects of the oil shocks.

6 Early Financialisation (1989–1999)

Out of the three oil shocks studied in this thesis, the one that took place in 1991 is the least financial in character. This is because its origins seem to be purely driven by market forces, and because it took place at a time when the oil market was yet to be 'financialised'. During this period, international levels of oil demand were relatively stable and there were no significant disturbances in the supply of oil, with the exception of a few restrictive developments in the Middle East. Nevertheless, even though this oil shock took place during a period when the oil market was not dominated by financial motives, strong links can still be observed between its performance and the macroeconomic and financial performance of the US. Studying the nature and intensity of these links in the absence of pure financial influences will help to set a baseline for the analysis of subsequent crises.

The US political-economic situation after the 1979 oil shock was recovering fast: the US was in a very strong international position under President George Bush; the US economy was booming, with growth rates reaching 4.5 percent in 1988; the unemployment rate was stabilized between 5 and 5.5 percent; and the inflation rate rarely exceeded the barrier of 4 percent. However, the Federal Budget was in a very difficult position as this boom had been underwritten to a large extent by government expenditure.

For this reason, during the late 1980s the Federal Reserve was attempting to guide the US economy to a 'soft landing' by gradually reducing its budget deficit (Cooper, 1992: 156). Their aim was to reduce growth levels to a sustainable 2/2.5 percent, while avoiding a further slowdown that at the time would have likely caused a recession. Up until the beginning of the 1990s, the contractionary monetary policy adopted by the Federal Reserve seemed largely successful (Cooper, 1992: 156). At the same time, the US President had agreed to hold talks to reduce the levels of government expenditure.

Nevertheless, during these discussions, events from the Middle East got in the way of this path towards economic readjustment and stabilisation. Iraq invaded Kuwait on August 1990 (Hybel, 1993: 32) as they announced that Kuwait and Saudi Arabia were committing an act of war by increasing their levels of oil production, which had led to a reduction in the agreed price of oil from \$18 a barrel to \$7 per barrel²⁰ (Hybel, 1993: 30).

The US made it clear that Iraq's actions would not be tolerated (Cooper, 1992: 158) and deployed forces on Saudi Arabia in order to expel the Iraqi forces out of Kuwait. It has been calculated that the military 'bonus' expenses of this war surpassed the \$100 billion mark over the period from 1991 to 1995²¹ (Korb, 1992: 223-226). What is more, the US not only isolated Iraq's and Kuwait's accounts on foreign soil, but also introduced a full embargo effective to all their products, including oil (Cooper, 1992). Considering that the states of Iraq and Kuwait held 20 percent of the total world oil production at the time; this embargo clearly caused great disruption to the oil market equilibrium of supply. Any supply restriction of this magnitude leads to an increase in the price level, especially since the levels of demand are inelastic given the nature of the good and the time frame. This figure becomes even more significant when taking into account that the US economy imported a higher amount of its oil from the Middle East (EIA, 2010). This restriction of supply levels was therefore reflected on the price level, which more than doubled within months of the beginning of the conflict.

²⁰ Saddam's aspiration was to become the leader of the Arab world by incorporating Kuwait and Saudi Arabia, which would have given him control of more than half the world oil production (Kuniholm, 1993: 99).

²¹ In order to do this, President Bush placed the costs of all the military operations that would take place in the Gulf 'off budget' to spare them from budget cuts.

The Transformation of the Oil Market. A Study of Financialisation through Crises Angelos Gkanoutas-Leventis



Figure 29-6 Oil Price in US Dollars 1989-1999 (Bloomberg, 2011)

Even though strategic oil reserves had already been built, especially in the US, after the events of the 1970s, they were not released due to the political implications of such action. As expected, the spare-capacity levels of the OPEC countries' oil production dropped significantly during this period (Figure 30), reflecting the turbulence that these conflicts had created within the Middle East.



Figure 30-6 OPEC Capacity and Production of Oil (OPEC, 2007)

As a result, the embargo of Iraqi and Kuwaiti oil, along with the disruption of the market equilibrium caused by the military operations, led to what is known as the third oil shock (Miller, 1998). The price of oil more than doubled, from \$15 to \$33 per barrel. What sets this particular oil shock apart from the other ones studied in this thesis is mainly its duration; this shock was short-lived, as can thus be characterised more accurately as a spike than as a large oil shock. However, even though the actual hike in the price level was short-lived, its effects in the US economy were extensive. The study of these effects may shed some light on the functions of the oil market and on its links to the financial and macroeconomic performance.

The historical context behind this oil spike is significant. At the time, in conjuncture with the government budget reviews, the Federal Reserve was attempting to slowly reduce growth and inflation to more sustainable levels without running the risk of sliding into a recession. This process, already in place before the spike hit, had been largely successful until the Gulf War and the oil price spike. As depicted in Figures 31–35, prior to mid-1990, US interest rates had increased as a result of the Federal Reserve attempt to reduce growth and inflation rates, which stood now at around 2.5 and 3 percent respectively. With unemployment stably below 5 percent, the US economy, and its contractionary monetary policy, was indeed faring well.



Figure 31-6 US 6-Month Treasury Bills 1989– 1999. Pink area = Recession (Economagic, 2011)









Figure 32-6 US Unemployment rate 1989–1999. Pink area = Recession (Economagic, 2011)



Figure 34-6 US Gross Domestic Product 1989– 1999. Pink area = Recession (Economagic, 2011)



Figure 35-6 US Federal Government Budget 1989–1999. Pink area = Recession (Economagic, 2011)

However, this situation changed dramatically after the first half of the year 1990. The oil price spike and the possibility of a war in the Gulf affected the markets extensively. The increased oil prices, along with the fear that the military activity would affect oil prices further, gave rise to an increasing wave of negative expectations across the US markets. In addition, the refusal by the US government to release its oil reserves hardly helped to reduce the uncertainty and negative expectations in the markets, which were desperate for some measure of reassurance.

Figures 31–35 provide a graphical representation of the economic and financial performance of this period. By the middle of 1990, and precisely the 2nd August 1990, all the basic fundamental economic indicators had been destabilised. First, there is both a noticeable acceleration of the inflation rate, which was met by a decrease in interest rates, and a reduction of the real growth level, also reflected in the unemployment rates. While the inflation and growth levels decreased after the end of the Gulf War, unemployment and interest rates did not recover until the second half of 1992. At the same time, while a revised budget was being agreed, the deficit continued rising, reaching \$279 billion in 1991 (Nye, 1992: 222), and was not helped by a devaluated exchange rate.

The US was faced with increased expenditure levels and at the same time was being locked in the position where of having to purchase more expensive oil in a devalued currency, which raised its deficit level even further. The loss of value of the US dollar was evident throughout the 1990s, as seen in Figure 36. The actual loss of value was more than 10 percent. It is also worth noting that, though oil prices normalised in 1991, the unemployment level and the budget deficit did not start recovering before the late 1992.



Figure 36-6 US Dollar Trade Weighted Value against Major Currencies 1989-1999 (Thomson Reuters DataStream, 2011)

At the consumer level, US personal income and consumption is plotted on Figure 37. The effects of the crisis are clear: the levels of US personal income decelerated in both, 1991 and 1993. In 1991, growth did not reach negative values, as it did in 1993, but persevered over a much longer period. By contrast, the levels of consumption only decelerated in 1991 and were virtually unaffected in 1993. This is because the 1991 crisis affected both personal income and public expectations of a crisis, which stabilised savings and reduced spending. In contrast, the 1993 reduction of personal income was short-lived and was not accompanied by the expectation of a crisis, thus the level of consumption was spared.



Figure 37-6 US Personal Income and Consumption 1989-1999 (Thomson Reuters DataStream, 2011)

The financial markets were affected by these events as much as the macroeconomy. The volume of layoffs in Wall Street increased during this period as a result of the destabilisation of the banking system (Stewart, 2008). People and firms were defaulting on loan payments, while the US real estate sector was failing as real estate prices went down. Figure 38 shows a deceleration, however small, of the level of US employment in financial activities. Similarly, Figure 39, which displays a breakdown of the US GNP between the financial, insurance, and real estate (FIRE) sector and the rest, shows that the deceleration of the US GNP was not derived from a contraction of the financial sector.



Figure 38-6 US Employment in Financial Activities 1989-1999 (Thomson Reuters DataStream, 2011)



Figure 39-6 US Total GNP and FIRE (Finance, Insurance and Real Estate) GNP 1989-1999 (Thomson Reuters DataStream, 2011)

However, the stock market performance during this period suffered from a substantial deceleration (Figure 40). Even though this financial crisis is often characterised as a 'mild' one (Stewart, 2008), the drop of the stock SPX index²² from above US\$360 to below US\$300 is symptomatic of a crash that, albeit less than a year long, extensively affected its financial performance while not necessarily being a product of its doing.

²² The SPX index refers to Standard & Poor's index of the top 500 publicly traded companies.

Therefore, even though the financial sector did not directly affect the events of 1991, it can be argued that the events of 1991 directly affected the financial sector.



Figure 40-6 SPX Index US Dollars 1989–1994 (Bloomberg, 2011)

As the oil market was not yet widely established as a product tradable in the financial markets, this deceleration can only be attributed to its links with the macroeconomic performance as well as to the increased drop in the consumer confidence levels of this period. Although the International Petroleum Exchange (IPE) released the first oil futures contract in 1981, the first Brent Crude future was actually launched in 1988, and the market has experienced continuous growth virtually every year ever since.

The introduction of those contracts allowed market participants to purchase a riskhedging product that could provide insurance on the investments they were involved with in the physical oil production market. This is because these futures contracts had the ability to provide an agreed and guaranteed forward price valuation for oil, which could be used as a guide for their investments, as well as for calculating future costs and returns. This future price valuation was not necessarily the optimal one as factors of risk, expectations, and uncertainty were always involved; but they did provide with a measurable and guaranteed value. As a result, many market participants, in the form of producers, heavy consumers, refiners, or marketers of oil, entered the market to insure their investments (Interview 2: 2012).

At this point, Goldman Sachs built a new asset class based on commodities and successfully promoted it as the GSCI (GSCI Manual: 2005). This index allowed almost anyone to enter the financial markets, without having to actually take delivery of the

final product, allowing them to get involved in the market with purely financial motives. The GSCI was soon followed, with various rates of success, by other indexes, such as the Thomson Reuters/Jefferies CRB Index (TR/J CRB), the Rogers International Commodity Index (RICI), the Deutsche Bank Liquid Commodity Index (DBLCI), the Standard & Poor's Commodity Index (SPCI), the NCDEX Commodity Index, the Merrill Lynch Commodity index eXtra (MLCX), the SummerHaven Dynamic Commodity Index (SDCI), and others as discussed in the previous chapter.

These indexes introduced a financially tradable product based on the oil market, which would be essential for the process of financialisation to occur. What is more, the list of the issuing institutions of these commodity indexes is indicative of the financial potential of the oil market. Indeed, one by one, most of the large international financial institutions attempted to enter it; they introduced their own index products and adopted similar structures.

Tracing the impact of these developments onto the oil market requires the use of a reliable indicator of the level of investment, in both financial and speculative terms, made in the oil futures market during the periods under analysis. The most popular indicator among market analysts is the volume of net open positions in the futures. This measure of the level of financial and speculative investment is based on separating the commercial from the non-commercial positions that are considered to be used by traditional financial investors for risk hedging rather than for direct financial speculation.

The US Commodities for Trade Commission (CFTC) collects and publishes data covering all the trades in commodities that take place within the international official exchanges. As a result, they only publish results for CCP trades, but not for OTC trades, with the result that the kind of data published by the CFTC provides a reliable, but limited, indicator of the behaviour in the oil-based financial product market. This limitation is important, since most of the speculative trades take place in the OTC market. The methodology of the CFTC is that each trader, upon completion of each trade, has to mark, first, whether the trade was for a commercial or non-commercial

client²³ and, then, whether the trade was based on a short, long, or spread contract. These data are then published weekly for all the official international commodities exchanges.

Figures 41 and 42 trace the volume of non-commercial and commercial position investments in the WTI NYMEX. Each position represents a contract based on 1,000 barrels of oil. While the distinction between commercial and non-commercial positions is that when investments take place through clearing houses – and in the case of the WTI crude oil, the clearing house is NYMEX – they are explicitly categorised under these two headings. If an investment serves hedging and traditional purposes it is submitted as commercial, whereas if it is a speculative position it is submitted as non-commercial. However, as discussed in previous chapters, only the contracts purchased through clearing houses are recorded in these data, as OTC contracts are not monitored – and, due to their nature, most of them are speculative. Nevertheless, considering that prior to 1992 there were at least four times more commercial than non-commercial positions, it is safe to posit that the speculative investments in the oil market were rather limited prior to the development of these indexes.



Figure 41-6 Non-Commercial Positions in WTI NYMEX Oil Futures 1985–1999, 1 contract = 1,000 barrels (Bloomberg, 2011)

²³ A list for the classification of the institutions exists, based on their nature. However, in some cases, where a client might be active across different markets, the classification is arbitrary.

The Transformation of the Oil Market. A Study of Financialisation through Crises Angelos Gkanoutas-Leventis



Figure 42-6 Commercial Positions in WTI NYMEX Oil Futures 1985–1999, 1 contract = 1,000 barrels (Bloomberg, 2011)

All this started to change after 1992. After 1992, as seen in Figure 41, a new type of investment became available in the oil market. As the oil commodity indexes were developed in the financial markets, the swap investments, which are considered as being highly speculative investment products (CFTC), became available. The volume of non-commercial positions started increasing gradually and, at the same time, so did its levels of volatility. Commercial positions, too, experienced an unprecedented increase in their volumes over this period. While up until 1990 they were struggling to reach 250,000, in 1999 they exceeded 800,000. It is also interesting to note that the volumes of long and short positions are similar in both commercial and non-commercial investments after the development of the indexes. This breakdown is plotted in Figure 43.



Figure 43-6 Total Positions in WTI NYMEX Oil Futures 1985–1999, 1 contract = 1,000 barrels (Bloomberg, 2011)

The findings above suggest that the emergence of oil-based indexes facilitated the participation of a new type of investor in the oil market who held non-traditional financial interests. They also suggest that, while the purely financial investments quickly caught on with the rest of the market in terms of overall volume, the levels of the traditional long and commercial investments increased as well. Therefore, this period witnessed a general increase in the appeal of the oil market as an investment opportunity, with commercial positions still holding a dominant share in the market.

The same argument can be made in connection to the data on oil futures prices relative to their maturity – typically a breakdown of all the 1-to-5-year futures contracts. The pricing of oil products with different maturity is defined by the current price of oil as well as by the expectations on its future price in order to calculate their potential returns, and thus pricing. When expectations for future returns are positive, the price difference among the 1-to-5-year maturity contracts should increase, as higher expected returns translate to higher present prices. In this case, the factor of risk is also included in the pricing of these products, as shorter maturity products are less risky than long maturity ones.

On the whole, when the expectations for the future returns are negative or uncertain, the price difference between the different futures contracts should decrease, as longer maturities imply higher risks. Figure 44 depicts a reduction in this gap since 1995, along with the emergence of higher volatility. This looks like a pattern: it follows, with a time lag of around 3–6 months, the same trend of oil spot prices, which had risen in 1997 only to fall back in 1999. Therefore, in the post-1995 period, oil started to be considered increasingly riskier as an investment opportunity and more heavily dependent on expectations; both can be explained by the participation of a new type of actor in the market with purely financial motives.

The Transformation of the Oil Market. A Study of Financialisation through Crises Angelos Gkanoutas-Leventis



Figure 44-6 Oil Futures Prices Relative to Maturity 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 Years 1994–1999 (Thomson Reuters DataStream, 2011)

The data plotted in the figures above hold the key to uncovering the roots of the set of processes that are understood in this thesis to underpin the process of financialisation. This is because, the short, non-commercial, and risky investments started becoming more popular amongst purely financially driven investors who were mostly positioned outside the oil market structure. For this reason, this period is viewed as the period of 'early financialisation': throughout its duration, this period laid the institutional foundations that allowed the process of financialisation to penetrate deeper into the structure of the oil market.

Nevertheless, the financialisation of this market did not start taking place before 1992. Even though oil futures had been available since the 1980s, the data suggest that they had not been used until after the crisis of 1991. This means that the 1991 crisis and the oil spike were not related to the effects of financialisation in the oil market. Even so, this is not to say that the oil spike did not spark the aspirations of the financial investors who started flooding the market a year later, after noticing the potential return that oil-based financial products could have under such circumstances.

Since both the US economy and the financial markets were performing well prior to this period, the causes of this crisis must be looked elsewhere. Once the increases in the oil price level started taking place, and the US started deploying military forces in the Middle East, the US economy found itself in a tight corner, since the budget deficit was bound to increase, oil being marketed in US dollars. Therefore, as the oil prices started

rising, fear and uncertainty started to dominate the markets. At the same time, the increased inflation due to both the increase in the oil price and high government expenditure led the Federal Reserve to lower the interest rates in order to avoid pushing the economy into a recession. Yet, this interest rate reduction managed to avoid neither negative growth nor the 1991 recession (Walsh, 1993).

According to Carl Walsh (1993), while the timing of the downturn in July 1990 was undoubtedly connected to the loss of consumer confidence, owing to the events in the Gulf, the US economy was already significantly destabilized prior to these events. This destabilisation of the US economy in the period leading up to the actual recession was caused by the contractionary monetary policy followed by the Federal Reserve, which had attempted to offset the expansionary fiscal factors and to bring the inflation gradually down to zero (Walsh, 1993: 1).

In its attempt to stabilise the economy in a long-term equilibrium, the Federal Reserve, unable to foresee the events of 1990/1, had actually destabilised the economy, by making it weaker and thus more exposed to risks. This argument is backed up by the performance of the consumer confidence index, as depicted in Figure 45, where US consumer confidence dropped from around 120 from the second half of 1989 to about 50 in 1991. It is no coincidence that this crisis was named the 'CNN recession' (Rubini and Setser, 2004a: 11).



Figure 45-6 US Consumer Confidence Index SADJ 1989–1999 (Thomson Reuters DataStream, 2011)

Therefore, the 1991 oil crisis can be characterised as a purely market-driven crisis, shaped by an oil supply shortage, the effects of which were quickly passed on to an

already particularly fragile US economy. The effect that this oil crisis had on the US macroeconomic performance is explained by the fact that oil was, and still is, marketed in US dollars. This made the value of oil directly related to the US dollar, and vice versa; thus, the value of the US dollar in this period was heavily influenced by the events in the oil market. This was intensified by the large, and growing, budget deficit incurred by the US due to the increased expenditure of the period.

Finally, the deterioration of consumer confidence, due to the events of the period, was also an influence on the economic and financial activity of the period. Nevertheless, even though the financial markets were affected by this crisis, in terms not only of consumer confidence, but also interest rates, inflation rates, saving rates, and consumption, there is no significant direct financial causality that can be traced from the financial performance to the oil market performance and, in turn, the US macroeconomic performance.

The absence of such a link can be explained by the fact that the oil market only emerged as a major financial product a year later. The data presented in this chapter shows that, during the 1991 crisis there was only a fledgling financial dimension to the oil market, which was dominated by traditional investors motivated by security, risk-hedging, and insurance interests. This discussion also shows that this period saw the emergence of an alternative type of investor in this market. Since these investors are motivated mostly by financial and speculative interests, the oil market also witnessed the emergence of different types of positions and investment strategies within its structure.

The emergence of this new type of investor marked the end of 'small figures' in the volume of investments in the oil market; during this period, the overall volume of financial positions in this market doubles. This marks the emergence of the financialisation process in the oil market. In this period of 'early financialisation', the more traditional, risk-hedging actors gradually relinquished control of the market to investors interested more in financial profits than in the underlying commodity of trade.

7 Low Financialisation (1999–2003)

The turn of the millennium is an important watershed in contemporary economic history, but equally important are the events of the years immediately preceding it. This chapter focuses on the period the surrounds the 2001 crisis, which will be argued to correspond to the phase of 'low financialisation' of the oil market. During this period, the oil-based financial market was already operating under a clear structure, integral to that of the underlying commodity market; however, the existence of restrictive regulations and the absence of adequate technological tools did not allow for its extensive growth before the turn of the millennium.

The final years of the previous millennium were characterised by unprecedented growth in most Western economies, and especially in the US, up to the year 2000. The US economic expansion had lasted for almost a decade since the end of the 1991 crisis and rates, in fact, as the longest registered expansionary period experienced by any industrialised country (Arestis and Karakitsos, 2004, 8). The extent and strength of this expansion can be demonstrated by reference to the US GDP growth levels, which by the end of 1999 had reached 7 percent. The inflation rate, kept at low, stable levels, averaged 2.5 percent during the late 1990s; while the unemployment level reached 3.9 percent, its lowest level since the 1970s, in 2000. According to Temple (2002) even poverty and wage inequality levels had decreased substantially.

It did not take long for this extraordinary economic expansion to spill over into the stock markets. From 1995 to 1999, the US stock exchange Standards and Poor's Composite Index (S&P 500) produced a total return of over 20 percent per annum, including dividend payments, and thus reached a record level in the stock price and earnings ratio for the whole of the twentieth century. The best performers in the stock markets during this period were the stocks of companies in the sector of media, telecommunications, and especially technology.

This performance was mirrored in the Nasdaq Composite Index, which included most of these companies, increasing its level from 2000 in 1998 to 5048 on the 10th of March 2000 (Arestis and Karakitsos, 2004: 18). According to Rima (2002), the stock prices of some of these companies rose by more than 1,000 percent from their initial public offering price. This development created the feeling in the markets that a 'new economy' had emerged after the previous crisis, which was more resilient to shocks, thanks to new rules of operation (Stiglitz, 2003).

This 'new economy' feeling was the result of the transition from a mainly manufacturing-based Western capitalist system into a service- and finance-based economy that was proving received economic truths, such as the Phillips Curve theory, obsolete. The development of novel and advanced technologies throughout this decade had given firms from across most sectors the opportunity to claim that the new technologies had been so transformational that the limitations of the past were quite simply no longer applicable. This led to a sustained increase in stock values across all of these sectors. In many cases these stock gains were completely disconnected from the actual economic value or performance of the firms they represented.

Attempting to capitalise on these positive valuations, an increasing number of very successful IPOs²⁴ were released during this period (Henwood, 2005). This allowed many firms to raise significant amounts of capital from the markets, which they would have otherwise struggled to raise in the form of debt based on their fundamentals alone. Unemployment and inflation were very low and output levels remained steady and positive, thus creating an optimal economic environment. According to Nesvetailova (2007: 140), however, the underlying economy gave signs of a marked discrepancy between output growth and the increase in the share of profitability. This argument is also shared by actors directly involved in these markets. In a statement published by the trading body of Total Oil, *'several times a year, estimates of market prices on key energy indexes are out of line with the experiences of the day'* (Makan et al., 2013) by as much as the apparent premium that financial products trade on in addition to the value of the underlying product.

²⁴ Initial Public Offering: the release of stocks of a company in the stock markets for a public flotation.

As stock returns rose, and remained stable, unprecedented profits were being made in the stock markets, and especially in the technology sector, in such a loud trend that it quickly became common knowledge. Not surprisingly, massive inflows of capital entered the stock market in the direction of those shares. This resulted in an even higher rise in their prices, which generated the inflation known as the dot-com bubble (Krugman 2009; Laffey, 2006).



Figure 46-7 US Consumer Confidence Index SADJ 1995–2003 (Thomson Reuters DataStream, 2011)

Figure 46 illustrates the effects that this 'new economy' euphoria had on the public. The US consumer confidence index for this period shows that since the end of 1996 confidence levels steadily increased to reach, in 1998 and 2000, a value almost 40 percent higher than in 1996. The durable goods markets boomed as a result of this bubble, with increased profits spilling over to other markets as well. Blind to the sustainability of this situation, everyone seemed to throw all hesitation to the wind for the sake of more profit (Arestis and Karakitsos, 2004: 22). Both per-capita income and consumption levels experienced an unprecedented increase in the period leading up to 2001. By earning and spending more, all the economic and financial participants in the US economy contributed to a positive reinforcement cycle – and to the inflation of the bubble.

The Transformation of the Oil Market. A Study of Financialisation through Crises Angelos Gkanoutas-Leventis



Figure 47-7 US Personal Income and Consumption 1995–2003 (Thomson Reuters DataStream, 2011)

According to Shiller (2005), the dot-com bubble, and the euphoria that surrounded it, had created a mania. On top of this, financial innovation had started to peak during 2000 and 2001, when several US energy and electric utility companies, the most famous of them being Enron, started to engaged in derivatives (Hughes et al, 2008). Additionally, this positive environment was also sustained by the lowest price levels in the oil market since the 1970s, which reached just over \$10 per barrel after the 1992 oil price spike. At the same time, George W Bush Jr. won the 2000 US presidential elections and, upon taking his post, set out to fulfil his electoral promises of lower taxation.

The Federal Reserve started to express concern in 1999 that the growth levels experienced by the US economy would be unsustainable in terms of future inflationary consequences, and that 'corrosive inflation' was soon likely to set in (Greenspan, 2008: 207). High growth levels indicated that the expansionary leg of the cycle was peaking out and that inflationary pressure would soon take over. The Federal Reserve resolved to increase interest rates in order to slow down growth and steer clear of any inflationary pressures, thus prolonging the boom. Their initial increase was not met by the expected reaction of the markets, but they believed that this reaction was typical of economic actors who were adjusting to the new conditions (Greenspan, 2008: 207). As a result, the Federal Reserve decided to raise the rate even higher, up to 6.5 percent (Arestis and Karakitsos, 2004: 22).

The Transformation of the Oil Market. A Study of Financialisation through Crises Angelos Gkanoutas-Leventis



Figure 48-7 US 6-Month Treasury Bills 1995–2003. Pink area = Recession (Economagic, 2011)

However, the reaction of the markets to this last interest rate increase was not the one desired by the Federal Reserve, as the economy started decelerating sharply and continuously. The US economy fell into a recession in the beginning of 2001 and the confidence that had been built up in relation to the 'new economy' evaporated as the dot-com bubble started to deflate, creating huge debts and defaults in its wake (Rima, 2002: 407–414). The stock markets crashed, leading to a loss of about 40 percent of their average value (Krugman and Obsfeld, 2006: 147). This turn of events alarmed the Federal Reserve to the point of veering towards expansionary policies of low interest rates in an attempt to put an end to the recession. Between 2001 and 2003, the Federal Reserve announced 13 reductions in the interest rate, along with the introduction of additional expansionary fiscal measures on the part of the government. The budget surplus achieved towards the end of this decade of expansion was now very quickly turning into a deficit (Arestis and Karakitsos, 2004).

At this point, production slowdowns took place across the US economy; most firms announced lower corporate profit estimates; unemployment pressures started to creep in; and inventories started to pile up due to an increasing deficit in demand (Greenspan, 2008: 207). Consumer confidence was now severely hit; the levels of industrial production suffered as a result and fell by 5 percent (Greenspan, 2008: 225). The manufacturing sector attempted to respond to these effects by cutting down production levels, shedding labour, and minimising investment levels. Even with these measures in place, the corporate sector was unable to witness any reduction in the levels of accumulated stocks; with the inventory-to-sale ratio increasing and sales continuing to

fall, production was being cut across most sectors of the economy (Arestis and Karakitsos, 2004: 22). For this reason, this recession is also referred to as 'the inventory crisis'. Defaults became a worldwide phenomenon: only in 2001, 216 companies defaulted on US\$116 billion of debt, a trend that continued in 2002. What is more, even 25 large US companies filed for insolvency (Nesvetailova, 2007: 141), which proved that this crisis did not only affect dot-com firms and small-to-medium enterprises.

At the same time as these events were taking place in the US economy, developments in the oil market were affecting the international economies. Hugo Chávez was elected in 1998 as the president of Venezuela. In the years preceding Chávez election, OPEC had lost most of its former glory, as members frequently ignored the agreed quotas with the result of a dive in the price of oil and the economic boom of the 1990s. In 1999, within the first one hundred days in power, Chávez succeeded in taking control of the oil market and increasing the price level by \$5.19 per barrel. Later in the same year, he achieved further increases through supply restrictions (Bamberger, 2000; Rodríguez, 2002: 204).



Figure 49-7 Nominal Price of Crude Oil 1995–2004, US Dollars (Bloomberg, 2011)

Figure 49 depicts the 200-percent increase in the spot price from the end of 1998 to the end of 2000. In 2000, the spot price of oil reached \$30 dollars per barrel, forcing the release of a major portion of the US Strategic Petroleum Reserves in an effort to fend off the negative effects of this increase (New York Times, 2000). This decision helped to temporarily lower the price level of oil in the US economy; however, the events that followed cancelled out the positive effects of this release. The combination of high oil prices, increased interest-rate levels, and the gradual descent of the budget surplus into a

deficit put an end to the euphoria of the previous decade as the economy fell into a crisis.

The US economy, being the biggest importer of oil internationally, is very vulnerable in its macroeconomic performance to changes in oil price. In the year 2000, according to the EIA database, the US was importing 11,459 thousand barrels of oil per day, which, considering the \$20 increase in the price of crude oil from 1999 to 2000, accounted for approximately \$230 million more paid every day by the US for their crude-oil import needs. Higher oil prices lead to higher budget deficits. This effect, which is multiplied by the marketisation of crude oil in US dollars, implies that any increase in the price of oil will also lead to a devaluation of the currency, and thus an even greater negative effect for the US economy.

It follows that the price level of the oil market has been very important for the economic performance of the US during this period. However, the question remains on what was the role of the financialisation of the oil market in the first crisis of the new millennium, and how it affected its development. Prior and during the course of this oil shock, a number of developments took place which likely affected the course of the financialisation of the oil market and have to be studied in order to understand the extent, depth, and effects of this process.

The technological developments of the period also greatly affected the oil market and its financialisation, especially through the introduction of the Internet in its structure. In 1999, oil futures and options became available for trade to any individual. Entry to the market had never been easier: trading oil-based products now only required a subscription to a trading website. This was a very important development for the financialisation of the oil market as, up to that point, it was very hard and almost impossible for an individual to trade directly in oil-based financial products. That they are now accessible to individuals across the globe has widened, the market of these products on both a geographical and demographic level, thus further intensifying the financial aspect of the oil market.

The second major development that occurred in this period and that allowed for the intensification of the financialisation effects in the oil market was the Commodity Futures Modernization Act of 2000 (CFMA). The CFMA of 2000 was approved by the US Congress on the 15th of December 2000, and signed into law six days later by the former US President Clinton. This act effectively deregulated all the new oil-based financial products, such as the oil futures, options, and swaps. It achieved this by marking a number of OTC derivatives as off the CFTC jurisdiction and therefore allowing financial actors to take advantage of this loophole and trade these products through the OTC markets, out of the reach of CFMA regulations. More specifically, the CFMA Regulation Revisions Act states that the purposes of the revisions were:

- 1. to reauthorize the appropriation for the Commodity Futures Trading Commission;
- to streamline and eliminate unnecessary regulation for the commodity futures exchanges and other entities regulated under the Commodity Exchange Act;
- to transform the role of the Commodity Futures Trading Commission to oversight of the futures markets;
- 4. to provide a statutory and regulatory framework for allowing the trading of futures on securities;
- to clarify the jurisdiction of the Commodity Futures Trading Commission over certain retail foreign exchange transactions and bucket shops that may not be otherwise regulated;
- to promote innovation for futures and derivatives and to reduce systemic risk by enhancing legal certainty in the markets for certain futures and derivatives transactions;
- 7. to reduce systemic risk and provide greater stability to markets during times of market disorder by allowing the clearing of transactions in over-the-

counter derivatives through appropriately regulated clearing organizations; and

8. to enhance the competitive position of United States financial institutions and financial markets.

This development affected the financial aspect of the oil market in two distinct ways. First, it provided investors with room for financial innovation as well as a loophole to trade in this market free from regulations. In other words, in the attempt to provide more stability in the market, this act allowed for a larger volume of capital to enter the market and to be traded more actively. The second is a side effect of this development. As OTC trades are not recorded the same way as traditional trades, and therefore cannot be accurately quantified, the increased activity in the OTC markets after the introduction of this act cannot be assessed precisely. Therefore any calculation of the oil futures market after 2000 overlooks the parallel OTC market, which is effectively entirely discounted in their values.

The third development was the abolition of the 'prudent investor' rule, which was replaced by the Uniform Prudent Investor Act (UPIA) in 1994. The 'prudent investor' rule, or 'prudent man rule' was a legal doctrine that enjoined financial actors who invested with third-party funds to consider the needs of their beneficiaries and to act in a prudent and diligent way. In other words, it required them to avoid excessive risk in their investments by adopting very conservative investment strategies. What is more, it stated that the final result did not justify in any case the original intent of the investment (Einloth, 2009). This meant that financial institutions such as pension funds, hedge funds, and banks, could not engage in the oil futures market as this would amount to investing funds not belonging to them on a known high-risk market (Masters and White, 2008).

The UPIA regulation that replaced the 'prudent investor' rule did not offer a revision of the existing regulation but, instead, offered a new regulatory approach. Under the UPIA approach, investors could focus on the portfolio as a whole, and its interplay between risk and reward, without the obligation of any restrictions or separations between safe and risky investments. Under the UPIA, investing institutions establish the level of risk that they are willing to take and then map out an investment strategy for their portfolio, with the only proviso that they should be able to explain the rationality of the strategy and the prudence of each investment as it relates to the whole portfolio (Maloney, 1999). According to a study that employed federal banking data spanning from 1986 to 1997, the adoption of the new 'prudent investor' rule caused an increase of about 1.5 to 4.5 in the average percentage of risky investments held in the portfolios of financial institutions, at the expense of safe investments (Schanzenbach et al., 2009). The authors concluded that the adoption of the new 'prudent investor' rule had a significant effect on trust asset allocation.

The abolition of the 'prudent investor' rule also opened the doors to a wide variety of investment products that had been introduced, or come into the mainstream, since 1959. If in 1959 there were 155 mutual funds with nearly \$16 billion in assets, these figures had already grown to 10,725 and \$6.9 trillion respectively by the year 2000 (CDA/Wiesenberger). As a result of this development, financial institutions such as pension funds and hedge funds (Tang and Xiong, 2009), now controlling an increased amount of capital in the markets, were able to add oil-based financial products to their portfolios and thereby increase the inflow of capital in the market as well as the number and influence of its participants.

Those three developments shaped the financialisation of the oil market to a great extent, marking at the same time the turn of the millennium as one of the most important period in this process. Both the large financial institutions, such as banks, hedge funds, and pension funds, and small independent investors could now enter a largely unregulated market with unprecedented ease thanks to the abolition of most restrictive regulations and the introduction of Internet-based exchanges. The result of this opening was a large inflow of mass capital from the financial institutions as well as from individual investors, but also an increase in the volatility levels of the market, as this capital was, by nature, much more active. This is because this new capital was much more active in nature due to the fact that the new investors that had now come to participate in the

market were rarely, if ever, more interested in the delivery of the final product, than in its sole financial yield, and had thus taken to trading these products continually prior to their expiration in order to avoid the issue of delivery.

The performance of the oil-based financial market in this period, as illustrated in Figures 50 and 51, is characterised by a double spike in the volume of the non-commercial positions, partly mirrored in that of the short commercial positions, which starts in 1999 and ends at the beginning of 2000. The end of 2000 witnesses a new wave of inflation on the volume of all types of investments, which lasts up until the first months of 2001 when the rise becomes more linear and sustained. The performance of these products is in line with the performance of the oil spot prices, and fully reflects the economic, financial, and political developments of the period.



Figure 50-7 Non-Commercial Positions in WTI NYMEX Oil Futures 1995–2003, 1 contract = 1,000 barrels (Bloomberg, 2011)



Figure 51-7 Commercial Positions in WTI NYMEX Oil Futures 1995–2003, 1 contract = 1,000 barrels (Bloomberg, 2011)

The oil spot price, as discussed in previous chapters, starts its inflationary path at the beginning of 1999 and spikes at the beginning of 2000 and again at the end of 2000, when it starts deflating. The volume of the oil futures market experiences inflationary pressures from 1997 until the beginning of 2000 (Figure 50). From the end of 2000 up until the end of 2001, when they reach their lowest points, both the spot oil price and the volume of financial oil positions follow a gradual and volatile downward path.



Figure 52-7 Total Positions in WTI NYMEX Oil Futures 1995–2003, 1 contract = 1,000 barrels (Bloomberg, 2011)



Figure 53-7 Oil Futures Prices Relative to Maturity 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 Years 1995–2003 (Bloomberg, 2011)

Figure 53 solidifies this argument by tracing the performance of oil future products according to their maturity length. In 1999 the price of the five-year maturity products drops substantially and its gap with the one-year maturity products shrinks. This means that market expectations of the price of oil were negative. On the contrary, after 1999 this gap grows substantially, nearly doubling in size towards the end of 2000, which

implies that the market expected oil price to keep on rising. As the price of oil starts its deflationary course at the end of 2000, the price of the five-year maturity products declines compared to the one-year maturity products. What is more, after a slight loss of value, lasting for about twelve months, they start a gradual inflationary trend similar to that of the oil spot price and the volume of futures investments.

There are a number of factors that affected actor expectations in the period. Among them are the terrorist attacks of September 11th on the US in 2001 and the subsequent decision to invade Afghanistan; neither had any boosting effect on the confidence levels of this period. The military activities did not affect oil production much, as Afghanistan is not one of the major oil producers, nor did it affect oil distribution to any significant extent. However, the price of oil did start to soar after the end of 2001. The reason behind this increase was the expectation of higher oil prices. Just when the regulatory and technological advances were accelerating the process of financialisation in the oil market, the military operations in the Middle East were driving actor expectations in the direction of higher oil prices, which raised demand for oil futures and, along with, speculation opportunities.

However, it is important to point out that even though the performance of the futures products was synchronised with the performance of the oil spot price, its reactions to it are much milder. This is even more apparent when considering that the loss of value of the spot market after 2000 was more that 50 percent of its peak price, while the loss of value in the five-year maturity contracts, which were the most widely affected, was less than 17 percent of its peak price. The synchronization of the futures prices with the oil spot prices, as well as the speed and extent of reaction, is central to the study of financialisation. This is because, according to the theoretical framework of financialisation outlined in previous chapters, the two markets developed a performative cycle between them driven by actor behaviour. Therefore, with the increase of financialisation, and the consequent rise in the number of actors, markets, institutions, and products, this performative cycle should be observed as an increase in the speed and extent of the synchronization of the synchronization of the synchronization of the synchronization, and products, the synchronization of the financial product and physical commodity prices.

The performance of the oil-based financial products since 1998, and up to the peak of this shock in 2000, follows the performance of the oil spot price. This indicates that they were shaped by expectations influenced by the performance of the oil spot prices as well as by the major events of the period. As the three main developments that facilitated the financialisation of the oil market in this period – namely the end of the 'prudent investor' rule, the introduction of Internet-based trading, and the CFMA regulations – had not yet taken place, or were just being introduced, their influence over the performance of these markets only started during the dying embers of the 2000 oil shock. The decoupling of the oil-based financial products from the oil spot price in the post-2000 period, which is responsible for allowing the futures products to retain most of their value while oil spot prices plundered, can be attributed to these developments.

It is worth noting, at this point, that the levels of spare capacity announced by the OPEC in this period were actually increasing (Figure 54); this contradicted the argument that a supply shortage was causing this increase in the oil price level. This also confirms the notion that it was the expectations and behaviour of financial actors that were influencing the oil spot price, as the market fundamental forces of demand and supply had not yet been affected.



Figure 54-7 OPEC Capacity and Production of Oil (OPEC, 2007)

Figures 55-58 study the effects that the 2001 crisis had on the performance of the US macroeconomic indicators. The US gross domestic product decelerated and even reached negative growth values in 2001. The inflationary pressures in the economy

increased, although not to unprecedented levels – they reached 3.5 percent in 2001 compared to the less than 2 percent of 1998. Even though this was a more than a 50-percent increase, 3.5 percent is not generally considered a dramatic increase in inflation rates, especially during an economically turbulent period. The unemployment rate, on the other hand, increased both sharply and extensively in 2001, with insolvencies and cost cuts affecting the employment levels nationally.



Figure 55-7 US Federal Budget 1995–04, pink area: recession (Economagic, 2011)



Figure 56-7 US Gross Domestic Product 1995–04, pink area: recession (Economagic, 2011)



Figure 57-7 US Consumer Price Index 1995–04, pink area: recession (Economagic, 2011)



Figure 58-7 US Unemployment 1995–04, pink area: recession (Economagic, 2011)

The US economy fell into an official recession in the early 2001. The US stock market followed an almost identical path to that of the macroeconomic performance. Figure 59, below, depicts the SPX index collapsing from March 2000, where it had picked at

US\$1500, to less than US\$800 in March 2002. The same trend can also be observed in all the main macroeconomic indicators of the period (Figures 55–58), but with a time lag of about 3 months, which supports the idea that the downturn in the macroeconomic performance followed the crash of the financial performance and of the dot-com bubble. Nevertheless, the performance of some macroeconomic indicators from shortly before 2001, such as the increase of inflation, the deceleration of the GDP levels, and the increase of the deficit, leave the debate still open over the possibility that not all these effects were a result of the financial crash and that other factors also contributed to the crisis.



Figure 59-7 SPX Index US Dollars 1995–2004 (Bloomberg, 2011)

Figure 60 shows the weighted value of the US dollar against major international currencies to illustrate the effects of the crisis on its exchange rate. The chart shows a downward pressure in the value of the US dollar from 1999 up to the mid-2000, when it started rising again until the beginning of 2002, when it started losing considerable value. Even though the US dollar seemed resilient, until 2002, to the pressures of the large budget deficit, the economic recession, the financial crisis, and the increased oil prices, in 2003 it started losing value abruptly. This negative trend persisted through to 2005; this means that the effects of the crisis on the exchange rate were experienced with a lag of almost one year and were sustained for a long period.

The Transformation of the Oil Market. A Study of Financialisation through Crises Angelos Gkanoutas-Leventis



Figure 60-7 US Dollar Trade Weighted Value against Major Currencies 1995-03 (Thomson Reuters DataStream, 2011)

The effects of the burst of the dot-com bubble were not contained in the financial markets. Actually, the effects of this burst were very quickly passed onto the macroeconomy. The increased levels of GDP growth and the Consumer Price Index along with the very low unemployment levels up until the beginning of 2001 illustrate the positive effects of the bubble.

The interest rate policy of the US, and the general tax-cutting policies of the period, played a central role in the inflation and subsequent burst of this bubble. This is because, as soon as interest rates reached their highest level of 6.5 percent, the volume of financial activity first stabilized and then fell along with the federal budget six months later, dragging the rest of the economy into a recession. Robert Hall (2004) and Oliver Blanchard (2008), among others, argue that cases of this kind are often correlated with a loss of consumer confidence.

This conclusion raises the question of how the above developments influenced oil futures pricing. On the one hand, the macroeconomic downturn of the US, as a result of the dot-com crisis, the rising oil prices and the September 11th attack, led to a crash of the US stock markets and a loss of confidence. On the other hand, the military activities that took place in the Middle East acted as an indicator that any investments in the oil market would be profitable, especially since the asset markets were underperforming and the oil-based financial products had proven to be a good alternative to asset markets and inflation pressures (Tang and Xiong, 2001; EIA, 2012).
In light of the very recent development of the infrastructure of financialisation, investments in the oil market became both appealing and accessible. Thus, the indicators of the performance of oil-based financial products dropped marginally and, for a short period of time after the peak of 2000, rose up again as investors started to inject their investments into the oil market. Notably, oil-based financial products started their upward path from the end of 2001, at the same time as a surge in non-commercial positions, whereas the SPX index did not recover from this crisis before the end of 2002 – a path followed by most US macroeconomic indicators.

The effect of the dot-com bubble on the positive performance of the sector, as well as on the whole of the US economy prior and after the 2000 period, is depicted in Figures 61 and 62. Specifically, Figure 61 plots the US total GNP alongside the GNP produced by the finance, insurance, and real estate sectors and shows a deceleration of the total GNP in 2000. This kink, however, is not replicated in the GNP of the FIRE sector, which continued to grow as before. This finding contradicts the pattern observed in Figure 62, which shows an observable deceleration in the growth of the level of US employment in the financial after the end of 1999. This contradiction implies that in this period, despite decelerating employment in the financial activities and the crash of the dot-com bubble that depressed the stock markets until the end of 2002, the financial sector was still able to continue generating growth comparable to the pre-2000 period. How did this sector manage to achieve these levels of growth while suffering from the effects of a crisis?



Figure 61-7 US Total GNP and FIRE (Finance, Insurance and Real Estate) GNP 1995–2003 (Thomson Reuters DataStream, 2011)



Figure 62-7 US Employment in Financial Activities 1995–2003 (Thomson Reuters DataStream, 2011)

The financial sector's increasing returns at a time of financial turmoil can be explained by the fact that financial investors turned away from the asset markets towards the oil and housing markets. However, since the real estate bubble did not come into play until later on in this period, the initial outflow of capital from the asset markets turned mostly to commodities markets, and more specifically the oil market. Even though a restriction in the levels of oil supply did not actually take place, nor did a sustained pressure towards an increase of the oil spot price by OPEC, the oil spot price never returned to its 1998/9 levels while oil-based financial products kept growing both in value and popularity after a marginal drop in the end of 2001. This marked a new era in the financialisation of the oil market.

This new era, in the context of this thesis, is defined as the period of 'low financialisation'. This is because the oil-based financial markets had already grown significantly in size to influence the development and effects of this oil shock into the financial markets and the real economy. The existence of tight regulations and the complexity of the market were still barriers for large financial institutions and for the development of financialisation more generally; at the beginning of this period, however, the kind of financial innovations launched by the likes of Goldman Sachs allowed the products of this market to infiltrate a wide number of portfolios of both financial and individual investors, thereby setting the ground for the boom in this market after the turn of the millennium. This boom took place through a number of regulatory and technological developments, which opened the oil-based financial markets to a wider geographical and demographic array of investors.

This process accumulated momentum in spread and influence as regulatory and technological developments across the industry facilitated access of new financial capital. These developments were not driven by a single interest, or group of interests, in the market, but by actors' haphazard attempts to maximise their own profitability. In this sense, the introduction of Internet trading was the result of the exchanges moving towards increased efficiency; indexes were a result of Goldman Sachs' attempt to create and promote a new product; the abolition of the 'prudent investor' rule was one of many deregulatory moves not specifically targeted at the commodity markets. Hence, the periods of early and low financialisation denote a process that, once the first oil-based financial products are introduced, has been shaped by the drive of each single actor involved in it to increase their own profitability both across the market spectrum and within the structure of this market specifically.

8 Advanced Financialisation (2002–2008)

The 2008 international financial meltdown has been variously characterised as a 'unique crisis', an 'unexpected crisis', a 'crisis of capitalism', a 'credit crunch', a 'liquidity crisis', a 'subprime crisis', the 'great recession', a 'bubble', and even the 'new great depression' (Akerlof and Shiller, 2009; Bellamy and Magdoff, 2009; Hardoubelis, 2009; Shiller, 2005). The common understanding of the 2008 crisis is that in 2007 a bubble in the US housing market broke as a result of the proliferation of subprime mortgages, which were being used in the formation of synthetic financial products, and caused the collapse of the financial market (Akerlof and Shiller, 2009; Bellamy and Magdoff, 2009). The reduced capacity of banks to absorb this burst was mainly due to the kind of insufficient funds, risky activities, and enormous short-term lending that they had hitherto engaged with. This unexpected shock in the international financial system led to a crisis of confidence, mainly towards the credit organisations that used short-term lending as their main source of financing and, in so doing, left themselves open to a liquidity crisis (Akerlof and Shiller, 2009).

It did not take long for the effects of the financial crisis to trickle down to the macroeconomy. Initially the unwillingness of credit institutions to grant loans, on account of their degree of underperformance due to increased mortgage default rates, created liquidity problems across the markets. Secondly, the crisis caused the evaporation of a great share of the international household and corporate wealth, as many people lost large parts of their investment capital either through institutional defaults, the crash in the financial markets, or the loss of real-estate investment value. Following from this, the levels of international trade collapsed, as the lower levels of consumption in the most widely affected economies – also the world's biggest import economies, i.e. the EU and the US – led to increasing unemployment pressures (Akerlof and Shiller, 2009; Bellamy and Magdoff, 2009).

No reaction from the international stock markets was forthcoming until the early 2008, which seemed to vindicate the argument that a decoupling of the international financial markets from the US economy had indeed taken place. Nevertheless, the downward rally of the international stock markets from January 2008, which lasted for about fifteen months, proved otherwise. Notably, the fall of financial corporations, which was the central market of this crisis, was much wider than that of all the other sectors. In 2009, the international economies were faced with the biggest recession of the post-war period. It is remarkable that up to 2007 economists and analysts were proud for achieving sustainable high rhythms of world growth, combined with low inflation.

Figure 63 depicts demand for employees in the financial sector during the run up to 2007/8 rising by more than 15 percent in order to cover the growth of its activities. This rise, not surprisingly, ends at the beginning of 2008 when the levels of employment in this sector plummet to below that their pre-bubble levels. In an opposite trend, even though the crisis hit the financial sector, and even though the employment levels of this sector dropped significantly, its percentage in the total annual GNP composition remained stable and even increased during this crisis (Figure 64) because the sector was flexible enough to find ways to remain profitable.



Figure 63-8 US Employment in Financial Activities 2001–10 (Thomson Reuters DataStream, 2011)



Figure 64-8 US Total GNP and FIRE (Finance, Insurance, and Real Estate) GNP 2001–10 (Thomson Reuters DataStream, 2011)

Cheap money, excessive liquidity, and very low real interest rates shaped international imbalances through saving and investment activities and acted as the drivers of this crisis (Caballero et al., 2008; Portes, 2009). These imbalances were fuelled by the high deficit of the US and low real interest rates which inflated the bubbles that existed in the real estate market and the complex financial products. The housing market bubble in the US started in 2001, when the real estate prices began rising, and, despite puzzling a large number of analysts, was left free to expand uncontrollably (Hardouvelis, 2009). Conversely, other analysts claimed that the rise of the housing market was caused by a rise in the quality of the residences (McCarthy and Peach, 2004; 2007).

In addition to the expansionary monetary policy, the US was engaged in a very costly war in the Middle East and maintained a large number of troops in the region. The increased budget deficit observed above in relation to the period of 'low financialisation' was maintained through the high costs associated with this war, which however boosted the productivity of the US automotive and military industries and reduced the unemployment levels.

Against this background, in 2007 things started to change. A deceleration in the growth of the housing-market prices started in mid-2006, with prices falling in 2007. This drop led to delays in mortgage payments and many households leaving properties that were suddenly worth less than the mortgages they commanded. This intensified the effects of the crash as properties began flooding the market, pushing their prices even lower. The reduction of household wealth, along with the unfavourable financial environment, led

to even more defaults in the remaining mortgages, thus further decreasing the available funds on which many advanced financial products were based.

In February 2007, the new Federal Reserve Chairman Ben Bernanke stated that the growing number of defaults in the payments of mortgages would not seriously affect the US economy. However, it was not long before trouble reached major Wall Street firms, such as Citigroup, Merrill Lynch, Goldman Sachs, and JPMorgan Chase. To make things worse, in September Northern Rock, a UK bank, was irreparably hit by the crisis and asked for assistance from the Bank of England. Depositors, fearing the loss of their funds, withdrew one billion pounds in what was soon turning into a bank run before the UK government intervened with a guarantee of depositor savings.

In March, Bear Stearns, the fifth largest investment bank in the US, collapsed. A few weeks later, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac were effectively nationalized by the US Treasury. At this point, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) announced that the potential cost of this crisis could surpass one trillion dollars (IMF, 2008), claiming that a spill-over effect was taking place from the subprime mortgage markets to the other sectors of the economy and the financial markets. In September, Lehman Brothers, one of the largest and most successful financial services firms, filed for bankruptcy after the US government denied it a bail-out o avoid giving all the wrong signals to the markets. The stock markets plummeted, as confidence was lost, while investors and partners of Lehman Brothers lost their funds.

The collapse of Lehman Brothers, even though it was not the first firm to get hit by the crisis, was particularly significant because it demonstrated that even firms deemed 'too big to fail' were, in fact, failing. Large banking institutions were struggling to survive in such a negative financial environment, but were still in a better position than many unregulated institutions, such as hedge funds, who had engaged in high-risk investments without any form of restriction and were now suffering extensively as a result of it. Negative expectations, reduced liquidity, faltering demand levels, crashing markets, and the strict application of the no-bailout policy by the US government meant that there was no alternative for many such institutions than default.

The US consumer confidence index dropped to the record low level of 28 points. This was the lowest value that the consumer confidence index had reached since the Conference Board began tracking consumer sentiment in 1967. Their confidence lost, and in fear of increased risks, investors retracted their capital from developing and high-risk countries, thus spreading the effects of the crisis to countries with undeveloped financial markets. Against this background, on Monday 1st December 2008, the US economy officially entered an economic recession, after a contractionary path started in December 2007.

The financial crisis and its effects on the macroeconomic performance also affected the levels of international trade. According to Freund (2009), during the four post-war recessions, international trade dropped by 4.8 times more that the world GNP. Evidence for the first half of 2009 illustrates a much bigger drop, one that exceeds 14 percent of the world GNP. The causes for this drop according to research were the composition of the international trade and the globalisation effect (Baldwin, 2009). The recession, along with the feelings of uncertainty and insecurity, stirred a reduction in consumption and, in turn, production.

Against this background, after the attacks on September 11th, the US and a few of its allies, initiated a military attack against Iraq²⁵. Even though this was expected to be a short and cheap war (Stiglitz, 2008), this turn out not to be the case. Absent an official figure, there are many credible estimates of the total costs of a war. Joseph Stiglitz argued that by the end of the Bush administration the total cost of the military activities in Iraq and Afghanistan, taking under consideration the cost of the cumulative interest on lending that was employed to ensure their funding, surpassed the US\$3 trillion figure (Stiglitz, 2008). Figures of this sort are particularly striking considering that the White House expected the war to cost between US\$100 and US\$200 billion while Defence Secretary Donald H. Rumsfeld insisted on no more than US\$50–60 billion.

²⁵ The attack took place on March 19th, 2003.



Figure 65-8 US Troops in Iraq and Afghanistan 2001–2010 (Belasco, 2010)

The benefits of this increased spending were felt by the US economy through increased output, profitability, and demand for labour, as depicted by Figures 66 and 67. On the other hand, the US budget deficit did not enjoy the same positive performance during this period as a result of this development (Figure 68). Increased military spending, combined with low taxation levels, led to a devastating increase of the budget deficit levels.



Figure 66-8 US Gross Domestic Product 2003– 10. Pink area = Recession (Economagic, 2011)



Figure 67-8 US Unemployment Rate 2003–10. Pink area = Recession (Economagic, 2011)

agic.co

20 10



Adding to the increased deficit level, the increased oil price level of this period led to pressures on the US dollar and an increase in the US expenditure level. This increased oil price level also resulted in the increase of the transportation and production costs and as a result, inflationary pressures (Figure 69). The oil market experienced an unprecedented oil shock, which saw more than a 400-percent increase in price levels, which shot up from \$30 per barrel in 2003 to more than \$140 per barrel in 2008.

The direct effects of the conflict in the Middle East on the oil supply and on the oil shock that took place during this period have been a matter of debate. The war in Iraq did disturb the oil supply of one of the biggest oil suppliers to the world, and specifically to the US (EIA, 2012). However, the extent of this oil shock was much larger in magnitude compared to the suggested restriction in supply levels. Approaching the 2007 oil shock as an individual event, the supporters of the peak-oil argument, such as Colin Campbell (2003) and Matthew Simmons (2005), have attempted to define the latest rise in oil price level as a result of the world running out of oil.

This approach fails to fully explain these readjustments in the price level, since if an actual peak had indeed been reached, prices would have continued to rise. Additionally, the data on the international crude-oil demand and production also suggest that this shock was not a result of a shift in either (BP, 2008). Figures 70 and 71 illustrate the levels of crude-oil demand and supply, and even though they do highlight some rigidity in the growth of production during these years – at a time of accelerated demand from China and Canada – this cannot justify the extent of this shock.



Figure 70-8 Total Consumption of Petroleum Products (Thousand Barrels Per Day) (EIA, 2010)



Figure 71-8 World Oil Production 2003–2008 (EIA data in Hamilton, 2008)

Thin line. Monthly global crude oil production, including lease condensate, natural

gas plant liquids, other liquids, and refinery processing gain, in millions of barrels per day.

Bold line: 12-month moving average of values from thin line.

As a result, the argument of the increasing global oil demand states that, by the year 2005, the global spare capacity of oil had been reduced to the point where every aggregate unit of oil demanded determined a tightening of the market (Amenec, 2008). This led to the exaggerated oil pricing of 2007/8, which was corrected when world oil demand levels readjusted.



Figure 72-8 Oil market Spare Capacity and WTI Crude Oil Price (EIA, 2012)

Data show a substantial drop in the spare-capacity levels of oil-producing countries in 2007/8 as well as from 2003 to 2008 when the level spare capacity was said to stand at less than 2.5 million barrels a day. This period of low spare capacity has been very influential in determining the level of the oil price, although more indirectly than indirectly, that is by shaping the expectations of the financial investors in the market structure (Interview 1, 2011). The premises of this argument are claimed, however, to rest on rather shaky grounds, with the main fault being that it focuses on the growth of demand coming from emerging markets – which had been expected – thus excessively minimising the real impact that this period of low spare capacity had on the markets (Interview 4, 2012; Oil Week Conference, 2012; Platts Crude Oil Prices Conference, 2012). These critiques notwithstanding, the basic concepts of the argument still stand. This increasing global demand for oil is an undisputed reality and such pressures, as the space-capacity announcements, are to be expected in any goods market, let alone that of a primary energy commodity with both economic and political importance.

On the other hand, and following this line of thought, the market 'fundamentalists', including John Lipsky (2009) of the IMF as well as Philip Verleger (2008a) and David McCormick (2008) of the US Treasury, have argued that the economic fundamentals and the interaction of the demand and supply forces in the oil market were the most influential factor that led to the extraordinary rise of the oil prices in 2008. More specifically they contend that the international growth levels of 2007/8 applied pressures on the fixed capacity of the oil produced in this period. In this view, this caused the prices of oil to go up until 2008, when the international financial crisis affected global demand and resulted in an abrupt drop in oil price levels that, thanks to

supply cuts by producing countries, eventually recovered to a more stable \$60 per barrel. However, evidence shows that in the first half of 2008 international oil demand dropped just as oil supply was increasing, which suggests that the market forces were not operating as efficiently during this period as assumed by those studies.

The 'fundamentalist' approach also proposes that the oil prices affect the international economies in several other ways. In this view, for example, any change in the price level of oil will directly affect the average transportation costs, heating costs, as well as production costs of petroleum-based or energy intensive products. This, results therefore in economic pressures similar to those created by a tax, but with no counterbalancing government spending. What is more, upward changes in the oil price level affect the inflation rate and have the tendency to influence consumer confidence and therefore reduce spending and investment.

Nevertheless, this approach, similarly to the peak-oil arguments, fails to acknowledge and incorporate the financial events of the period, and the relationship between the financial markets and the oil market. Michael Masters (2008a), together with other financial market actors, contends that these developments were the result of a *bubble* in the oil market, and neither international growth levels, nor the interaction of the market forces could have been responsible for such an abrupt and extensive increase in the oil price level or for its subsequent collapse a few months later. According to this approach, such factors as increased speculation, portfolio diversification strategies, momentum trading, and herding behaviour were responsible for the built-up of a speculative financial bubble in the oil market which burst as the international financial system collapsed under the weight of the credit crunch (Masters, 2008a).

As a result, this approach to the events of 2007/8 focuses on speculation as the main influential factor, but it does not dismiss the influence of the fundamentals, especially on the level of oil price level. In 2002, it is calculated that the average trading volume of oil futures was four times greater than the volume of demand for the actual physical product; in 2008, and the beginning of 2009, it was fifteen times greater (Khan, 2009).



Figure 73-8 Average Daily Trading Volumes of Oil Futures to World Oil Demand (Morgan Stanley data in Khan, 2009)

Michael Masters (2008) contends that the oil price spike of 2007/8 was caused by the investment decisions of actors who had no interest in the physical product, but only in its nature as a financial asset. He goes on to claim that by March 2008 the oil futures index had risen by a quarter of a trillion dollars, and that the typical financial actor strategy was to take long positions in short-term futures contracts and keep selling them days before their expiration before moving on to the following one. Therefore, what Masters proposes is that the financialisation of the oil market allowed for the futures and spot market to be distorted by speculative financial activity. To be sure, the data in Figure 73 do not accurately reflect the volume of speculative activity or the exact increase in activity that resulted from the effect of financialisation – even though such a rapid increase can only be explained by reference to the role of speculative activity. This point is confirmed by the collapse of the oil market in 2008/9, when the volume of the oil futures traded plummeted in a clear indication of capital flight, which is a normal corollary of speculation.

A report published by the OECD (2010) on speculation in commodity futures market uses the volume of open interest in the futures markets to identify the increase in activity during the period between 2006 and 2009, which is argued to be a result of the commodity indexes. Tokic (2010) calls for a study that should include all the participants of the crude-oil futures markets to determine the existence and significance of speculation during the 2008 oil bubble. In his later analysis, Tokic (2011) identifies a reduction in the net short positions held by commercial hedgers leading to the peak of the oil bubble in 2008, and therefore concludes that positive feedback trading through short covering might have been a significant contributor to the increase of oil prices and the inflation of the bubble.

A 2008 UK Cabinet Office Report argues that, despite the lack of concrete evidence for the existence of speculation and for its role in the 2008 spike, some indicators of such activity do exist. The report claims that it is possible to trace the difference in the investment behaviour between the financial and the traditional investors and, therefore, to explain the behaviour of the market. This is because financial investors used oil as a hedging mechanism in their investment portfolios, which means that the similarity of their motives and information made them act in a similar way. They mostly hold long positions, not being influenced by short run changes and market volatility, while also maintaining a higher risk tolerance relative to traditional investors.

The Cabinet Office puts forwards one of the most conservative estimates of the size of the OTC market, that is, more than 30 percent of the total open contracts of the NYMEX market – enough to produce a distortion of the behaviour of capital in the market. In this vein, the report concludes that 'the volume of financial investments from commodity index traders and other investors with little or no specialist knowledge of oil markets may have allowed prices to rise beyond what would have otherwise been the case' (Cabinet Office, 2008). The flight of capital into the oil commodity market is therefore understood to have stirred a shot-term increase in spot prices, which in turn created positive futures expectations and higher prices. This behaviour came to an end when the financial crisis hit the financial institutions and all this capital was pulled off the oil market.

On the other hand, the OPEC puts forward one of the most exaggerated estimates of the size of the OTC markets in their annual World Oil Outlook reports, stating that 'speculator activity on the NYMEX surged to record highs in the first quarter of 2011. Open interest in the NYMEX WTI exceeded the unprecedented level of 1.5 million contracts which is 18 times higher then the amount of daily traded physical oil' (OPEC, 2011). In this statement, OPEC puts the size of the paper market into perspective, and emphasises the power of the financial investors in the oil market. In doing so, they

propose that the OPEC is no longer to blame for fluctuations in the price level of the oil market.

In this blame-shifting operation, the OPEC attempts to shake off their reputation as eternal controllers of the oil price level and point to the responsibility of the financial actors in doing so. On the other hand, the UK Cabinet Office (2008) can be viewed as seeking to stress the necessity of regulating such wild markets, while trying hard not to upset one of the core industries that generates growth in the UK economy. Similarly, as the OTC market cannot be measured in any way, each institution or individual provides its own assessment based on its interests. The constant element, here, is that, however conservative or extreme the estimate, the size of this market is substantial enough to be able to influence the performance of the physical commodity markets.

In studying the data of the NYMEX oil futures for this period, the rise of speculative activity becomes evident. Using data from Bloomberg (2011), Figure 74 shows that, as the total volume of oil futures increase exponentially from 2003 to 2007, the increase in the volume of the total short positions is far greater than that of the long positions. This does not necessarily demonstrate the proportion of this increase that can be attributed to speculative activity – however, Figures 75 and 76 do just that. Figure 75 describes the composition of the total commercial positions in NYMEX and observes a steady growth in the volume of both short and long positions, with a small acceleration after 2006. Commercial positions are investments made by hedge funds and market actors, so their incentives are mainly risk hedging and insurance.



Figure 74-8 Total Positions in WTI NYMEX Oil Futures 2001–2010, 1 contract = 1,000 barrels (Bloomberg, 2011)



Figure 75-8 Commercial Positions in WTI NYMEX Oil Futures 2001–2010, 1 contract = 1,000 barrels (Bloomberg, 2011)

On the other hand, Figure 76 illustrates the exact opposite. In contrast to commercial positions, non-commercial positions experience an exponential increase in their volumes from 2003 onwards, falling in line with the first low-spare-capacity investments. More specifically, what becomes evident is that the gradual increase in the volume of short and long positions during this period does not necessarily imply any radical increase in speculative activity. However, spread positions do experience a radical increase. The volume of spread positions, which is a speculatively-driven investment (CFTC), grows from negligible in 2003 to almost the size of short and long positions combined in 2007/8.



Figure 76-8 Non-Commercial Positions in WTI NYMEX Oil Futures 2001–2010, 1 contract = 1,000 barrels (Bloomberg, 2011)

The growth in volume of the total positions in the WTI NYMEX oil futures in this period is indicative of the rise of the oil market as an investment opportunity, with high yields and favourable risk-hedging characteristics. It also indicates the existence of the effect of financialisation in the market, as its volume more than triples within a five-year period. Additionally, the steady increase of commercial positions relative to the exponential increase of non-commercial ones, specifically short and spread positions, is further evidence of the inputs of speculation in this market.

In addition, the data on oil futures prices relative to their maturity, notably a breakdown among the 1-to-5-year futures contracts (Figure 77) supports this argument. The price difference between the different maturities goes up at the end of 2004, only to fall down in mid-2008, when the oil market crashed. Indeed, this supports the argument the oil market expected increased returns and that speculative opportunities were both widely available and highly demanded during this period.



Figure 77-8 Oil Futures Prices Relative to Maturity 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 Years 2001–10 (Thomson Reuters DataStream, 2011)

According to the data, the ratio of the commercial to non-commercial positions in the oil market during this period changes dramatically. In 2001, the ratio starts at about 6:1; in 2003, it rises at 4.5:1; in 2005, it suddenly leaps to 3:1; and, in 2008, it stops at a ratio of 2:1. According to these ratios, in 2001 there were as many as six commercial positions for every non-commercial one, while in 2008 there were only two commercial positions for every non-commercial one.

Year	Commercial	Non-Commercial
2001	6	1
2003	3	1
2008	2	1

Table 5-8 Ratio of Commercial to Non-commercial Positions 2001–2008 (Thomson Reuters DataStream, 2011)

By contrast, the IMF (2006; 2008a; 2008b) has argued against the notion of speculative bubbles in the oil market. It is claimed that there has been no observable correlation between the futures positions and the spot market; it is also claimed that the volumes of momentum trading, which would be an effect related to speculation and bubbles, would have resulted in an increase of the oil inventories or production cuts.

However, as discussed in the introductory chapters to this thesis, the data available on the oil inventories is poor, questionable, often withheld, and invariably short on the figures relative to oil at sea or oil intentionally left underground. This inevitably distorts any attempt to calculate – or argue from, as does the IMF – the total oil inventories held, or the effects of oil futures on the oil price level. Moreover, Hamilton (2009b) suggests that both a low price elasticity of demand and a restriction in the ability of supply to meet this demand is required for a speculative shock to take place in the oil market: hence, the significance of speculation in the 2007/8 crisis and the impossibility to accurately judging its extent.

More recently, Hamilton (2009b), along with Cifarelli and Paladino (2010), has suggested the possibility that positive-feedback speculation might have taken place in the oil market in this period. In these studies, 'positive speculation' refers to concept first put forward by Delong et al. (1990a), whereby speculators buy commodity futures in response to rising prices, even though underlying fundamental values are disconnected from those prices to the best of their knowledge. Hamilton (2009b) considers the main determinants of the crude oil prices and finds that, due to the low price elasticity of demand, the increasing demand from Asia, and the inability of production to adjust to it, these prices triggered the initial inflationary pressures on crude oil prices, and speculation followed. However, he stresses that the trigger point was derived from the underling commodity market.

An alternative factor that has been considered to have influenced the oil price level and is also directly linked to financial speculation is the US dollar exchange rate. During the period after 2005, the US dollar exchange rate weakened significantly relative to its international counterparts. As shown in Figure 78, the continuous loss of value of the US dollar relative to the other major currencies started taking place from the end of 2005 up until the mid-2008, when the recession unfolded.



Figure 78-8 US Dollar Trade Weighted Value Against Major Currencies 2001–2010 (Thomson Reuters DataStream, 2011)

A depreciation of the US dollar leads to an increase in the dollar value of oil; if it remains constant, the foreign currency cost of oil will be reduced, thereby boosting the international demand levels. Therefore, part of the increase in the price level of the oil market during this period can be attributed to the performance of the US dollar in the highly speculative exchange rate market. Nevertheless, in 2008, when the oil prices began to spike, the exchange rate of the US dollar was stabilised, highlighting the abnormality of the oil price spike of 2008 as well as the existence of speculative forces within the oil market.

According to Daniel Yergin (2008), recent years have seen investors flowing from traditional financial investments to commodities. He observes that investors are seeking for stable investments in an era of uncertainty and turbulence, and the commodities based financial investments provide them with just that. This can be considered to be based on the fact that commodities are easier to understand compared to the more complex financial products: their price drivers are usually widely public and, based as they are on actual primary commodities with inelastic markets, they are not yet considered fully financial products. The oil market provides such an alternative investment possibility and therefore, especially in view of its performance compared to gold, attracted a vast amount of investments (Khan, 2009). The commodities markets now provided a very accessible market with positive returns, which was also able to hedge part of the inflation risk associated with many investment portfolios.

Of great interest are also the developments that have directly shaped the market in this period. Based on the behaviour of the futures market before the invasion, the oil price level was expected to remain at \$20 to \$30 per barrel. This figure was the general expectation of the futures market, upon which trading took place. This expectation was formed under the assumption that nothing out of the ordinary would ever occur and that the analysts of the financial institutions, hedge funds, investment banks, and index funds, as well as those of the oil trading and oil producing companies, were fully aware of all the long-term market dynamics, such as the rising Asian demand. Their expectations of oil price levels were shaped accordingly (Interview 3, 2012).

Among the most notable external disruptions to these expectations are the war in Iraq, hurricane Katrina, and labour strikes in Venezuela (De Carvalho and Suni, 2003). However, the Iraq invasion is possibly the main shaping factor of this change in investor expectations as the other events were not close or large enough to have affect expectations or market price levels. What is more, if a demand shock were responsible for this increase, then the necessary adjustments would have taken place within a 12-month period in order for supply to meet demand and normalise the price level. This would also have been the case if the shock were in fact more closely connected to hurricane Katrina. Yet, this increase was almost continuous from 2003 to 2008, when it ended with an abrupt drop at the end of the crisis.

On this point, therefore, Hamilton (2003) attempted to trace the effects of the conflicts that affected the oil pricing and, hence, the US economy. In one of his studies, Hamilton (2008) deliberately overlooks conflicts that involved the US in order to observe the behaviour of its economy in the absence of political and military influences. He identifies five conflicts, which, he claims, can be conceived as totally external to the US economy. He then moves on to calculate the relation of causality between these conflicts and the oil price level and the US economy. His findings show that these episodes led to increases in the oil price level, which, in turn, preceded slowdowns in the US macroeconomic performance (mainly in terms of output growth).

By the same token, Lutz Kilian (2008a) studied oil production data from the Middle East and inquired into the effects of external shocks on oil quantities. In particular, he calculated the difference between oil production in the case of conflict and the possible volume of production in the case of no conflict, thus providing with a measure of supply shortfall. He concludes that there is a correlation between conflict in the Middle East and US macroeconomic performance. This correlation can be explained as the outcome of increased oil prices and as increased budget deficits due to increased spending on the part of the US. This correlation, however, can also be studied under the lens of financialisation, where the correlation between these two events is increasing as a result of the rise in the number and strength of the links that connect the two entities. In this framework, such links take the form of financial investors, products markets, and institutions.



Figure 79-8 Oil Price in US Dollars 2003–08 (Bloomberg, 2011)

Considering the links of this oil shock with the financial crisis that followed it and the general environment of this time, many shared factors can be identified as influencing the developments in the oil and financial markets. Figure 79 shows the gradual, but substantial, increase in the oil price level from 2003 until the mid-2006; the short slow down at the end of 2006; and the upward rally that followed it until the mid-2008. This is completely in line with the pattern of spare-capacity levels announced by the OPEC. Other patterns become more visible when considering the development of the housing bubble that took place in this same period.

The housing bubble had its roots in the reduction of the interest rates by the Federal Reserve in 2001, which resulted in the flooding of the markets with cheap money. The

bubble kept inflating up to the mid-2006 period when it started decelerating until its subsequent fall in 2007. In other words, the booming period of the housing market, if overlapping the increase in the oil price level, stopped prior to the boom period of 2007/8. The commercial and non–commercial position data illustrate that speculation in the oil market started increasing from the mid-2003 and then experienced a sharp increase in early 2007 and late 2008, when the announced levels of spare capacity dropped significantly, spreading in its wake both fears of a peak oil and expectations of an increase in the oil price level.

This raises the question of what drove this rally in speculation levels, and consequently the spot price level in the oil market, and how this relates to the general financial and economic environment of the period. The first part of the answer can be found in the military activities of the US in the Middle East. These activities had weakened the budget of the US and had placed pressures on the US dollar value. In consequence, rampant oil prices had an increasingly negative effect on the macroeconomic performance of the US, which now was bound to deepen its deficit by purchasing more volumes of expensive oil in a weaker currency.

It is commonly accepted that the international trend of increasing oil demand, disturbances in the oil supply, and natural disasters accounted for some degree of the increase in the oil price level. Speculation remains, however, over the actual driving factor of this oil shock and, more specifically, what drove, in 2007, this wave of speculators to enter the oil market and cause the shock. As discussed in the theoretical chapters, three factors set the ground of a financial crisis; human behaviour, fundamental economic performance, and regulations. In the case of the 2007/8 crisis, the levels of regulation in the oil market had been minimal and the CFTC had plans afoot to almost eliminate it by deregulating the approved commodity-based index funds (Clapp, 2010) and thus allowing increased capital to be invested in oil market products.



Figure 80-8 US Consumer Confidence Index SADJ 2001-10 (Thomson Reuters DataStream, 2011)

As regards its fundamental economic performance, the US was not in a strictly dire position as, deficit and the exchange-rate issues notwithstanding, it was otherwise relatively stable. At the beginning of 2007, however, everything changed. The unemployment level rised abruptly, GDP levels dropped, and inflationary pressures started to spread through the economy. Studying the behavioural side of the period, Figure 80 illustrates the consumer confidence index of the US during this period. According to this index, US consumers did not start losing their confidence in the economic and financial performance of their country before the end of 2007. There was therefore a lag between the turn in the economy and the reaction of the public.



Figure 81-8 SPX Index Performance in US Dollars 2001–2008 (Bloomberg, 2011)

The same lag can also be observed in the performance of the US stock market, where according to the SPX index plotted in Figure 81, the index sets on a growing path starting from 2003 and ending at the end of 2007. This growing path is very much in line with the boom in the speculative activity in the oil market, but it seems disconnected from the pattern of the more financial real-estate market, which starts

contracting more than a year earlier. The growing pattern is explained by the consumer confidence index, however, as they start contracting simultaneously at the end of 2007. This challenges mainstream accounts of the real-estate bubble, or subprime crisis, as the direct and only explanation of the 2007/8 crisis. Although the connection is undisputed, the lag between the beginnings of the contraction of the real-estate market and that of the stock market is evidence that the oil market also had a role in the development of this crisis.

Attempting to find a causal relationship between these events, while also explaining the sudden change of the economic situation in 2007, raises a number of issues. First, the expectations of the speculative institutions involved in the oil market were that the price level of oil would keep rising and that, in so doing, such expectations attracted massive flows of capital into the market, thus creating a self fulfilling prophecy. The conflicts in the Middle East, supply disturbances, and increasing oil demand almost guaranteed that the positive performance of oil as a financial investment would be maintained; the second drop in the levels of spare capacity announced in 2007 further ensured that any disturbance would lead to even further increases. The attitude of the US government in its war against terror, its unwillingness to withdraw troops from the Middle East, and its consequent surge of troops in Iraq to maintain order and stability, which started in mid-2006 and peaked at the beginning of 2007, also signalled that the US military involvement in the region would not end soon.

The developments described above, along with the steady and guaranteed increased returns that investments in the oil market seemed to present, attracted the inflow of vast amounts of capital. This change in investor preferences seems to have been in line with the peak of the housing-market bubble, which began its deceleration as investors turned to the more short term and inflated profits of the oil market. Whether these investors chose the oil market as a rationally pondered investment alternative to the housing market or if they were fleeing from a crashing housing market is not known. However, a linear causality between these events is apparent.

The significance of this claim is intensified by the fact that, while the housing bubble burst and the real-estate prices kept falling in the following years, the oil market maintained its upward rally for more than a year before dropping back to its 2003 levels. It is important to point out that since 2007, when the price level of oil began rising, the effects of this hike had a direct effect on the macroeconomic performance of the US. With the US exchange rate worsening and the price of its imports – including oil – fast increasing, the external aspect of the US economy was facing increased pressures. These pressures were promptly passed on to the levels of output and inflation, and from there to energy costs and unemployment. This put extraordinary contractionary pressures on the economy from end of 2007 and led to the announcement of US official entering recession at the end of 2008.

From the beginning of 2007, the per-capita income of the US experienced a small deceleration relative to income levels (Figure 82). Even though both figures keep rising until 2008, when the recession becomes official, their pattern is in line with the argument presented above. Although the levels of income were not affected prior to the recession, the deceleration of consumption levels that preceded it betrays the level of uncertainty and confidence loss that spread through the public and that heralded the financial deceleration.

45000 40000 35000 30000 25000 20000 15000 10000 5000	US PER CAPITAL PERSONAL INCOME US PER CAPITA PERSONAL CONSUMPTION
0	15/2/2001 15/8/2001 15/8/2002 15/8/2003 15/8/2003 15/8/2004 15/8/2004 15/8/2006 15/8/2007 15/8/2006 15/8/2006 15/2006 15/2/2006 15/2/2006 15/2/2006 15/2/2006 15/2/2006 15/2/2006 15/2/2006 15/2/2006 15/2/2006 15/2/2006 15/2/2006 15/2/2006 15/2/2006 15/2/2006 15/2/2006 15/200

Figure 82-8 US Personal Income and Consumption 2001–10 (Thomson Reuters DataStream, 2011)

The argument presented in this chapter shows not only that the process of financialisation has, indeed, taken place within the structure of the oil market, but that during the 2002–2008 period it has, in fact, peaked out by allowing for speculation to enter and affect the performance of the market. In this sense, it is possible to

characterise this period as one of 'advanced financialisation'. Advanced financialisation, here, denotes the accelerating clip at which financial capital entered the market between 2002 and 2008, leading to unprecedented levels of financial activity in the oil-based financial markets. The existence of this process in the oil market is confirmed by the increased role that expectations, connected to the military turbulence in the Middle East and spare-capacity announcements, seem to have had in the determination of its price level.

This period also denotes the increasing role of the oil shock in the general macroeconomic and financial environment of the period, determined by the linear causal link existing between the inflow of speculative capital in the oil market, high oil prices, and US macroeconomic indicators. What is more, this analysis draws attention to the role of the oil market in providing an alternative investment opportunity in the year immediately following the beginning of the housing market crash and, therefore, in decelerating the effects of this crash in the financial and economic performance of the US. Finally, its subsequent crash is then considered partly responsible for the unprecedented deficit and currency weakness that pushed the US into an even deeper crisis.

In order to address the research questions of this thesis, this chapter proceeded by distinguishing three periods of financialisation in the oil markets: low (1980–1990), early (1991–2001), and advanced (2002–2008). Focusing on three distinct episodes oil shocks, this thesis studied the nature and impact of the process of financialisation in the oil market. The addition of a new, purely financial group of actors to the dynamics of the structure of the oil market has been argued to have led to the creation of a performative cycle between its physical and financial realms. This study focused on the US economy because its nature as an international financial centre, its high oil import dependency, and its currency, which serves as the official currency of the oil market, make it the most heavily oil-influenced economy in the world as well as the economy where the effects of the financialisation of oil are strongest.

The three periods of financialisation of the oil market have been analysed within the theoretical framework formulated at the outset of this thesis, which consist of the twopillar approach to the study of the financialisation of commodity markets and the performative cycle between the physical and the financial dimension of said markets. The analysis of the motives, actors, markets, products, and institutions that have developed and driven the financial, macroeconomic, and oil-market performance over these three periods considered both the events that shaped the fundamentals, the behavior, and the expectations of the actors involved in the market and the background effects of the evolution of technologies and regulations. This argument put forward that, over the last thirty years, the oil market has progressively transformed to become an increasingly important factor in the political economy of the contemporary financial and macroeconomic crisis.

PART 3

FINANCIALISATION THROUGH CRISES

9 Crises and the Oil Market

As explained in the theoretical background of this thesis, financialisation can only be meaningfully approached as a set of transformations, rather than as a single process of evolution (Casey, 2011). This collective process of transformation is understood to be embedded in the global economic and financial systems, where it has effectively captured the underlying dynamic that has shaped the evolution, over the past four decades, of both the systemic and the institutional levels of the oil market. Analysis of the financialisation process of the oil market, thus conceptualised, has required the formulation and adoption of a two-pillar approach in order to take advantage of the analytical tools of both the systemic and the institutional understandings of financialisation. This approach defines financialisation as a phenomenon that causes the progressive disconnection, and eventual decoupling, of a financial-market facade out of the underlying real economy of a commodity market in a transformative process that, within the limits and scope of contemporary technologies and regulations, lock these twin market dimensions in a self-propelled performative cycle.

Specifically, the two-pillar approach introduced in this thesis focuses, on the one hand, on the behaviour and expectations of market actors, be they involved in the financial or

in the physical dimension of the market, and, on the other hand, on the real economic and financial performance. Both these pillars are studied against the background of technologies and regulations, which delineate the extent and resonance of their effects. The key effects, events, and actors connected to the evolution of the oil market throughout its early, low, and advanced phases of financialisation are collected in the comparative breakdown presented in Table 6 below. This Part of the thesis will align the data of these historical developments against the models of the two-pillar approach so as to show the spread of the financialisation process in the oil market over the course of the past three decades.

While differing in a number of fundamental respects, these three turbulent periods share a set – however basic – of fundamental features and causal parameters. The different historical variables that are imposed on them depend, in the argument of this thesis, on the degree to which the underlying evolutionary dynamic of the financialisation process has penetrated within the structure of the market.

Indeed, this evolutionary dynamic follows a distinct pattern throughout the three periods under study, which consists of US macroeconomic instability, US-related political and military turbulence in oil-producing nations, increasing oil price levels, and the resulting deterioration of the US macroeconomic performance along with the deceleration of an overinflated US financial market. This pattern was observed in all three periods under study. The dynamics and drivers of this pattern are based on the performance of the fundamental economic indicators and on the formation of market expectations; while constant throughout the three periods under study, this pattern exhibited a gradual acceleration in spread and depth from 1991 to 2008.

The process of financialisation of the oil market has been punctuated by a number of key events that have driven its development – and thus the gradual transformation of the oil market – forward. The event that most dramatically accelerated this transformation was the erosion of the traditional three-actor structure of the oil market and the introduction of a fourth group of actors. Financial in nature, these new market participants only operate within the boundaries of the financial market. Much as they

are detached from the physical commodity production, however, these financial actors have the ability to influence the oil price level without directly altering the supply-anddemand forces of the physical oil market. These actors generally include a number of large International Oil Companies (IOCs), a few National Oil Companies (NOCs), big Utility Companies, commodity trading companies, as well as small oil-producing and storage firms seeking to hedge their risks. On top of these are hedge funds, investment banks, asset management institutions, and specialist trading houses.

The volume of activity in the oil-based financial market has increased exponentially throughout the thirty-year period under study, but experienced a particularly marked acceleration in the post-2000 period. This sudden expansion of financial activity in the oil market was driven by a number of events and developments, such as the indexes introduced in the 1990s, the end of the 'prudent investor' rule, the release of the CFMA regulations, and the advent of Internet-based trading in the 2000s.

The indexification of the oil market was a process started by Goldman Sachs in the early 1990s. This system introduced a simplified investment option for commodity markets, which including that of oil, that made it possible to invest in them without the issue of physical storage or imperfect market knowledge. A number of alternative index options became available shortly after, and as oil was deemed a very efficient hedge market against the risk of inflation, these indexes enjoyed increasing demand.

Two other key events accelerated the growth of traded contracts in the oil-based financial markets. One was the development of new technologies, and more specifically, the development of Internet-based trading. Since oil futures and options became available for trade over Internet platforms in 1999, an increasing large and international number of actors was given remote access to the market. The other was the introduction of the Commodity Futures Modernization Act in 2000 (CFMA), which partially deregulated the market by allowing for an increase in the volumes of OTC trading. This act effectively dissolved the 'prudent investor rule' and created a loophole for some of the largest financial institutions, such as pension and hedge funds, to get involved in the market.

The involvement of these actors in the oil market increased by 170 percent between 2002 and 2008, in an estimate that, if only accounting for trading within clearing houses, already outstripped the value of the actual physical production of the underlying commodity. The exact value of the total trades in oil-based financial products is unknown and any estimation is highly speculative as the volume of the OTC market for this period cannot be measured. These estimates also vary; some give that the value of commodity-related OTC contracts increased by more than 14 times, others that almost 90 percent of the oil commodity swaps and options trades took place in the OTC market. These figures, however, come into perspective when considering that institutions such as hedge funds, pension funds, and speculators have, reportedly, an estimated asset value under management of over \$60 billion outside of the OTC trades (Fusaro and Vasey, 2006).

These figures highlight the importance of understanding the financial motives behind the new volumes of capital that enter the market. According to the CFTC data employed in the thesis, there are two categories of investors in the oil-based financial market, commercial and non-commercial, and three types of investments that they can perform, long, short and spread. The long and short investment positions are mainly viewed as long-term or hedging investments, regardless of whether they are performed by commercial or non-commercial investors. On the other hand, spread positions are considered speculative investments; sure enough, the growth in the volume of these investments increases throughout the three periods under study and, in keeping with the pattern of the financialisation process, accelerates at the turn of the millennium. The addition of these investors has introduced characteristics, especially in terms of actor behaviour, typical of purely financial markets, such as herding, loss aversion, and price manipulation. All these factors intensified the decoupling of the financial aspect of the price level of oil from its underlying commodity value.

Thus, a new market has emerged where oil can be traded as a financial asset, detached from its underlying commodity. Trade in these financial assets does not require the physical delivery of the commodity and, as such, has attracted a vast amount of capital from financial actors and institutions with little interest in the underlying commodity. A number of studies discussed in this thesis have focused on the correlation between the oil market and the US financial and macroeconomic performance. They find a strong correlation in the post-2000 era and also identify the spill-over effects of volatility from the financial markets to the commodities markets. These can be understood as the direct effects of the process of financialisation as they are driven by the growing number of investors who hold mixed portfolios and whose investment activity is prone to shifts in expectations and behavioural traps such as herding effects and loss aversion. Additionally, increased co-movement is observed between different commodities as a result of the indexification process.

The process of financialisation in the oil market has triggered an inflow of financial actors as well as an increase in the volume of capital active in its structure at any given point in time. While in the period of early financialisation the number of financial actors active in the oil-based financial markets was limited, the developments of the late 1990s and early 2000s opened the door to institutions that, albeit with no prior involvement or understanding of the market, were now able to enter it and take advantage of its hedging attributes and profit potential. The increasing numbers of financial actors in the oil market shifted the dynamics of the market and re-enforced its correlation with its financial dimension. The availability of oil for purchase as a purely financial product, without any exposure or commitment to the underlying product, made speculation possible, attractive, and extensive. Financial and speculative trading in the oil market pushed the futures prices to levels that could not be justified by rational expectations of the future trajectory of supply and demand. This is how the oil price levels eventually decoupled from its fundamental values.

The influence of the new financial actors over the price-setting mechanism, which triggered the decoupling of the oil market, is exercised through a performative cycle that ties together the performance of the physical and the financial dimensions of the oil market. 'Performative cycle', here, refers to the reverse feedback loop that connects these two markets through the performance of economic fundamentals and market expectations. In other words, the performance of the oil-based financial products acts as a guide for the physical commodity market, and, at the same time, the expectations on

the prospects of the underlying commodity market influence the pricing of oil-based financial products, thus creating a circular pattern of influence between the two markets.

The research conducted for this thesis finds that, as a result of this performative cycle, the financial decoupling of the oil market has intensified further, especially since the turn of the millennium when deregulation, technological advancement, and financial marketisation accelerated. This process has led to the transformation of this market into an asset class. As a consequence of this transformation, the influence of the financial actors in the dynamics of the oil market has increased. The higher volumes of capital injected by these investors have provided the oil market not only with increased liquidity and growth, but also with a stronger connection between its physical and financial dimension as well as with the US financial markets. The increasing influence of the financial actors is also due to the role of speculative investors and price manipulators, who, as a very active part of the class of financial actors, and especially involved in the short and spread products markets, typically follow, or drive, noisetrading strategies by inflating, and then speculating on, the fluctuations of the market. The increased correlation with the US financial markets and the introduction of speculative and price manipulative motives in the market have magnified the volatility of the price levels of oil.

The increased influence of the new financial actors in the price-setting mechanism of the oil market and in its effects on the international financial and macroeconomic performance raises questions over the motives and expectations of these actors. The two-pillar analytical framework proves particularly valuable to this discussion. The merit of this two-pillar structure is that it purports to provide an explanatory framework for all the main transformational developments that have contributed to the evolution of the financialisation of the oil market.

Among these transformational developments is the introduction of the new regulatory and technological instruments that, since the 1980s, have changed part of the underlying structure of the oil market and facilitated the progression of its process of financialisation. This transformation of the oil market has involved both increased price volatility (Clapp, 2010) and inflationary pressures on the spot oil price, which peaked with the emergence, in the post-2000 period, of a separate oil-based financial market (Labban, 2010), decoupled but interlinked with the physical one (Behr, 2009).

The pillars of economic fundamentals and actor behaviour and expectations are very highly interconnected in the performance of the oil market. This is primarily due to the mediating role of the fourth group of actors. These financial actors widely differ from the traditional investors of the oil commodity market in both the types and the motives of their investments. Financial investors have either risk-hedging or speculative investment interests; in both cases, their motives are based on expectations. In the first case, hedging investments are based on the negative relationship of the oil market to the performance of the main macroeconomic indicators. As a result, hedging investments in the oil market are mainly based on the expectations about the future performance of the fundamental indicators. In the second case, speculative investments are mainly based on oil-market fundamentals, such as the level of spare capacity or the expectations of future investment patterns. In contrast to the more market-oriented investments of traditional oil market actors, therefore, the behaviour of these financial actors is shaped by irregular investment patters, such as herding behaviour, wave riding, and expectations of price increases following the announcement of reduced supply levels or sparecapacity levels.

In conclusion, this two-pillar approach identifies two different dynamics at work in the financial dimension of the oil market. The first is that of regulations and structural or operational developments. Such developments take the form of the technological or regulatory background that determines the speed and depth to which the financialisation process penetrates within the oil market structure. The second dynamic involves the pillars of economic fundamentals, on the one hand, and behaviour and expectations, on the other. These two pillars have been shown to be intertwined and interacting performance of economic fundamentals shape expectations, and behaviour, on the political, economic, financial, and ultimately oil-market level; on the other hand, behaviour and expectations, through their links with the international financial and macroeconomic markets, influence the determination of the price level of oil and,
hence, the rest of the economic fundamentals. This establishes a performative cycle between the two pillars of this framework. The following chapter will test this twopillar approach against the historical data for the financialisation of the oil market, as presented in Table 6.

		Early	Low	Advanced
		Financialisation	Financialisation	Financialisation
		Drop from 10% to	From 3.5% to 1.5%	From 2.5% to 6% to
	Inflation	0% to around 3%	back to 3.5%	around 2%
		Rise from 5.5% to	Rise from 4% to 6.25%	Rise from 3 to about
		7.75% (sustained in	(sustained in the years	10% (sustained in the
		the years after the	after the official	years after the official
	Unemployment	official recession)	recession)	recession)
		_	Drop from almost 8%	Drop from more than
	Growth	Drop from 4% to -3%	to -1%	5% to around 2.5%
	Exchange Rate	Drop of about 10%	Drop of about 5-6%	Drop of about 35%
			Turn into deficit after	Largest deficit in US
	Federal Budget	Deficit	surplus of 1990s	modern history
	Official Recession	Yes (1990 to1991)	Yes (2001)	Yes (2008 to 2010)
US			Attempt of a soft	
Macroeconomy			landing by the Federal	
·		Attempt of a soft	Reserve as fears of	
		landing by the	Corrosive Inflation	
		Federal Reserve, rise	were creeping in, rise of	Very low interest rates
		of interest rates	interest rates before the	as a result of the
		before the recession,	recession, attempt to	preceding crisis, rates
		attempt to stop	stop the recession by	fell even lower due to
		recession by cutting	cutting the rates down	expansionary response
	Monetary Policy	down in the rates	to 1%	to 2008 recession
				Expansionary, fiscal
			Expansionary, wide tax	injection plans in for
		Expansionary,	cuts, increased	recovery, increased
		increased expenditure	expenditure due to	expenditure due to
		due to military	military activity in the	military activity in the
		activity in the Middle	Middle East	Middle East
	Fiscal Policy	East (Iraq 1)	(Afghanistan)	(Afghanistan + Iraq 2)
		SPX Index	SPX Index performance	SPX Index performance
		performance drop by	drop by about 700	drop by about 750
		about 60 points (oil -	points (dot-com bubble	points (housing market
US Asset	SPX Index	Iraq)	– oil)	– oil)

Monkota		Before the official		Before the official
Iviai Kets				
				economic recession – in
		in line with the	economic recession – in	line with the Iraq surge
	Timing	Kuwait crisis	line with the oil spike	and the oil price hike
The Oil Market	Change in Oil	Yes – spike in the oil	Yes – sustained	Very high increase
	Price	price	increase in the oil price	reaching \$150/barrel
		At the same time,		
	Timing	peak during recession	Before the recession	Before the recession
			Re-empowerment of	
			OPEC initially	
		Turbulence in the	(Venezuela), then	
		Middle East, isolation	turbulence in the	
		of Iraq and Kuwait	Middle East and	Speculation, restrictions
	Driving factors	from the world	speculation	of output due to wars
Financialisation in the Oil Market	WTI NYMEX Oil	More than 460.000	More than 650,000	
	Futures Positions	(1992)	(2001)	2.350.000 (2008)
	(Total)	()	()	,()
	WTI NYMEX Oil		More than 100 000	More than 850 000
	Futures Positions	About 40,000 (1992)	(2001)	(2008)
	(Non-commercial)	About 40,000 (1772)	(2001)	(2008)
				Yes – 2 nd Gulf War Iraq
	Conflict Involving	$Yes-1^{st} \ Gulf \ War$	Yes – War in	(2006) and also still
Military Activities	the US	(1990)	Afghanistan (2001)	Afghanistan
				Yes – 2 nd Gulf War Iraq
	Conflict involving	Yes – 1 st Gulf War,	Yes – War in	(2006) and also still
	the Middle East	Iraq, Kuwait (1990)	Afghanistan (2001)	Afghanistan
		Before the financial	After the financial crisis	Before the financial
		crisis and official	and during the	crisis and official
	Timing	economic recession	economic recession	economic recession
Political Status		Saddam's policies in		
		the Middle East to	OPEC re-empowerment	
		seize control of	on Venezuela's interest	Continuation of the war
		Kuwait and Saudi	(Chávez), US war on	on terror, also US
		Arabian oil was	terror – response for	interests in the Middle

Table 6-9 Oil shocks and the International Political, Economic and Financial Status Quo

10 The Financialisation of the Oil Market

10.1 Economic Fundamentals (1989–2010)

The first part of Table 6 focuses on the US macroeconomic performance during the three phases of the financialisation of the oil market identified in this thesis. Insofar as the oil-market price level has direct effects on the international macroeconomic performance (Mork, 1989; Hooker, 1996; Rotemberg and Woodford, 1996; Hooker, 2002; Blanchard and Galí, 2008; Edelstein and Kilian, 2009; Herrera and Pesavento, 2009; Baumeister and Peersman, 2009a), it may be possible to identify a pattern in the kind of effects that the oil shocks had on the US macroeconomic status prior to the peak of the oil shocks played a very influential role in the magnitude of the effects that the oils shocks had on the macroeconomic itself (Hamilton, 1996). While a stable and robust US macroeconomic status may have proved resilient to the effects of an oil shock, an instable one seems to have been comparatively more vulnerable.

On this point, Table 6 shows that, in all three phases of financialisation, an oil shock was always preceded by a period of US macroeconomic instability or fragility. In all three cases, the poor macroeconomic performance of the US was attributable to policies introduced by the Federal Reserve prior to the oil shocks in response to the potential danger for a recession. More specifically, in the first two periods, the recessions were preceded by long periods of economic expansions that lasted until the introduction by the Federal Reserve of high interest rate policies designed to manage a controlled slowdown of the economy and fend off corrosive inflation pressures (Arestis and Karakitsos, 2004; Greenspan, 2008: 207). These were the same policies that were first retracted once the economy had taken a bad turn and interest rates had to be cut down

again. In the case of the 2008 period, the shock was also preceded by a boom in the US macroeconomic activity, which however was financed by the Federal Reserve highly expansionary monetary policy. By keeping interest rates to 1 percent for the best part of the decade after the 2001 crisis, the Federal Reserve had provided the US economy with a liquidity boost that destabilised the macroeconomic performance in the process.

In all three cases the US macroeconomic performance was fragile. On the whole, this was mainly due to the policies of the Federal Reserve, which, in its efforts to normalise the economy, had left it weak and vulnerable to the negative effects of the subsequent oils shocks, as discussed in Chapter 6. This macroeconomic fragility was exposed and exacerbated by the effects of the oil shocks. During all three oil shocks, inflation levels, which, in turn, affect interest rate policies and the overall macroeconomy, dropped sharply, only to normalise at around 2–3.5 percent later. Unemployment levels offer a perhaps more telling reflection of the effects of these shocks, being as it is directly related to productivity levels. During the first two shocks, the unemployment rate rose by 2.25 percentage points, while in 2008 by 7. The increases in the unemployment rate also illustrate the depth of these effects as they were all sustained for years after the shock.

Unemployment rates followed a similar pattern to other macroeconomic indicators. GDP levels, in particular, dropped significantly during these three periods. In the 1991 period, the GDP dropped from 4 percent to -3 percent, which is particularly indicative of the strong physical-market dimension of this oil shock. Similarly, during the 2001 shock, GDP levels dropped from 8 percent to -1 percent. However, the 2008 shock caused only a 2.5 percent reduction in GDP levels, even though the extent of the oil shock was much larger than the previous two. This is evidence of the comparatively larger financial-market aspect of the third oil shock.

According to the data presented in chapter 6, the US dollar against the weighted average of the main international currencies, as calculated by the OECD, lost 10 percent of its value during the 1991 period, 5–6 percent during the 2001 period, and a very wide 35 percent during the 2008 period. The US dollar exhibited a very strong link with the oil

price level. The nature of the US dollar as the official currency of the international oil trade has been beneficial to the US economy in periods of economic expansion, but less so in during recessions. On the one hand, the rise of oil price levels has always been followed by a reduction in the value of the US dollar; but, on the other hand, the lower value of US dollar value contributed to the accumulation of wide budget deficits due to the inelastic nature of the oil demand as well as its heavy oil import dependence.

As regards the external macroeconomic performance of the US, the federal budget, in all three periods, was negative. In the case of 1991, the US budget was already in deficit; the deficit then worsened in 1991 and reached its peak in 1992 with more than double its value as in 1990. In the case of 2001 the situation was completely different. In 2000, the US was experiencing a very healthy budget surplus, which however turned very quickly into a deficit in 2001 and reached its lowest point in 2003 with a more that 300 percent decrease. In the case of 2008, the US economy was already running a deficit after the events of 2001. However, the 2008 oil shock put such heavy pressures on the US economy that the deficit skyrocketed by more than 500 percent to become the biggest budget deficit in the modern history of the US.

These budget deficits, however, were not caused exclusively by the effects of the oil shocks on the US dollar value and the cost of the US oil imports. They were also a result of the expansionary fiscal policies that were in place at these times and of the military activities in which the US was involved. On the domestic level, the kind of fiscal policy followed during these analytical periods was mostly expansionary. The most negative effects that fiscal policies imposed on the US budget deficit during these periods occurred in 2001 and 2008. In 2001, the wide tax cuts introduced by the newly elected president, in keeping with his electoral campaign promises, were mostly financed through a budget that was still running in surplus (Greenspan, 2008: 223). In 2008, the negative effects of fiscal policy occurred only after the recession in the form of large-scale injections of fiscal stimulus (Paulson, 2010).

By contrast, the military activities in which the US was involved had major implications on the US budget deficit during all three of the periods under study. The first period was punctuated by two types of military involvement. Initially, the invasion of Kuwait by the Iraqi forces seemed to be of immediate concern only to the countries of the Middle Eastern region, although conflict, along with the embargo imposed on oil from Iraq and Kuwait, did cause a significant shortage in the international supply levels (Miller, 1998; Bamberger, 2000; Rodríguez, 2002: 204; Hamilton, 2008). However, the subsequent involvement of the US magnified the international effects of this conflict. Not only did the conflict influence the price level of oil through supply shortages, but also had a direct impact on the US macroeconomic performance as well as indirect effects on its financial performance. As analysed in previous chapters, the Gulf War occurred prior to the 1991 financial crisis and macroeconomic recession. Nevertheless, this conflict paved the way for the 1991 oil shock whose macroeconomic effects, as discussed above, contributed to the macroeconomic recession and the subsequent financial crisis.

The second period was marked by military activities of a different nature. In 2001, and after the 9/11 attacks, the US authorities launched an attack against terrorist groups in the territories of Afghanistan. While this conflict did take place in the Middle Eastern region, did involve the US, and did result in extensive physical damages, it did not significantly disturb international supply levels. This was mainly because Afghanistan, much as it is surrounded by countries rich in oil supplies, does not produce such high levels of oil to affect international supply. Even so, the expectations shaped by the conflict in the Middle East, which were also confirmed by a rising oil price due to the resurrection of OPEC under the leadership of Chávez, along with the macroeconomic consequences of a US military activity and a rising price level, placed tremendous pressures on the US macroeconomic performance (Bamberger, 2000; Rodríguez, 2002: 204). These pressures, along with the financial developments surrounding the turn of the millennium and the financialisation of the oil market, pushed the US economy into a recession and the financial markets into a crisis.

The third period witnessed another kind of military involvement. There were two separate conflicts in action during 2008, both located in the Middle East and both involving the US. The first was the war in Afghanistan, which, although not active in at the time, saw the number of US troops increasing (Belasco, 2010). The second was the

second war in Iraq. Again, the war on Iraq had actually started in 2003; however, in 2007 there was an extraordinary surge of US forces with troops increasing by around 30,000 in the space of one year (Belasco, 2010).

In the case of 2008, similarly to 2001, the war in Afghanistan was not a significant influence on the actual international levels of oil supply. Iraq, on the other hand, as one of the OPEC members with the largest oil reserves and one of the main oil exporters to the US, took its toll on supply levels. Even though both these wars had started years earlier, by 2008 the US military involvement had not diminished, but had in fact proliferated (Belasco, 2010). The war in Iraq also proved to be much costlier for the US economy than initially expected to the point that financing these military activities put enormous additional fiscal pressures on the US economy (Stiglitz, 2008).

Even though the role of conflict in the Middle East had the potential to affect the levels of the international oil supply, market expectations, and therefore oil prices, the involvement of the US amplified their effects. The military activities of the three periods under study were very costly and required significant fiscal expenditures on the part of the US government, thus causing deteriorations of the US budget deficit. This deficit, however, in all three cases was met by both increasing oil prices, due to oil being marketed in US dollars, and severe corrective monetary policies, which destabilised the macroeconomic indicators even further and led to official recessions.

Indeed, the result of expansionary fiscal policies, military involvements, destabilising monetary policies, and oil shocks was that, in each of the three periods under study, the US economy fell into an official macroeconomic recession. The first took place between 1990 and 1991, the second during 2001, and the third one from 2008 to 2010. The timing of these recessions, in relation to the oil shocks of their respective periods, was after the initial increase of the oil price level. The smallest lag can be observed, of three months, was in 1991, and the largest, lasting approximately five years after the initial oil price rise, or one year after the upward acceleration of the oil price levels, was in 2008. That the oil shocks preceded the macroeconomic recessions in all three cases confirms

the argument that there is a direct causality between oil price levels and the US macroeconomic performance.

10.2 Behaviour and Expectations (1989–2010)

By focusing on the performance of the behavioural and financial aspect of the market during these three analytical periods, it becomes clear that they share a number of similarities. Even though the performance of the asset markets and the oil price level were not significantly correlated before the turn of the millennium, all three oil shocks were followed by a downturn in the performance of the asset markets (Hamilton, 2008). This can be explained by reference to the fact that, even in the absence of a direct link between the performance of the asset markets and the oil price level, indirect links still exist, mainly through the macroeconomic performance. At the same time, the asset market performance is based on the behaviour of the financial actors, which is mostly driven by expectations and the performance of the fundamental indicators. This formed an indirect link between these two entities, even before the emergence of the financialisation process in the oil market.

Table 6 also notes the performance of the S&P index. The drop in performance is evident in all three periods, although the depth of this drop varies. In the first period, there is a 60-point drop in performance, that is, an approximate 17 percent loss of its total value. The drop in performance was connected to the first Gulf War as well as to the indirect effects that the oil shock had on the macroeconomic performance. In the second period, a 700-point drop in the S&P index is observed, representing approximately a 47 percent loss of its value. This loss was caused by a combination of the burst of the dot-com bubble, the 9/11 terrorist attacks as well as the oil shock and the macroeconomic recession. In the third period, the loss of value in the asset markets was even wider, measured as a 750-point drop in the performance of the S&P index, that its, an approximate 49 percent loss of value. Again, this drop in the asset market performance was a result of a combination of events, namely the burst of the housing-

market bubble, the bankruptcy of a number of large international financial institutions, as well as the oil shock, the military activities and the subsequent macroeconomic recession.

The timing of these financial crises in relation to the events of their periods betrays their links to the oil market. In all three periods, the performance of the asset market began its deceleration prior to the US macroeconomy, but was in line with the major events of the oil market. In the case of 1991, the drop in the asset market performance occurred prior to the US macroeconomic recession, but was in line with the invasion of the Kuwait crisis and the initial increase in the oil price level. The fact that the effects in the asset markets were sustained for longer than the duration of the shock itself is also evidence of the existence of strong correlation between the performance of asset markets and the US economy, which only recovered in the first months of 1991.

The timing of the events in the second period is very similar. Again, the financial downturn was in line with the main developments on the oil market, and they were both followed by a macroeconomic recession. In this case, the performance of the financial markets responded negatively to the peak of the oil shock and the burst of the dot-com bubble on the start of 2001. The macroeconomic recession started shortly after, while the effects of the 9/11 attacks and the subsequent military activities shaped the development of the crises, but not its cause. Therefore, the initial financial downturn was directly linked to the oil price shock and the burst of the bubble, which in turn led to the macroeconomic downturn. The military activities that followed placed further pressures on both, amplifying and deepening their already negative performance.

Finally, the timing of the events of the 2008 crisis, though largely similar, presents certain differences. On one level, the sequence of events follows the same pattern, whereby the financial downturn took place in line with the major events of the oil market, in terms of the surge in the military activities in Iraq and the very high oil price level, while preceding the macroeconomic recession. Nevertheless, two characteristics in this sequence are worth noting. First, the major financial development of the period, the burst of the housing market, occurred months before the downturn started. Second,

the financial downturn did not start in line with the peak of the oil price spike, but in line with the surge in the military activities in Iraq, which actually accelerated the already increasing pace of the oil price level and then helped to maintained it for more than a year.

As a result, the pattern of the events of 2008 was predominantly influenced by the oil market performance. The oil price level had been rising since 2003, at the start of the military activities in the Middle East, and spare capacity had fallen under 2.5 million barrels a day for the first time in this decade as a consequence of the two active military expeditions in the Middle East and an actual reduction of the international oil supply level. This formed, and confirmed the expectations of increasing oil prices and led to an oil shock. It is important to point out that the 2008 oil shock had its origins in 2003, in line with the invasion of Iraq, which indicates that the markets recognised, and formed their expectations, around this incident as a harbinger of future price hikes.

These initial price rises did not, however, affect the performance of the financial markets that remained positive up to the deflation of the housing bubble in 2007. Nevertheless, even though the housing market performance was decelerating, the overall performance of the asset markets did not drop until months later. Rather, this drop coincided with the surge of military activities in Iraq and the negative, and in some bankruptcy, pressures that the major international financial institutions were experiencing as a result of the deceleration of the housing market. The macroeconomic recession kicked in months after the financial downturn, and while the oil price level was still on its inflationary path. The combination of the two military operations in the region, along with the inflating pressures of the financial side of the oil market, led to the highest oil price levels in history. As in the previous two periods, the US military involvement, with its pressures on both oil prices and the US economy as well as its influence on the economic and oil-price expectations of the financial actors, led to a macroeconomic recession and a financial crisis.

The military development of all the three periods under analysis occurred prior, or in line with, their respective oil shocks, leading to macroeconomic and financial crises in the US. The causality of these events is based on the oil price level, actors' expectations, and the US macroeconomic and financial performance. Finally, with the increasing spread of the financialisation process in the oil market structure and the emergence of a new body of actors operating under financial motives, the role of military activities becomes increasingly important in shaping the expectations of these actors. This is because turbulence in the Middle East is a fundamental indicator of an oil price rise due to the high risks of disturbance to the international oil supply level. The role of expectations, and the influence of military activities on them, was evidenced in the data of the futures positions described the previous chapters, in that the volumes of capital invested in the oil futures market consistently inflated whenever the US got militarily involved in the Middle East. The data also identified an exponential increase in the volume of financial investment injected in the oil market throughout these three periods. This is indicative both of the spread of the financialisation process, and of the growing influence that the determinants of financial behaviour came to exercise in the pricesetting mechanism of the oil market as the shocks spread and intensified.

10.3 Oil Shocks, Technology, and Regulation (1989–2010)

The performance of the oil market during these three phases of financialisation varies in a number of respects. The most obvious difference lies in the nature of the oil shocks, especially in view of the fact that the 1991 oil price hike does not qualify as a large oil shock, but as an oil spike. Albeit as an oil spike, the 1991 shock deserves inclusion in this research for three reasons: it provides with a wider sample of data; it sets a baseline to the study, by offering an outlook on the configuration of an oil shock prior to the onset of the financialisation process; and it exhibit effects just as extensive and sustained as those of larger oil shock. With respect to the criteria presented in Table 6, therefore, there are three oil shocks, in the post 1980s period, that meet the purposes of this thesis.

As established in Chapter 4, the oil market is a supply-driven market due to its inelasticity of demand. This inelasticity is visible in the context of all the three oil price

shocks under study; they all coincided with various degrees of shortage in the international oil supply. In the 1991 period, the oil spike was caused by turbulence in the Middle East, which created a significant shortage in the oil supply (Miller, 1998). Similarly, in 2001 military turbulence in the Middle East combined with the re-empowerment of OPEC under the leadership of Chávez reduce the oil supply levels and contribute to the oil price shock (Bamberger, 2000; Rodríguez, 2002: 204). In the 2008 period, the same pattern recurs, following the turbulence of a re-kindled war in the Middle East, which restricted oil output and spare-capacity levels (Hamilton, 2008).

The effects that supply shortage had on the oil shock in all three cases were also subject to general expectations. As analysed in previous chapters, the expectation of a supply shortage, or 'peak oil', leads to increased demand for oil and, hence, higher prices. Similarly, the effects of the aforementioned military activities during these periods were not restricted to the creation of supply shortages, but also to the formation of expectations of such a restriction and, ultimately, of an oil shock. What is more, military activities in the Middle East also influenced the announcement – and market interpretation – of spare-capacity levels. The influence of these military activities on oil shocks is therefore dual: direct, by influencing supply levels, and indirect, by shaping expectations, which become increasingly more relevant after the onset of the financialisation process.

The three oil shocks can also be compared with respect to their timing relative to the financial, macroeconomic, and political events of their periods. Still based on the case of the US, the 1991 oil shock, which preceded the financial crisis of the time but coincided with the macroeconomic recession, contrasts with both the 2001 and the 2008 shocks, which significantly preceded not only the financial market crash but also the macroeconomic recession of their time. As analysed in Chapter 6, this mismatch was due to the fact that the process of financialisation had not yet been introduced in the oil market during the 1991 oil shock. For this reason, the oil shock was purely driven and contained by the underlying commodity market and its effects were felt most directly in the US macroeconomic performance, while the US financial market, still very much detached from the oil market, reacted with a significant time lag. That is not to say that

the macroeconomic recession was perfectly synchronous with the oil price rise; the recession started within a quarter of the initial rise in the oil price level, although still before its peak. However, the time lag is significantly shorter that the other two periods under study. This variation can be attributed to the rapidity by which this price shock initiated, peaked, and deflated.

In the other two cases under study, there is a significant lag between the initial oil price rise and the subsequent US macroeconomic and financial downturn. In the case of 2001, the oil price level started its inflationary path in 1999 and peaked around the end of the year 2000. In this case, both the US macroeconomic recession and the financial crash took place in line with the peak of the oil shock and a deceleration of their growth rate was already visible at the beginning of 2000. This translated in a one-year lag for the US macroeconomic and financial deceleration and a two-year lag for the actual recession after the initial rise of the 2001 oil shock. In the case of the 2008 period, this lag was even wider. While the roots of the 2008 oil shock can be traced back to 2003, when the oil price level reached its lowest levels before starting the upward rally that peaked in 2008, the US macroeconomic and financial performance kept booming until the end of 2007. This translates in a five-year lag between the start of the oil shock and the reaction of the US macroeconomic and financial performance. The timing of the events of this last period, however, reveal that once the US economy fell into a recession and the financial markets crashed, the oil shock does not immediately abates, as it did in the first two periods. Instead, the price level of oil rose by more than 50 percent relative to its value at the end of 2007.

The data provided in Chapter 6 suggests that this increasing time lag, which is a pattern observed throughout the three oil shocks under study, is a result of the emergence of the financialisation process in the oil market. In 1991, the effects of the oil shock, in the absence of financialisation, were contained in the underlying commodity market and passed on directly to the US macroeconomic performance. This, however, did not happen in the other two cases. The emergence of financialisation meant that any supply shortages caused by the aforementioned military activities, and the market expectations that they formed, boosted the inflow of capital into the market, as confirmed by the data on the futures market positions. This boost, in turn, allowed the price level to decouple from the underlying commodity market. The decoupling of the financial dimension of the oil market from the underlying commodity market meant that the oil shock was not market-driven, as in 1991, but financially driven. Hence, these oil shocks consisted of an increase in the price of oil without a corresponding shortage in supply. Coupled with the nature of the oil-based financial markets, based as they are on price expectations, this development contributed to the formation of these lags.

Against this background, the three oil shocks under study can be argued to have similarities as well as differences that follow the transformative evolution of the oil market. This evolutionary pattern reflects the inception and progression of its process of financialisation. In the historical reconstruction of this thesis, this process unfolds throughout the period under analysis in three distinct phases.

The inception of financialisation, here referred to as the period of 'early financialisation', denotes the time when the financialisation process can be first observed in the oil market, notably with the launch of the first oil-based financial products in the late 1980s (Tang and Xiong, 2009; EIA, 2011). The study of the performance of the oil-based financial market in the first period of analysis further suggests that the key date for its development is arguably 1992. In 1992 a new type of investment is introduced in the form of non-commercial positions and the volume of positions in the market has since kept on growing. These positions are considered as investments performed by actors with speculation-driven motives (Labban, 2010).

Furthermore, while in 1991 the total volume of positions in the oil futures market was approximately 360,000, of which 10,000 were non-commercial positions; in 1992 these numbers rose to around 490,000 and 40,000 respectively. According to the findings discussed in previous chapters, the event that changed these figures so dramatically was the emergence of commodity-based indexes in 1992 (Silvennoinen, 2009; Clapp, 2010). These indexes allowed an easier and safer way into the commodity markets that did not require expert knowledge in the oil market. This allowed purely financially driven investments to enter the market. It follows that the 1991 oil shock and the financial and

macroeconomic crises, which naturally preceded the developments of 1992, were not affected by these initial instances of financialisation. However small, these developments laid the foundations of the processes that generated the following two crises and that turned the oil market into a financialised market.

The second period of analysis identified in this thesis covers the most important developments that determined the rise and spread of the financialisation process in the oil market. In this sense, this thesis identifies this period as the phase of 'low financialisation' of the oil market. Introduced at the beginning of the previous decade, oil-based financial products and commodity-based indexes had already gained a solid footing in the international financial markets. However, their popularity was dented substantially by regulations that prohibited a number of large financial institutions from entering the market. More specifically, the 'prudent investor' rule prohibited pension funds, banks, and hedge funds from investing funds in highly risky investments such as commodities markets.

This however changed radically with the turn of the new millennium. The 2000 CFMA regulation and the dissolution of the 'prudent investor' rule meant that the large financial institutions could now enter the oil-based financial market without restrictions by engaging in OTC trades (Brown-Hruska, 2004; Clapp, 2010; Labban, 2010). What is more, in 1999, the development of new technologies in the market, namely the introduction of Internet-based trading, made the products of this market easily accessible to a wider variety of investors, across a wider geographical area and with minimal restrictions (Kurtzman, 1993; Guttman, 2002, Mackenzie et al., 2012). The above developments meant that in combination with the introduction of commodity-based indexes in 1992, the oil-based financial market was now easily accessible from all over the world, with minimal restrictions, very low risks, and low knowledge requirements.

The data for the 2001 period shows a marked increase in the volume of positions in the market. The total volume of contracts is approximately 750,000, of which approximately 100,000 were non-commercial positions. It is worth noting that this is

not the highest volume of positions in the market for this analytical period, as in 1999 the market peaked at 1,080,000 positions. The substantial increase in the volume of positions for the 2001 period, as evidenced by the data furnished in the previous Part of the thesis, implies the transformation of the oil-based financial market into a financial investment market. Here, the oil market reaches the mature stage of its process of financialisation. The effects of this process are even better depicted by the ratio of traditional to speculative investments in the market, namely the commercial to non-commercial positions, which rose from approximately 11 to 1 in 1991 to approximately 5.5 to 1 in 2001.

In the period of 2008, characterised as the phase of 'advanced financialisation', the effects and spread of the financialisation process in the oil market become stronger. Towards the end of 2000s, commodity-linked exchange-traded funds (ETFs) were introduced in the market, with their risk hedged in the commodity futures market (Clapp, 2010). The high volume of sales in this new product market increased demand for commodities positions by issuing institutions that were, however, restricted by the CFMA restrictions on position volumes. In 2006, the CFTC issued *no action* letters that effectively lifted this regulation (Clapp, 2010).

One further development, caused by the actors themselves in a cyclical performative manner, altered the way that the financial dimension of the oil market operated. After 2001, and after the publications of a number of studies, which claimed that the oil market had a negative correlation to the performance of the asset markets, the international financial actors started approaching the oil based financial market as an efficient risk-hedging market. The view that the oil market was not affected by the developments in the financial markets, although it was recognised as one of the components used in the calculation of the inflation rate, meant that international financial and speculative investors could differentiate their portfolios and hedge against the risks of inflation and the volatility of the traditional asset market performance (Tang and Xiong, 2009). This view attracted an increasing number of investments in the market, which in turn attracted an even larger number of investments. The first waves of

investment increased price levels and, in doing so, shaped a self-fulfilling prophecy for the successive waves of investors attracted by the opportunity of increased returns.

More specifically, the data suggests a total number of positions in the 2008 period of 2,350,000; of these, 850,000 were non-commercial, that is to say a ratio of less than 2 to 1 between commercial and non-commercial positions. Considering that this ratio was 5.5 to 1 seven years earlier and 11 to 1 seventeen years earlier, the increasing importance of the non-commercial aspect of the oil-based financial market, and of the financial dimension of the oil market as a whole, is hard to dispute.

A number of conclusions can be drawn from this overview of the spread of the financialisation process throughout the three analytical periods identified in this thesis. First, the volume of positions in the oil-based financial markets increased very rapidly, quadrupling in size from 1992 to 2008. The second conclusion is that throughout this increase in the total volume of positions, the non-commercial positions experienced a significantly higher increase by more than 20 times, while the commercial positions increased by less than 3.5 times. The final conclusion is that this increase was facilitated by a number of key historical events that allowed for a greater variety of actors to enter the market.

CONCLUSIONS

The analysis conducted in this thesis set out to answer a number of questions, and ended its journey with as many conclusions. These conclusions describe the transformation that the oil market has undergone since the 1980s. Dismissive of the peak-oil arguments typically cited in explanation of this change, this thesis has suggested that the process of financialisation can be considered the main driver of this transformation on the basis that the evolution undergone by the market fits the paradigm of the process of financialisation. Even though the academic efforts to conceptualise the process of financialisation are quite recent, particularly with reference to the commodity markets, the developments that have taken place in the oil market, and that have altered its structure, motives, fundamental function, and processes, are unambiguously symptomatic of a process of financialisation is further evidenced by their concomitance with the deregulation of the oil market and its opening to the financial sector.

More specifically, this thesis reached three conclusions. First, a new group of actors appeared in the triangular structure of the oil market during the 1980s. The introduction of oil-based financial products opened up the market and allowed the participation of financial investors, which thus became an integral part of the oil market structure. This new group of financial actors grew exponentially in numbers and in influence in the wake of two key events. The first was the development of commodity-based indexes in the early 1990s (Clapp, 2010); the second was the introduction of the CFMA regulation

(CFMA) and the consequent precipitous inflow of speculative capital in the market in the early 2000s (Brown-Hruska, 2004). At this point, there emerged a cleavage within the new group of market actors between traditional financial investors with hedging interests and their speculative, or price-manipulative, counterparts.

Second, over time, this new group of actors has grown, to include more and more players, in stark contrast to the underlying oil commodity market actors whose number has been relatively stable over the period under study. Evidence of this is the fact that the value of trades in the financial dimension of the oil market outstripped that of the physical commodity market (Masters, 2009a; OPEC 2012), even in estimates that exclude the value of OTC trades, which cannot be measured reliably (UN Trade and Development Report, 2009). This growth took place against the background of the deregulation of the market, the development of new technologies, the introduction of new financial products, and the use of the Internet in the marketisation of these products, which made the market easily accessible to a growing pool of international investors (Kurtzman, 1994; Guttman, 2002, Mackenzie et al., 2012).

Third, the period under study registered an increased *volatility* in the oil market spot price level, as a direct effect of the investment behavioural patterns of the financial actors (Clapp, 2010; Silverio, 2010). As the oil futures market performance was directly linked to that of the spot prices through the dynamics of the market structure, the development of a fourth group of financial actors in the market dynamics, interested in either rising or changing oil prices, led the oil spot price level to experience increasing volatility. In addition, there is a correlation between the newly introduced volatility in the oil market performance and the performance of the international asset markets (Pindyck and Rotemberg, 1990; Tang and Xiong, 2009).

The research conducted in the thesis focused on the political economy of the oil market, and more specifically, on the emergence of the financialisation process in its structure. These structural transformations, which have led to fundamental changes in the functions and pricing dynamics of a primary commodity market as important to the international economic system as that of oil, have ignited major international politicaleconomic developments. In order to study these developments, this thesis employed the more familiar concept of oil shocks because their effects are easily observable and can also be used to trace the effects of financialisation itself, with pre-financialisation shocks used as a baseline.

From within the analysis of the political-economic effects of the financialisation process in the oil market, this chapter also discusses two assumptions and one final conclusion. One of the clearest political-economic effects is macroeconomic performance. As a final conclusion, therefore, a close reading of the literature and the data on the evolution of the oil market in the context of the international economy, and of the US economy in particular, reveals strong links – and indeed an evolving relationship – between the oil market and macroeconomic performance (Mork, 1989; Hooker, 2002; Blanchard and Galí, 2007; Edelstein and Kilian, 2010; Herrera and Pesavento, 2009; Baumeister and Peersman, 2009a).

The examination of these links suggests the strongest of them are those the oil market has with productivity levels through input costs, real wage levels, inflation levels, unemployment levels, net investment levels, exchange rates, and, very importantly, budget balances (IEA, 2004). Identifying these links has been central for the argument of this thesis as tracing their performance can reveal the effects that the process of financialisation has had on this relationship. What is more, consequences of the financialisation process for the nature of the relationship between these two entities can be expected to have spill-over effects on the relationship between the oil market and the asset market through more indirect links.

The first argument posited by this thesis is that one of the main consequences that the emergence of the financialisation process in the oil market had on the international political economy is the increasingly expanding geographical and demographic scope of the effects of the performance of the oil market. This is of particular importance with respect to the fact that one of the most symptomatic effects of the financialisation process is the sudden addition of a large number of new international actors into the market, in the form of both financial institutions and individual actors. Therefore, the

expansion of the geographic and demographic scope of the effects of the performance of the oil market, as evidenced by the effects of the oil shocks, implies that this market is indeed undergoing a process of financialisation.

The second argument is that the deepening of the consequences of price changes on the macroeconomic performance is also a result of the financialisation process. This assumption posits that the increased number of international actors involved in the oil market structure, as mentioned above, has resulted in the wider geographical and demographic spread of the effects of price changes. In this assumption, it is not only the number of actors that has increased, but also the amount of invested capital. It follows that a change in the price level of the underlying commodity will cause different profits or losses in these portfolios, compared to what it would have caused if an increase in the number of actors had not occurred. As a result, a change in the price level of oil will not only have a wider geographical spread in its effects as a result of the financialisation process, but it will also have deeper consequences for the macroeconomic and financial performance, because of an increase in both the type and sheer number of actors, and the capital represented by them.

The above propositions and conclusions set the basic framework for evaluating the existence and effects of the financialisation process in the oil market structure, and the effects of the links between its performance and the macroeconomic and financial performance. This framework is developed on the basis of the notion of financialisation proposed by Epstein (2005), where the process of financialisation 'means the increasing role of financial motives, financial markets, financial actors and financial institutions in the operation of the domestic and international economies'.

Having established a framework for approaching and assessing the existence and effects of the financialisation process, this thesis moved onto a historical review of the three major oil shocks of the post-1980s era in order to trace the financialisation process and its effects. Even though the three oil shocks under study, namely the ones in 1991, 2001, and 2008, differ in a number of respects (Blanchard and Gali, 2007; Segal, 2007), their close proximity to the macroeconomic crises and financial downturns that took place in

those periods, make them particularly useful illustrative cases for the study of the financialisation process in the oil market. The thesis approached these three shocks by framing them into a chronological triptych of low (1989–1999), early (1999–2003), and advanced (2002–2008) financialisation. Even though the 1991 oil shock was very short-lived, and the 2008 one was the deepest and longest oil price increase in history, these three shocks share a number of fundamental characteristics.

The analysis in Part 2 of this thesis examined each one of these oil shocks and the macroeconomic and financial crises that followed them. The analysis of each of the three shocks focused mainly on the drivers and background of the events around the oil shocks and their subsequent crises. Through this framework, this thesis proceeded to construct an understanding of their links and causalities.

The analysis of the 1991 oil shock and economic and financial turbulence shows that this period coincides with the origins of the emergence of the financialisation process in the oil market. This is because short, non-commercial, and otherwise risky investments started becoming increasingly popular among purely financially driven investors who were mostly positioned outside of the oil market structure until 1992 (Silvennoinen, 2009). This analysis suggests that even though oil-based financial products had already been available for a decade, financial actors did not start to enter the market before 1992. In 1992, the introduction of commodity-based indexes made the market appealing and approachable to purely financial, non–oil-related, investors who could not have previously entered the market as easily (Tang and Xiong, 2009). This, however, meant that the 1991 oil shock and the subsequent macroeconomic and financial crises did not have any financialisation-derived links as they both occurred prior to 1992. To be sure, this does not preclude the existence of traditional links between these three entities, especially since the oil market performance had an influential role in the US macroeconomic and financial performance of this period.

Even though the 1991 oil crisis can be regarded as a purely market-driven crisis, its effects were shortly passed on to the weak and unstable US economy. The analysis based this argument on a certain level of synchronicity and causality that can be

observed between the behaviour of these three entities during this period. It is then suggested that this causal relationship is based on the US dollar marketisation of oil, which, combined with the pre-existing large budget deficits, weakened the external aspect of the US economy (Clapp, 2009). At the same time, the ensuing deterioration of the main macroeconomic indicators, and the fear of a third large oil shock, affected consumer confidence levels (Roubini and Setser, 2004a: 11), which, coupled with unfavourable interest and inflation rates, led to a crash in the financial markets. The absence of high volumes of investments, especially speculative investments, indicates that these links were not influenced by the effects of the financialisation process of the oil market which only started months later; however, they do stress the influence that the oil market performance had on the US macroeconomic and financial performance even before the emergence of the financialisation process. Therefore, this period is defined in terms of low financialisation, as the roots of the process can be traced within its boundaries, even though the crisis itself was not shaped by it. As a result, the study of this crisis provides us with a benchmark of the effects of an oil shock in the absence of this process.

The examination of the second oil shock of the period focused on the events surrounding the turn of the millennium, and more specifically the 2001 oil shock, in terms of a period of low financialisation. Similarly to the 1991 shock, this shock was also preceded by a long booming economic period, and an attempt by the Federal Reserve to slow down the economy through successive interest rate increases in fear of corrosive inflation (Cooper, 1992: 156). At the same time, the election of Chávez, and his OPEC leadership aspirations, had inflated the oil price level (Bamberger, 2000; Rodríguez, 2002: 204), which would only increase further with the invasion of Afghanistan on October 2001. Thus, this macroeconomic policy, combined with a reduction in the US taxation levels, financed through the budget surplus and the oil market performance, led to an economic recession in the beginning of 2001. The effects of the macroeconomic performance were soon passed on to the financial performance, thus bursting the dot-com bubble, and the 'new economy' ideas along with it. The combination of these two crashes and the oil shock, led to a wide erosion of the US

macroeconomic performance, causing high unemployment, negative growth and increased inflation as well as a significant loss of confidence across the US.

The period surrounding the 2001 oil shock was of great importance for the future development of the financialisation of the oil market. Three specific developments altered the environment of the oil market, facilitating the process of financialisation in its structure. These three events were the end of the 'prudent investor' rule, the development of Internet-based trading, and the CFMA regulation (Brown-Hruska, 2004). These three developments allowed for large financial institutions to enter the oil-based financial market through the back door of the OTC market (Brown-Hruska, 2004; Domanski and Heath, 2007). At the same time, the introduction of Internet-based trading, combined with the development of the commodity-based indexes that had been launched in the previous period, allowed for a massive inflow of capital in the market from any international financial investor and with little to no financial or physical barriers (Clapp, 2010; Labban, 2010).

These three developments allowed for the full participation of a fourth actor in the triangular oil market structure. This becomes evident from the performance of the oil-based financial products prior to the peak of this shock in 2001, which is synchronised with the performance of the oil spot price. In contrast, a decoupling of this performance can be observed in the post-2000 period, which allows for the futures products to retain most of their value as the oil spot price plundered.

Even though the effects of financialisation can be best observed in the post-2000 period, its influence can be traced in the built-up to the 2001 crisis. The macroeconomic downturn of the US was a direct result of the dot-com crisis, which, along with the rising oil price level and the terrorist attacks, led to a crash of the US stock markets and the loss of confidence in the US and the 'new economy' paradigm (Arestis and Karakitsos, 2004: 22). The military activities that took place in the Middle East shortly after the above events, was an indicator that any investment in the oil market would become profitable, especially since the asset markets were underperforming and the oil-based financial products had proved to serve well as an alternative to the asset markets

and the inflation pressures (UN Trade and Development Report, 2009). In light of the 2000 regulatory developments, investments in the oil market became both appealing and accessible to a wider audience of investors. Consequently, while the asset markets were plunging and the macroeconomic performance was still in a recessionary period, the oil-based financial products dropped marginally and for a very short period of time after the peak of the 2001 shock, only to return promptly back to their inflationary trend.

During the 2008 oil shock however, the effects of the financialisation process in the oil market and its links to the US macroeconomic and financial performance had become a very real – and integral – part of the system. For this reason, this period is characterised as the phase of advanced financialisation. Very similarly to the previous two shocks, the US economy was very unstable in the months preceding the shock. However, the nature of this instability was of a different nature. The Federal Reserve, in its attempt to boost the economy after the events of 2000, had maintained very low interest rates and, in doing so, had boosted the level of liquidity of the economy and shaped the subprime mortgage' bubble (McCarthy and Peach, 2004; Caballero et al., 2008; Hardouvelis et al., 2009; Obstfeld and Rogoff, 2005; Portes, 2009; Akerlof and Shiller, 2009). At the same time, however, two very important underlying developments were shaping the events of the period. The first of these developments was the increase in US deficits. This increase had been caused by the loss of value of the US dollar, the unforeseen fiscal expenditure of the military activities in the Middle East, and the ever-increasing price of oil. The second development was the exponential increase in the inflow of financial capital in oil-based financial markets.

The analysis of the 2008 shock, proposed a causality link between the events of this period. The low interest rates introduced in 2001 boosted the housing market and shaped a bubble; however, this increase of activity is evident in the oil market structure as well, with the only difference being that, in the latter, the increase was more gradual and only started increasing exponentially in 2007, when the housing markets started deflating. It is suggested that the turn of the financial capital from the housing market to the oil market, as a result of the deflation of the bubble in the housing market, was synchronised with the increase in activity in the oil market. The significance of this

claim is intensified by the fact that, while the housing bubble burst and the real estate prices kept falling for the following years, the oil market maintained its upward rally for more than a year before dropping back to its 2003 levels. This turn was permitted by the self-fulfilling prophecy set in motion by the market expectations of a steady rise in oil price levels, due to the military activities in the Middle East, supply shortages, and reduced spare-capacity levels.

It is important to point out that since 2007, when the price level of oil began rising, the effects of this hike had a direct impact on the macroeconomic performance of the US. The increased demand for oil-based products created additional inflationary pressures on the spot price level of oil, causing an exacerbation of the US budget deficits, because they now had to purchase oil for a higher price and with a weaker currency. This shaped pressures in both the external and the internal aspect of the US macroeconomic performance. The levels of output and inflation deteriorated as the cost of energy rose, which in turn increased unemployment and placed contractionary pressures on the economy starting from end of 2007.

These pressures were also intensified by the effects of the crashing housing market, which was reducing the liquidity of the economy (Caballero et al., 2008; Obstfeld and Rogoff, 2009; Portes, 2009), but also led to a profound loss of confidence amongst the US public. The performance of the asset market followed the performance of the macroeconomy very closely. As the housing market bubble started failing, a number of large financial institutions faced liquidity problems, which in some cases led to near, or actual, bankruptcies. The effects of these events, combined with the deteriorating macroeconomic performance and the already negative confidence levels, led to a crash of the asset markets and a flight of capital. In 2008, an official macroeconomic recession was announced just as the oil price was reaching its historical peak.

The analysis of the events of this crisis, therefore, brings to light the effects of the process of financialisation when taking into consideration the importance of the nature and accessibility of the oil market in the development of this crisis. On the first level, the nature of oil as a primary commodity with inelastic international demand meant that

the changes in its price levels were fully experienced by the US, as an importing economy; insofar as they could not adjust their demand level is a timely manner.

On the other hand, the introduction of uncomplicated commodity-based index products in the 1990s, the deregulation of the oil-based financial products in 2000, and their easy accessibility through the development of new technologies shaped a market that attracted an oversized and progressively increasing amount of financial capital after 2001. However, due to its nature, the growth of this market created negative pressures on the performance of both the US economy and its financial markets. This is evidenced by the newly established relationship of the oil price level and the asset market performance after 2000, as indicated by the graphs above.

Part 3 of this thesis tested the analysis of the above findings against two different approaches. The first part of this discussion focused on the findings of a comparative breakdown of historical political-economic indicators (see Table 6 above). The chapter, then, traced the evolution of the financialisation of the oil market through a linear comparison of the developments of key sectors during the periods under study. This part observed the similarities, differences, and evolutionary patterns that could be extrapolated from the events of these three turbulent periods. The second part of this chapter incorporated all the of above findings and conclusions and placed them on the two-pillar theoretical framework formulated in Part 1 of this thesis. This analysis confirmed that the theory fit with the evolutionary patters and historical developments observed, thus validating the conclusions of the thesis.

In an attempt to offer a fresh approach to the political economy of the oil market, this thesis has sought to explain its evolutionary dynamics by reference to the impact of the process of financialisation on the structure and behaviour of both the oil market and the US macroeconomic and financial performance during the three most recent oil shocks. The purpose of this thesis was not to provide a new theoretical approach on either crises or financialisation. It was, rather, an attempt to map the manifestation of this process in the field of the oil market, which has long been overlooked in the literature of financialisation.

In doing so, its main aim is to stress the increasingly important role that the oil market has had on the contemporary political and economic history, particularly its role in the formation and development of the 2008 credit crisis as well as its potential for shaping further political-economic turbulence in the future. Given the nature of oil as a naturally exhaustible resource, and a primary energy source, the process of financialisation and decoupling from its physical production makes the potential for further far-reaching oil shocks very high. In this sense, it is all the more important to understand the evolutionary pattern of the oil market and its links to the international macroeconomic and financial performance in order to prepare for this eventuality.

The research for this thesis, however, encountered two primary limitations. First, the data on the effects of financialisation on the oil market is not comprehensive, as the CFTC data on commodities trading covers only trades registered in official exchanges. This implies that an unknown volume of trades goes unrecorded. As such, the validity of the findings in this thesis is contingent upon the publication of more inclusive data by the CFTC.

The second limitation of this thesis is that, while the financialisation process, as conceptualised by the theoretical model here formulated, adequately describes the historical evolution of the oil market and of the US macroeconomic and financial performance, it is not possible to determine the exact extent to which these effects were caused by the process in question. Other parallel processes or events, either known or unknown, could also have shaped these effects, which are, therefore, sufficiently, but not necessarily, explained by the model of the financialisation process. In other words, these events cannot be irrefutably, nor exclusively, characterised as the result of the emergence of the financialisation process in the oil market structure. Nevertheless, this limitation does not diminish the validity of the above findings and conclusions. This is because the argument of this thesis proceeds from the narrower, but no less instructive, hypothesis that the effects of the financialisation of the oil market have been significant enough to shape the international macroeconomic and financial performance. This hypothesis is found to be consistent with the argument and findings of this thesis.

Further Research

Although this thesis focused on the evolution of the oil market and its links to the US macroeconomic and financial performance, much space is left for further research on the effects that this process has had on the international macroeconomic and financial level. The links suggested in the previous chapters have proved solid, especially with reference to the spread of the financialisation process in the oil market since the year 2000. Nevertheless, the international aspect of these effects has been intentionally omitted from this thesis. Studying closely the links and effects of this process on the performance of all or a number of international economies in depth would require extensive and specialised research.

The approach developed in this thesis has suggested that there is, in fact, a strong international aspect to the effects of the financialisation process of the oil market; therefore, an exclusive focus on the US economy effectively neglects the international effects that the emergence of said process has had throughout the period under study. This international aspect has shaped the gradual intensification and geographical expansion of the effects that the price level of oil has had on the international macroeconomic and financial market shocks. In order to investigate the validity of this statement and the need for further research on the internationalisation of these effects, a selection of data from the OECD economies is provided below.

This sample is deliberately limited compared to the total number of international economies and lacks the perspective of developing economies. This makes it possible to have easy access to comparatively accurate data for more than thirty of the most economically and financially developed international economies. Additionally, this sample of developed economies have the highest exposure to both the underlying commodity and the financial dimension of the oil market and can therefore reflect the effects of any effects that the financialisation of the oil market might have on both the performance levels of both these aspects of their economies. A study that includes developing countries, on the other hand, would require factoring in the disequilibrium

between highly oil-dependant production levels and the modest financial performance due to the lack of high financial exposures.

In the previous chapters, it was established that the oil price level has direct links on the US macroeconomic performance by negatively affecting a number of its central fundamental indicators, such as GDP levels and inflation rates, among many others (Hubbard, 1986; Mork, 1989; Hooker, 2002; Mabro, 2005; Blanchard and Galí, 2008; Rotemberg, 2007; Kilian, 2008b; Baumeister and Peersman, 2009a; Edelstein and Kilian, 2009; Herrera and Pesavento, 2009). In view of further research into the effects that the three oil price shocks have had on the international economies as well as into the international reach and extent of these effects, below are data charts (Figures 83–87) that illustrate the GDP, inflation rate, personal consumption levels, and unemployment rates of the OECD economies for the periods under study.



Figure 83-10 OECD countries Gross Domestic Product % growth (OECD, 2011)



The Transformation of the Oil Market. A Study of Financialisation through Crises Angelos Gkanoutas-Leventis



Figure 85-10 OECD Unemployment Rate (OECD, 2011)

Figure 86-10 OECD Personal Consumption % Change Over Previous Year (OECD, 2011)



Figure 87-10 OECD Stock Market Performance % Change Over Previous Year (OECD, 2011)

Figure 83 illustrates the GDP level of the OECD countries from 1988 to 2010. Sketching an OECD average line on the figure (black) reveals the ever larger, and synchronised, reaction of the GDP levels of the OECD economies to the events of the three periods under study. Similarly, Figure 84 plots the OECD countries CPI inflation rate for the same period. The illustration confirms that the inflation rates of the OECD economies gradually fall in line with their average value, which is affected by the events of the periods under study. It also illustrates that there is extensive variance in the

inflation rates of the OECD countries during the 1991 period, with a number of outliers experiencing different effects from the core of the OECD trends depicted by the OECD average line; however, this variance diminishes with time: the post-2000 period reaches high levels of synchronisation and 2008 sees a synchronised increase in the magnitude of the inflationary response to the events of crisis. Figure 85 presents the OECD data on unemployment, which shows both a lag and a gradually increasing level of sustainability in their reactions. In the post-2000 period, the OECD unemployment rates synchronise and start to converge towards the OECD average value.

Figure 86 illustrates the personal consumption levels for the OECD and some of the largest non-OECD economies for the periods under study. The levels of personal consumption illustrate the actual economic pressures, such as inflation, weakening currency values, unemployment, as experienced by the public. The performance of this indicator is directly in line with the behavioural aspect discussed in this thesis. A similar pattern to that of the GDP levels can be observed. Even though data for many OECD countries is not available, a significant worsening in personal consumption levels of the OECD is recorded in most of the countries where data is available. A much more extensive worsening is, however, observed in the 2001 period, where most of the OECD economies turned from the very high personal consumption levels of 2000 to the reduced levels of 2001. According to the data in Figure 86, most of the OECD countries' personal consumption levels fell in line with the core OECD performance, with few outliers during each period. However, a convergence towards the core can be observed in the post-2000 period. Additionally, a deepening effect can also be observed in the increasing magnitude of the drop of the average OECD personal consumption during these three periods as well as in the increasing sustainability of these effects.

Figure 87 plots the stock market performance of the OECD economies throughout the three periods under study. It is clear that similar patterns to that of the macroeconomic level can be observed for the financial level as well. The chart also shows the gradual convergence and synchronicity of the stock market performance trends towards the core average OECD performance, which implies that the international stock markets are increasingly affected by the same events. Furthermore, a growth in the effects that these

periods had on the average OECD stock market performance is also visible, along with the increase in the speed at which these effects took place.

The graphical representations of the figures above show both increasing synchronicity and established patterns among OECD members at both the macroeconomic and financial level, especially since 2000. According to the theoretical assumptions reached in the previous chapters, the financialisation process leads to the internationalisation and intensification of the effects of the performance of a market. The above data suggests that the patterns observed in the OECD countries from 1989 to 2009 falls in line with the theoretical conclusions drawn in previous chapters, proving that further research into the internationalisation and intensification effects of the financialisation process is indeed the next step of this research.

Questions can be raised, however, over the weight of this argument compared to a number of parallel processes that existed at the same time with similar results. For example, the processes of globalisation, marketisation, liberalisation, and even westernisation have been argued to have been active during the same period considered in this thesis; the internationalisation and intensification patterns discussed above could, therefore, result from one of these processes. Can we be sure that the effects observed above can be attributed to the financialisation of the oil market, or could it be the result of the workings of one of the above processes, or a combination of them or even the financialisation of some other market?

Since these known processes, and possibly other unknown ones, have been active during the period under analysis, it is difficult to draw the definitive conclusion that these patterns were solely the result of the emergence of the financialisation process in the oil market. On the other hand, even though these processes were active during this period, they do not preclude the possibility that all or part of these patterns can be attributed to the development of the financialisation process in the oil market. Three arguments can be made in support of this statement. First, the timing of these patterns is very closely correlated to the events that have shaped the emergence and spread of the financialisation process in the oil market. This has been characterised by four key dates: the development of the first oil futures, in 1981; the introduction of commodity-based indexes, in 1992; the development of new technologies in the operation of the market, in 1999; and, finally, the deregulation of the market, in 2000. At this point, the financialisation process started to spread at an exponential rate within the oil market structure. In its wake, this process created stronger links with the US macroeconomic and financial performance, introduced a new, fourth actor in the oil market structure, and established itself as a very efficient hedge against the inflation rate. The data and figures presented in this chapter show an internationalisation pattern in both the macroeconomic and the financial performances of the OECD countries since 1989, an intensifying pattern in both the OECD stockmarket reactions since 1989 and in the OECD macroeconomic reactions in the post-2000 period. In both cases, the effects became stronger in the post-2000 period, in line with the deregulation of the oil market and the start of the massive inflow into the oil based financial markets; similarly, in 2008, when the financialisation of the oil market reached its highest peak, the above patterns also exhibited their highest strength.

Second, the central role that the oil market performance had in the events of each of the three periods under study cannot be overlooked. The period from 1989 to 2009, which is also covered in the figures given above, includes three international macroeconomic and financial crises. Each and every one of them had been heavily shaped and influenced by the three oil shocks that preceded them. Even though other markets had been involved in the shaping of these crises, such as the dot-com and the housing market, the oil market has been a constant, central determinant in all three crises. This cannot be overlooked.

Third, following from the above argument, the oil market, unlike other markets, has been central in all of three crises. Since the patterns observed fall in line with the timing of the emergence of the financialisation process in the oil market, this process can be seen as underpinning the international macroeconomic and financial performance during these three crises. Even though other processes were active during the same periods under study, none shares the same characteristics that highlight the importance of studying the influence of the oil market. Globalisation has been active for several decades, but its nature has not changed radically in the last two decades. Marketisation and westernisation have experienced waves in spread and popularity; however, there is not enough correlation of the timing between their developments and the events of the three periods under study or the performance of the patterns of OECD countries to establish a credible relationship of causality. Alternatively, the financialisation process of other commodity markets with a similar timeline could be considered; however, none were as central to the development of these crises as the oil market.

Therefore, even though the patterns observed in the economic performance of the OECD countries over the past two decades cannot be fully attributed to the effects of the emergence of the financialisation process in the oil market, it can safely be argued that this process is the only one to offer a concrete timeline that is synchronised with the patterns observed; is the only one that has been central in the developments of each of the three crises of the period under analysis; and is, finally, the only one to provide an underlying dynamic that had both the potential and the timing to be responsible for a significant percentage of the patterns observed in the data presented above.

This conclusion raises a second question: to what extent can these patters be attributed to the emergence of the financialisation process in the oil market structure, and to what extent is it important for it to account for the largest part of these effects? To answer the first part of the question, the extent to which these patterns have been shaped as a result of the financialisation of the oil market quite simply cannot be measured. However, since the evidence for the alignment and causality between this process and its apparent effects is strong, and in the absence of an alternative process that can account for these effects as comprehensively and compellingly, the extent to which these patterns can be attributed to the financialisation process of the oil market can only be assumed to be significant. To answer the second part of the question, as long as there is a significant causal link between the emergence and spread of the financialisation process in the oil market and the patterns in the OECD macroeconomic and financial performance, the exact percentage is of secondary importance. The fact that the financialisation process has cemented the influence and effects of the oil market on the international macroeconomic and financial performance is, itself, a confirmation of the conclusions of this thesis and, therefore, of the increasingly central role of the oil market at the international level.
BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abolafia M., (1996), 'Making Markets: Opportunism And Restraint On Wall Street', Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Adams F., Shachmurove Y., Modelling And Forecasting Energy Consumption In China: Implications For Chinese Energy Demand And Imports In 2020, *Energy Economics*, 30, 2007, 1263-1278.
- Adelman A., Is The Oil Shortage Real? Oil Companies As OPEC Tax-Collectors, Foreign Policy, 9, 2004, 69-107.
- Adelman A., Watkins C., Reserve Prices And Mineral Resource Theory, Special Issue In Honour Of Campbell Watkins, *The Energy Journal*, 2008, 1–16.
- Aglietta M., (1979), 'A Theory Of Capitalist Regulation: The US Experience', London: New Left Books.
- Aglietta M., Breton R., Financial Systems, Corporate Control And Capital Accumulation, *Economy And Society*, 30(4), 2001, 433-466.
- Agmon T., Lessard D., Paddock J., Financial Markets And The Adjustment To Higher Oil Prices, *MIT World Oil Project*, Working Paper, 3, September, 1977.
- Agnolucci P., Volatility In Crude Oil Futures: A Comparison Of The Predictive Ability Of GARCH And Implied Volatility Models, *Energy Economics*, 31, 2009, 316-321.

- Ai C., Chatrath A., Song F., On The Co-Movement Of Commodity Prices, American Journal Of Agricultural Economics, 88, 2006, 574–588.
- Akerlof G., Shiller R., (2009), 'Animal Spirits', New York: Princeton University Press.
- Akram Q., Commodity Prices, Interest Rates And The Dollar, *Energy Economics*, 31, 2009, 838-851.
- Albers R., Peeters M., Food And Energy Prices, Government Subsidies And Fiscal Balances In South Mediterranean Countries, *European Commission*, Directorate General For Economic And Financial Affairs, Economic Papers, 437, 2011.
- Alhajji A., (2008), 'How Does The Weak Dollar Affect Oil Prices?', Project Syndicate.
- Allen R., (1999), 'Financial Crisis And Recession In The Global Economy', London: Edward Elgar Publications.
- Allen R., (2009), 'Financial Crises And Recession In The Global Economy, Third Edition', Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar.
- Almond D., Hoynes H., Schanzenbach D., Inside The War On Poverty: The Impact Of Food Stamps On Birth Outcomes, *The Review Of Economics And Statistics*, 93(2), 2011, 387-403.
- Alquist R., Gervais O., The Role of Financial Speculation in Driving the Price of Crude Oil, Bank of Canada, International Economic Analysis Department, Discussion Paper, 2011.
- Alquist, R., Kilian, L., What Do We Learn From The Price Of Crude Oil Futures?, Journal Of Applied Econometrics, 25, 2010, 539-573.
- Al-Sowayegh A., (1984), 'Arab Petropolitics', London: Croom Helm.
- Altvater E., Financial Crises On The Threshold Of The 21st Century, *The Socialist Register*, 1997.
- Amable B., Barré R., Boyer R., (1997), 'Les Systèmes D'innovation À L'ère De La Globalisation', Paris: Economica.

- Amable B., Breton R., Ragot X., Does The 'New Economy' Change The Frontiers Of The Large Corporation?, *Mimeo, CEPREMAP*, 2001.
- Amable B., Cadiou Y., Petit P., On The Development Paths Of Innovation Systems, Work Package D, TSER-CDIS Project, 2000a.
- Amable B., Ernst E., Palombarini S., Institutional Complementarity: Labour Markets And Finance, *Mimeo*, *CEPREMAP*, 2000b.
- Amable B., Gatti D., Product Market Competition And Employment Protection: A Case For Policy Complementarity, *Mimeo*, *CEPREMAP-WZB*, 2001.
- Amable B., Gatti D., The Impact Of Product Market Competition On Employment And Wages, *Mimeo*, *CEPREMAP-WZB*, 2000c.
- Amable B., Institutional Complementarity And Diversity Of Social Systems Of Innovation And Production, *Review Of International Political Economy*, 7(4), 2000d, 645-687.
- Amable B., Petit P., Identifying The Structure Of Institutions To Promote Innovation And Growth. *Working Paper CEPREMAP No 9919*, 1999.
- Amano R., Van Norden S., Exchange Rates And Oil Prices, Bank Of Canada, Working Paper, 1995.
- Amano R., Van Norden, S., Oil Prices And The Rise And Fall Of The U.S. Real Exchange Rate, *Bank Of Canada*, Working Paper, 1993.
- Amenec N., Oil Prices: The True Role Of Speculation, EDHEC, 2008.
- Amin A., Post-Fordism: Models, Fantasies And Phantoms Of Transition, In Amin A., (1994), 'Post-Fordism: A Reader', Oxford: Blackwell.
- Amin S., (1980), 'Class And Nation: Historically And In The Current Crisis', New York: Monthly Press Review.

- Andersen T., Bondarenko O., Construction And Interpretation Of Model-Free Implied Volatility, In Nelken I., (2007), *Volatility As An Asset Class*, London, UK: Risk Publications.
- Ang A., Piazzesi M., Wei M., What Does The Yield Curve Tell Us About GDP Growth?, *Journal Of Econometrics*, 2004.
- Anzuini A., Lombardi M., Pagano P., The Impact Of Monetary Policy Shocks On Commodity Prices, *European Central Bank*, Working Paper, 2010.
- Arestis P., Karakitsos E., (2004), 'The Post Bubble US Economy: Implications For Financial Markets And The Economy', London, UK: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Argus Media, Argus Europe Africa Bitumen Conference, Barcelona Spain, May 2012a, (Conference Attended By The Author).
- Argus Media, *Power Generation In Central America*, Miami Florida, June 2012b, (Conference Attended By The Author).
- Aristotle, (1992), 'Politics', London: Penguin Books.
- Arrighi G., (1994), 'Il Lungo XX° Secolo: Denaro, Potere E Le Origini Del Nostro Tempo', Milano, Italy: Il Saggiatore.
- Arrighi G., Braudel, Capitalism, And The New Economic Sociology, *Review A Journal* Of The Fernand Braudel Center XXIV, 1, 2001, 107-23
- Arrighi G., Brewer B., Silver B., Industrial Convergence, Globalization And The Persistence Of The North-South Divide, Johns Hopkins University, Studies In Comparative International Development (SCID), 2003a.
- Arrighi G., Hamashita T., Selden M., (2003b), 'The Resurgence Of East Asia: 500, 150, 50 Year Perspectives', London, New York: Routledge.
- Arrighi G., Silver B., (1999), 'Chaos E Governance In The Modern World-System', Minneapolis: University Of Minnesota Press.

- Arrighi G., The Three Hegemonies Of Historical Capitalism, *Review, A Journal Of The Fernand Braudel Center - XIII*, 3, Summer, 1990, 365-408
- Arrighi G.,(2007), 'Adam Smith A Pechino: Genealogie Del XXI° Secolo', Milano, Italy: Feltrinelli.
- Askari H., Krichene N., Oil Price Dynamics (2002-2006), *Energy Economics*, 30, 2008, 2134-2153.
- Aulerich N., Irwin S., Garcia P., The Price Impact Of Index Funds In Commodity Futures Markets: Evidence From The CFTC's Daily Large Trader Reporting System, University Of Illinois At Urbana-Champaign And US Commodity Futures Trading Commission, Working Paper, 2010.
- Austvik O., Oil Prices And The Dollar Dilemma, OPEC Review, 11, 1987, 399-412.
- Bacon R., Tordo S., Crude Oil Price Differentials And Differences In Oil Qualities: A Statistical Analysis, ESMAP Technical Paper, 81, 2005.
- Bagehot W., In St John Stevas N., (1978), 'The Collected Works Of Walter Bagehot, Vol9', London, UK: The Economist.
- Baillie R., Booth G., Tse Y., Zabotina T., Price Discovery And Common Factor Models, *Journal Of Financial Markets*, 5, 2002, 309-321.
- Bakanova A., The Information Content Of Implied Volatility In The Crude Oil Market, University Of Lugano And Swiss Finance Institute, Working Paper, 2010.
- Baker D., (2009), 'Plunder And Blunder. The Rise And Fall Of The Bubble Economy', Sausalito, CA: Polipointpress.
- Baker, Epstein G., Pollin, R., (1998), 'Globalization And Progressive Economic Policy', Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Baldwin R., Integration Of The North American Economy And New-Paradigm Globalisation, *CEPR Discussion Paper*, 7523, 2009.

- Baldwin R., Managing The Noodle Bowl: The Fragility Of East Asian Regionalism, Singapore *Economic Review*, 53(3), 2008, 449-478.
- Baldwin R., Martin P., Ottaviano G., Global Income Divergence, Trade, And Industrialization: The Geography Of Growth Take-Offs, *Journal Of Economic Growth*, March, 2001, 5-37.
- Baldwin R., Nicoud F., Offshoring: General Equilibrium Effects On Wages, Production And Trade, *NBER Working Paper*, 12991, 2007.
- Baldwin R., Nicoud F., Trade-In-Goods And Trade-In-Tasks: An Integrating Framework, *NBER Working Papers*, 15882, 2010.
- Baldwin, R., 21st Century Regionalism: Filling The Gap Between 21st Century Trade And 20th Century Trade Rules, *CEPR Policy Insight*, 56, 2011.
- Bamberger, (2000), 'Coping With High Oil Prices: A Summary Of Options', RL30459.
- Baran P., (1957), 'The Political Economy Of Growth', New York: Monthly Review.
- Baran P., Sweezy P., (1966), 'Monopoly Capital: An Essay On The American Economic And Social Order', New York: Monthly Review.
- Barba A., Pivetti M., Rising Household Debt: Its Causes And Macroeconomic Implications – A Long-Period Analysis, *Cambridge Journal Of Economics*, 33, 2009, 113-137.
- Barberis N., Shleifer A., Style Investing, NBER Working Paper, 8039, 2000.
- Barberis N., Shleifer A., Vishny R., A Model Of Investor Sentiment, *Journal Of Financial Economics*, 49, 1998, 307–343.
- Barberis N., Shleifer A., Wurgler J., Co-Movement, *Journal Of Financial Economics*, 75, 2005, 283 317.
- Barberis N., Shleifer A., Wurgler J., Comovement, University Of Chicago, Working Paper, 2001.

- Barrell R., Davis P., Equity Prices And The Real Economy A Vectorerror Correlation Approach, *Discussion Paper*, 232, NIESR, London, 2004.
- Barsky R., Kilian L., Do We Really Know That Oil Caused The Great Stagflation? A Monetary Alternative, In Bernanke B., Rogoff K., NBER Macroeconomics Annual, 2001, 137-183.
- Barsky R., Kilian L., Oil And The Macroeconomy Since The 1970s, *Journal Of Economic Perspectives*, 18, 2004, 115-134.
- Basel M., Acknowledged And Unacknowledged Institutionalist Antecedents Of Regulation Theory, In Boyer R., Sauillard Y., (2001), '*Regulation Theory: The State Of The Art*', London: Routledge.
- Bassam F., How Secure Are Middle East Oil Supplies?, Oxford Institute For Energy Studies, WPM 33, 2007.
- Baumeister C., Peersman G., Sources Of The Crude Oil Market Volatility, *Bank Of Canada And Ghent University*, Working Paper, 2009a.
- Baumeister C., Peersman G., Time-Varying Effects Of Oil Supply Shocks On The US Economy, *Ghent University*, 2009b.
- BBC, 'Iraq Timeline', Last Updated At 09:17 GMT, Saturday, 21 August, 2010 10:17 UK, URL: Http://News.Bbc.Co.Uk/1/Hi/World/Middle_East/737483.Stm Page.
- Behr T., The 2008 Oil Price Shock Competing Explanations And Policy Implications, *Gppi Global Energy Governance Project Policy Paper Series*, 1, 2009.
- Bekiros S., Diks C., The Relationship Between Crude Oil And Futures Prices: Co Integration, Linear And Nonlinear Causality, *Energy Economics*, 30, 2008, 2673-2685.
- Belasco A., The Cost Of Iraq, Afghanistan, And Other Global War On Terror Operations Since 9/11, *Congressional Research Service*, 2010, 7-5700.
- Bellamy J., Magdoff F., (2009), 'The Great Financial Crisis, Causes And Consequences', New York: Monthly Review Press.

- Bénassy-Quéré A., Mignon V., Penot A., China And The Relationship Between The Oil Price And The Dollar, *Energy Policy*, 35, 2007, 5795-5805.
- Benko G., Dunford M., (1991), 'Structural Change And The Spatial Organisation Of The Productive System: An Introduction, Industrial Change And Regional Development', London: Belhaven Press.
- Bernanke B, Mark G., Mark W., Systematic Monetary Policy And The Effects Of Oil Shocks, *Brookings Papers On Economic Activity*, 1997, 91-157.
- Bernanke B., The Crisis And The Policy Response, Stamp Lecture, London School OfEconomics,January13,2009,Http://Www.Federalreserve.Gov/Newsevents/Speech/Bernanke20090113a.Htm.
- Bernard J., Khalaf L., Kichian M., Mcmahon S., Oil Prices: Heavy Tails, Mean Reversion And The Convenience Yield, University Of Laval And Bank Of Canada, Working Paper, 2008.
- Bessembinder H., Coughenour J., Seguin P., Smoller M., Mean Reversion In Equilibrium Asset Prices: Evidence From The Futures Term Structure, *Journal Of Finance*, 50, 1995, 361-375.
- Bhaduri A., Employment, Labour Market Flexibility And Economic Liberalization In India, *Indian Journal Of Labour Economics*, 39(1), 1996, 13-21.
- Bhaduri A., Laski K., Riese M., A Model Of Interaction Between The Virtual And The Real Economy, Metroeconomica, 57, 2006, 412-427.
- Bhaduri A., Marglin S., Unemployment And The Real Wage: The Economic Basis For Contesting Political Ideologies, *Cambridge Journal Of Economics*, 14, 1990, 375–393.
- Bilmes L., Stiglitz J., The Economic Costs Of The Iraq War: An Appraisal Three Years After The Beginning Of The Conflict, *Kennedy School, Harvard University*, 2006.
- Bilmes L., Stiglitz J., The Iraq War Will Cost Us \$3 Trillion, And Much More, *Kennedy School, Harvard University*, 9, 2008.

- Black F., The Pricing Of Commodity Contracts, *Journal Of Financial Economics*, 3, 1976, 167-179.
- Blackburn R., Finance And The Fourth Dimension, New Left Review, 39, 2006, 39-70.
- Blanchard O., (2003), 'Macroeconomics Third Edition, International Edition'. London: Pearson International Edition.
- Blanchard O., Consumption And The Recession Of 1990-1991, American Economic Review, 83, 1993.
- Blanchard O., Gali J., Real Wage Rigidities And The New-Keynesian Model, *Journal Of Money, Credit, And Banking*, 2007.
- Blanchard O., Galí J., The Macroeconomic Effects Of Oil Price Shocks: Why Are The 2000s So Different From The 1970s?, In Galí J., Gertler M., (2008), *International Dimensions Of Monetary Policy*, Chicago, IL: University Of Chicago Press.
- Blanchard O., Giavazzi F., Sa F., The US Current Account And The Dollar, *CEPR Discussion Paper*, 4888, 2005.
- Blas J., Totals' Oil Trading Arm Warns Over Inaccuracies In Price Benchmarks, The Financial Times, 09 October, 2012.
- Blinder A., Rudd J., The Supply-Shock Explanation Of The Great Stagflation Revisited, *NBER Working Paper*, 14563, 2008.
- Bloomberg, Data Terminal, Accessed 14/01/2011.
- Bohli D., (1989), 'Energy Price Shocks And Macroeconomic Performance', Resources For The Future.
- Boltanski L., Chiapello E., (1999), 'The New Spirit Of Capitalism', London, New York: Verso.
- Boyer R., (1990), '*The Regulation School: A Critical Introduction*', New York: Columbia University Press.

- Boyer R., Is A Finance-Led Growth Regime A Viable Alternative To Fordism? A Preliminary Analysis, *Economy And Society*, 29(1), 2000a, 111-145.
- Boyer R., Saillard Y., (2002), '*Régulation Theory: The State Of The Art*', London: Routledge.
- Boyer R., The Political In The Era Of Globalization And Finance: Focus On Some Régulation School Of Research, International Journal Of Urban And Regional Research, 24(2), 2000b, 274-322.
- Breitenfellner A., Cuaresma J., Crude Oil Prices And USD/EUR Exchange Rate, Monetary Policy & The Economy, 2008, 102-128.
- Bremmer I., Oil: A Bumpy Ride Ahead, The World Policy Journal, 2008.
- Brennan D., Williams J., Wright B., Convenience Yield Without The Convenience: A Spatial-Temporal Interpretation Of Storage Under Backwardation, *The Economic Journal*, 107, 1997, 1009–1022.
- Brennan M., Schwartz E., Evaluating Natural Resource Investments, *The Journal Of Business*, 58, 1985, 135-157
- Brennan M., The Supply Of Storage, American Economic Review, 48, 1958, 50-72.
- British Petroleum, (2008), 'Statistical Review Of World Energy', London: British Petroleum.
- Bromley S., (1991), 'American Hegemony And World Oil', United States: Pennsylvania University Press.
- Brons M., Nijkamp P., Pels E., Rietveld P., A Meta-Analysis Of The Price Elasticity Of Gasoline Demand: A SUR Approach, *Energy Economics*, 30, 2008, 2105–2122.
- Brown S., Yucel M., What Drives Natural Gas Prices, Energy Journal, 29, 2008, 45-60.
- Brown-Hruska S., Securities Industry Association Hedge Funds Conference, Keynote Address, CFTC, 2004, Http://Www.Cftc.Gov./Opa/Speeches04/Opabrown-Hruska-22.Htm.

- Brunetti C., Büyükşahin B., Is Speculation Destabilizing?, John Hopkins University, US Commodity Futures Trading Commission, And International Energy Agency, Working Paper, 2009.
- Bruno M., Sachs J., (1985), 'Economics Of Worldwide Stagflation', Cambridge Massachusetts: Harvard University Press.
- Bryant H., Bessler D., Haigh M., Causality In Futures Markets, *Journal Of Futures Market*, S 26, 2006, 1039-1057.
- Burn G., The State, The City And The Euromarkets, *Review Of International Political Economy*, 6(2), 1999, 225-261.
- Bush G. Jr, '*President Discusses The Economy With Small Business Owners*', April 15, 2003a, Http://Www.Whitehouse.Gov.
- Bush G. Jr, '*President's Remarks At The United Nations General Assembly*', September 12, 2002, Http://Www.Whitehouse.Gov.
- Bush G. Jr, 'President's Remarks On Iraq', January 14, 2003b, Http://Www.Whitehouse.Gov.
- Bush G. Jr, 'State Of The Union Address', January 28, 2003c.
- Butler J., (1990), 'Gender Trouble: Feminism And The Subversion Of Identity', UK: Routledge: London.
- Büyükşahin B., Haigh M., Harris J., Overdahl J., Robe M., Fundamentals, Trader Activity And Derivative Pricing, Working Paper, US Commodity Futures Trading Commission, 2008.
- Büyükşahin B., Haigh M., Robe M., Commodities And Equities: Ever A 'Market Of One?' Journal Of Alternative Investments, 12, 2010, 76-95.
- Büyükşahin B., Harris J., Do Speculators Drive Crude Oil Futures Prices?, *The Energy Journal*, 2011.

- Büyükşahin B., Harris J., The Role Of Speculators In The Crude Oil Futures Markets, US Commodity Futures Trading Commission, Working Paper, 2009.
- Caballero R., Farhi E., Gourinchas P., Financial 'Whac-A-Mole': Bubbles, Commodity Prices And Global Imbalances, *MIT, Harvard University, And National Bureau Of Economic Research*, Working Paper, 2008.
- Caballero R., Farhi E., Hammour M., Speculative Growth: Hints From The US Economy, *MIT*, Manuscript, 2005.
- Caballero R., Krishnamurthy A., International And Domestic Collateral Constraints In A Model Of Emerging Market Crises, *Journal Of Monetary Economics*, 48, 2001, 513-548.
- Cabinet Office 2008, UK, `*The Rise And Fall In Oil Prices: Analysis Of Fundamental And Financial Drivers*´, London. Http://Webarchive.Nationalarchives.Gov.Uk/20090113232320/Http://Cabinetoffi ce.Gov.Uk/Reports/Oil.Aspx.
- Cafiero C., Bobenrieth E., Bobenrieth J., Wright B., The Empirical Relevance Of The Competitive Storage Model, *Journal Of Econometrics*, 162, 2011, 44 54.
- Callon M., (1998a), 'Introduction: The Embeddedness Of Economic Markets In Economics', P: 1-57 In The Laws Of The Markets, Oxford: Blackwell.
- Callon M., (1998b), 'The Laws Of The Markets', Oxford: Blackwell.
- Callon M., What Does It Mean To Say That Economics Is Performative?, In Mackenzie
 D., Muniesa F., Siu L., (2007), `Do Economics Make Markets? On The Performativity Of Economics', UK: Princeton University Press.
- Cambridge Energy Research Associates, 'Peak Oil Theory—"World Running Out Of Oil Soon"—Is Faulty; Could Distort Policy And Energy Debate', November 14, 2006.
- Cambridge Energy Research Associates, 'Recession Shock: The Impact Of The Economic And Financial Crisis On The Oil Market', 19 December, 2008.

- Camerer C., Loewenstein G., Rabin M., (2004), 'Advances In Behavioural Economics', New York: Princeton University Press.
- Campbell C., Forecasting Global Oil Supply 2000-2050, Hubbert Centre Newsletter, M. King Hubbert Centre For Petroleum Supply Studies, Colorado School Of Mines Golden Co, 80401-1887, 2003.
- Campbell J., Cocco J., Household Risk Management And Optimal Mortgage Choice, *Quarterly Journal Of Economics*, 118, 2003, 1449–1494.
- Campbell J., Cochrane J., By Force Of Habit: A Consumption-Based Explanation Of Aggregate Stock Market Behavior, *Journal Of Political Economy*, 107, 1999, 205–251.
- Campbell J., Shiller R., Stock Prices, Earnings, And Expected Dividends, *Journal Of Finance*, 43, 1988a, 661—676.
- Campbell J., Shiller R., The Dividend-Price Ratio And Expectations Of Future Dividends And Discount Factors, *Review Of Financial Studies*, 1(26), 1988b, 195—228.
- Campbell J., Shiller R., Valuation Ratios And The Long-Run Stock Market Outlook, Journal Of Portfolio Management, 24(2), 1998, 11–26.
- Campbell J., Viceira L., (2002), 'Strategic Asset Allocation: Portfolio Choice For Long Term Investors', New York: Oxford University Press.
- Campbell J., Viceira L., A Multivariate Model Of Strategic Asset Allocation, *Journal Of Financial Economics*, 67, 2003, 41–80.
- Campbell J., Viceira L., Consumption And Portfolio Decisions When Expected Returns Are Time Varying, *Quarterly Journal Of Economics*, 114, 1999, 433–495.
- Campbell J., Viceira L., Who Should Buy Long-Term Bonds?, American Economic Review, 91, 2001, 99–127.
- Caporale G., Ciferri D., Girardi A., Time-Varying Spot And Futures Oil Price Dynamics, *Cesifo Working Papers Series*, 3015, 2010.

- Carlson M., Khokher Z., Titman S., Equilibrium Exhaustible Resource Price Dynamics, *Journal Of Finance*, 62, 2007, 1663-1702.
- Carnot N., Hagege C., Le Marché Pétrolier, DP Analyses Economiques, 53, 2004.
- Carter C., Revoredo-Giha C., The Working Curve And Commodity Storage Under Backwardation, American Journal Of Agricultural Economics, 89, 2007, 864– 872.
- Casey T., (2011), 'The Legacy Of The Crash: How The Financial Crisis Changed America And Britain', Basingstoke UK: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Casey T., Alistair H., New Labour And The British Model Of Capitalism, In Casey T., (2009), 'The Blair Legacy: Politics, Policy, Governance And Foreign Affairs', Basingstoke, UK: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Casey T., Mapping Stability And Change In Advanced Capitalisms, *Comparative European Politics*, 7(2), 2009, 255-278.
- Cashell B., The Economics Of The Federal Budget Deficit, CRS Report For Congress, Congressional Research Service, The Library Of Congress, Updated January 28, 2005.
- Cassidy J., (2009), 'How Markets Fail: The Logic Of Economic Calamities', London, UK: Penguin Books.
- Cavalcante M., Preços Do Petróleo E Bolhas Especulativas: Evidências Para O Período 2003–2006, *Resumo Estratégico Petrobras*, 2007.
- Chakravorty U., Roumasset J., Tse K., Endogenous Substitution Among Energy Resources And Global Warming, *The Journal Of Political Economy*, 105, 1997, 1201–1234.
- Chambers M., Baileym R., A Theory Of Commodity Price Fluctuations, Journal Of Political Economy, 104, 1996, 924–957.
- Chang C., Daouk H., Wang A., Do Investors Learn About Analyst Accuracy? A Study Of The Oil Futures Market, *Journal Of Futures Markets*, 29, 2009, 414-429.

- Chang C., Mcaleer M., Tansuchat R., Analyzing And Forecasting Volatility Spillovers, Asymmetries And Hedging In Major Oil Markets, *Energy Economics*, 32, 2010, 1445-1455.
- Chassard C., Halliwell M., The NYMEX Crude Oil Futures Market: An Analysis Of Its Performance, *Oxford Institute Of Energy Studies Working Paper*, 1986.
- Chaudhuri K., Daniel B., Long-Run Equilibrium Real Exchange Rates And Oil Prices, *Economics Letters*, 58, 1998.
- Chen S., Revisiting The Inflationary Effects Of Oil Prices, *Energy Journal*, 30, 2009, 141-154.
- Cheney D., Vice President Honors Veterans Of Korean War, VFW 103d National Convention, August 29, 2002, URL: Http://Www.Whitehouse.Gov.
- Chernenko S., Schwarz K., Wright J., The Information Content Of Forward And Futures Prices: Market Expectations And The Price Of Risk, *International Finance Discussion Papers*, 808, 2004.
- Chetty R., Friedman J., Hilger N., Saez E., Schanzenbach D., Yagan D., How Does Your Kindergarten Classroom Affect Your Earnings? Evidence From Project STAR, *Quarterly Journal Of Economics*, 126(4), 2011, 1593-1660.
- Chicago Board Options Exchange, The CBOE Volatility Index VIX, Chicago Board Options Exchange, Chicago, 2009, Http://Www.Cboe.Com/Micro/Vix/Vixwhite.Pdf.
- Chinn M., Coibion O., The Predictive Content Of Commodity Futures, University Of Wisconsin, Madison And National Bureau Of Economic Research, Working Paper, 2010.
- Chinn M., Leblanc M., Coibion O., The Predictive Content Of Energy Futures: An Update On Petroleum, Natural Gas, Heating Oil And Gasoline, *National Bureau Of Economic Research*, Working Paper, 2005.

- Chiou-Wei S., Linn S., Zhu Z., Fundamental News And The Behaviour Of Commodity Prices: Price Discovery And Spike In U.S. Natural Gas Prices, University Of Oklahoma, Working Paper, 2010.
- Cho D., 'Transparency Sought As Speculators' Activity In Oil Markets Grows', The Washington Post, 28 July, 2008, Http://Articles.Washingtonpost.Com/2008-07-28/Business/36898444_1_Cftc-Swap-Dealers-Oil-Markets.
- Chong J., Miffre J., Conditional Correlation And Volatility In Commodity Futures And Traditional Asset Markets, *Journal Of Alternative Investments*, 12, 2010, 61-075.
- Choy M., Gregorio D., Burgdorfer B., Oil dives \$4 as supplies rise, Saudi talk spooks funds, Sep 19, 2012, http://www.reuters.com/article/2012/09/19/us-markets-oilidUSBRE88G02F20120919.
- Christophers B., Anaemic Geographies Of Financialization, *New Political Economy*, 2011, 1-21.
- Cifarelli G., Paladino G., Oil Price Dynamics And Speculation: A Multivariate Financial Approach, *Energy Economics*, 32, 2010, 363–372.
- Cinti V., The Political Economy Of Oil Depletion, Facoltà Di Economia 'Marco Biagi', Corso Di Laurea In Management Internazionale Imprese E Mercati Internazionali, Universita, Degli Studi Di Modena E Reggio Emillia, 2008.
- Clapp J., Food Price Volatility And The Vulnerability In The Global South: Considering The Global Economic Context, *Third World Quarterly*, Routledge, 2009.
- Clapp J., Helleiren E., Troubled Futures? The Global Food Crisis And The Politics Of Agricultural Derivatives Regulation, *Review Of International Political Economy*, 2010.
- Clark P., Mcdonald R., Exchange Rates And Economic Fundamentals: A Methodological Comparison Of Beers And Feers, *IMF Working Paper*, 98(00), 1998.

- Clewlow L., Strickland C., (2000), 'Energy Derivatives: Pricing And Risk Management', London, UK: Lacima Publications.
- Cochrane J., Financial Markets And The Real Economy, In Cochrane J., (2006), *'Financial Markets And The Real Economy'*, London, UK: Edward Elgar.
- Cochrane J., Production-Based Asset Pricing And The Link Between Stock Returns And Economic Fluctuations, *Journal Of Finance*, 46, 1991a, 207–234.
- Cochrane J., Production-Based Asset Pricing And The Link Between Stock Returns And Economic Fluctuations, *Journal Of Finance*, XLVI, 1991b, 209–237.
- Cologni A., Manera M., Oil Prices, Inflation And Interest Rates In A Structural Co Integrated VAR Model For The G-7 Countries, *Energy Economics*, 30, 2005, 856-888.
- Commodities Futures Trading Commission, Commodities Futures Trading Commission Actions In Response To The `Comprehensive Review Of The Commitments Of Traders Reporting Program', CFTC, 5 December, 2006a, Http://Www.Docstoc.Com/Docs/873643/Comprehensive-Review-Of-The-Commitments-Of-Traders-Reporting-Program.
- Commodities Futures Trading Commission, Comprehensive Review Of The Commitments Of Traders Reporting Program, *Federal Register*, 71(119), 2006b, 35627–35632.
- Commodities Futures Trading Commission, Interim Report On Crude Oil, *Interagency Task Force On Commodity Markets*, Washington, DC, 2008a Http://Www.Cftc.Gov/Stellent/Groups/Public/@Newsroom/Documents/File/Itfint erimreportoncrudeoil0708.Pdf.
- Commodities Futures Trading Commission, Report On The Oversight Of Trading On Regulated Futures Exchanges And Exempt Commercial Markets, *CFTC*, 2007, Http://Www.Cftc.Gov/Stellent/Groups/Public/@Newsroom/Documents/File/Pr54 03-07_Ecmreport.Pdf.

Commodities Futures Trading Commission, Staff Report On Commodity Swap Dealers & Index Traders With Commission Recommendations, Washington, DC, *CFTC*, 2008b

Http://Www.Cftc.Gov/Stellent/Groups/Public/@Newsroom/Documents/File/Cftcs taffreportonswapdealers09.Pdf.

- Commodities Futures Trading Commission, Statement By Chairman Gensler On Speculative Position Limits And Enhanced, Washington, August 5 2009a, Www.Cftc.Gov.
- Commodities Futures Trading Commission. About The Commitments Of Traders Reports, *CFTC*, 2009b, Http://Www.Cftc.Gov/Marketreports/Commitmentsoftraders/Cot_About.Html.
- Commodity Futures Trading Commission, 2009c, Index Investment Data. Http://Www.Cftc.Gov/Ucm/Groups/Public/@Marketreports/Documents/File/Inde xinvestment 1209.Pdf.
- Commodity Futures Trading Commission, ITF Interim Report On Crude Oil, July 2008c, Transparency Initiatives, Available At Www.Cftc.Gov.
- Commodity Futures Trading Commission, Staff Report On Commodity Swap Dealers & Index Traders With Commission Recommendations, 2008d, Http://Www.Cftc.Gov /Ucm/Groups/Public/@Newsroom/Documents/File/Cftcstaffreportonswapdealers 09.Pdf.
- Commodity Research Bureau, Datacenter CD, Futures Price Database, *Commodity Research Bureau*, Chicago, 2011.
- Considine T. J., Is The Strategic Petroleum Reserve Our Ace In The Hole?, *Energy Journal*, 27, 2006, 91-112.
- Cooper G., (2008), 'The Origin Of Financial Crisis, Central Banks, Credit Bubbles And The Efficient Market Fallacy', London, UK: Harriman House Ltd.

- Cooper I., Priestley R., Stock Return Predictability In A Production Economy, Norwegian School Of Management, Manuscript, 2005.
- Cooper J., Price Elasticity Of Demand For Crude Oil: Estimates For 23 Countries, OPEC Review, 27(1), 2003, 1-8.
- Cooper R., Oil, The Middle East And The World Economy, In Nye J., Smith R., (1992), 'After The Storm, Lessons From The Gulf War', London, UK: Madison Books.
- Copeland L., (2005), '*Exchange Rates And International Finance, Fourth Edition*', Essex: Pearson Education Limited.
- Coppola A., Forecasting Oil Price Movements: Exploiting The Information In The Futures Market, *Journal Of Futures Markets*, 28, 2008, 34-56.
- Copson R., Iraq War: Background And Issues Overview, *Report For Congress Received Through The CRS Web*, Foreign Affairs, Defence, And Trade Division, Order Code RL31715, Updated April 22, 2003.
- Cordonnier L., Le Profit Sans L'accumulation: La Recette Du Capitalisme Dominé Par La Finance, Innovations, *Cahiers d'Economie De l'Innovation*, 23, 2006, 51-72.
- Cornille D., Pricing Methodology: What Is The Reason For The Greater Volatility Of Consumer Prices Of Gas And Electricity In Belgium?, *NBB, Economic Review*, 4, 2009.
- Cortazar G., Milla C., Severino F., A Multicommodity Model Of Futures Prices: Using Futures Prices Of One Commodity To Estimate The Stochastic Process Of Another, *Journal Of Futures Markets*, 28, 2008, 537-560.
- Cortazar G., Naranjo L., An N-Factor Gaussian Model Of Oil Futures Prices, *Journal* Of Futures Markets, 26, 2006, 243-268.
- Cortazar G., Schwartz E., Implementing A Stochastic Model For Oil Futures Prices, *Energy Economics*, 25, 2003, 215-238.
- Cortright J., Driven To The Brink: How The Gas Price Spike Popped The Housing Bubble And Devalued The Suburbs, *Discussion Paper, Ceos For Cities*, 2008.

- Coudert V., Mignon V., Penot A., Oil Price And The Dollar, *Energy Studies Review V*, 15(2), 2007.
- Cox R., (1987), 'Production, Power, And World Order', New York: Columbia University Press.
- Cox R., (1996), Gramsci, Hegemony And International Relations: An Essay In Method, In Cox R., Sinclair T., 'Approaches To World Order', Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Cox R., (2002), 'The Political Economy Of A Plural World: Reflections On Power, Morality And Civilizations', London, UK: Routledge.
- Cox R., Social Forces, States And World Orders: Beyond International Relations Theory, *Journal Of International Studies*, 10(2), 1981, 126-155.
- Crotty J., Core Industries, Coercive Competition And The Structural Contradictions Of Global Neoliberalism, In Phelps N., Raines P., (2003), 'The New Competition For Inward Investment: Companies, Institutions And Territorial Development', Northampton: Edward Elgar.
- Crotty J., Epstein G., Avoiding Another Meltdown, Challenge, 52(1), 2009, 5–26.
- Crotty J., Goldstein D., Do U.S. Capital Markets Allocate Capital Efficiently? The Case Of Corporate Restructuring In The 1980s, In Dymski G., Epstein G., Pollin R., (1993), 'Transforming The U.S. Financial System: Equity And Efficiency For The 21st Century', Armonk, NY: M.E. Sharpe.
- Crotty J., If Financial Market Competition Is So Intense, Why Are Financial Firm Profits So High? Reflections On The Current 'Golden Age' Of Finance, *Political Economy Research Institute (PERI) Working Paper*, 134, 2007.
- Crotty J., Owner-Management Conflict And Financial Theories Of Investment Instability: A Critical Assessment Of Keynes, Tobin, And Minsky, Journal Of Post Keynesian Economics, 12, 1990a, 519-542.

- Crotty J., Profound Structural flaws In The U.S. financial System Helped Cause The Current Global financial Crisis, *Political And Economic Weekly*, XLIV, 13, 2009b, 127–35.
- Crotty J., Slow Growth, Destructive Competition, And Low Road Labor Relations: A Keynes-Marxschumpeter Analysis Of Neoliberal Globalization, *Political And Economic Weekly*, Working Paper, 2000a.
- Crotty J., Structural Causes Of The Global Financial Crisis: A Critical Assessment Of The New Financial Architecture, *Political Economy Research Institute (PERI)*, Working Paper, 180, 2008.
- Crotty J., Structural Contradictions Of The Global Neoliberal Regime, *Review Of Radical Political Economics*, 32(3), 2000b, 361-68.
- Crotty J., The Effects Of Increased Product Market Competition And Changes In Financial Markets On The Performance Of Nonfinancial Corporations In The Neoliberal Era, *Political And Economic Weekly*, Working Paper, 2002a.
- Crotty J., The Neoliberal Paradox: The Impact Of Destructive Product Market Competition And 'Modern' Financial Markets On Nonfinancial Corporation Performance In The Neoliberal Era, In Epstein G., (2005), *`Financialization And The World Economy'*, London: Edward Elgar.
- Crotty J., Why Is There Chronic Excess Capacity, Challenge, 45(6), 2002b, 21-44.
- Cunado J., Gil-Alana L., De Gracia F., Persistence In Some Energy Futures Markets, Journal Of Futures Markets, 30, 2010, 490-507.
- CWC Group, *East Africa Oil And Gas*, London UK, October 2012a, (Conference Attended By The Author).
- CWC Group, *Nocs Conference*, London UK, June 2012b, (Conference Attended By The Author).
- Dahl C., A Survey Of Oil Demand Elasticities For Developing Countries, *OPEC Review*, 17, 1993, 399-419.

- Dahl C., Sterner T., Analysing Gasoline Demand Elasticities: A Survey, *Energy Economics*, 13, 1991, 203-210.
- Dargay J., Gately D., World Oil Demand's Shift Toward Faster Growing And Less Price-Responsive Products And Regions, *Energy Policy*, 38, 2010, 6261-6277.
- Darwin C., (1996), 'The Origin Of Species', Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Das S., (2006), 'Traders Guns And Money: Knowns And Unknowns In The Dazzling World Of Derivatives', Harlow: Prentice Hall.
- Das S., Sundaram R., Of Smiles And Smirks: A Term Structure Perspective, *Journal Of Financial And Quantitative Analysis*, 34, 1999, 211-239.
- Davidson P., Crude Oil Prices: Market Fundamentals Or Speculation?, *Challenge Magazine*, 2008.
- De Carvalho A., Paavo S., The Iraq War, Crude Oil And The Global Economic Outlook, *Suhdanne*, 1, 2003.
- De Jong F., Measures Of Contributions To Price Discovery: A Comparison, *Journal Of Financial Markets*, 5, 2002, 323–327.
- Deaton A., Laroque G., Competitive Storage And Commodity Price Dynamics, *Journal Of Political Economy*, 104, 1996, 896–923.
- Deaton A., Laroque G., On The Behaviour Of Commodity Prices, *Review Of Economic Studies*, 59, 1992, 1–23.
- Deb P., Trivedi P., Varangis P., The Excess Co-Movement Of Commodity Prices Reconsidered, *Journal Of Applied Econometrics*, 11, 1996, 275–291.
- Dees S., Gastauil A., Kaufmann R., Mann M., Assessing The Factors Behind Oil Price Changes, *European Central Bank*, Working Paper, 2008.
- Dees S., Karadeloglou P., Kaufmann R., Sanchez M., Modelling The World Oil Market: Assessment Of A Quarterly Econometric Model, *Energy Policy*, 35, 2007, 178-191.

- Delong B., Shleifer A., Summers L., Waldmann R., Noise Trader Risk In Financial Markets, *Journal Of Political Economy*, 98, 1990a, 703-38.
- Delong B., Shleifer A., Summers L., Waldmann R., Positive Feedback Investment Strategies And Destabilizing Rational Expectations, *Journal Of Finance*, 45, 1990b, 375-95.
- Demirer R., Kutan A., The Behaviour Of Crude Oil Spot And Futures Prices Around OPEC And SPR Announcements: An Event Study Perspective, *Energy Economics*, 32, 2010, 1467-1476.
- Deutsche Bank, Commodities Outlook, Global Market Research, Deutsche Bank AG, 2008, Http://Www.Deutschebank.De/Medien/En/Downloads/Commodities_Outlook_11 _Jan.Pdf.
- Deutsche Bank, Commodities Outlook, Global Market Research, Deutsche Bank AG, 2009, Http://Www.Foxexchange.Com/Public/Fox/Advisors/Sa_Materials/Commo_Outl ook.Pdf.
- Dewally M., Ederington L., Fernando C., Determinants Of Trading Profits Of Individual Traders: Risk Premia Or Information?, *Towson University And University Of Oklahoma*, Working Paper, 2010.
- Diamond P., National Debt In A Neoclassical Growth Model, American Economic Review, 55, 1965, 1126-1150.
- Dibooglu S., Real Disturbances, Relative Prices, And Purchasing Power Parity, Southern Journal Of Economics, 1995.
- Diks C., Bekiros S., The Relationship Between Crude Oil Spot And Future Prices: Cointegration, Linear And Non-Linear Causality, *Energy Economics*, 30, 2008, 2673–2685.
- Diwan R., Testimony Before The US House Of Representatives Sub-Committee On Oversight And Investigation, US House Of Representatives Committee On Energy

AndCommerce,June23,2008,Http://Archives.Energycommerce.House.Gov/Cmte_Mtgs/110-Oihrg.062308.Energyspec.Shtml.

- Dixit A., Pindyck R., (1994), 'Investment Under Uncertainty', Princeton University Press: Princeton, NJ.
- Domanski D., Heath A., Financial Investors And Commodity Markets, *BIS Quarterly Review*, 2007, 53–67.
- Downey M., Threet J., Morgan W., (2002), '*Petroleum Provinces Of The Twenty-First Century*', Tulsa, OK: American Association Of Petroleum Geologists.
- Duffie D., Gray S., Hoang P., Volatility In Energy Prices, In Kaminski V., *Managing* Energy Price Risk, 3rd Edition², London, UK: Risk Publications, 2004.
- Duke D., Strulovici B., Capital Mobility And Asset Pricing, *Stanford University*, Working Paper, 2009.
- Dumenil G., Levy D., (2005), Costs And Benefits Of Neoliberalism: A Class Analysis, In Epstein G., 'Financialization And The World Economy', Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar.
- Duménil G., Lévy D., Neoliberal Dynamics Imperial Dynamics, Conference On Global Regulation, *University Of Sussex, Brighton*, UK, May 2003, 29-31.
- Dunford M., Theories Of Regulation, *Environment And Planning D: Society And Space*, 8, 1990, 297-321.
- Dvir E., Rogoff K., The Three Epochs Of Oil, Working Paper, Harvard University And National Bureau Of Economic Research, 2010.
- Dynarski S., Hyman J., Schanzenbach D., Experimental Evidence On The Effect Of Childhood Investments On Postsecondary Attainment And Degree Completion, *NBER*, Working Paper, 17533, 2011.
- Eastham J., Commodity Stocks And Prices, *The Review Of Economic Studies*, 6, 1939, 100-110.

- Economagic, Statistical Data, Accessed 14/01/2011, Http://Www.Economagic.Com/Em-Cgi/PW_Mchartomni.Exe/Form.
- Economic Report Of The President Together With The Annual Report Of The Council Of Economic Advisors, *United States Government Printing Office*, Washington, 2008.
- Economic Report Of The President, Statistical Data, United States Government Printing Office, Washington, 1974.
- Economides M., Boney C., (2000), 'Reservoir Stimulation In Petroleum Production. In Reservoir Stimulation', New York: Wiley And Sons.
- Edelstein P., Kilian L., How Sensitive Are Consumer Expenditures To Retail Energy Prices?, *Journal Of Monetary Economics*, 56(6), 2009.
- Edelstein P., Kilian L., Retail Energy Prices And Consumer Expenditures, *University Of Michigan*, Working Paper, 2007.
- Ederington L., Who Trades Futures And How: Evidence From The Heating Oil Futures Market, *Journal Of Business*, 75, 2002, 353-373.
- Efficiency Policies Around The World, Energy Efficiency Policies Around The World: Review And Evaluation Energy, *World Energy Council*, 2008, London (URL: Www.Worldenergy.Org).
- Einloth J., Speculation And Recent Volatility In The Price Of Oil, Division Of Insurance And Research, Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, Working Paper, 2009.
- Elam M., Puzzling Out The Post-Fordist Debate: Technology, Markets And Institutions, In Ash A., (1994), *Post-Fordism: A Reader'*, Oxford, UK: Blackwell.
- Energy Charter Secretariat, (2007), *Putting A Price On Energy: International Pricing Mechanisms For Oil And Gas'*, Brussels: ECS.

Energy Information Administration, 2012, Http://Www.Eia.Doe.Gov/.

- Energy Information Authority, *Short-Term Energy Outlook, The Dollar And The Price* Of Oil', 13 January, 2009.
- Energy Information Authority, 2009, Energy Price Volatility And Forecast Uncertainty,
 Short-Term Energy Outlook Supplement, U.S. Energy Information
 Administration.
 Http://Www.Eia.Doe.Gov/Emeu/Steo/Pub/Special/2009_Sp_05.Html.

Energy Information Authority, 2012, Http://Www.Eia.Gov.

- Energy Institute, *Oil Week Conference*, London UK, February, 2012, (Conference Attended By The Author).
- Energy Intelligence, The International Crude Oil Market Handbook, *Energy Intelligence Research*, 2007.
- Engle R., Granger C., Co Integration And Error Correction: Representation, Estimation And Testing, *Econometrica*, 55, 1987, 251-276.
- Engle R., Hendry D., Richard J., Exogeneity, Econometrica, 51, 1983, 277-304.
- Epstein G., Introduction: Financialization And The World Economy, In Epstein G., (2005b), *`Financialization And The World Economy'*, London, UK: Edward Elgar.
- Epstein G., Jayadev A., The Rise Of Rentier Incomes In OECD Countries: Financialization, Central Bank Policy And Labour Solidarity, In Epstein G., (2005a), *`Financialization And The World Economy'*, London, UK: Edward Elgar.
- Erb C., Campbell H., The Tactical And Strategic Value Of Commodity Futures, *Duke University*, Working Paper, 2005.
- Erb C., Harvey C., The Strategic And Tactical Value Of Commodity Futures, *Financial Analysts Journal*, 62, 2006, 69–97.
- Erber G., Hagemann H, (2005), 'The New Economy In A Growth Crisis', New York: Routledge.

- Espey M., Gasoline Demand Revisited: An International Meta-Analysis Of Elasticities, *Energy Economics*, 20, 1998, 273-295.
- Estrella A., Hardouvelis G., The Term Structure As A Predictor Of Real Economic Activity, *Journal Of Finance*, 46, 1991: 555–576.
- European Central Bank, (2010), *Energy Markets And The Euro Area Macroeconomy*, Structural Issues Report.
- Evans T., The Growth In NYMEX Trade, Citi Futures Perspective, *Energy Market* Analysis, Citigroup, 2009.
- Ewing B., Malik F., Ozfidan O., Volatility Transmission In The Oil And Natural Gas Markets, *Energy Economics*, 24, 2002, 525-538.
- Eydeland A., Wolyniec K., (2003), 'Energy And Power Risk Management', Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Fama E., Efficient Capital Markets: A Review Of Theory And Empirical Work, *Journal Of Finance*, 25, 1970, 383-417.
- Fama E., French K., Business Conditions And Expected Returns On Stocks And Bonds, Journal Of Financial Economics, 25, 1989, 23–49.
- Farrell S., 'Treasury Select Committee: Bonfire Of The Bankers', The Independent Online, Wednesday, 11 February 2009, Http://Www.Independent.Co.Uk/News/Business/Analysis-And-Features/Treasury-Select-Committee-Bonfire-Of-The-Bankers-1606332.Html.
- Faruqee H, Long-Run Determinants Of The Real Exchange Rate A Stock-Flow Perspective, *IMF Staff Papers*, 42, 1995, 855-881.
- Fattouh B., An Anatomy Of The Oil Pricing System, *Oxford Energy Comment*, Oxford, 2010a.
- Fattouh B., Oil Market Dynamics Through The Lens Of The 2002–2009 Price Cycle, Institute Of Energy Studies Working Paper, 2010b.

- Fattouh B., The Causes Of Crude Oil Price Volatility, *Middle East Economic Survey*, XLVIII, 2005.
- Fattouh B., The Drivers Of Oil Prices: The Usefulness And Limitations Of Non Structural Model, The Demand-Supply Framework And Informal Approaches, Oxford Institute For Energy Studies, University Of Oxford, Working Paper, 2007.
- Fazzari S., Keynesian Theories Of Investment: Neo- Post And New, *Revista Di Economica Politica*, 9(4), 1989, 103.
- Figuerola-Ferreti I., Gonzalo J., Modeling And Measuring Price Discovery On The NYMEX And IPE Crude Oil Markets, *Journal Of Econometrics*, 158, 2010, 95-107
- Fine B., (2009a), 'Beyond The Developmental State: An Introduction', London, UK: Mimeo.
- Fine B., Development As Zombieconomics In The Age Of Neo-Liberalism, Third World Quarterly, 30(5), 2009b, 885–904.
- Fine B., Financialisation And Social Policy, Prepared For Conference On 'Social And Political Dimensions Of The Global Crisis: Implications For Developing Countries', 12–13 November, 2009c, UNRISD, Geneva, Https://Eprints.Soas.Ac.Uk/7984.
- Fine B., Financialisation, The Value Of Labour Power, The Degree Of Separation, And Exploitation By Banking, SOAS Research Students, Summer Seminar Series, 2009d, Https://Eprints.Soas.Ac.Uk/7480
- Fine B., Looking At The Crisis Through Marx, International Socialist Review, 64, 2009e, 40-47.
- Fine B., Political Economy For The Rainbow Nation: Dividing The Spectrum?, Prepared For 'Making Sense Of Borders: Identity, Citizenship And Power In South Africa', South African Sociological Association, Annual Conference, June/July, Johannesburg, 2009e.

Fine B., Saad-Filho A., (2010), 'Marx's Capital, Fifth Edition', London: Pluto Press.

- Fitoussi J., (1982), 'Politique Monettaires Passive Ou Politique Economique?', Paris: Revue De L' OFCE.
- Fong W., See K., A Markov Switching Model Of The Conditional Volatility Of Crude Oil Futures Prices, *Energy Economics*, 24, 2002, 71–95.
- Forbes K., Rigobon R., No Contagion, Only Interdependence: Measuring Stock Market Co-Movements, *Journal Of Finance*, 57, 5, 2002, 2223-61.
- Foster A., Price Discovery In Oil Markets: A Time Varying Analysis Of The 1990–91 Gulf Conflict, *Energy Economics*, 18, 1996, 231–246.
- Foster J., The Financialization Of Capitalism, Monthly Review, 58(11), 2008, 1-12.
- Fotak V., Linn S., Zhu Z., Natural Gas Price Volatility, *Natural Gas And Electricity*, 24, 2008, 8-13.
- Frankel J., A Proposed Monetary Regime For Small Commodity-Exporters: Peg The Export Price, John F. Kennedy School Of Harvard University Faculty Research Papers Series, 2003.
- Frankel J., Commodity Prices, Monetary Policy, And Currency Regimes, *National Bureau Of Economic Research*, Working Paper, 2006.
- Frankel J., Rose A., Determinants Of Agricultural And Mineral Commodity Prices, Kennedy School Of Government, Harvard University, Working Paper, 2009.
- Frankel J., The Effect Of Monetary Policy On Real Commodity Prices, Asset Prices And Monetary Policy, *University Of Chicago Press*, 2008.
- Frankel J., Why Are Commodity Prices So High? Don't Forget Low Interest Rates, *The Financial Times*, 15 April, 2005.
- Freund C., The Trade Response To Global Downturns: Historical Evidence, *Policy Research Working Paper, The World Bank,* 5015, 2009.

- Friedman M., 'Inflation And Unemployment: The New Dimension Of Politics', In Mayer M., (1980) 'The Fate Of The Dollar', New York: Times Books.
- Froud J., Boden R., Ogus A., Stubbs P., (1998), 'Controlling The Regulators', London, UK: Macmillan.
- Froud J., Haslam C., Johal S., Williams K., Shareholder Value And Financialization: Consultancy Promises, Management Moves, *Economy And Society*, 29(1), 2000, 80-110.
- Froud J., Johal S., Leaver A., Williams K., (2006), 'Financialization And Strategy: Narrative And Numbers', London, UK: Routledge.
- Froud J., Johal S., Leaver A., Williams K., Financialisation, Strategy And Governance: Or What Management Has Become, 2002, Http://Www.Mngt.Waikato.Ac.Nz/Ejrot/Cmsconference/2003/Abstracts/Criticala ccounting/Froud.Pdf.
- Froud J., Johal S., Papazian V., Williams K., The Temptation Of Huston: A Case-Study Of Financialization, *Critical Perspectives On Accounting*, 15(6-7), 2004, 885-909.
- Fusaro P., Vasey G., Energy & Environmental Funds. Continuing To Offer Superior Opportunities?, *Commodities Now*, 2006, 1–3.
- Garbade K., Silber W., Price Movements And Price Discovery In Futures And Cash Markets, *Review Of Economics And Statistics*, 65, 1983, 289-297.
- Gately D., Huntington H., The Asymmetric Effects Of Changes In Price And Income On Energy And Oil Demand, *Energy Journal*, 23(1), 2002, 19-55.
- Gaudet G., Natural Resource Economics Under The Rule Of Hotelling, *Canadian Journal Of Economics*, 40, 2007, 1033-1059.
- Gay G, Simkins B., Turac M., Analysts Forecasts And Price Discovery In Futures Markets: The Case Of Natural Gas Storage, *Journal Of Futures Markets*, 29, 2009, 451-477.

- Geanakoplos J., Liquidity, Default And Crashes: Endogenous Contracts In General Equilibrium, In Advances In Economics And Econometrics: Theory And Applications, Eighth World Conference, Volume II, *Econometric Society Monographs*, 2003, 170-205.
- Geanakoplos J., Polemarchakis H., Existence, Regularity, And Constrained Suboptimality Of Competitive Allocations When The Asset Market Is Incomplete, In Heller W., Starr R., Starrett D., (1986), 'Uncertainty, Information And Communication, Essays In Honor Of Kenneth J. Arrow', Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Geanakoplos J., The Leverage Cycle, NBER Macro Annual, 2009.
- Geman H., Ohana S., Mean-Reversion And Structural Breaks In Crude Oil, Copper And Shipping, In Geman H., (2008), *`Risk Management In Commodity Markets'*.
- Gheit F., Testimony Before The US House Of Representatives Sub-Committee On Oversight And Investigation, US House Of Representatives Committee On Energy And Commerce, June 23, 2008, Http://Archives.Energycommerce.House.Gov/Cmte_Mtgs/110-Oihrg.062308.Energyspec.Shtml.
- Gibson R., Schwartz E., Stochastic Convenience Yield And The Pricing Of Oil Contingent Claims, *Journal Of Finance*, 45, 1990, 959-976.
- Gilbert C., Commodity Speculation And Commodity Investment, University Of Trento And University Of London, Working Paper, 2008.
- Gilbert C., Speculative Influences On Commodity Futures Prices, 2006-2008, University Of Trento, Working Paper, 2009.
- Glipin R., (1981), '*War And Change In The World Politics*', Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.

Gold	dman Sachs,	(2011),
	Http://Www2.Goldmansachs.Com/Services/Securities/Products/Sp-Gs	
	Commodity-Index/Tables.Html	

- Goldthau A., Preventing The Perfect Storm: How To Reform The Institutional Architecture Of Global Energy Supply, *FACET Commentary*, 10, May 2008
- Golerick S., (2010), 'Oil Panic And The Global Crisis: Predictions And Myths', London, UK: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Golub S., Oil Prices And Exchange Rates, *The Economic Journal*, 93(371), 1983, 576-593.
- Gonzalo J., Granger C., Estimation Of Common Long-Memory Components In Co Integrated Systems, *Journal Of Business & Economic Statistics*, 13, 1995, 27–35.
- Gonzalo J., Ng S., A Systematic Framework For Analyzing The Dynamic Effects Of Permanent And Transitory Shocks, *Journal Of Economic Dynamics Control*, 25, 2001, 1527–1546.
- Gopinath G., Itskhoki., Rigobon R., Currency Choice And Exchange Rate Pass-Through, American Economic Review, 100, 2001, 304-336.
- Gorton G., Hayashi F., Rouwenhorst K., The Fundamentals Of Commodity Futures Returns, *Yale ICF Working Paper*, 07–08, 2008.
- Gorton G., Rouwenhorst K., Facts And Fantasies About Commodity Futures, *Financial Analysts Journal*, 62, 2006, 47–68.
- Gppi Policy Paper No. 1: The 2008 Oil Price Shock, 28, 2010.
- Graefe L., The Peak Oil Debate, *Federal Reserve Bank Of Atlanta, Economic Review*, 94, 2009.
- Graham D., Glaister S., Road Traffic Demand Elasticity Estimates: A Review, *Transport Reviews*, 24(3), 2004, 261-274.
- Great Falls Va., *Hoary Myth Laid To Rest*, The Nation Online, November 12, 2008, URL Website: (Http://Www.Thenation.Com/Doc/20081201/Letter).
- Greenberger M., Testimony Before The US House Of Representatives Sub Committee On Oversight And Investigation, US House Of Representatives Committee On

Energy And Commerce, June 23, 2008, Http://Archives.Energycommerce.House.Gov/Cmte_Mtgs/110-Oihrg.062308.Energyspec.Shtml.

Greenspan A., (2008), 'The Age Of Turbulence', New York: Penguin Books.

- Greer R., The Nature Of Commodity Index Returns, *Journal Of Alternative Investments*, 3(1), 2000, 45-52.
- Griffin J., Schulman G., Price Asymmetry In Energy Demand Models: A Proxy For Energy-Saving Technical Change, *Energy Journal*, 26, 2005, 1–21.
- Gronwald M., Jumps In Oil Prices: Evidence And Implications, *Institute For Economic Research, University Of Munich*, Working Paper, 2009.
- Gros D., The China Bubble Fuelling Record Oil Prices, Financial Times, July 9, 2008.
- Grossman G., Yanagawa N., Asset Bubbles And Endogenous Growth, *Journal Of Monetary Economics*, 31, 1993, 3-19.
- Guera S., Long Run Relationship Between Oil Prices And Aggregate Oil Investment: Empirical Evidence, United States Association Of Energy Economists, Working Paper, 2008.
- Guilford G., Testimony Before The US House Of Representatives Sub-Committee On Oversight And Investigation, US House Of Representatives Committee On Energy And Commerce, June 23, 2008, Http://Archives.Energycommerce.House.Gov/Cmte_Mtgs/110-Oihrg.062308.Energyspec.Shtml.
- Gülcan Y., Erhan Bilman M., The Effects Of Budget Deficit Reduction On Exchange Rate: Evidence From Turkey, Dokuz Eylül University, Faculty Of Business, Department Of Economics, Discussion Paper Series, 07, 2005
- Gurrib I., The Impact Of Speculators' Activity On Crude Oil Futures Prices, *Prince Sultan University*, Working Paper, 2007.

- Guttmann R., (2002), 'Cybercash: The Coming Era Of Electronic Money', London, UK: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Habib M., Kalamova M., Are There Oil Currencies? The Real Exchange Rate Of Oil Exporting Countries, *European Central Bank*, Working Paper, 839, 2007.
- Haigh M., Hranaiova J., Overdahl J., Price Dynamics, Price Discovery And Large Futures Trader Interactions In The Energy Complex, US Commodity Futures Trading Commission, Working Paper, 2005.
- Hakes E., (1998), 'The Energy Information Administration', 2000, Http://Www.Infoplease.Com/Ce6/History/A0838511.Html.
- Hall P., Soskice D., (2001), 'Varieties Of Capitalism: The Institutional Foundations Of Comparative Advantage', Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hall R., Macro Theory And The Recession Of 1990-1991, *American Economic Review*, 83, 1993.
- Hall R., Measuring Factor Adjustment Costs, *Quarterly Journal Of Economics*, 119(3), 2004, 899-928.
- Hamilton J., Causes And Consequences Of The Oil Shock Of 2007–2008, *Brookings* Papers On Economic Activity, 2009a.
- Hamilton J., Understanding Crude Oil Prices, Energy Journal 30, 2, 2009b, 179–206.
- Hamilton J., (1994a), 'Time Series Analysis', Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Hamilton J., A Neoclassical Model Of Unemployment And The Business Cycle, Journal Of Political Economy, 96, 1988, 593-617.
- Hamilton J., Daily Monetary Policy Shocks And New Home Sales, Journal Of Monetary Economics, 55, 2008, 1171-1190.
- Hamilton J., Oil And The Macroeconomy Since World War II, *Journal Of Political Economy*, 91, 1983, 228-248.

- Hamilton J., Oil Prices And The Economic Downturn, *Testimony Before The Joint* Economic Committee Of The United States Congress, May 20, 2009c.
- Hamilton J., State Space Models, In: Engle, R.F., Mcfadden, D., (1994b), Handbook Of Econometrics: Volume IV, New York: Elsevier Science.
- Hamilton J., This Is What Happened To The Oil Price Macroeconomic Relationship, Journal Of Monetary Economics, 38(2), 1996, 215-220.
- Hamilton J., What Is An Oil Shock?, Journal Of Econometrics, 113(2), 2003, 363-398.
- Hardouvelis G., Asset Prices And The Need For New Policy Instruments: The Case Of Countercyclical Margin Policy, *Cyclicality And International Financial Stability*, *Banque De France*, 2003, 331- 350.
- Hardouvelis G., Stamatiou T., Hedge Funds And The US Real Estate Bubble: Evidence From NYSE Real Estate Firms, *University Of Piraeus Working Paper*, 2009.
- Hartley P., Medlock K., Rosthall E., The Relationship Of Natural Gas To Oil Prices, *Energy Journal*, 29, 2008, 47-65.
- Harvey D., (1969), 'Explanation In Geography', London: Edward Arnold.
- Harvey D., (1973), 'Social Justice And The City', London: Edward Arnold.
- Harvey D., (1982), 'The Limits To Capital', Chicago: University Of Chicago Press.
- Harvey D., (1985a), 'The Urbanization Of Capital: Studies In The History And Theory Of Capitalist Urbanization', Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Harvey D., (1985b), 'Consciousness And The Urban Experience: Studies In The History And Theory Of Capitalist Urbanization', Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Harvey D., (1989), 'The Condition Of Postmodernity: An Enquiry Into The Origin Of Cultural Change', Oxford: Blackwell.
- Harvey D., (2003), 'The New Imperialism', Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Harvey D., On Obfuscation In Geography: A Comment On Gale's Heterodoxy, *Geographical Analysis*, 4, 1972, 232–230.
- Hasbrouck J., One Security, Many Markets: Determining The Contributions To Price Discovery, *Journal Of Finance*, 50, 1995, 1175-1199.
- He Y., Wang S., Lai K., Global Economic Activity And Crude Oil Prices: A Cointegration Analysis, *Energy Economics*, 32, 2010, 868–876.
- Hein E., A Keynesian Perspective On 'Financialisation', In Arestis P., Sawyer M., (2010), '21st Century Keynesian Economics', Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Hein E., Monetary Policy And Wage Bargaining In The EMU: Restrictive ECB Policies, High Unemployment, Nominal Wage Restraint And Inflation Above The Target, *Banca Nazionale Del Lavoro Quarterly Review*, 55, 2002, 299-337.
- Hein E., Niechoj T., Guidelines For Sustained Growth In The EU? The Concept And The Consequences Of The Broad Economic Policy Guidelines, In Mccombie J., Rodriguez C., (2007a), 'The European Union. Current Problems And Prospects', Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Hein E., Niechoj T., Schulten T., Truger A., (2005), 'Macroeconomic Policy Coordination In Europe And The Role Of The Trade Unions', Brussels: ETUI.
- Hein E., Schulten T., Truger A., Deflation Risks In Germany And The EMU: The Role Of Wages And Wage Bargaining, In Hein E., Heise A., Truger A., (2006), 'Wages, Employment, Distribution And Growth. International Perspectives', Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Hein E., Shareholder Value Orientation, Distribution And Growth Short- And Medium Run Effects In A Kaleckian Model, *Metroeconomica*, 2009a.
- Hein E., Stockhammer E., A Post-Keynesian Macroeconomic Policy Mix As An Alternative To The New Consensus Approach, In Arestis P., Mccombie J., (2009b), 'Unemployment: Past And Present', Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Hein E., Stockhammer E., Macroeconomic Policy Mix, Employment And Inflation In A Post-Keynesian Alternative To The New Consensus Model, *Review Of Political Economy*, 2010a.
- Hein E., Truger A., Financial Crisis, Global Recession And Macroeconomic Policy Reactions – The Case Of Germany, In Dullien S., Hein E., Truger A., Van Treeck T., (2010b), 'The World Economy In Crisis – The Return Of Keynesianism?', Marburg: Metropolis.
- Hein E., Truger A., Fiscal Policy And Macroeconomic Performance In The Euro Area: Lessons For The Future, In Bibow J., Terzi A., (2007b), 'Euroland And The World Economy. Global Player Or Global Drag?', Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Hein E., Truger A., Germany'S Post-2000 Stagnation In The European Context A Lesson In Macroeconomic Mismanagement, In Arestis P., Hein E., Le Heron E., (2007c), 'Aspects Of Modern Monetary And Macroeconomic Policies', Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Hein E., Truger A., How To Fight (Or Not To Fight) A Slowdown: Lessons From France, Germany, The UK And Sweden, 1996 – 2005, *Challenge*, 52(2), 2009c, 52-75.
- Hein E., Truger A., Macroeconomic Coordination As An Economic Policy Concept Opportunities And Obstacles In The EMU, In Hein E., Niechoj T., Schulten T., Truger A., (2005a), 'Macroeconomic Policy Coordination In Europe And The Role Of The Trade Unions', Brussels: ETUI.
- Hein E., Truger A., Monetary Policy, Macroeconomic Policy Mix And Economic Performance In The Euro Area, In Hein E., Truger A., (2007d), 'Money, Distribution And Economic Policy: Alternatives To Orthodox Macroeconomics', Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Hein E., Truger A., What Ever Happened To Germany? Is The Decline Of The Former European Key Currency Country Caused By Structural Sclerosis Or By

Macroeconomic Mismanagement?, *International Review Of Applied Economics*, 19, 2005b, 3-28.

- Hein E., Van Treeck T., 'Financialisation' In Post-Keynesian Models Of Distribution
 And Growth A Systematic Review, In Setterfield M., (2010c), 'Handbook Of
 Alternative Theories Of Economic Growth', Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Henwood D. (2005), 'After The New Economy', London, UK: The New Press.
- Herbert S., Truxton B., (1916), 'The Man Versus The State: A Collection Of Essays', Great Britain: M. Kennerley.
- Herings J., Peeters R., Homotopy Methods To Compute Equilibria In Game Theory, *Economic Theory*, 42(1), 2010, 119-156.
- Herrera A., Pesavento E., Oil Price Shocks, Systematic Monetary Policy, And The Great Moderation, *Macroeconomic Dynamics*, 13, 2009, 107–137.
- Hilferding R., (1904), 'Böhm-Bawerk's Criticism Of Marx', New York: Kelley.
- Hilferding R., (1910), 'Finance Capital', London, UK: Routledge.
- Hille K., China's Diesel And Petrol Buying Spree Poised To End, FPCC Warns, *Financial Times*, 25 August, 2008.
- Hirsch R., The Inevitable Peaking Of World Oil Production, *Atlantic Council Bulletin*, XVI, 3, 2005.
- Holm P., Which Way Is Up On Callon?, In Mackenzie D., Muniesa F., Siu L., (2007),
 `Do Economics Make Markets? On The Performativity Of Economics', UK: Princeton University Press.
- Holz M., Asset-Based Reserve Requirements: A New Monetary Policy Instrument For Targeting Diverging Real Estate Prices In The Euro Area, *Intervention. Journal Of Economics*, 4, 2007, 331-351.
- Hong Y., A Test For Volatility Spillover With Application To Exchange Rates, *Journal Of Econometrics*, 103(1-2), 2001, 183-224.

- Hooker M., Are Oil Shocks Inflationary? Asymmetric And Nonlinear Specifications Versus Changes In Regime, *Journal Of Money, Credit, And Banking*, 34(2), 2002, 540-561.
- Hooker M., What Happened To The Oil Price Macroeconomic Relationship?, *Journal Of Monetary Economics*, 38, 1996, 195-213.
- Höpner M., What Connects Industrial Relations With Corporate Governance? Explaining Complementarity, *Socio-Economic Review*, 3(2), 2005, 331–358.
- Horan S., Peterson J., Mahar J., Implied Volatility Of Oil Futures Options Surrounding OPEC Meetings, *Energy Journal*, 25, 2004, 103-125.
- Horn G., Et Al., From The Financial Crisis To The World Economic Crisis. The Role Of Inequality, *IMK Policy Brief*, 2009.
- Horsnell P., Mabro R., (1993), 'Oil Markets And Prices', Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hotelling H., The Economics Of Exhaustible Resources, *Journal Of Political Economy*, 39, 1931, 137-175.
- Hoynes H., Schanzenbach D., Consumption Reponses To In-Kind Transfers: Evidence From The Introduction Of The Food Stamp Program, American Economic Journal: Applied Economics, 1(4), 2009, 109-139.
- Huang R., Masulis R., Stoll H., Energy Shocks And Financial Markets, Journal Of Futures Markets, 16, 1996, 1-27.
- Hubbard R., Supply Shocks And Price Adjustment In The World Oil Market, *Quarterly* Journal Of Economics, 101(1), 1986, 85-102.
- Hubbert M, Nuclear Energy And The Fossil Fuels, Shell Development Company Exploration And Research Division, Publication, 95, 1956. Http://Www.Hubbertpeak.Com/Hubbert/1956/1956.Pdf.
- Hubbert M., Energy From Fossil Fuels, *Centennial, American Association, Advancement Science*, 1950, 171-177.

- Hübner K. (2005), 'The New Economy In A Transatlantic Perspective: Spaces Of Innovation', London, UK: Routledge.
- Hudson D., Coble K., Harvest Contract Price Volatility For Cotton, *Journal Of Futures Markets*, 19, 1999, 717–733.
- Hughes J., Knittel C., Sperling D., Evidence Of A Shift In The Short-Run Price Elasticity Of Gasoline Demand, *Energy Journal*, 29(1), 2008, 93-114.
- Hull J., (2008), 'Options, Futures And Other Derivative Securities', Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Hungnes H., Identifying Structural Breaks In Co Integrated VAR Models, *Discussion Papers Research Department Of Statistics*, 422, 2005.
- Hunter W., Kaufman G, Pomerleano M., (2003), 'Asset Price Bubbles: The Implications For Monetary, Regulatory, And International Policies', Massachusetts: MIT Press.
- Hybel R., (1993), 'Power Over Rationality, The Bush Administration And The Gulf Crisis', New York: State University Press.
- In Nye J., Smith R., (1992), 'After The Storm, Lessons From The Gulf War', London: Madison Books.
- Interagency Task Force On Commodity Markets (ITFCM), 2008, Interim Report On Crude Oil, Http://Www.Cftc.Gov/Ucm/Groups/Public/@Newsroom/Documents/File/Itfinteri mreportoncrudeoil0708.Pdf.
- Interagency Task Force On Commodity Markets, 2008, Interim Report On Crude Oil, Commodities Futures Trading Commission.
- International Energy Agency, (2005), 'Oil Market Report', Paris: IEA. Http://Www.Oilmarketreport.Org.
- International Energy Agency, (2006), 'Oil Market Report', Paris: IEA. Http://Www.Oilmarketreport.Org.

- International Energy Agency, (2007), 'Oil Market Report', Paris: IEA. Http://Www.Oilmarketreport.Org.
- International Energy Agency, (2008), 'Oil Market Report', Paris: IEA. Http://Www.Oilmarketreport.Org.

International Energy Agency, (2008a), 'Oil Market Report', 11 December 2008.

International Energy Agency, (2008b), 'Oil Market Report', 13 November 2008.

- International Energy Agency, (2008c), 'World Energy Outlook 2008', OECD/IEA: Paris
- International Energy Agency, (2009), 'Oil Market Report', Paris: IEA. Http://Www.Oilmarketreport.Org.
- International Energy Agency, 'Analysis Of The Impact Of High Oil Prices On The Global Economy', EAD Working Paper, May 2004.
- International Energy Agency, 'Sixth Edition Of The IMF's Balance Of Payments And International Investment Position Manual', December 2008d, Web URL: (Http://Www.Imf.Org/External/Pubs/Ft/Bop/2007/Bopman6.Htm).
- International Energy Agency, 2006, 'World Economic Outlook', (September), Washington.
- International Energy Agency, 2008e, Medium Term Oil Market Report, July, Http://Omrpublic.Iea.Org/Omrarchive/Mtomr2008.Pdf.

International Energy Agency, 2008f, 'World Economic Outlook', (April), Washington.

International Energy Agency, 2008g, 'Global Financial Stability Report', (October), Washington.

International Energy Agency, 2009, 'World Economic Outlook', (May), Washington.

International Energy Forum, (2008b), 'Progress Report On The Outcome Of The Jeddah Energy Meeting', 19 December 2008.

International Energy Forum, 'Joint Statement: Jeddah Energy Meeting', 22 June 2008a.

- International Monetary Fund, (2010), 'World Economic Outlook Update', January 26, 2010, Http://Www.Imf.Org/External/Pubs/Ft/Weo/2010/Update/01/Pdf/0110.Pdf.
- International Monetary Fund, 2008a, World Economic Outlook: Housing And The Business Cycle, International Monetary Fund. Http://Www.Imf.Org/External/Pubs/Ft/Weo/2008/01/Pdf/Text.Pdf.
- International Monetary Fund, World Economic Outlook, Autumn, Washington, DC, International Monetary Fund, 2006.
- International Monetary Fund, World Economic Outlook, Autumn, Washington, DC, International Monetary Fund, 2008b.
- Irwin S., Sanders D., Index Funds, Financialization, And Commodity Futures Markets, Applied Economic Perspectives And Policy, 2011.
- Irwin S., Sanders D., Merrin R., Devil Or Angel: The Role Of Speculation In The Recent Commodity Price Boom (And Bust), *Journal Of Agricultural And Applied Economics*, 41, 2009, 377–391.
- Ivanhoe L., King Hubbert Updated, Hubbert Centre Newsletter, 97/1, 1997.
- J., Economic Shifts And Oil Price Volatility, Speech At The 4th OPEC International Seminar, March 18, 2009a, Www.Imf.Org.
- Jaffe M., The New Geopolitics Of Energy, Foreign Affairs, 79, 2000.
- Jahangir A., Managing Oil Wealth, Finance & Development, 20(21), 1983.
- Jiang G., Tian Y., Model-Free Implied Volatility And Its Information Content, *Review Of Financial Studies*, 18, 2005, 1305-1342.
- Jickling M., Cunningham L., Speculation And Energy Prices: Legislative Responses, CRS Report For Congress, 2008.

- Johansen S., Juselius K., Maximum Likelihood Estimation And Inference On Co Integration With Application To The Demand For Money, Oxford Bulletin Of Economics And Statistics, 52, 1990, 169-210.
- Johansen S., Mosconi R., Nielsen B., Co Integration Analysis In The Presence Of Structural Breaks In The Deterministic Trend, *Econometrics Journal*, 3, 2000, 216-249.
- Johansen S., Statistical Analysis Of Co Integration Vectors, *Journal Of Economic Dynamics And Control*, 12, 1988, 231-254.
- Johnson T., Amid Heating Crisis, New Jersey Residents Look For Energy Alternatives, *Knight- Ridder/Tribune Business News*, 63, 2000.
- Jones C., Kaul G., Oil And The Stock Markets, Journal Of Finance, 51, 1996, 463-491.
- Jorda O., Estimation And Inference Of Impulse Responses By Local Projections, American Economic Review, 95(1), 2005, 161–182.
- Jorda O., Schularick M., Taylor A., Financial Crises, Credit Booms And External Imbalances: 140 Years Of Lessons, *IMF Economic Review*, 59, 2011, 340–378.
- Jorda O., Simultaneous Confidence Regions For Impulse Responses, *Review Of Economics And Statistics*, 91(3), 2009, 629–647.
- Jovanovic B., Bubbles In Prices Of Exhaustible Resources, *New York University*, Working Paper, 2000.
- JP Morgan, 2005, Energy Markets Grow Up: How The Changing Balance Of Participation Influences Oil Price, Working Document Of The National Petroleum Council Global Oil & Gas Study, Http://Www.Npc.Org/Study_Topic_Papers/31-Macro-Marketsgrowup.Pdf.
- Just D., Just R., Monopoly Power, Futures Market Manipulation, And The Oil Price, Journal Of Agricultural & Food Industrial Organization, 6, 2008, 1-27.
- Kaldor N., Speculation And Economic Stability, *The Review Of Economic Studies*, 7, 1939, 1–27.

- Kalecki M., (1954), 'Theory Of Economic Dynamics', London: George Allen And Unwin.
- Kang S., Yoon S., Forecasting Volatility Of Crude Oil Markets, *Energy Economics*, 31, 2009, 119–125.
- Kantona G., (1951), 'Psychological Analysis Of Economic Behaviour', London: Mcgraw-Hill Inc.
- Kat H., Oomen R., What Every Investor Should Know About Commodities Part I, Journal Of Investment Management, 5, 2007a, 4–28.
- Kat H., Oomen R., What Every Investor Should Know About Commodities Part II: Multivariate Return Analysis, *Journal Of Investment Management*, 5, 2007b, 40– 64.
- Kaufmann R., Bradford A., Belanger L., Mclaughlin J., Miki Y., Determinants Of OPEC Production: Implications For OPEC Behaviour, *Energy Economics*, 30, 2008a, 333-351.
- Kaufmann R., Dees S., Gasteuil A., Mann M., Oil Prices: The Role Of Refinery Utilization, Futures Market And Non-Linearities, *Energy Economics*, 30, 2008b, 2609-2622.
- Kaufmann R., Dees S., Karadeloglou P., Sanchez M., Does OPEC Matter? An Econometric Analysis Of Oil Prices, *Energy Journal*, 25, 2004, 67–90.
- Kaufmann R., The Role Of Market Fundamentals And Speculation In Recent Price Changes For Crude Oil, *Energy Policy*, 39, 2011, 106–115.
- Kaufmann R., Ullman B., Oil Prices, Speculation, And Fundamentals: Interpreting Causal Relations Among Spot And Futures Prices, *Energy Economics*, 31, 2009, 550–558.
- Kaysen C., Miller S., Malin M., Nordhaus W., Steinbruner J., War With Iraq, Committee On International Security Studies, American Academy Of Arts And Sciences, 2002.

- Kendall M., The Analysis Of Economic Time-Series-Part I: Prices, Journal Of The Royal Statistical Society, 1953.
- Kent C., Stevens G., Symposium For The 50th Anniversary Of The Reserve Bank Of Australia, Sydney, 9 February, 2009.
- Kerckhoffs T., Van Os R., Vander Stichele M., (2010), 'Financing Food. Financialization And Financial Actors In Agricultural Commodity Markets', Amsterdam: Stichting Onderzoek Multinationale Ondernemingen.
- Kesicki F., The Third Oil Price Surge What's Different This Time?, *Energy Policy*, 38, 2010, 1596-1606.
- Keynes J., (1942), Proposal For An International Clearing Union, In (1980), 'The Collected Writings Of J.M. Keynes', London, UK: Macmillan.
- Keynes J., (1996), 'The General Theory Of Employment, Interest And Money', London: Macmillan Reprint.
- Khan M., The 2008 Oil Price 'Bubble', Publication Number, 09, 2009.
- Kilian L., Exogenous Oil Supply Shocks: How Big Are They And How Much Do They Matter For The U.S. Economy?, *Review Of Economics And Statistics*, 90(2), 2008a, 216-240.
- Kilian L., Hicks B., Did Unexpectedly Strong Economic Growth Cause The Oil Price Shock Of 2003-2008?, Centre For Economic Policy Research And University Of Michigan At Ann Arbor, Working Paper, 2009a.
- Kilian L., Murphy D., The Role Of Inventories And Speculative Trading In The Global Market For Crude Oil, Centre For Economic Policy Research And University Of Michigan At Ann Arbor, Working Paper, 2010a.
- Kilian L., Murphy D., The Role Of Inventories And Speculative Trading In The Global Market For Crude Oil, *SSRN Elibrary*, 2010b.

- Kilian L., Not All Oil Price Shocks Are Alike: Disentangling Demand And Supply Shocks In The Crude Oil Market, *American Economic Review*, 99(3), 2009b, 1053-1069.
- Kilian L., Not All Oil Price Shocks Are Alike: Disentangling Demand And Supply Shocksin The Crude Oil Market, American Economic Review, 99, 2009c, 1053– 69.
- Kilian L., The Economic Effects Of Energy Price Shocks, *Journal Of Economic Literature*, 46(4), 2008b, 871-909.
- Kilian L., Vega C., Do Energy Prices Respond To U.S. Macroeconomic News? A Test Of The Hypothesis Of Predetermined Energy Prices, *Review Of Economics And Statistics*, 2009d.
- Kim C., Essays On Price Discovery, Some Desiderata For The Measurement Of Price Discovery Across Markets, University Of Washington, *Journal Of Financial Markets*, 5, 2002, 259–276.
- Kindleberger C., Aliber R., (2005), 'Manias, Panics And Crashes. A History Of Financial Crises, Fifth Edition', Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Kissinger H., Feldstein M., The Power Of Oil Consumers, *The Washington Post*, 18 September, 2008
- Kleimeier S., Lehnert T., Verschoor W., Measuring Financial Contagion Using Time Aligned Data: The Importance Of The Speed Of Transmission Of Shocks, Oxford Bulletin Of Economics And Statistics, 70, 2008, 493-508.
- Kodres L., Pritsker M., A Rational Expectations Model Of Financial Contagion, Journal Of Finance, 57(2), 2002, 768-99.
- Kogan L., Livdan D., Yaron A., Oil Futures Prices In A Production Economy With Investment Constraints, *Journal Of Finance*, 64, 2009, 1345-1375.

- Korb L., The Impact Of The Persian Gulf War On Military Budgets And Force Structure, In Nye J., Smith R., (1992), 'After The Storm, Lessons From The Gulf War', London: Madison Books.
- Kraay A., Ventura J., The Dot-Com Bubble, The Bush Deficits, And The U.S. Current Account, *World Bank Policy Research Working Paper*, 3672, 2005.

Krapels E., Testimony Before The US House Of Representatives Sub-Committee On Oversight And Investigation, US House Of Representatives Committee On Energy And Commerce, June 23, 2008, Http://Archives.Energycommerce.House.Gov/Cmte_Mtgs/110-Oihrg.062308.Energyspec.Shtml.

- Kregel J., Some Simple Observations On The Reform Of The International Monetary System, *The Levy Economics Institute Of Bard College, Policy Note,* 2009a.
- Kregel J., Why Don't The Bailouts Work? Design Of A New Financial System Versus A Return To Normalcy, *Cambridge Journal Of Economics*, 33, 2009b, 653-663.
- Krichene N., An Oil And Gas Model, International Monetary Fund, Working Paper, 2007.
- Krichene N., Recent Inflationary Trends In World Commodities Markets, *International Monetary Fund*, Working Paper, 2008.
- Krichene N., World Crude Oil Markets: Monetary Policy And The Recent Oil Shock, International Monetary Fund, Working Paper, 2006.
- Krippner G., The Financialisation Of The American Economy, *Socio-Economic Review*, 3, 2005, 173–208.
- Kronenberg T., Should We Worry About The Failure Of The Hotelling Rule?, 2006, Http://Www.Cer.Ethz.Ch/Sured_2006/Programme/Sured_077_Kronenberg.Pdf.
- Krugman P., Obsfeld M., (2006), 'International Economics, Theory And Policy', London: Pearson.

- Krugman P., Oil And The Dollar, In Bhandari J., Putnam B., (1983a), '*Economic* Interdependence And Flexible Exchange Rates', Massachusetts, MIT Press.
- Krugman P., Oil Shocks And Exchange Rate Dynamics, In Frankel J (1983b), 'Exchange Rates And International Macroeconomics', Chicago: University Of Chicago Press.
- Krugman P., Oil Speculation, *Nytimes.Com*, July 8, 2009, Http://Krugman.Blogs.Nytimes.Com/2009/07/08/Oil-Speculation/.
- Krugman P., Speculation And Signatures, *Nytimes.Com*, June 24, 2008, Http://Krugman.Blogs.Nytimes.Com/2008/06/24/Speculation-And-Signatures/.
- Krugman P., What Do We Need To Know About The International Monetary System?, Department Of Economics, Princeton University, Essays In International Finance, 190, 1993.
- Kuniholm B., US Responces To The Persian Gulf Crisis: Grappling For A Policy, In Helms R., Robert D., (1993), 'The Persian Gulf Crisis, Power In The Post-Cold War World', London: Praeger.
- Kuniholm K., (2006), 'International Finance, Third Edition', London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Kurtzman J., (1993), 'The Death Of Money', London: Little, Brown And Company.
- Kyle A., Xiong W., Contagion As A Wealth Effect, Journal Of Finance, 56, 2001, 1401–1440.
- Labban M., (2008), 'Space, Oil And Capital', New York: Routledge.
- Labban M., Oil In Parallax: Scarcity, Markets, And The Financialization Of Accumulation, *Geoforum*, 41(4), 2010, 541-552.
- Laffey D., 'The Rise And Fall Of The Dot Com Enterprises', In Burke A., (2006), 'Modern Perspectives On Entrepreneurship', Ireland: Senate Hall Academic Publishing.

- Lamont O., Earnings And Expected Returns, Journal Of Finance, 53, 1998, 1563–1587.
- Lamont O., Investment Plans And Stock Returns, *Journal Of Finance*, 55, 2000, 2719–2745.
- Lapavitsas C., Dos Santos P., Globalization And Contemporary Banking: On The Impact Of New Technology, *Contributions To Political Economy*, 27, 2008, 31-56.
- Lapavitsas C., Financialisation, Or The Search For Profits In The Sphere Of Circulation, *Economiaz*, 2010.
- Lapavitsas C., Financialised Capitalism: Crisis And Financial Expropriation, Historical Materialism, 17(2), 2009, 114-48.
- Lapavitsas C., Noguchi M., (2005), 'Beyond Market-Driven Development: Drawing On The Experience Of Asia And Latin America', London, UK: Routledge.
- Lautier D., Riva F., The Determinants Of Volatility On The American Crude Oil Futures Market, *OPEC Energy Review*, 2008, 105-122.
- Lavoie M., Financialisation Issues In A Post-Keynesian Stock-Flow Consistent Model, Intervention. *European Journal Of Economics And Economic Policies*, 5, 2008, 331-356.
- Lazonick W., O'Sullivan M., Maximizing Shareholder Value: A New Ideology For Corporate Governance, *Economy And Society*, 29(1), 2000, 13-35.
- Leamer E., What's A Recession, Anyway?, NBER Working Paper, 14221, 2008.
- Lee T., Zyren J., Effectiveness Of Monetary Policy: Market Reactions And Volatility Interactions, Credit, Currency, Or Derivatives: Instruments Of Global Financial Stability Or Crisis?, In Choi J., Papaioannou M., *International Finance Review*, 10, 2009, 355-387.
- Lee T., Zyren J., Volatility Relationship Between Crude Oil And Petroleum Products, *Atlantic Economic Journal*, 35, 2007, 97-112.

- Lee Y., Hu H., Chiou J., Jump Dynamics With Structural Breaks For Crude Oil Prices, *Energy Economics*, 32, 2010, 343-350.
- Lehman Brothers, 2008, Oil Dot-Com, Energy Special Report, Fixed Income Research, Commodities, Lehman Brothers Inc. Http://Archives.Energycommerce.House.Gov/Investigations/Energyspeculationbi nder_062308/11.Pdf.
- Lerner A., Functional Finance And Federal Debt, Social Research, 10, 1943, 38-51.
- Lettau M., Ludvigson S., Consumption, Aggregate Wealth, And Expected Stock Returns, *Journal Of Finance*, 56, 2001, 815–849.
- Lewis B., Reddall B., Saudi Oil Spare Capacity Shrinking Fast, London/Houston, Energy Summit, 2011.
- Leyshon A., Thrift N., The Capitalization Of Almost Everything: The Future Of Finance And Capitalism, *Theory, Culture & Society*, 24(7-8), 2007.
- Lilien D., Sectoral Shifts And Cyclical Unemployment, *Journal Of Political Economy*, 90, 1982, 777-793.
- Lin C., Insights From A Simple Hotelling Model Of The World Oil Market, *Natural Resources Research*, 18, 2009,19-28.
- Linn S., Zhu Z., Natural Gas Prices And The Gas Storage Report: Public News And Volatility In Energy Futures Markets, *Journal Of Futures Markets*, 24, 2004, 283-313.
- Lipietz A., (1992), 'Towards A New Economic Order: Post-Fordism, Ecology And Democracy', Oxford: Polity Press.
- Lipietz A., Behind The Crisis: The Exhaustion Of A Regime Of Accumulation. A Regulation School Perspective On Some French Empirical Works, *Review Of Radical And Critical Economics*, 18(1/2), 1986a, 13-32.

- Lipietz A., New Tendencies In The International Division Of Labour: Regimes Of Accumulation And Modes Of Regulation, In Scott A., Storper M., (1986b), *Production, Work, Territory'*, Boston: Allen And Unwin.
- Lippi F., Nobili A., Oil And The Macroeconomy: A Structural VAR Analysis With Sign Restrictions, *Centre For Economic Policy Research, University Of Sassari, And Bank Of Italy,* Working Paper, 2008.
- Lipsky J., Prospects For Oil Market Stability, Speech At The G8 Ministers Of Energy Meeting, May 25, 2009, Www.Imf.Org.
- Litzenberger R., Rabinowitz N., Backwardation In Oil Futures Markets: Theory And Empirical Evidence, *Journal Of Finance*, 50, 1995, 1517–1545.
- Lizardo R., Mollick A., Oil Price Fluctuations And U.S. Dollar Exchange Rates, *Energy Economics*, 32, 2010, 399-408.
- Loewenstein G., (2008), 'Exotic Preferences, Behavioural Economics And Human Motivation', Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Loewenstein G., Scott R., Addiction, In Durlauf S., Blume L., (2008), 'The New Palgrave Dictionary Of Economics, Second Edition', London, UK: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Loewenstein G., Scott R., Emotion In Economics: The Challenge Of Emotions For Economic Theory, In Sander D., Scherer K., (2009), 'Oxford Companion To The Affective Sciences', Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- London Business School, Energy Club Events, A Global Gas Market Revolution, London – UK, September, 2012a, (Attended By The Author).
- London Business School, Energy Club Events, *Iraq- The Past, The Future And Why It Matters*, London UK, April, 2012b, (Attended By The Author).
- London Business School, Energy Club Events, *Shale Gas Life Beyond The US*, London – UK, September, 2012c, (Attended By The Author).

- Luke T., Dependent Development And The Arab OPEC States, *The Journal Of Politics*, 1983, 979-1003.
- Lukken W., Testimony Before The US House Of Representatives Sub-Committee On Oversight And Investigation, US House Of Representatives Committee On Energy And Commerce, June 23, 2008, Http://Archives.Energycommerce.House.Gov/Cmte_Mtgs/110-Oihrg.062308.Energyspec.Shtml.
- Lynch M., 'Peak Oil' Is A Waste Of Energy, *New York Times* Online, August 24, 2009, Http://Www.Nytimes.Com/2009/08/25/Opinion/25lynch.Html.
- Lynch P., Rothchild J., (1990), 'One Up On Wall Street: How To Use What You Already Know To Make Money In The Market', London: Penguin Books.
- Mabro R., The International Oil Price Regime: Origins, Rationale And Assessment, Journal Of Energy Literature, 11(1), 2005, 3-20.
- Mackenzie D., (1990), 'Inventing Accuracy: A Historical Sociology Of Nuclear Missile Guidance', Cambridge: MIT Press.
- Mackenzie D., (2006), 'An Engine, Not A Camera: How Financial Models Shape Markets. Cambridge', Massachusetts: MIT Press.
- Mackenzie D., Is Economics Performative? Option Theory And The Construction Of Derivatives Markets, In Mackenzie D., Muniesa F., Siu L., (2007), 'Do Economics Make Markets? On The Performativity Of Economics', London, UK: Princeton University Press.
- Mackenzie D., Massoudi Et Foley, Rage Against The Machine, *Financial Times*, London, 18 October, 2012.
- Mackenzie D., The Big, Bad Wolf And The Rational Market: Portfolio Insurance, The 1987 Crash And The Performativity Of Economics, *Economy And Society*, 33, 2004, 303-334.

- Mackenzie D., Yuval M., Constructing A Market, Performing Theory: The Historical Sociology Of A Financial Derivatives Exchange, *American Journal Of Sociology*, 109, 2003, 107-145.
- Mackinnon J., Haug A., Michelis L., Numerical Distribution Functions Of Likelihood Ratio Tests For Co Integration, *Journal Of Applied Economics*, 14(5), 1999, 563– 577.
- Mackinnon J., Numerical Distribution Functions For Unit Root And Co Integration Tests, *Journal Of Applied Economics*, 11(6), 1996, 601–618.
- Macleod G., 'Institutional Thickness' And Industrial Governance In Lowland Scotland, *Area*, 29, 1997a, 299–311.
- Macleod G., Globalizing Parisian Thought-Waves: Recent Advances In The Study Of Social Regulation, Politics, Discourse And Space, Progress In Human Geography, 21, 1997b, 530–554
- Magdoff H., Sweezy P., (1969), '*The Deepening Crisis Of US Capitalism*', New York: Monthly Review Press.
- Makan A., Blas J., Spiegel P, European Commission Raids Oil Groups Over Price Benchmarks, *Financial Times Online*, May 14, 2013, http://www.ft.com/intl/cms/s/0/f1574eb6-bca2-11e2-b344-00144feab7de.html#axzz2WJVrgbcy
- Maki D., Palumbo M., Disentangling The Wealth Effect: A Cohort Analysis Of Household Saving In The 1990s, *Federal Reserve Board, Finance And Economics Discussion Series*, 2001.
- Maloney W., Does Informality Imply Segmentation In Urban Labor Markets? Evidence From Sectoral Transitions In Mexico, World Bank Economic Review, 13, 1999, 275-302.
- Maloney W., Informality Revisited, World Development, 32(7), 2004, 1159-78.

- Maloney W., Nuñez J., Measuring The Impact Of Minimum Wages, In Heckman J., Pages C., (2003), *`Law And Labor Markets: Lessons From Latin America'*, Chicago: Chicago Press.
- Mandel E., (1977), 'The Second Slump', London: New Left Books.
- Mandel E., (1978), 'Late Capitalism', London: New Left Books.
- Markowitz H., Portfolio Selection, Journal Of Finance, 7, 1952, 77-91.
- Marolda E., Schneller J., (2001), 'Shield And Sword: The United States Navy And The Persian Gulf War', Annapolis: Naval Institute Press.
- Martens M., Poon S., Returns Synchronization And Daily Correlation Dynamics Between International Stock Markets, *Journal Of Banking And Finance*, 25, 2001, 1805-1827.
- Marx K., (1993), '*Capital, A Critique On Political Economy, Volume 3*', London, UK: Penguin Classics.
- Masters M., Testimony Before The Committee On Homeland Security And Governmental Affairs, US Senate, May 20, 2008a, Http://Hsgac.Senate.Gov/Public/_Files/052008Masters.Pdf.
- Masters M., Testimony To The US Commodity Futures Trading Commission, Commodity Futures Trade Commission, August 5, 2009a, Www.Cftc.Gov.
- Masters M., White A., The 2008 Commodities Bubble: Assessing The Damage To The United States And Its Citizens, *Masters Capital Management And White Knight Research And Trading*, 2009b.
- Masters M., White A., The Accidental Hunt Brothers: How Institutional Investors Are Driving Up Food And Energy Prices, *Masters Capital Management And White Knight Research And Trading*, 2008b.
- Maugeri L., (2006a), 'The Age Of Oil: The Mythology, History, And Future Of The World's Most Controversial Resource', Westport, CT: Praeger.

Maugeri L., Two Cheers For Expensive Oil, Foreign Affairs, 85(2), 2006b, 149-61.

- Maugeri L., Understanding Oil Price Behaviour, *Review Of Environmental Economics* And Policy, 3(2), 2009, 147–166.
- Mayer G., Wall Street Banks Step Up Oil Trade Role, *Financial Times*, New York, July 15, 2012.
- Mazier J., Basle M., Vidal J., (1999), 'When Economic Crises Endure', London, UK: M.E. Sharpe.
- Mc Kinsey & Company, (2009), `Pathways To World-Class Energy Efficiency In Belgium', Study Commissioned By The Federation Of Enterprises In Belgium (FEB/VBO).
- Mccarthy J., Peach R., Are Home Prices The Next 'Bubble', *FRBNY Economic Policy Review*, 2004.
- Mccormick D., Oil Markets: Principles, Perceptions, And Prices, Speech At The Peterson Institute For International Economics, July 29, 2008, Www.Piie.Com.
- Mcdonald R., (2006), 'Derivatives Markets', Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- Mcguirk A., Oil Price Changes And Real Exchange Rates Movements Among Industrial Countries, *IMF Staff Papers*, 30, 1983, 843-883.
- Medlock K., Jaffe A., Who Is In The Oil Futures Market And How Has It Changed?, James A. Baker III Institute For Public Policy, Rice University, Working Paper, 2009.
- Medlock K., Speculation: A Cause Or Symptom? An Important Question For Designing A Policy Remedy, *James A. Baker III Institute For Public Policy*, 2008.
- Menzly L., Santos T., Veronesi P., Understanding Predictability, Journal Of Political Economy, 112, 2004, 1–47.
- Merz M., Yashiv E., Labour And The Market Value Of The Firm, *University Of Bonn*, Manuscript, 2005.

- Meyer L., Inflation Targets And Inflation Targeting, *Federal Reserve Bank Of St. Louis Review*, 83(6), 2001, 1-13.
- Meyler A., The Pass Through Of Oil Prices Into Euro Area Consumer Liquid Fuel Prices In An Environment Of High And Volatile Oil Prices, *Energy Economics*, 31, 2009, 867-881.
- Mikdashi Z., Oil Prices And OPEC Surpluses: Some Reflections, International Affairs (Royal Institute Of International Affairs 1944), 57(3), 1981, 408.
- Miller D., (1997), 'Capitalism: An Ethnographic Approach', Oxford: Berg.
- Miller D., Driven Societies, In Miller D., (2001), 'Car Cultures', Oxford: Berg.
- Miller D., Exchange And Alienation In The Jajmani System, Journal Of Anthropological Research, 42(4), 1986, 535–56.
- Miller D., Turning Callon The Right Way Up, *Economy And Society*, 31(2), 2002, 218-233.
- Miller W., Forgotten Crisis, Industry Week, 247, 1998.
- Minsky H., (1986), 'Stabilizing An Unstable Economy', New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Minsky H., Uncertainty And The Institutional Structure Of Capitalist Economies. Annandale-On-Hudson, Levy Economics Institute Of Bard College, Working Paper, 155, 1996.
- Mohsin K., The 2008 Oil Price 'Bubble', Peter G. Peterson Institute For International Economics, 09(19), 2009.
- Mommer B., (2002), 'Global Oil And The Nation State', Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Montgomerie J., The Pursuit Of (Past) Happiness? Middle-Class Indebtedness And American Financialisation, *New Political Economy*, 14 (1), 2009.

- Morgan D., Fiscal Policy In Oil Exporting Countries, 1972-78, *Finance & Development*, 1979.
- Morgenthau H., (1985), 'Politics Among Nations, 6th Edition', New York: Alfred A. Knopf.
- Mork K., Oil And The Macroeconomy When Prices Go Up And Down: An Extension Of Hamilton's Results, *Journal Of Political Economy*, 97(3), 1989, 740-744.
- Mossavor-Rahmani B., Hogan W., Jorgenson D., Cooper R., (1988), 'Lower Oil Prices: Mapping The Impact', Harvard International Energy Studies.
- Mouwad J., Henriques D., 2008, Why Is Oil So High? Pick A View, *The New York Times*, New York, 21 June 2008.
- Murphy R., Speculators Fixing Oil Prices? Don't Bet On It, Institute For Energy Research, 2008.
- Nalewaik J., Estimating Probabilities Of Recession In Real Time Using GDP And GDI', *Board Of Governors Of The Federal Reserve System*, Working Paper, 2007.
- Nesvetailova A., (2007), 'Fragile Finance, Dept, Speculation And Crisis In The Age Of Global Credit', Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan.
- New York Fed, Balance Of Payments, June, 2004, Http://Www.Newyorkfed.Org/Aboutthefed/Fedpoint/Fed40.Html.
- New York Mercantile Exchange, 2005, A Review Of Recent Hedge Fund Participation In NYMEX Natural Gas And Crude Oil Futures Markets, Staff Report, New York Mercantile Exchange, March 1, Http://Www.Cftc.Gov/Files/Opa/Press05/Oparlevinwrittenmaterials.Pdf.
- Newsome J., Testimony Before The US House Of Representatives Sub-Committee OnOversight And Investigation, US House Of Representatives Committee On EnergyAndCommerce,June23,2008,

Http://Archives.Energycommerce.House.Gov/Cmte_Mtgs/110-Oihrg.062308.Energyspec.Shtml.

- Nitzan J., Shimpson B., (2002), '*The Global Political Economy Of Israel*', New York: Pluto Press.
- Nordhaus W., (1994a), 'Managing The Global Commons: The Economics Of Climate Change', Cambridge: The MIT Press.
- Nordhaus W., A Question Of Balance: Weighing The Options On Global Warming Policies, 2008, Http://Nordhaus.Econ.Yale.Edu/Balance_2nd_Proofs.Pdf.
- Nordhaus W., Alternative Measures Of Output In Global Economic Environmental Models: Purchasing Power Parity Or Market Exchange Rates?, *Energy Economics*, 29, 3, 2007a, 349-372.

Nordhaus W., Boyer J.,(2000), 'Warming The World: Economic Models Of Global Warming', Cambridge: The MIT Press.

- Nordhaus W., Economic Aspects Of Global Warming In A Post-Copenhagen Environment, *Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences*, 107(26), 2010, 11721-11726.
- Nordhaus W., Expert Opinion On Climatic Change, American Scientist, 82, 1994b, 45-51.
- Nordhaus W., The Stern Review On The Economics Of Climate Change, *Journal Of Economic Literature*, 2007b.
- Nordhaus W., To Tax Or Not To Tax: Alternative Approaches To Slowing Global Warming, *Review Of Environmental Economics And Policy*, 1(1), 2007c.
- Nordhaus W., Who's Afraid Of A Big Bad Oil Shock?, *Prepared For Brookings Panel* On Economic Activity, Special Anniversary Edition, Yale University, 2007d.
- Obstfeld M., Rogoff K., Global Current Account Imbalances And Exchange Rate Adjustments, *Paper Prepared For The Brookings Panel On Economic Activity*, 2005.

- Obstfeld M., Rogoff K., The Unsustainable US Current Account Position Revisited, NBER Working Paper, 2004.
- Odell P., (1986), 'Oil And World Power, Eighth Edition', London: Penguin Books.
- OECD Observer, (1999), 'The Changing Face Of Energy Geopolitics', Paris, OECD.
- OECD, (2008a), 'Growing Unequal? Income Distribution And Poverty In OECD Countries', Paris, OECD.
- OECD, (2009), 'Economic Outlook. Interim Report', March, Paris, OECD.
- OECD, Factbook 2008b, Economic, Environmental And Social Statistics, Http://Lysander.Sourceoecd.Org/Vl=6787920/Cl=22/Nw=1/Rpsv/Factbook/0502 03-G1.Htm.
- OECD, OECD StatExtracts, Data Accessed, 19/5/2011, http://stats.oecd.org/.
- Oil And Gas Journal, Worldwide Look At Reserves And Production, *Oil & Gas Journal*, December 24, 2007.
- Olivier J., Growth-Enhancing Bubbles, *International Economic Review*, 41(1), 2000, 133-151.
- Organization For Economic Co-Operation And Development, Working Party On Agricultural Policies And Markets, 2010a, Speculation And Financial Fund Activity: Draft Report Annex I, Http://Www.Oecd.Org/Officialdocuments/Publicdisplaydocumentpdf/?Cote=TA D/CA/APM/WP%282010%298/ANN1&Doclanguage=En.

Organization Of Petroleum Exporting Countries, World Oil Outlook, Vienna, 2008.

Organization Of Petroleum Exporting Countries, World Oil Outlook, Vienna, 2009.

Organization Of Petroleum Exporting Countries, World Oil Outlook, Vienna, 2010b.

Organization Of Petroleum Exporting Countries, World Oil Outlook, Vienna, 2011.

- Orhangazi Ö., (2008a), '*Financialization And The US Economy*', Massachusetts: Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Orhangazi Ö., Did Financialization Increase Macroeconomic Fragility? An Analysis Of The US Nonfinancial Corporate Sector, In Goldstein J., Hillard M., (2007), *'Heterodox Macroeconomics: Keynes, Marx And Globalization'*, London: Routledge Advances In Heterodox Economics.
- Orhangazi Ö., Financialisation And Capital Accumulation In The Non-Financial Corporate Sector: A Theoretical And Empirical Investigation On The US Economy: 1973-2003, Cambridge Journal Of Economics, 32, 2008b, 863-886.
- Padgett T., How Hugo Chávez Has Primed The Gas Pump, *Time Online*, May 31, 2006, Http://Www.Time.Com/Time/World/Article/0,8599,1199709,00.Html.
- Palley T., America's Exhausted Paradigm: Macroeconomic Causes Of The Financial Crisis And The Great Recession, *IPE Working Paper*, 2009.
- Palley T., Asset Price Bubbles And Counter-Cyclical Monetary Policy: Why Central Banks Have Been Wrong And What Should Be Done, Intervention, *European Journal Of Economics And Economic Policies*, 2010.
- Palley T., Asset Price Bubbles And The Case For Asset Based Reserve Requirements, *Challenge*, 46(3), 2003, 53-72.
- Palley T., Asset-Based Reserve Requirements: Reasserting Domestic Monetary Control In An Era Of Financial Innovation And Instability, *Review Of Political Economy*, 16, 2004, 43-58.
- Palley T., Debt, Aggregate Demand, And The Business Cycle: An Analysis In The Spirit Of Kaldor And Minsky, *Journal Of Post Keynesian Economics*, 16, 1994, 371-390.
- Palley T., Financialisation: What It Is And Why It Matters, In Hein E., Niechoj T., Spahn P., Truger A., (2008), 'Finance-Led Capitalism? Macroeconomic Effects Of Changes In The Financial Sector', Marburg: Metropolis.

- Palley T., Financialization: What It Is And Why It Matters, *Levy Institute Working Paper*, 525, 2007.
- Palma G., The Revenge Of The Market On The Rentiers: Why Neo-Liberal Reports Of The End Of History Turned Out To Be Premature, Faculty Of Economics, University Of Cambridge, Mimeo, Shortened Version In *Cambridge Journal Of Economics*, 33(4), 2009, 829–869.
- Panitch L., Konings M., Myths Of Neoliberal Deregulation, *New Left Review*, 57, 2009, 67-83.
- Papademos L., Financial Integration, Development And Stability: Lessons From The Crisis, *Speech ECB*, 12 April, 2010.
- Papademos L., Financial Market Excesses And Corrections: A Central Banker's Perspective, Speech At The International Research Forum On Monetary Policy, 26 June, 2008.
- Papademos L., Financial Stability And Macro-Prudential Supervision: Objectives, Instruments And The Role Of The ECB, *Speech ECB*, 4 September, 2009a.
- Papademos L., Introductory Statement, European Central Bank: Press Conference, 5 March, 2009b, Www.Bis.Org/Publ/Rpfx02t.Pdf.
- Papademos L., Monetary Policy And The 'Great Crisis': Lessons And Challenges, Speech At The 37th Economics Conference, Beyond The Crisis: Economic Policy In A New Macroeconomic Environment, Organised By The Österreichische Nationalbank, 14 May, 2009c.
- Papademos L., Strengthening Macro-Prudential Supervision In Europe, Speech At The Conference On After The Storm: The Future Face Of Europe's Financial System, 24 March, 2009d.
- Papademos L., Tackling The Financial Crisis: Policies For Stability And Recovery, Speech At The Annual Dinner Of The Society Of Business Economists, 11 February, 2009e.

- Papademos L., The financial Market Turmoil, The European Economy, And The Role Of The European Central Bank, *The European Institute*, 27 September, 2007.
- Papademos L., Why Price Stability?, In Herrero A., Gaspar V., Hoogduin L., Morgan J., Winkler B., Why Price Stability?, *Proceedings Of The First ECB Central Banking Conference, European Central Bank*, 2001.
- Papadimitriou D., Global Imbalances: Strategic Imbalances For The US And The World, Intervention, *European Journal Of Economics And Economic Policies*, 6, 2009, 53-60.
- Papadimitriou D., Randall L., The Economic Contributions Of Hyman Minsky: Varieties Of Capitalism And Institutional Reform, *Review Of Political Economy*, 10(2), 1998, 199–225.
- Parboni R., (1980), 'The Dollar And Its Rivals: Recession, Inflation And International Finance', Verso: London.
- Park J., Ratti R., Oil Price Shocks And Stock Markets In The U.S. And 13 European Countries, *Energy Economics*, 30, 2008, 2587-2608.
- Parsons J., Black Gold & Fool's Gold: Speculation In The Oil Futures Market, *Economia*, 10, 2010, 81-116.
- Paulani L., (1991), 'From The Concept Of Money To Money As A Concept', Phd Dissertation, University Of São Paulo, Department Of Economics.
- Paulani L., The Autonomization Of The Truly Social Forms In Marx'S Theory: Comments On Money In Contemporaneous Capitalism, ANPEC Congress, 2009, Http://Www.Anpec.Org.Br/Encontro2009/Inscricao.On/Arquivos/000-Ef1d67621df728d0eca892bed24cdd23.Doc.
- Paulson H., (2010), 'On The Brink. Inside The Race To Stop The Collapse Of The Global Financial System', Great Britain: Headline Publishing Group.
- Pavlova A., Rigobon R., The Role Of Portfolio Constraints In The International Propagation Of Shocks, *Review Of Economic Studies*, 75, 2008, 1215-1256.

- Peeters M., Strahilov K., Macro-Economic Policy Reactions To Soaring Food Prices In Mediterranean Countries, Russia, The CIS And The Gulf Cooperation Council Countries, *European Commission*, Working Paper, 2008.
- Peeters M., The Changing Pattern In International Trade And Capital Flows Of The Gulf Cooperation Council Countries In Comparison With Other Oil-Exporting Countries, In European Commission DG ECFIN European Economy Economic Papers, 415, 2010.
- Pesaran H., Scheurmann T., Weiner S., Modelling Regional Interdependencies Using A Global Error-Correcting Macroeconometric Model, *Journal Of Business And Economic Statistics*, 22, 2004, 129-162.
- Phillips K., (1993), 'Boiling Point: Democrats, Republicans, And The Decline Of Middle-Class Prosperity', New York: Harpercollins.
- Phillips K., (1994), 'Arrogant Capital: Washington, Wall Street, And The Frustration Of American Politics', New York: Back Bay Books.
- Phillips P., Yu J., Dating The Timeline Of Financial Bubbles, *Yale University And* Singapore Management University, Working Paper, 2010.
- Piazzesi M., Schneider M., Tuzel S., Housing, Consumption, And Asset Pricing, Manuscript, University Of Chicago, NYU, And UCLA, 2004.
- Pierru A., Babusiaux D., Speculation Without Oil Stockpiling As A Signature: A Dynamic Perspective, MIT, Centre For Energy And Environmental Policy Research, Working Paper, 2010.
- Pike A., Pollard J., Economic Geographies Of Financialisation, *Economic Geography*, 86(1), 2010, 29-51.
- Piketty T., Saez E., Income Inequality In The United States, 1913-1998, *The Quarterly Journal Of Economics*, 143, 2003, 1-39.

- Piketty T., Saez E., The Evolution Of Top Incomes: A Historical And International Perspective, *American Economic Review. Papers And Proceedings*, 96, 2006, 200-205.
- Pindyck R., Rotemberg J., The Excess Co-Movement Of Commodity Prices, *The Economic Journal*, 100, 1990, 1173–1189.
- Pindyck R., The Dynamics Of Commodity Spot And Futures Markets: A Primer, Energy Journal, 22, 2001, 1-29.
- Pindyck R., The Long-Run Evolution Of Energy Prices, *Energy Journal*, 20, 1999, 1-27.
- Pindyck R., The Optimal Exploration And Production Of Non-Renewable Resources, Journal Of Political Economy, 86, 1978, 841–61.
- Pindyck R., Uncertainty And Exhaustible Resource Markets, *Journal Of Political Economy*, 88, 1980, 1203–1225.
- Pindyck R., Volatility And Commodity Price Dynamics, *Journal Of Futures Markets*, 24, 2004, 1029–1047.
- Pirog R., Gasoline And Oil Prices, CRS Report, 20 August, 2008.
- Platts Media, *Platts Crude Oil Prices*, London UK, September, 2012a, (Conference Attended By The Author).
- Platts Media, *Platts Energy Risk Forum*, London UK, September, 2012b, (Conference Attended By The Author).
- Platts Media, *Platts LNG Forum*, London UK, 2012c, (Conference Attended By The Author).
- Platts Media, *The Platts Methodoligy*, London UK, October, 2012d, (Conference Attended By The Author).
- Polanyi K., (1944), 'The Great Transformation', New York: Rinehart.
- Polanyi K., (1979), 'Okonomie Und Gesellschaft', Frankfurt: Suhrkamp.

Pollard K., What Makes Us Human?, Scientific American, 2009, 44-49.

- Pollin R., Epstein G., Heintz J., Ndikumana L., (2007a), 'An Employment-Targeted Economic Program For South Africa', Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Pollin R., Making The Federal Minimum Wage A Living Wage, *New Labor Forum*, 16(2), 2007b, 103-07.
- Pollin R., Zhu A., Inflation And Economic Growth: A Cross-Country Non-Linear Analysis, *Journal Of Post Keynesian Economics*, 4, 2006, 593-614.
- Porter M., Strategy And The Internet, Harvard Business Review, 79(3), 2001, 62–78.
- Portes R., Dewatripont M., Freixas X., Macroeconomic Stability And Financial Regulation, *CEPR*, 2009, Xii + 178.
- Posen A., Why Central Banks Should Not Burst Bubbles, *International Finance*, 9(1), 2006.
- Powell C., Speech In World Economic Forum Meeting In Davos, World Economic Forum, 2003.
- Price S., Discussion Of 'House Prices, Money, Credit, And The Macroeconomy' By Goodhart C., And Hofmann B., Oxford Revision Of Econonomic Policy, 24, 2008, 206-209.
- Purvin & Gertz, The Role Of WTI As A Crude Oil Benchmark, CME Group, 2010.
- Radetzky M., The Anatomy Of Three Commodity Booms, *Resources Policy*, 31, 2006, 56-64.
- Radler M., New Estimates Boost Worldwide Oil, Gas Reserves, Oil & Gas Journal, 22 December, 2008.
- Ramiro R., Expert Meeting On Economic Diversification, *Energy Studies Department*, *OPEC Secretariat*, 16-17 May, 2006.
- Randy M., (2002), 'Financialization Of Daily Life', Philadephia: Temple University Press.

- Randy M., Rafferty M., Bryan D., Financialization, Risk And Labour, *Competition & Change*, 12(2), 2008.
- Rappaport A., The Economics Of Short–Term Performance Obsession, *Financial Analysts Journal*, 61(3), 2005, 65–79.
- Redrado M., Carrera M., Bastourre J., Ibarlucia J., Financialization Of Commodity Markets: Non-Linear Consequences From Heterogeneous Agent Behavior, *Banco Central De La República Argentina, Investigaciones Económicas,* Working Paper, 44, 2009.
- Regnier E., Oil And Energy Price Volatility, Energy Economics, 29, 2007, 405-427.
- Reid B., Testimony Before The US House Of Representatives Sub-Committee On Oversight And Investigation, US House Of Representatives Committee On Energy And Commerce, June 23, 2008, Http://Archives.Energycommerce.House.Gov/Cmte_Mtgs/110-Oihrg.062308.Energyspec.Shtml.
- Reinhart C., Borenzstein E., Khan M., Wickham P., The Behaviour Of Non-Oil Commodity Prices, University Of Maryland, College Park, Department Of Economics 1994, MPRA Paper, 8198, 2008.
- Richardson H., (1975), 'Economic Aspects Of The Energy Crisis', London: Lexington Books/Saxon House.
- Rigobon R., Identification Through Heteroskedasticity, *The Review Of Economics And Statistics*, 85, 2003, 777–792.
- Rigobon R., Rodrik D., Rule Of Law, Democracy, Openness, And Income, *Economics Of Transition*, 13, 2005, 533–564.
- Rima I., (2001), 'Development Of Economic Analysis, 6th Edition', London: Routledge.
- Rima I., Venture Capitalist Financing: Contemporary Foundations For Minsky's Wall Street Perspective, *Journal Of Economic Issues*, 36, 2002, 407-414.

- Ringlund G., Rosendahl K., Skjerpen T., Does Oil Rig Activity React To Oil Price Changes? An Empirical Investigation, *Energy Economics*, 30, 2008, 371-396.
- Ripple R., Have Oil Futures Traders Driven Up The Market?, Oil & Gas Journal, 2008.
- Roache S., Rossi M., The Effects Of Economic News On Commodity Prices: Is Gold Just Another Commodity?, *International Monetary Fund*, Working Paper, 2009.
- Robinson J, 'James Murdoch Hits Out At BBC And Regulators At Edinburgh TV Festival', *The Guardian*, 28 August, 2009, Http://Www.Guardian.Co.Uk/Media/2009/Aug/28/James-Murdoch-Bbc-Mactaggart-Edinburgh-Tv-Festival.
- Rochon L., Setterfield M., Interest Rates, Income Distribution And Monetary Dominance: Post-Keynesians And The 'Fair Rate' Of Interest, *Journal Of Post Keynesian Economics*, 30, 2007, 13-42.
- Rodríguez A., (2002), 'Saramago: Soy Un Comunista Hormonal', Capital Intelectual: Venezuela.
- Rogoff K., Oil Productivity, Government Spending And The Real Yen-Dollar Exchange Rate, *FRB Of San Francisco*, Working Paper, 91(06), 1991.
- Rogoff K., The Purchasing Power Parity Puzzle, *Journal Of Economic Literature*, 34, 1996, 647-668.
- Rossman P., Greenfield G., Financialization: New Routes To Profit, New Challenges
 For Trade Unions, Labour Education, Quarterly Review Of The ILO Bureau For
 Workers' Activities, No 142, 2006
 Http://Www.Iufdocuments.Org/Www/Documents/Financialization-E.Pdf
- Rotemberg J, Comment On Blanchard-Galí: The Macroeconomic Effects Of Oil Price Shocks: Why Are The 2000s So Different From The 1970s, In, Galí J., Gertler M., (2007), 'International Dimensions Of Monetary Policy'.

- Rotemberg J., Woodford M., Imperfect Competition And The Effects Of Energy Price Increases On Economic Activity, *Journal Of Money*, *Credit And Banking*, 28(4), 1996, 549-577.
- Roubini N, Setser B., The Effects Of The Recent Oil Price Shock On The U.S. And Global Economy, Stern School Of Business NYU And Global Economic Governance Programme, Working Paper, University College Oxford, 2004a.
- Roubini N, Setser B., The US As A Net Debtor: The Sustainability Of The US External Imbalances, *Manuscript, Oxford And New York University*, 2004b.
- Roubini N., Why Central Banks Should Burst Bubbles, International Finance, 9(1), 2008.
- Rowthorn B., (1980), 'Capitalism, Conflictand Inflation', London: Lawrence And Wishart.
- Rustow D., (1982). 'Oil And Turmoil, America Faces OPEC And The Middle East', London: Norton And Company.
- S&P Dow Jones, 2013 Weights for the Dow Jones-UBS Commodity Index Announced by S&P Dow Jones Indices and UBS Investment Bank, McGraw Hill Financial, October 24, 2012, http://press.djindexes.com/index.php/2013-weights-for-thedow-jones-ubs-commodity-index-announced-by-sp-dow-jones-indices-and-ubsinvestment-bank/.
- Sadorsky P., Modelling And Forecasting Petroleum Futures Volatility, *Energy Economics*, 28, 2006, 467–488.
- Sadorsky P., Oil Price Shocks And Stock Market Activity, *Energy Economics*, 2, 1999, 449-469.
- Saikkonen P., Lütkepohl H., Testing For The Co Integrating Rank Of A VAR Process With Structural Shifts, *Journal Of Business And Economic Statistics*, 18, 2005, 451-464.

- Samuelson P., (2002), 'Economics, An Introduction To Analysis, Fourth Edition', London: Mcgraw-Hill.
- Samuelson P., Risk And Uncertainty: A Fallacy Of Large Numbers, *Scientia*, XCVIII, 1963, 108-13.
- Samuelson R., OPEC's Triumph: Acting Like A True Cartel With America's Help, *The Washington Post*, 12 March 2008.
- Sanders D., Et Al., Hedgers, Funds, And Small Speculators In The Energy Futures Markets: An Analysis Of The CFTC's Commitment Of Traders Reports, *Energy Economics*, 26, 2004, 425–445.
- Sanders D., Irwin S., Bubbles, Froth, And Facts: The Impact Of Index Funds On Commodity Futures Prices, University Of Illinois At Urbana Champaign, Working Paper, 2010.
- Sapir J., From Financial Crisis To Turning Point. How The US 'Subprime Crisis' Turned Into A World-Wide One And Will Change The Global Economy, Internationale Politik Und Gesellschaft, 1, 2009, 27-44.
- Sauter R., Awerbuch S., Oil Price Volatility And Economic Activity: A Survey And Literature Review, *International Energy Agency*, Working Paper, 2003.
- Schinasi G., More Than One Step To Financial Stability, *Bruegel Policy Brief 2009*, 2009.
- Schornick A., International Capital Constraints And Stock Market Dynamics, *INSEAD*, Working Paper, 2009.
- Schulmeister S., Schratzenstaller M., Picek O., (2008), 'A General Financial Transaction Tax. Motives, Revenues, Feasibility And Effects', Vienna: WIFO.
- Schwartz E., Smith J., Short-Term Variations And Long-Term Dynamics In Commodity Prices, *Management Science*, 46, 2000, 893-911.
- Schwartz E., The Stochastic Behaviour Of Commodity Prices: Implication For Valuation And Hedging, *Journal Of Finance*, 52, 1997, 922-973.

- Schwarz T., Szakmary A., Price Discovery In Petroleum Markets: Arbitrage Co Integration And The Time Interval Of Analysis, *Journal Of Futures Markets*, 14, 1994, 147–167.
- Scott R., Loewenstein G., The Role Of Emotion In Economic Behavior, In Lewis M., Haviland-Jones J., Feldmanbarrett L., (2010), 'The Handbook Of Emotion, Third Edition', New York: Guilford.
- Segal P., (2007), 'Economic Structure And The Distribution Of Income In Argentina, 1900-1973', Dphil Thesis, Economics Department, University Of Oxford.
- Segal P., Resource Rents, Redistribution, And Halving Global Poverty: The Resource Dividend, *World Development*, 2011.
- Sennett R. (2006), 'The Culture Of The New Capitalism', New York: Yale University Press.
- Shefrin H., (2007), 'Beyond Greed And Fear, Understanding Behavioural Finance And The Psychology Of Investing', Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Sheleifer A., (2000), 'Inefficient Markets, An Introduction To Behavioural Finance', Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Shiller R., (2005), 'Irrational Exuberance, 2nd Edition', New York: Princeton University Press.
- Sill K., The Macroeconomics Of Oil Shocks, Business Review, 31, 2007.
- Silvapulle P., Moosa, I., The Relationship Between Spot And Futures Prices: Evidence From The Crude Oil Market, *Journal Of Futures Markets*, 19, 1999, 157-193.
- Silvennoinen A., Terosvirta T., Modelling Multivariate Autoregressive Conditional Heteroskedasticity With The Double Smooth Transition Conditional Correlation GARCH Model, *Journal Of Financial Econometrics*, 2009.
- Silvennoinen A., Thorp S., Financialization, Crisis And Commodity Correlation Dynamics, *Quantitative Finance Research Centre, University Of Technology, Sydney, Research Paper Series,* 267, 2010.

- Silvério R., The Role Of Financial Agents In 2006–2008 Oil Price Rise: Evidence From New Commitment Of Traders Methodology, Paper Presented At The 33rd International Association Of Energy Economics Congress, 2010.
- Simmons M., (2005), 'Twilight In The Desert: The Coming Saudi Oil Shock And The World Economy', Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley And Sons.
- Sims C., Macroeconomics And Reality, *Econometrica*, 48, 1980, 1–48.
- Singleton K., The 2008 Boom/Bust In Oil Prices, *Stanford University*, Working Paper, 2010.
- Skidelsky R., (2009), 'Keynes, The Return Of The Master', London: Penguin Books Ltd.
- Skott P., Ryoo S., Financialization In Kaleckian Economics With And Without Labor Constraints, Intervention, European Journal Of Economics And Economic Policies, 5, 2008a, 357-386.
- Skott P., Ryoo S., Macroeconomic Implications Of Financialization, Cambridge Journal Of Economics, 32, 2008b, 827-862.
- Slade M., Thille H., Hotelling Confronts CAPM: A Test Of The Theory Of Exhaustible Resources, *Canadian Journal Of Economics*, 30, 1997, 685–708.
- Slade M., Thille H., Whither Hotelling: Tests Of The Theory Of Exhaustible Resources, Annual Review Of Resource Economics, 1, 2009, 239-260.
- Smart A., and Lee J., Financialization and the Role of Real Estate in Hong Kong's Regime of Accumulation, *Economic Geography*, 79, 2, (2003),: 153-171.
- Smith A., (1776), 'An Inquiry Into The Nature And Causes Of Wealth Of Nations, Book IV', UK: Glasgow Edition.
- Smith J., Inscrutable OPEC? Behavioural Tests Of The Cartel Hypothesis, *Energy Journal*, 26, 2005, 51-82.

- Smith J., On The Portents Of Peak Oil (And Other Indicators Of Resource Scarcity), Southern Methodist University, Working Paper, 2010.
- Smith J., World Oil: Market Or Mayhem?, Journal Of Economic Perspectives, 23, 2009, 145-164.
- Sornette D., (2003), 'Why Stock Markets Crash: Critical Events In Complex Financial Systems', New York: Princeton University Press.
- Sornette D., Woodard R., Zhou W., The 2006-2008 Oil Bubble: Evidence Of Speculation, And Prediction, *Physica*, 388, 2009, 1571–1576.
- Soros G., (2008), 'The New Paradigm For Financial Markets, The Credit Crisis Of 2008 And What It Means', New York: Public Affairs.
- Springler E., Bank Lending And Regulation In Insider Financial Systems: A Theoretical Assessment, In Arestis P., Hein E., Le Heron E., (2007), 'Aspects Of Modern Monetary And Macroeconomic Policies', Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Staff Report Of US Senate Permanent Subcommittee On Investigations, 2006, The Role Of Market Speculation In Rising Oil And Gas Prices: A Need To Put The Cop Back On The Beat, Committee On Homeland Security And Governmental Affairs, United States Senate, Http://Hsgac.Senate.Gov/Public/_Files/Senateprint10965marketspecreportfinal.Pd f.
- Standard Eurobarometer, 'Public Opinion In The European Union', 33, EuropeanOpinionResearchHttp://Ec.Europa.Eu/Public_Opinion/Archives/Eb_Arch_En.Htm.
- Standard Eurobarometer, 'Public Opinion In The European Union', 36, EuropeanOpinionResearchHttp://Ec.Europa.Eu/Public_Opinion/Archives/Eb_Arch_En.Htm.
- Standard Eurobarometer, 'Public Opinion In The European Union', 40, EuropeanOpinionResearchGroup,Http://Ec.Europa.Eu/Public_Opinion/Archives/Eb_Arch_En.Htm.
- Standard Eurobarometer, 'Public Opinion In The European Union', 44, EuropeanOpinionResearchHttp://Ec.Europa.Eu/Public_Opinion/Archives/Eb_Arch_En.Htm.
- Standard Eurobarometer, 'Public Opinion In The European Union', 48, European Opinion Research Group, Http://Ec.Europa.Eu/Public_Opinion/Archives/Eb_Arch_En.Htm.
- Standard Eurobarometer, 'Public Opinion In The European Union', 52, EuropeanOpinionResearchHttp://Ec.Europa.Eu/Public_Opinion/Archives/Eb_Arch_En.Htm.
- Standard Eurobarometer, 'Public Opinion In The European Union', 56, EuropeanOpinionResearchHttp://Ec.Europa.Eu/Public_Opinion/Archives/Eb_Arch_En.Htm.
- Standard Eurobarometer, 'Public Opinion In The European Union', 60, European Opinion Research Group, Http://Ec.Europa.Eu/Public_Opinion/Archives/Eb_Arch_En.Htm.
- Standard Eurobarometer, 'Public Opinion In The European Union', 64, EuropeanOpinionResearchHttp://Ec.Europa.Eu/Public_Opinion/Archives/Eb_Arch_En.Htm.
- Standard Eurobarometer, 'Public Opinion In The European Union', 69, EuropeanOpinionResearchHttp://Ec.Europa.Eu/Public_Opinion/Archives/Eb_Arch_En.Htm.
- Stanislaw J., Power Play: Resource Nationalism, The Global Scramble For Energy, And The Need For Mutual Interdependence, *Deloitte Touche*, 2008.

Steenland D., Testimony Before The US House Of Representatives Sub-Committee On Oversight And Investigation, US House Of Representatives Committee On Energy And Commerce, June 23, 2008, Http://Archives.Energycommerce.House.Gov/Cmte_Mtgs/110-Oihrg.062308.Energyspec.Shtml. Stewart J., Eight Days, The New Yorker, 21 September, 2009.

- Stewart J., Lessons From The 1990-1991 Recession, Smartmoney.Com, April 1, 2008, Http://Www.Smartmoney.Com/Investing/Stocks/Lessons-From-The-1990-1991-Recession-22807/.
- Stiglitz J., (2003), 'The Roaring Nineties A New History Of The World's Most Prosperous Decade', London, UK: W. W. Norton & Company.
- Stiglitz J., Turn Left For Sustainable Growth, *Economists' Voice*, 2008, 1-3.
- Stock J., Watson M., Testing For Common Trends, *Journal Of The American Statistical Association*, 83, 1988, 1097–1107.
- Stockhammer E., (2004a), 'The Rise Of Unemployment In Europe: A Keynesian Approach', Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Stockhammer E., Financialisation And The Slowdown Of Accumulation, *Cambridge Journal Of Economics*, 28, 2004b, 719-741.
- Stockhammer E., Onaran Ö., Ederer S., Functional Income Distribution And Aggregate Demand In The Euro Area, Vienna University Of Economics And Business Administration, Economics Working Papers, 102, 2007.
- Stockhammer E., Shareholder Value-Orientation And The Investment-Profit Puzzle, Journal Of Post Keynesian Economics, 28(2), 2005, 193-216
- Stockhammer E., Some Stylized Facts On The Finance-Dominated Accumulation Regime, *Competition And Change*, 12, 2008, 189-207.
- Stoll H, Commodity Futures And Spot Price Determination And Herding In Capital Market Equilibrium, Journal Of Financial And Quantitative Analysis, 14(4), 1979, 873-894.
- Stoll H., Whaley R., Commodity Index Investing And Commodity Futures Prices, Journal Of Applied Finance, 20, 2010, 7-46
- Strange S., (1994), 'States And Markets, Second Edition', London: Continuum.

Strange S., (1997), 'Casino Capitalism', Manchester: Manchester University Press.

- Szakmary A., Ors E., Kim J., Davidson W., The Predictive Power Of Implied Volatility: Evidence From 35 Futures Markets, *Journal Of Banking & Finance*, 27, 2003, 2151-75.
- Szulc T., (1974), 'The Energy Crisis', New York: Franklin Watts Inc.
- Talani L., (2004), 'European Political Economy, Political Science Perspectives', England: Ashgate Publishing Limited.
- Tang K., Xiong W., Index Investing And The Önancialization Of Commodities, *Princeton University*, Working Paper, 2009.
- Tanzer M., (1974), 'The Energy Crisis, World Struggle For Power And Wealth', London: Monthly Review Press.
- Tatom J., Are There Useful Lessons From The 1990-91 Oil Price Shock?, *Energy Journal*, 14(4), 1993, 129-150.
- Tavasci D., Ventimiglia L., Financialisation In The Primary Commodity Dependent Developing Countries: The Case Of Chile, *International Journal Of Management Concepts And Philosophy*, 5(2), 2011, 171-189.
- Taylor J., (2009), 'Getting Off Track, How Government Actions And Interventions Caused, Prolonged And Worsened The Financial Crisis', Stanford, California: Hoover Institution Press Publication.
- Taylor J., Housing And Monetary Policy, Proceedings, Federal Reserve Bank Of Kansas City, 2007, 463-476.
- Taylor J., Van Doren P., The Case Against The Strategic Petroleum Reserve, *Cato Institute: Policy Analysis*, 555, 2005, 1-21.
- Teixeira R.,(2007), *Dependência, Desenvolvimento E Dominância fi Nanceira*, São Paulo, School Of Economics And Management, University Of São Paulo.
- Telser L., Futures Trading And The Storage Of Cotton And Wheat, *Journal Of Political Economy*, 66, 1958, 133-144.

- Temple J., An Assessment Of The New Economy, CEPR Discussion Papers, 3597, 2002.
- Terzian P., (1985), 'OPEC: The Inside Story', London: ZED Press.
- The Economist, 'Recycling The Petrodollars', The Economist, 10 Nov. 2004.
- The International Shipping Exhibition, *Posidonia Exhibition*, Athens Greece, June 2012, (Conference Attended By The Author).
- Thompson Reuters DataStream, Database Accessed 14/01/2011.
- Thompson Reuters, *Thompson Reuters Energy Analysts Conference*, London UK, September, 2012, (Conference Attended By The Author).
- Throop A., A Generalized Uncovered Interest Parity Model Of Exchange Rates, Federal Reserve Bank Of San Francisco Economic Review, 2, 1993, 3-16.
- Till H., Has There Been Excessive Speculation In The US Oil Futures Markets?, *EDHEC-Risk Institute*, Working Paper, 2009.
- Time Online, The Economy: We Are All Keynesians Now, *Time Online*, Friday, Dec. 31, Http://Www.Time.Com/Time/Magazine/Article/0,9171,842353,00.Html.
- Tokic D., Rational Destabilizing Speculation, Positive Feedback Trading, And The Oil Bubble Of 2008, *Energy Policy*, 38(10), 2011, 6009–6015.
- Toporowski J., (2005), 'Theories Of Financial Disturbance', Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing Limited,
- Trainor B., War By Miscalculation, In Nye J., Smith R., (1992), 'After The Storm, Lessons From The Gulf War', London: Madison Books.
- Trichet J., Commentary On "Fifty Years Of Monetary Policy: What Have We Learned?", By Cagliarini A., Kent C., Stevens G., Symposium For The 50th Anniversary Of The Reserve Bank Of Australia, Sydney, 9 February, 2010.
- Trichet J., Credible Alertness Revisited, Speech ECB, 22 August, 2009a.

- Trichet J., The Crisis And Its Lessons, *Lecture At The University Of Venice*, 9 October, 2009b.
- Trolle A., Schwartz E., Unspanned Stochastic Volatility And The Pricing Of Commodity Derivatives, *Review Of Financial Studies*, 22, 2009, 4423-4461.
- UNCTAD, (2009a), 'The Global Economic Crisis: Systemic Failures And Multilateral Remedies', New York And Geneva.
- UNCTAD, The Global Economic Crisis: Systemic Failures And Multilateral Remedies, United Nations Publications, Sales No. E.09.II.D.4, New York And Geneva, 2009b.
- UNCTAD, Trade And Development Report 2009, *United Nations Publications*, Sales No. E.09.II.D.16, New York And Geneva, 2009c.
- United States Geological Survey, 'World Petroleum Assessment', 2000, Http://Pubs.Usgs.Gov/Dds/Dds-060/.
- United States Senate Permanent Subcommittee On Investigations, '*The Role Of Market Speculation In Rising Oil And Gas Prices: A Need To Put The Cop Back On The Beat*', Staff Report (June 27 2006), Washington, Http://Hsgac.Senate.Gov/Public.
- United States Senate, Excessive Speculation In The Wheat Market, United States Senate Permanent Subcommittee On Investigations. Washington, DC, 24 June, 2009, Http://Levin.Senate.Gov/Newsroom/Supporting/2009/PSI.Wheatspeculation.0624 09.Pdf.
- University Of Michigan, Surveys Of Consumers, Http://Www.Sca.Isr.Umich.Edu/Main.Php.
- US Department Of Commerce, Bureau Of Economic Analysis, Http://Www.Bea.Gov/Itable/Itable.Cfm?Reqid=5&Step=1.
- US Senate, 'The Role Of Market Speculation In Rising Oil And Gas Prices: A Need To Put The Cop Back On The Beat', 27 June 2006.

- Van Treeck T., A Synthetic Stock-Flow Consistent Macroeconomic Model Of Financialisation, *Cambridge Journal Of Economics*, 33, 2009a, 467-493.
- Van Treeck T., Hein E., Dünhaupt P., Finanzsystem Und Wirtschaftliche Entwicklung: Neuere Tendenzen In Den USA Und In Deutschland, *IMK Studies*, 2007.
- Van Treeck T., Reconsidering The Investment-Profit Nexus In Finance-Led Economies: An ARDL-Based Approach, *Metroeconomica*, 59, 2008, 371-404.
- Van Treeck T., The Political Economy Debate On 'Financialisation' A Macroeconomic Perspective, *Review Of International Political Economy*, 16, 2009b, 907-944.
- Veblen T., (1899), 'The Theory Of The Leisure Class', Montana: Kessinger Publishing.
- Veneroso F., Commodities: The Energy Manipulation Issue Heating Up, Veneroso's View, 2008a.
- Veneroso F., Commodities: The Manipulation Not Speculation Debate: Has Justice Provided The Answer?, Veneroso's View, 2008b.
- Veneroso F., Financial Crisis: On The Prospect Of A Second Wave Of Copper: A Commodity Calamity To Come; Speculation To The Point Of Manipulation In Base Metals, *Veneroso's View*, 2008c.
- Veneroso F., Global Strategic Outlook: Commodity Comment, Veneroso's View, 2008d.
- Veneroso F., U.S. Economy. Financial Crisis: On The Prospect Of A Second Wave; The Greatest Commodity Bubble Of Them All, Born Of The Leverage From Derivatives; Its Bursting Will Add To Financial Crisis, *Veneroso's View*, 2007.
- Ventura J., Economic Growth With Bubbles, Manuscript, CREI And UPF, 2003.
- Verleger P., \$200 Oil!, International Economy, 2008a.
- Verleger P., Energy: A Gathering Storm?, In Bergsten F., (2005), '*The United States* And The World Economy', Washington: Institute For International Economics.

- Verleger P., Testimony Before The Committee On Homeland Security And Governmental Affairs, Committee On Homeland Security And Governmental Affairs, 11 December, 2007.
- Verleger P., The Oil-Dollar Link, International Economy, 2008b.
- Verleger P., The Role Of Speculators In Setting The Price Of Oil, *Testimony To The US* Commodity Futures Trading Commission, 2009.
- Villar J., Joutz F., The Relationship Between Crude Oil And Natural Gas Prices, US Energy Information Administration, Working Paper, 2006.
- Wade R., From Global Imbalances To Global Reorganisations, Cambridge Journal Of Economics, 33, 2009, 539-562.
- Wall Street Online (The), Commodities and Futures, 2012, http://markets.wsj.com/overview?mg=mdc-wsj.
- Walsh C., What Caused The 1990–1991 Recession, Economic Review, Federal Reserve Bank Of San Francisco, 1993,
- Washington Post, 'U.S.-Europe Rifts Widen Over Iraq', February 11, 2003.
- Waterman W., Saudi King says keeping some oil finds for future, Reuters, Apr 13, 2008, http://uk.reuters.com/article/2008/04/13/saudi-oilidUKL139687720080413.
- Webb R., Regulation Theory Or Marxism: A Consideration Of Two Theoretical Approaches To Industrial Relations In New Zealand, University Of Auckland, 1998.
- Wigan D., (2008), 'A Global Political Economy Of Derivatives Risk, Property And The Artifice Of Indifference', Unpublished Ph.D. Thesis, Brighton, United Kingdom
- Windsor P., (1975), 'Oil: A Plain Man's Guide To The World's Energy Crisis', London: University Publishing Projects Ltd.

- Wirl F., Kujundzic A., The Impact Of OPEC Conference Outcomes On World Oil Prices 1984-2001, *Energy Journal*, 25, 2004, 45-62.
- Working H., The Theory Of The Price Of Storage, American Economic Review, 39, 1949, 1254–1262.
- World Nuclear Association, Chernobyl Accident, November 2009, Http://Www.World-Nuclear.Org/Info/Chernobyl/Inf07.Html.
- World Trade Organisation, Globalisation and Trade 2008, 2008, http://www.wto.org/english/res_e/booksp_e/anrep_e/wtr08-2b_e.pdf.
- Wray L., Financial Markets Meltdown: What Can We Learn From Minsky?, Annandale-On-Hudson, The Levy Economics Institute, Public Policy Brief, 94, April, 2008.
- Wray L., The Rise And Fall Of Money Manager Capitalism: A Minskian Approach, *Cambridge Journal Of Economics*, 33(4), 2009, 807–28.
- Wright T., Will The Oil Price Interlude Catch The World Napping?, *Hydrocarbon Processing*, 2008.
- Wu T., Mccallum A., Do Oil Futures Prices Help Predict Future Oil Prices? FRBSF Economic Letter, *Federal Reserve Bank Of San Francisco*, 2005.
- Yan S., Valuation Of Commodity Derivatives In A New Multi-Factor Model, *Review Of Derivatives Research*, 5, 2002, 251-271.
- Yang J., Bessler D., Leatham D., Asset Storability And Price Discovery In Commodity Futures Markets: A New Look, *Journal Of Futures Markets*, 21, 2001, 279-300.
- Yergin D., (1991), '*The Prize: The Epic Quest For Oil, Money And Power*', New York: Simon And Schuster.
- Yergin D., Oil At The Breaking Point, *Testimony Before The US Congress Joint Economic Committee*, 25 June, 2008.

- Yousefi A., Wirjanto T., A Stylized Exchange Rate Pass-Through Model Of Crude Oil Price Formation, OPEC Review, 29, 2005, 177–187.
- Yousefi A., Wirjanto T., The Empirical Role Of The Exchange Rate On The Crude-Oil Price Formation, *Energy Economics*, 26, 2004, 783–799.
- Zhang L., Anomalies, Manuscript, University Of Rochester, 2004.
- Zhou S., The Response Of Real Exchange Rates To Various Economic Shocks, Southern Journal Of Economics, 1995, 936-954.
- Zuhayr M., Oil Prices And OPEC Surpluses: Some Reflections, International Affairs (Royal Institute Of International Affairs 1944), 57(3), 1981.

List of Interviews

- Interview (1) By Author, With Global Political Risk Consultant With Focus On Oil Market Risk, October 4th, 2011.
- Interview (2) With UK Director Of National Oil Company Of Brazil, Petrobras, Luiz Octavio Costa, September 17th, 2012c.
- Interview (3) By Author, With Director Of Emirates National Oil Company, ENOC, June 20th, 2012d.
- Interview (4) By Author, With Trader, Taleveras Petroleum Trading, May 16th, 2012e.
- Interview (5) By Author, With Oil Market Analyst, ExxonMobil, February 27th, 2012f.
- Interview (6) By Author, With Crude Oil Prices Analyst Of National Oil Company Of Brazil, Petrobras, May 7th, 2012g.
- Interview (7) By Author, With Commodities Trading Analyst From RWE, January 6th, 2013.

Interview (8) By Author, With Oil Market Consultant, KBC, January 10th, 2013.

Interview (9) By Author, With Economist From Repsol, September 10th, 2012h.

Interview (10) By Author, With Trader From Shell, November 8th, 2012.

- Interview (11) By Author, With Market Intelligence Analyst Of National Oil Company Of Brazil, Petrobras, May 7th, 2012a.
- Interview (12) By Author, With General Manager Of National Oil Company Of Brazil, Petrobras, March 22nd, 2012b.